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A Present Day Chief of the Ngai Tahu.
            

A son of the late 
Hon. H. K. Taiaroa, and a grandson of Matenga (Fighting) Taiaroa.

Photographed in 1932 wearing mat found at 
Dusky Sound by the late 
Captain Fairchild of the New Zealand Government Ship "Hinemoa". Allegedly a relic of the lost hapu of Ngati Mamoe. The mat found in 
Bligh Sound by 
Captain Howell in 1842, was one decorated with kiwi feathers and in 1862 was held by Maoris at 
Otaki. The mat shown in the illustration is of exquisite design, and is now possessed by the Canterbury Museum.
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Foreword
        

        
Writers on pre-European Maori history and culture have done less than justice to the Maoris of the South Island. European settlement found an original population of fifteen thousand reduced to less than half that total by the raids of Te Rauparaha and shipborne diseases. The survivors made no effective cultural resistance to the new order, and at this Centenary of the 
Canterbury settlement there is probably no Maori child whose mother tongue is not English.

        
Yet the South Island is the largest land mass which Polynesian's settled, a settlement which commenced at least one thousand years ago. The story of this occupation is in its own right as worthy of telling as that of 
Easter Island, Mangareva, or any other small community in the vast Polynesian archipelago.

        
Mr W. A. Taylor deserves our gratitude for recording so much, so late. Within the historical and cultural limits he sets himself, the author erects a genuine and worthy edifice. For his origins he goes back to the fabulous ancestor Rakaihautu; thence he traverses the nine centuries to the fatal nineteenth century, which saw Te Rauparaha usher in the first half-century of European occupation. From Maoris who grew up within that half century Mr Taylor received at first hand many facts which are set down here for the first time. Certainly Wohlers, 
Shortland, 
Stack and Mackay learned from an earlier generation, but only 
Stack set out, as the author does, to cover the whole of the South Island. In addition Mr Taylor has travelled over all the districts he describes, he has seen and photographed the historic sites the place-names commemorate, and in doing so he has added immeasurably to our knowledge. From the much neglected newspaper as a source of contemporary history he has saved from oblivion many recent incidents in the history of Ngai-tahu.

        
Mr Taylor's devotion to his subject has been selfless and without the incentive of financial reward. Over the greater part of his life he has explored and recorded the footsteps of the South Island Maoris. Only recently has he given the Canterbury public such pamphlets as "
Banks Peninsula, Picturesque and Historic", "Waihora" and "Maori Art in Canterbury".

        
It is my privilege to introduce to the wider public this book which is the final and comprehensive expression of his life-long study and devotion.

        

          


Roger Duff,

          Canterbury Museum, Christchurch.
          May 30th, 1950.
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Nelson
        

        
The Maoris of New Zealand are a hybrid race, and not as fully pure Polynesian as some writers would like us to think. An examination of something like eighty skulls obtained from both islands for Doctor Scott, professor of anatomy at 
Otago University during the nineties amply proved the presence of a Melanesian strain.

        

Sir Julius Von Haast in 1868 forwarded to Professor C. G. Carus of the Imperial German Academy of Naturalists two skulls which had been found at the mouth of the 
Selwyn River, Lake Ellesmere, and the greatest authority of that time declared they were not Polynesian Maori. Death prevented the authority giving a detailed finding. Doctor Buck in 1926 stated that dealing with the ethnology of the Maori we could only in the main theorise, and the position remains so to the present.

        

W. M. Maskell, 
S. Percy Smith, 
Elsdon Best, 
James Cowan, 
T. W. Downes and others who have studied traditions do not fall fully into line with the archaeologists. In 1938 
James Cowan summed up the position thus:—"Archaeology is of less importance than tribal history and traditions in assessing the duration of Maori and proto-Maori occupation of New Zealand. One wave of primitive race migrations after another might pass and leave little or no material trace behind," "Before 1350 there must have been thousands of people a blend of Polynesian migrations with a Melanesian tar brush." It is quite easy to trace the main strain of to-day through the Pacific Ocean and its spreading out from a central source, say Tahiti. However in New Zealand there are many disturbing factors, and these have not been cleared away by the archaeological findings of the last few years, valuable in their way as they may be. Augustus Hamilton who was for many years director of the Colonial (Dominion) Museum, Wellington, and whose work "Maori Art" is still looked upon as authorative comments thus:—"There is a possibility that the early inhabitants were more Melanesian than Polynesian." Lullabies are peculiar to the Maoris, as is the leaping and acrobatic energy displayed in the Maori haka. Both the foregoing are strange to Polynesia. The spirals in Maori art are a legacy from Borneo as is the tattoo on a Maori woman's chin. The protruding tongue so 

common to the Maori art belongs to Indonesia and the Caroline group. The question can well be asked, "Did the Maori of New Zealand revert to a former art derived prior to the arrival at Tahiti or Rarotonga in the journey through the Pacific, or did he learn from a Melanesian strain already in New Zealand when he came here?"

        
Tradition obtained in the North Island of New Zealand, and a few rare objects found would point to the latter. Herewini Ira of 
Moeraki, Tame Parata, and Tikao and other intelligent Maoris of the South Island have referred to descent from a tribe in the South Island, darker than the Maori, with curly hair and a different language. It is a most intricate subject to deal with inasmuch as many stories are common to Melanesia and Polynesia, and the names of heroes are entwined to a remarkable degree.

        
It is possible that the fabled Kiwa was a voyager to New Zealand two thousand years ago, as among the Maoris of the South Island a very dark-skinned individual is called a son of Kiwa, not the Kiwa of many centuries later. Ui te Rangiora is said to have visited New Zealand from 
Fiji about 650A.D. Half a century later came Maui, in the Mahunui Canoe, and many natives of the South Island can trace a family tree to that explorer. There were several heroes of that name and of purely mythical origin.

        
In 850A.D. arrived Rakaihautu in the Uruao Canoe with the first Waitaha Tribe. The Hawea Tribe of the Waitaki watershed owe their descent to the Waitaha Tribe of 
Rakaihautu, and according to Tikao and others were a dark, curly-headed race and not brown like the Maori.

        
Maui the explorer is immortalised in several place names of the South Island, 
Mautau a Maui which is a beach on Bishop's Peninsula in the Nelson Province being one. Lakes Rotoroa and Rotoiti at the headwaters of the Buller River according to tradition were formed by 
Rakaihautu. Like some other South Island lakes they were delved out with his ko (spade), a fanciful way of saying he discovered them. The Rapuwai Tribe arrived in the South Island from Patea and were noted for the peculiar manner adopted in swimming.

        
Forty generations ago the South Island was explored by Kupe in the Matahoura Canoe. Ngahue in the 
Taiwiri rangi canoe also circumnavigated the South Island. From tradition it would appear the South Island was peopled before the North Island, and that would be before the arrival of Toi from Polynesia about 1125A.D. Practically all the tribes of the North Island can now trace descent from Toi, and the South Islanders also from their North Island connections. The more reliable history of the South Island is connected first with the 

second Waitaha Tribe who arrived at Maketu in the North Island by the Arawa Canoe of the Great Migration of 1350A.D. from 
Hawaiki. Settling in 
Poverty Bay they finally came to the South Island in the 
Takitimu Canoe under Tamatea. They are said to have multiplied exceedingly, and were of fairer skin than the other arrivals. In the South Island they were displaced by the 
Ngati Mamoe whose main ancestry connects with the 
Tokomaru Canoe. The present principal tribe of the South Island the 

Ngai Tahu connects up with arrivals by the 
Takitemu, Kurahaupo and Mata horua Canoes. The 
Ngati Mamoe and the second 
Waitaha Tribe have been loosely referred to as Morioris. The Morioris who went from the South Island to the 
Chatham Islands over 1000 years ago were actually more Polynesian than the Maori, so we must look further back than the days of Toi in New Zealand to pick up the Melynesian tar brush.

        
The Ngati Hau came to the South Island under the leadership of the chief 
Tauirapareko. The Ngati Wairangi arrived in the 
Nelson district under the chief Tawahirikapaku, but finding the second Waitaha already there moved on to Westland. The 
Ngati Tumatakokiri arrived under the chief Tumatakokiri and soon spread over 
Nelson towards Karamea, and remained the dominant tribe of 
Nelson until 1690A.D. when they were ousted by the Ngati Apa 
(Ngatihapa), who in turn were conquered in 1828 by sections of the 
Ngati Awa and 
Ngati Toa tribes in conjunction with the 
Ngati Tama.

        
The 
Ngatirarua the sub-section of the 
Ngati Toa was led by the chiefs Te Niho, and Takerei, while the sections of the 
Ngati Awa were under Koihua. The Ngati Tama were in charge of Te Puoho, who later was slain at Tuturau in Southland by the 
Ngai Tahu during the famous raid of 1837. Koihua settled at Pakawau.

        
The 
Ngati Tumatakokiri claimed descent from arrivals by the 
Kurahaupo Canoe, as did the Rangitane Tribe who arrived in the South Island from the 
Wairarapa district under the chief Te Rerewa. The 
Ngati Kuia of Pelorus Sound are now the representatives of the once powerful Rangitane Tribe. The 
Ngai Tara Tribe crossed over from Wellington 19 generations ago. The 
Ngati Mamoe arrived at Arapawa 700 years ago, and figure often in the warfare from 
Marlborough to Southland.

        
Tahu, the founder of the 
Ngai Tahu Tribe living 180 years later than his ancestor Paikea, resided for a period at Kaikoura in 
Marlborough, but on the death of his brother Porourangi returned to the North Island. His grandson Tuteahunga was slain at Kaikoura. Kuri the founder of the 
Ngati Kuri Tribe was a cousin to Tuteahunga. The 
Ngati Kuri joined up in later years with the 
Ngati Tahu in the warfare in the South Island.

        
A folk known as the Pohea settled at Whakatu (
Nelson) 

and at Waimea built the pa called Matangiawea. This place bears a prominent part in the history of the Ngai Tahu Tribe and its Tuahuriru hapu. Friction with their kinsmen of the Ngati kahungunu Tribe of the Waiararpa caused the Ngai Tahu to cross the stormy waters of Raukawa (
Cook Strait) and find a haven with kindred tribes especially those domiciled in the Waimea district of 
Nelson at the Matangiawea Pa, which was occupied by the Ngai Tara, Ngati Whata and Ngati Rua. Totaranui near Starvation Point had been long recognised as a safe landing place for canoes making the crossing. (This Totaranui must not be confounded with the place of the same name now called Ships Cove in the 
Marlborough Sounds where Moki, a son of Tuahuriri landed in later years with a large body of the Ngai Tahu Tribe.)

        
At Matangiawea Pa the Ngai Tahu chief Kahukare te Paku and his son Tumaro often came to dwell. Tumaro was married to Rakai te kura a daughter of the chief Tama ihu poro. Whenever Tumaro left his North Island home on tribal business, his wife Rakai te kura committed adultery with the chief Te Aohikuraki, and a son was born. Tumaro taxed his wife with infidelity, and as she admitted her misdeeds, she was left with her lover. The son was called Te Hiku tawa o te raki, and he was called by his kin "The Misbegotten".

        
On the advice of his mother "to follow the setting sun," on reaching youth he set out to find Tumaro his mother's husband.

        
He was received at the Waimea by Kahukare te Paku, who did not recognise the youth, who fortunately for himself proclaimed his name as Te Hiku Tawa o te raki. Just as well, as the oven was ready to cook him; Kahukare te Paku not desiring to eat a possible grandson, pushed him through the window of the sacred building and right on to the tapu place. Reference to the famous whare called Kau whakaarowaru also assisted the recognition of the lad. The youth was fierce with anger on observing the oven in which he might have met death. His kinsmen observed this and renamed him Tu-ahu-riri 
(standing angrily at the altar). Tuahuriri secured a revenge without shedding blood in later years. He bought over a large visiting party to the Waimea from Wellington, and they ate up the whole of the food supply of their hosts, truly eating them out of house and home. The whare in which Tuahuriri lived was destroyed by fire, and wild cabbage grew on its site. This vegetation was eaten voraciously by the starving folk of the Waimea, but the vegetables having been grown on "tapu" ground, all who partook sickened and died. Descendants of some of the fortunate ones still live near 
Nelson and are closely related to some of the natives of 
Banks Peninsula.

        
Tuahuriri and his eldest son Hamua were drowned crossing
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Cook Strait when the canoe Te Hauwai foundered with 140 persons. Tuahuriri when at his pa, (called Te Mata ki kai poinga) had been advised by a chief Te Aweawe to use a double canoe for the journey over 
Cook Strait but neglected to do so. Te Aweawe in his double canoe crossed to the South Island safely.

        
When the Ngai Tahu had firmly established themselves in southern Marlborough, Canterbury and Westland, frequent skirmishes took place between them and the Ngati Tumatakokiri over land rights at the Maruia, the upper Waiauau and the upper Waiau toa (Clarence). The slaying of a Ngai Tahu chief named Pakeke at Maruia brought together the East Coast and Westland members of the tribe to attack the 
Nelson folk. The Arahura section of the Ngai Tahu were led by Te Warekino, and the Mawhera (
Greymouth) party by Tuhuru, and they were joined by the Tuahuriri force who journeyed via the Hurunui, Lake Sumner, north branch of the Waiau, Kaitangata (Cannibal Gorge), Maruia, and down that river to the Kawiteri (Buller), the Matiri tributary, to the source of the Karamea, then to the coast. The Westland Ngai Tahu journeyed up the coast to Karamea. The combined Ngai Tahu attacked and defeated the Ngati Tumatakokiri at West Whanganui. The defeated tribe were next assailed by the Ngati Apa 
(Ngatihapa) and killed out at Paparoha.

        
A previous fight with the Ngai Tahu had been caused through a Westland chief taking forcibly to wife a lady of the Ngati Tumatakokiri Tribe. E. Kehu and E. Pikiwati who acted as guides to Thomas Brunner the explorer of western Nelson and Westland in 1847 belonged to the then almost extinct Ngati Tumatakokiri Tribe. Brunner and Heaphy in their explorations in 1845 were obstructed by the chief Niho of the Ngati Rarua hapu of Ngati Toa, and they held him quietly marooned at West Whanganui.

        
Kotuku a chief of the Ngati Apa 
(Ngatihapa) was slain with his followers at West Whanganui during the fighting with the Ngati Toa hapus and allies. The Maoris of the Nelson Province, especially those of Motueka (Motuweka) and other parts of Tasman Bay, right up to the late forties used double canoes, and these were used to a limited extent down the 
West Coast in the traffic for greenstone. Owing to the rough seas the journeys were hazardous, and a well-built North Island canoe was lost at Hunts Beach in South Westland. The Westland Maoris of Makawhio, Mahitahi and Martins Bay, fashioned canoes to trade with their 
Nelson clients. The "Ruapuke", a canoe that once belonged to Te Rauparaha was abandoned at Croixelles Harbour. It was discovered hidden by scrub in 1888 by a 
Nelson settler.

        
Ancient native quarries exist at Rush Pool, some nine miles 

from 
Nelson, and near Woodman's Bay on D'Urville Island. The latter island is associated with the old-time Morioris.

        
Lakes Rotoroa and Roto iti were visited in the dim past by the chiefs Tuaroaro Te Reki, Katipurupuru and Katai wheri when journeying from 
Nelson to the Buller. Lake Rotoroa is 7 miles long by 2 miles wide and is situated 1623 feet above sea level. Lake Roto iti is 4 miles long by 1 mile wide and the elevation above the sea is 1800 feet. A fresh water mussel called "kaihau", when boiled with raupo roots, formed a good meal for the Maori visitors. The fresh-water herring called upukororo was freely caught. The Ngai te raraua Tribe arrived from the North Island at Riwaka by the Wi takuau Canoe, and the "Wellington Spectator" of August 24th 1842 mentions that a large pa existed at Riwaka, and the village at the mouth of the Motueka River had a population of 100 natives. 
Cape Farewell bears the Maori name of Taumauka (dry ridge of a hill). The Farewell Spit has evidences of native occupation. Wharariki is the name of the bay south west of 
Cape Farewell, which is about six miles north of West Whanganui. The ridge of hills near West Whanganui is known as Whaka marama. Over the low saddle at Massacre or Golden Bay is Pa kawau (the pa of the shag). Near Parapara on December 19th, 1642, Abel Tasman had some of his ship's crew slain by the Ngati Tumatakokiri Tribe.

        
Until comparatively recent years, the 
West Coast of 
Nelson was very much off the beaten track, except that portion near 
Westport. Kawau is the small point a little north of Cape Foulwind. Gold was discovered at the Buller (Kawatiri) in April 1858, by Mr Lee and his Maori companions Tarapuhi and Wereta Tainui. 
Tauranga is the bay on the south side of Cape Foulwind and a few Maoris were dwelling there in 1846. They had extensive cultivations; mussels abounded in the bay especially at Rocky Point. The Totara (Browning) stream south of Cape Foulwind with its tributary the Okari (place of a clump of trees) also possessed extensive native gardens. The place known to-day as Brighton has borne two Maori names, namely, Tirimoana and Pahutangi. Addison's Flat, the plain approximately 15 miles south of the Buller is "Te Kara o Tamatea". Perpendicular Point or Jacob's Ladder, bears the Maori name of Te Miko. It was an obstacle to travelling along the coast. In 1846 Kororoa or Nine Mile Creek north of Point Elizabeth had a small pa with six Maori residents. Paekere is on the south bank of the Buller River, near the mouth. The Orowaite Creek and Lagoon on the north side of 
Westport is most likely named after Reuben Waite, an early European resident.

        
Ngawaitakerei is the Nile River one mile north of Constant Bay, north of 
Charleston, and Waitakere was the site of an old time kainga on the rocky point near 
Charleston. There 

was an abundance of timber and water there, and the Maoris obtained from the sea extensive hauls of dog fish. The Maoris had a lookout post on the point. Waitohi is a stream near the Nile River. Four Mile River at St Kilda is the Tiko pihi. Point Elizabeth bears the Maori name of Tarakina, and Rocky Bluff south of Brighton is Maunga huru. Poti kohua is north of the Fox river. A large number of skeletons have been found near 
Charleston, supposed to be the result of the fighting during Niho's conquest of the Ngai Tahu Tribe of the 
West Coast. Tauhinu is the name of the hills near 
Charleston. 
Charleston has of recent years been proposed as the site for a modern port.

        
Omau Paturiki north of 
Westport was the site of a Maori kainga. Mautorea are rocks off the coast about 17 miles north of 
Westport and Te Purie is a stream in the district. Mokihinui is about 27 miles north of 
Westport. When Messrs Brunner and Heaphy were exploring, they discovered the wreck of a 400 ton baltic copper lined vessel near the Mokihinui Bar. The ship was believed to be the Rifleman of Hobart, Tasmania which disappeared in 1825. From native sources it appeared the vessel touched Cape Foulwind before coming ashore. The crew that stood by the wreck were quickly slain by the Maoris, the other section moving up the coast met the same fate, while though two of the sailors actually reached Totaranui before they in turn were killed.

        
Little Whanganui is forty miles north of 
Westport, and Karamea is forty-six miles north. At Karamea, moa bones and Maori curios have been found in the limestone caves. Kahurangi a point and stream 61 miles north of Cape Foulwind had a Maori settlement, and when Niho in 1837 gave up his conquered "Ngai Tahu" lands in Westland, he made the place his southern boundary. Awaruati is a creek north of Kahurangi; Raukawa is the next stream north and "
Iwi tuaroa" are the hills in the vicinity. Te Ana weka is the third stream north of Kahurangi. The Heaphy river is the Whakapouai and Rocks Point is Rangitoto. The Heaphy River District now contains a large native reserve. Te Hapu is north of the Heaphy.

        
Reverting south to the neighbourhood of the Fox River we find a few chains from the stream a large cave known as "
Te Ana o Matuku". It was a favourite camping place for Maoris travelling along the coast. The cave which has three entrances, is 80 feet long and 30 feet high. The chief pas of the Ngati Apa 
(Ngatihapa) Tribe in 
Nelson were situated at Whakapuaka and Ngawhakapakoho. At Kina Beach near Motueka, was the pa "Te Mamaku". Punawai was the name of the pa in Richardson Street, 
Nelson, occupied by the Ngatikoata Tribe. Pounamu was a pa near Motueka; Kaiteretere Pa stood on Pa Hill. On Kakaho Island stood a pa belonging to the Ngatirangi 

Tribe and it was taken by the Ngai Tara Tribe. Pakawau was the headquarters of Te Puoho; Whakatu was the old name of 
Nelson. Old pas were 
Hawaiki on Pepin Island, 
Ekapa on Bishop's Peninsula, 
Kaiate, Turematao and 
Kahupakira near Homestead, 
Te Momaki at Kina Beach, 

Kaingaroa on Moutere Island, 
Kaiaua at Red Clay Point, 

Whangarei, Whiti kareao, Whakapaetura on Motueka River and the 
Anawhakau Pa near Riwaka. Waikihi was a kainga north of Pakawau, and in the same locality another village Tamatea. Parapara or Purupuru south of the Aorere River is the site of another old time settlement. The 
Wai nguru pu Springs near Takaka are said to be the largest in the world. Motupipi was a stronghold of the Ngati Awa, Takapo, the old time pa of the south coast of Massacre Bay. At the mouth of the river at Totara nui in Blind Bay was a large village. The Boulder Bank at 
Nelson is Otama. Whakapuaka is where the boulder bank meets the mainland, and Croixelles Harbour is 
Whangarei. D'Urville Island is 
Rangitoto and French Pass is 
Te Aumiti (the current swallowed up), and according to tradition was formed by a cormorant bird named 
Te Kawau-o-Toru. Stephen's Island is 
Taka purewa (float on the stomach). The head of Pelorus Sound is 
Te Hoiere, named after a canoe that landed there from the North Island. As the Tourist Department maps give most of the place names of the northern coast of 
Nelson it is unnecessary to reprint them here.

        
By the adoption of the 
New Zealand Company's scheme of one tenth of land purchased from the Natives, the Maoris of 
Nelson are now well supplied with lands even though much of it is useless for cultivation purposes. The land purchases, many of them overlapping, are contained in about a dozen deeds. Te Rauparaha's tribes and allies obtained a much better deal, than the Ngai Tahu and Ngati Mamoe who appropriated threequarters of the South Island. At present the Native Reserves of 
Nelson are numerous, but small; the total area being 58,565 acres.

        
According to tradition Nydia Bay should be called 
Opouri. At Levin in the North Island while a man was building a canoe, he resented observation by a boy and murdered the lad. On completion the canoe was sailed across the 
Cook Strait to Nydia Bay. The lad's father and friends in another canoe crossed over and slew the murderer's relatives taking the culprit back to Levin to perish by means of terrible punishment. 
(Opouri means "place of sorrow.")

        

James Cowan has left on record that according to tradition a Maori woman named Hine poupou swam 
Cook Strait. The story in brief is thus:—"A chief named Manini pounamu of D'Urville Island decided to get rid of his faithful wife Hine poupou, in order to take to his bosom a young woman who 

had taken his fancy. He took his wife across Raukawa to Kapiti, and marooned her there. At Wharekohu at the south end of Kapiti she viewed in the far distance her homeland. She recited the sacred chants, and the gods came to her aid as she swam across the Strait. Reaching the Brothers Islets, at Pelorus Sound she was guided to the shore by a dolphin. Villagers among whom her relations lived brought a canoe and took her back to D'Urville (Rangitoto) Island. She did not return to her villainous spouse but went to live with her friends.

        
When Manini pounamu and his connections went out in canoes to catch hapuku, Hine poupou called on the gods for revenge, a gale sprang up, and Manini pounamu was drowned. The distance of Hine poupou's swim is thirty miles.

        
Te Rauparaha's forces slew the inhabitants of Nelson Province first at Anatoto, a point on the mainland west of French Pass slaying the chief 
Te Nge, and further slaughters took place at 
Whangarei (Croixelles), at Whakapuaka, Whakatu (
Nelson), Motueka, Takaka and at Te Tai Tapu in Massacre Bay. Te Rauparaha like Napoleon met his own Waterloo in the fights (later) in 
Marlborough at the hands of the Ngai Tahu Tribe.
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The Ngai Tahu, owing to dissension with the kindred tribe Ngati Kahungunu of the 
Wairarapa, crossed over 
Cook Strait; and took up their abode with the Rangitane, Ngai Tara, and Ngati Mamoe, dwelling in the 
Marlborough Sounds. The big migration known as 
Heke a Puraho nui took place under a chief Puraho about 1670A.D. The Ngai Tahu settled at the following places:—Kaihinu, a peninsula in Tory Channel near Moioio Island; Totaranui (Ship's Cove) in 
Queen Charlotte Sound; Mahekipawa at the south end of Pelorus Sound; Te Hoiere at the head of Pelorus Sound; and Anakiwa at the south end of 
Queen Charlotte Sound. Later the Ngai Tahu Tribe had a pa called Otekaue at the mouth of the Wairau River. The original name of the Wairau River was Motu kawa. The Rangitane Tribe had a pa on the Wairau River named Kowhai and its chief was Te Ruaoneone. The Maoris of Pelorus Sound affirm that prior to their arrival the inhabitants were a small dark-skinned race, who cultivated land and lived peacefully in pit dwellings on hillsides. On water they used only very small canoes.

        
Coming to early European times Ngarawa was the leading chief of the 
Marlborough Sounds; Te Wetu was chief at the Wairau and Pakihure at Pelorus. Pas existed at Grovetown, Tuamarina and Gibsontown. Kaikoura Whakatau who signed the Treaty of Waitangi held sway along the Kaikoura coastline, had two wives and was killed by a fall from a horse at the Amuri Bluff in 1869. He was the grandfather of Mrs Beaton of Oaro who during the period 1924 to 1930 furnished the bulk of the 
Marlborough history now being written. She was a rangitira wahine, proud of her Maori blood, so much so that when she submitted to be photographed, she disdained to wear a pakeha garment.

        
The first breach the Ngai Tahu Tribe had with the Ngai Tara was occasioned by the latter slaying and cooking a member of the former tribe and serving him up as a juicy joint for his Ngai Tahu kinsmen. The Ngai Tahu retaliated by digging up Te Ao Marere from his grave and cooking him. The Ngai Tara Tribe set an ambush and managed to slay Puraho and his daughter, but his fellow Ngai Tahu chief Manawa escaped. The Ngai Tahu on the loss of their principal chief abandoned the vicinity of Moioio Island and moved away 

to Otekaue and Te Pukatei near White's Bay. Firmly established at the Wairau the Ngai Tahu determined to have full revenge on the Rangitane and Ngai Tara Tribes, and it was not long before the Ngati Mamoe claimed their warlike attentions also. The Ngai Tahu Tribe, however, did not always have matters their own way as the Rangitane defeated them in battle at 
Rua taniwha which is two miles up the Wairau River and also at Hikurangi near Renwick township.

        
Te Huataki, a warrior chief of the Rangitane is said to have married the two daughters of Tiotio, the chief tohunga of the Ngai Tahu. Their names were Rakai te kura and Mahinga tahi. Marriage relationships did not however cement friendships. The first conflict the Ngai Tahu had with the Ngati Mamoe took place on a spot between the Ure River and Kekerangu, and this fight is known as the battle of 
Tetewhai. A Ngati Mamoe chief named Kana te pu Mamo came all the way from 
Stewart Island to participate, but he was slain by the famous Ngai Tahu chief Te Rakai tau wheke.

        
The reason for the Ngai Tahu Tribe migrating to the South Island can largely be laid at the door of Te Rakai tau wheke as he had slain Tapu a chief of the Ngati Kahungunu Tribe in revenge for an insult. After the Ngai Tahu victory at Tetewhai peace reigned for a period with the Ngati Mamoe. Fighting with the Ngai Tara and Rangitane was frequent. Maru, the son of Manawa the Ngai Tahu leading chief, was of a merciful disposition, and his many acts of clemency offended quite a large section of his own tribe. On one occasion he saved the life of the Ngai Tara chief Rapa a te Kuri, and he married Hinemaka, a Ngai Tara lady of rank, to save her from the ovens when Kurateau Pa was captured. Rakai te kura, a daughter of Maru, was betrothed to the chief Te Rangitauhanga, but the lady had her own views on the matter and became the wife of Tuaheke instead. Te Rangiwhakaputa (better known in Canterbury as Te Raki whakaputa) the father of the jilted one vented his rage on Maru, the girl's father. Maru avoided quarrel and journeyed south to Omihi and dwelt with his Ngati Mamoe relation Tukiauau. However the Ngai Tahu tribe found it very expedient to recall Maru. Maru figures in Southern Marlborough story, his nobility of character once more to the forefront. It was through Maru's leniency to his enemies that a chief Waitai journeyed to 
Otago and Southland to slay the peaceful Waitaha and Ngati Mamoe folk there. In a fight near White's Bay the Ngai Tahu in alliance with the Ngati Mamoe defeated the Rangitane Tribe.

        
Comradeship in arms was often a marriage of convenience. The Ngati Mamoe Tribe in canoes met a party of the Ngai Tahu fishing off the coast near Waipapa and slew the chief Tauhiku, his fellow chief Te Kane escaping. Te Rakai tau wheke rallied the Ngai Tahu on the advice of the tohunga 

Pohatu and turned the tables. The Ngati Mamoe had a pa near Waipapa Point under their chief Paua. A Ngai Tahu chief Aponga lived there with his Ngati Mamoe wives. Finding his loves deceitful in the supplying of food he complained to his seniors at the Wairau. The necessary excuse being found, the Ngai Tahu under Te Rakai tau wheke advanced and captured Waipapa, and its chief Paua was slain by Te Urihira. The attack was made by deviating from the direct route from the Wairau. The war party went up the Kekerangu River, crossed over the Woodbank Stream, and down the Clarence River to the rear of the Waipapa Pa. The Ngai Tahu next attacked the Ngati Mamoe Pa of Matarika. Tuteuretira, a Ngai Tahu dwelling within the pa, deserted his Ngati Mamoe friends and joined in the attack. The Rangitane Tribe later came to the aid of the Ngati Mamoe and "the sea-gulls, woodhens and kiwis feasted on the flesh of the Ngai Tahu dead for many days." This fight is known in history as Paororo (mashed brains) and sometimes as "seagull' food"—Kaikaroro.

        
The Rangitane returned to the Sounds and the Ngati Mamoe shifted quarters to the bluff above the south bank of the Kahutara River near its mouth. There a strong pa named Peketa was built. With the Clarence River district wholly in Ngai Tahu possession Te Rakai tau wheke proudly remarked "Nothing now moves at Waipapa but 
Hau makariri." The latter is a never-failing spring.

        
Kaikoura appears to have passed to the Ngai Tahu without a struggle, and the "
mana" fell on the chief Maru. The Ngati Kuia Tribe of the 
Marlborough Sounds are the representatives to-day of the once powerful Rangitane Tribe. Just before Te Rauparaha and his North Island forces visited destruction on the northern portion of the South Island, namely in the early part of last century, the Ngati Kuia under the chief Te Waihere successfully attacked the Ngai Tahu of Kaikoura, killed the chief Te Koaka and took away a famous jadestone mere named Ohiwa.

        
Te Rauparaha commenced his South Island campaign on the Rangitane at Hikapu. He slew a chief Patu-one-one at Te Kowhai Pa at the Wairau. This warrior had boasted he would split open Te Rauparaha's head with a fernroot pounder. Rerewaka the chief of Kaikoura said he would cut Te Rauparaha open with a shark's tooth. Te Rauparaha nursed revenge. In due course he arrived off Kaikoura and took Takahanga Pa situated on a terrace on the northern side of Kaikoura Peninsula. The inhabitants were mostly on the beach expecting a friendly visit from southern members of the Ngai Tahu Tribe, and fell an easy prey. Some 1400 persons were either slain or taken prisoners. Rerewaka was slain. His house stood where the Presbyterian Manse now is at Kaikoura.
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Te Rauparaha had another justification for attacking the Ngai Tahu inasmuch as they had given haven to a "Don Juan" chief named Kekerengu, who had been guilty of adultery with the wife of his kinsman Rangihaeata. According to one account Kekerengu was slain by the Ngai Tahu Tribe later on at a place up the Clarence River. He was looked on as the cause of the misfortune. At the time of his death he is said to have been in possession of an ancient and valuable greenstone mere called "Tawhito whenua". Te Rauparaha's forces moved south to Omihi, which suffered the same fate as Kaikoura, its inhabitants likewise being taken unaware, expecting friendly visitors. Te Rauparaha's visit to Kaiapohia which followed is dealt with in another chapter.

        
The Ngai Tahu Tribe has every reason to be proud of its later achievements against Te Rauparaha, his Ngati Toa warriors and allied tribes. The successes of the northern forces were attributable to the greater use of pakeha firearms, plus opponents split by internal dissension. Once the Ngai Tahu rallied on an equal basis, Te Rauparaha's fortune left him. Early in 1833 the Ngai Tahu, in six canoes with a force of 350 warriors, moored at Waiharakeke (Flaxburn River), marched to Kapara te hau (Grassmere), and ambushed Te Rauparaha at Paruparu. Te Rauparaha got away minus 140 of his best warriors. The Ngai Tahu chased their enemies to Port Underwood arid landed at Ngakuta Bay. The northerners were contacted from a ridge overlooking Opua Bay. Again Te Rauparaha suffered a reverse and fled to Tory Channel. Te Rauparaha obtained reinforcements, but the Ngati Toa with their allies the Ngati Awa, Ngati Raukawa and Ngati Mutunga were once more defeated at Fighting Bay by the Ngai Tahu led by Tutehounuku. Te Rauparaha's forces fled to Anapua in Tory Channel. The northerners rallied but failed to retrieve their position despite desultory fighting. So ended the fighting known as Oraumoa iti or Taua iti, during January 1833.

        
In February 1834, Taiaroa and Whakataupuka led a Ngai Tahu army of 500 men in 29 canoes up to 
Marlborough and into 
Queen Charlotte Sound, but Te Rauparaha and his warriors kept out of sight. The Ngai Tahu stayed there two months, half the force being stationed at Te Awa iti and the rest at Totaranui. Fugitives lived up the Wairau Gorge till 1844. Taiaroa's expedition is called 
Oraumoa nui or 
Taua nui. The leading southern chiefs in these expeditions were Tuhawaiki, Karetai, Iwikau, Karoki (father of Matiaha of 
Moeraki), Te Rangi a moa, Nohomutu, Te Ngaro Whakatomo, Kau (father of Horutu), Kahu tua nui, Katata, Tuauau, Tangatahara, Tamaniuarangi (father of John Paratene, first South Island M P.), Kainawe, Tutehounuku, Haranui, Paitu, Makere, Haere roa, Tirakapiti and Paori Taki.

        
In 1838 and 1839 Te Rauparaha threatened to raid Ngai 

Tahu territory. In January 1838 the Ngai Tahu journeyed north in canoes to fight him, and again in November 1839. Te Rauparaha had however fallen out with his allies the Ngati Awa, and was not in a position to give battle.

        
With the advent of the Wesleyan missionary the 
Rev. Ironside at Port Underwood on December 20th, 1840, a new era began. He acquired 150 acres at Ngakuta Bay and built a small church 66 x 36 feet and 12 feet in height, and the edifice was opened for Christian worship on August 5 th, 1842. Through a faulty land purchase by the 
New Zealand Company and the forcing of the same by Mr Thomson, the magistrate of 
Nelson, twenty-two Europeans lost their lives at the hands of the Maoris on June 17th, 1843. This event is erroneously called the Wairau Massacre. The site is marked by a monument near the Tuamarina Stream. The memorial was unveiled in March 1869, and was designed by Felix Wakefield.

        
During recent years considerable attention has been given by our learned men to a moa hunters' camp on the Boulder Bank at the delta of the Wairau River. Implements, moa bones and real necklaces have been found in company with human remains, and it must be admitted valuable knowledge was obtained. If the replica of the find to be seen in the Canterbury Museum is correct, the date of burial is well within Canon 
J. W. Stack's estimate of the age of human population in New Zealand. Well-founded traditions of the South Island however go several centuries further back and were not obtained by the reverend gentleman. The Rangitane Tribe are credited with killing the moa at the Tua marina up till 200 years ago, and it is quite possible the finds at the Wairau do not date further back than the second Waitaha Tribe which arrived in the South Island about 1477A.D. The most interesting feature of the Wairau Delta is the navigable man-made canals of an aggregate length of twelve miles, width of twelve feet and depth of three feet. The canals were formed to facilitate the catching of birds and the taking of fish by the Maoris of the Rangitane Tribe. The large lagoons were gazetted as bird sanctuaries by the New Zealand Government on March 19th, 1903.

        
The following are place names in rotation going north from Kaikoura:—
Opokihi at Lyell Creek; 
Patiki, a creek; 
Waiwhero, a creek; 
Te Waia, a creek; 
Tahapuku, the Hapuku River; 
O Torohanga is the north side of the Hapuka River; 
Hapenui, the native village at Mangamaunu; 
Te Roto awa, small lake near Mangamaunu; 
Pohata nui; 
Te Umu wheke, the burial place at Mangamaunu; 
Te Pari Karakaraka, southern portion of the terrace at Mangamaunu; 
Te Haumi, site of Roman Catholic Church at Mangamaumu; 
Te Po o Te Manu, northern part of the terrace at Mangamaunu; 
Putawainui, spring and creek near Hapenui; 
Whakaikai a pako on bank of 

the Hapuka River; 
Te Ara tia tia or 
Wai tiatia, old native cultivations; 
Wairere, (Te Waha o te Marangai) a rock on the beach north of the first cutting; 
Te Kawakawa is the Pinnacle Rock at Blue Duck village; 
Te Karetu, is Blue Duck Greek; 
Haupopokia, Irongate Creek; 
Te Ikaa Whaturoa is the site of a battle between the Ngai Tahu and Ngati Mamoe; 
O Huruhuru, boat harbour at Aniseed Creek; 
Rangiata an inland hill; 
Rakautara is Hennesey's Creek at Aniseed; 
Pari Koau, Halfmoon Bay; 
Ohau, the rocks a fishing place; and 
Paparoa is the well known point.

        
On the south bank of the Clarence on the cliff above the entrance to the traffic bridge can be seen the earthworks of an old pa which figured in the warfare between the Ngai Tahu and Ngati Mamoe Tribes, its name being "
Te Puha te kari". Opatu tu is a high hill at the Clarence. Papatea is the small stream on the Giles Estate. The Mereburn or Porangarau Stream is correctly the Pungarehu (ashes left by fire). An ancient burial-ground is situated at the mouth of the Aniseed Creek, and on the north side was situated a pa called Kaitutae. Aniseed is believed to have been the home of a noted chief whose name was 
Tute Uretira. The recently constructed 
Blenheim—Christchurch railway disclosed many burial caves, and curios were eagerly sought for by European, collectors. Pukaka Pa stood at the outlet of the Waimanara Gorge, and Pirinoa Pa was located on the Emm's Estate. Notched adzes used for whakapapa (genealogical) purposes have been found there about.

        
Kaikoura (eat crayfish) has earned the reputation of being the Scarborough of New Zealand. From the Maori view point it is a place of historic importance. The full name of Kaikoura is 
Te Ahi-koura-a-Tama-ki-te-Rangi (the place where Tama-ki-te Rangi kindled a fire to cook crayfish). Tama-ki-te Rangi was an explorer who arrived from 
Hawaiki by the Tairea Canoe. Tradition also associates Kaikoura with Rakataura of the Pauira raira Canoe. Tamatea-pokai-whenua of the Takitimu Canoe also visited Kaikoura some six hundred years ago. The foregoing voyages are well known to North Island historians, but South Island tradition is more ancient. Kaikoura is definitely associated with Maui of the Mahunui Canoe of nearly 1200 years ago. The North Island was fished up by Maui from Kaikoura. Rakaihautu visited Kaikoura in the Uruao Canoe about 850A.D. (almost a century before the advent of Kupe).

        
In the days of Ngai Tahu occupation there were four pas at Kaikoura; Takahanga, and Pa Nganiho at Kaikoura. Wai a riki, and another the name of which was not obtained were at South Bay. The Ngati Mamoe pa was on the Kaikoura headland. At the Garden of Memories, Kaikoura, repose the mortal remains of the chiefs Te Hiakai, Mihi, and 

Tenatama killed during strife within the Ngai Tahu Tribe.

        
The following place names are at Kaikoura or its immediate neighbourhood. Wai o puka 
(water of the broadleaf tree) is the creek and point near the Kaikoura wharf. Waikoau, Lyell Greek; Oha apu, canoe landing place at mouth of Lyell Creek; Te Maihuporo, centre of flat between wharf and township; Tarori, the bay; Te Ana o Tiri, point and cave east side of Kaikoura; Whinaunui, opposite Takahanga; Opokiri, north side of Lyell Creek; Pitokaone, east corner of Kaikoura; Tamahuporo, vicinity of the wharf; Rae o Atiu, north headland of Kaikoura Peninsula; Rae o Tawhiti, south headland of Kaikoura Peninsula; Te Waero o te hiku, South Bay, Kaikoura; Wai o Ruaraki or Wairua o Rangi represents the Kowhai River. Wairepo is a small lagoon on Kaikoura Peninsula. The Maori Leap is the bluff where the Main South Road meets the Kowhai River. The sole survivor from a captured pa there escaped by leaping the bluff.

        
On the south side of the traffic bridge, high up, overlooking the Kahutara River the Ngati Mamoe built the impregnable fortress of Peketa after their eviction from the Clarence district. Assault after assault was made by the Ngai Tahu in efforts to capture it, so they laid siege to it as a last resort. Te Rakai tau wheke the Ngai Tahu leader enticed the garrison out by stratagem. He sported in the sea as a seal. The Ngati Mamoe pursued him towards Kaikoura. He out-distanced his pursuers, but led them into a Ngai Tahu ambush at Opokihi at Lyell Creek. Rakaitauwheke accounted for the Ngati Mamoe chiefs Popia and Tarere, and his friend Maru killed Te Puehu and Te Awe awe. Bereft of their leaders the rest of the Ngati Mamoe were easy prey. The folk left at Peketa abandoned the pa and journeyed south to Omihi.

        
Peketa is the only hill pa the writer has seen which is to any extent comparable to the fortresses in the North Island. Omihi is south of the well-known Goose Bay camping resort. The wall of the ancient pa of Omihi was in 1945 still clearly visible some 30. chains southward of the Omihi Stream, and it dates from the time of the Puhirere hapu of the second Waitaha Tribe. Ngati Mamoe and Ngai Tahu have in turn occupied it.

        
A former pa on the same site dates to the Rapuwai Tribe. Hikurangi is the name of the hill to the rear of Omihi. Tradition tells of an unsuccessful attempt to capture Omihi Pa by a warrior named Te Towa. Pohea of the Ngai Tara was in possession of the fort for a brief period, but was ousted by the Ngati Mamoe. The flow of bloodshed was so great that the Omihi Stream was formed. Be that as it may, tradition declares any person drinking the waters of Omihi will always return some time to drink anew.

        
Manawa, the leader of the fighting branch of the Ngai
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Tahu Tribe namely the Ngati Kuri reconnoitered Omihi. He was an expert spear-thrower, and to try his skill shot forth a spear. Te Rakai momona, the father of Tukiauau, the leader of the Ngati Mamoe was inadvertently killed. Tukiauau thereby warned of trouble removed to Oaro. Maru the merciful, son of Manawa stayed further attack on the Ngati Mamoe, and persuaded Tukiauau to build the pa of Pari whakatau. The ruins of this pa are near the Wai tbtara nui stream by the Claverley Homestead, three miles north of the Conway Mouth.

        
Manawa continued to live with his Ngai Tahu followers at Omihi for nearly three years. Tukiauau had a beautiful daughter, and Manawa, foolishly seeking revenge for the slaying of Rakai Momona, went to Pari whakatau to arrange a marriage to his son Te Ruahikihiki. Tukiauau received his visitors with ceremony. His wife took close relations under her care, the others with Manawa were, escorted into a whare and slain. Maru in duty bound led the Ngai Tahu avengers. Off Pakihi a fishing party of the Ngati Mamoe were met with and its members either captured or slain. Maru captured the chief Tukarua toro, who was his brother-in-law, arid endeavoured to save him from death. Te Kauae, the second in command had no compunction and roused the Ngai Tahu to demand that Tukarua toro be handed over for the menu of the feast, Te Kauae himself biting off the ears of Maru's brother-in-law.

        
The pa of Pari whakatau long defied capture. A junior chief of the Ngai Tahu named Tu te Rangiapiapi closely related to the besieged persuaded his relations to allow him inside. One day he treacherously took a red hot stone from an oven and threw it on the dry raupo roof of a whare. Soon the inside of the pa was a mass of flames. The Ngai Tahu captured Pari whakatau and slew many, but Tukiauau and his close kin escaped to the Taieri. The further fortunes of Tukiauau are told in succeeding chapters.

        
The Ngai Tahu Tribe at Omihi had war with their kinsmen of Kaiapohia. The fight at Omihi, called Taheke roroa, saw the local folk under Haumatake defeat the Kaiapohia. Tawini, chief of the latter, was slain. On the south bank of the Conway River opposite the Hundalee Railway Station there is a gulley called Kokere-mahere where the southerners again suffered defeat. Haumataki ended his days at Wairewa (Little River), Canterbury.

        
At Te Umu kuri, the flat at Oaro a skirmish took place between the main Ngai Tahu and the Ngati Kuri branch. Kaka-mutumutu, Te Motumotu and Te Kahika are the branches of the Oaro River. Pa Ngaio is situated on the cliff overlooking the mouth of the Oaro River on its south bank. Te Haumi is the location of the Beaton home. The last occasion the writer met Mrs Beaton his informant was attending 

a Ngai Tahu Conference at Christchurch in 1938, a short time before her death, when she expressed a keen desire for another "korero" with him.

        
The following place names were supplied by Mrs Beaton and follow in continuity south:—Te Pari Titahi, bluff at Kahutara River; Whakoiti Mako tukutuku; Te Ana pouri, a seacoast tunnel; Omaru, Hinekaimaraki; Takupu, first point one mile south of Omaru; Ramamai, second road tunnel; Te Whanga o te Koko; Te Rangi unu wai. a point; Te Kiekie, site of a kainga; Whankauae; Ohinekuha; O Te Makura, Goose Bay Stream; Tahuna torea, site of Hundalee Rangers House; O Tu Matua, Pinnacle Rock; Te Kapua, bay; Waiharakeke; Pukarehu; Omihi, creek; Tuiau; Te Awa roa, landing place; Kapukaputahi, rock at Huginin's House; O Tamahaka, bay; Te Pararoa; O Tuaruaru, flat north of Oaro; Kapua rangi, site of Oaro R.C. Church; Wai ora a tane, creek; Haututu, north side of Oaro River; Papaki a kete; Papaki a tai; Te Poutete, waterfall at Cherry Grove; Mikonui, old home of the chief Kaikoura Whakatau; Pukaroro, a rock in the sea; Waihiria,. burial place of Allwright the whaler; Haumuri or Amuri Bluff; Te Piri o Paua, the point of the Amuri Bluff; Okarahia, the river; Pakihi, the flat; Pari whakatau, old pa; Tutae Putu putu, Conway River. The highest peak of the Kaikoura Mountains is Tapuae o Uenuku.

        
Some of the afore mentioned places are of historical interest. Te Ana Pouri near the nothern most road tunnel was a burial-place. Members of the Puhirere hapu of the Waitaha were slain there Off the coast at Raramai is Riley's Island (Panau) and nearby a canoe fight took place between the Kaikoura and Omihi hapus of Ngai Tahu. The quarrelsome and ferocious chief Taoka was responsible for that event. He was also accountable for a fray near Peketa when Tawha ki te raki was slain. The canoe fight was called Te Huri moana.

        
An old pa once existed up the O Te Makura stream at Goose Bay. Five hundred persons are stated to have been buried at the karaka grove at Omihi. 
Rakaia momona is buried at Te Kapukaputahi, and nearby is interred Matai rena, the first wife of Kaikoura Whakatau. Kaikoura rests at Waihiria. Torotoro korangi and Wharawhera te raki lie at Omihi. Wai tapu at the cherry grove at Mikonui was where the tohi rite was performed. The sacred amulet was discovered by the railway construction workers, and was claimed by Mrs Beaton and re-buried. Her kin, however, had no scruples about removing the amulet from its hiding place on her death, and presenting the tapu object to the Canterbury Museum.

        
Tarapuhi is an old burial place on the Amuri Bluff, and Putakiwaiwai is the old time canoe landing at Claverley. Tuku tuku iwi or Te Wheaua is Monkey Face, and is on the 

inland road. It is a very tapu place and is also a burial-ground.

        
Waihiria, where Allwright the whaler's grave can be seen alongside the railway line between the Amuri Bluff and Oaro, has an interesting tale. Allwright approached Kaikoura Whakatau for whaling rights at Te Oneopatiti. The privilege had already been granted to Barney Reilly and the Maori chief, with honour, refused. Allwright cursed Kaikoura, who quietly and in a dignified manner remarked, "You may see the sun set or you may not." Allwright dropped dead when stepping into his boat after the interview. Was Kaikoura Whakatau gifted with second sight or was he a master of "makutu"?

        
Kaikoura and some of his friends were away when Te Rauparaha slaughtered the people at Omihi and Mikonui; on returning to the Kaikoura coastline he caused the dead to be buried at Goose Bay near the Ranger's House. The site of Fyfe's Whaling Station at Kaikoura was purchased for £60 from Kaikoura Whakatau by 
Sir George Grey. The Kaikoura Block of 2,500,000 acres was obtained from the natives for £300 by 
James Mackay, New Zealand Government officer. Reserve of 4,800 acres of useless land was also allowed. The Government before even the, extinguishing of the native title had sold at least one portion of 15,600 acres for £7,800. Kaikoura Whakatau had valued the Kaikoura Block at £10,000. The sale was made on March 29th, 1859.

        
At Goose Bay there is an isolated sea rock, from which a Ngati Mamoe warrior held his foes at bay 
(with a death dealing mere) for twelve hours. A love legend attached to the Waiau uha 
(Dillon) and Waiau toa 
(Clarence) rivers was first recorded by 
Mr S. Percy Smith. These rivers are the female and male spirits of the lofty mountains at their sources; as they move to the coast they become separated. The Waiau uha laments her parting from her spouse, and her tears as warm rain melt the snows at the source. The flood of tears swells both rivers, and swollen streams flow far apart to the coast. Thus do the rivers grieve at parting.
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The district covered in this chapter deals with the North Canterbury which extends as far north as the Conway River and not that area known as such in the Canterbury Provincial days which counted the Hurunui River as the northern boundary. As early as 1872 public meetings petitioned the General Government to have the Amuri severed from Nelson Province and joined to Canterbury, and so it has been for several decades. Roading and railways have made Canterbury and 
Marlborough still closer neighbours. The present inland and coastal roads to the north were merely pack tracks in the early days followed largely the old Maori trails. The principal Maori track from 
Marlborough to 
Canterbury traversed the Awatere Valley, up either the Tone or the Elliot Rivers, over a ridge to either the Guide or the Acheron Rivers, over the Waau toa (Clarence) River to the Omiromiro and Omoukoro tributaries, then through the Plains of Hanmer to Leslie Peak (Maunga tawai) and to the Canterbury Plains.

        
The Maoris of 
Nelson came south via Tophouse and partly on the aforementioned route. Until twenty-five years ago, these Maori tracks (later partly European) were used. The late Mr T. W. Rowe, a past president of the Christchurch Photographic Society made the journey from Tophouse on a bicycle. A well-known Christchurch grocer then employed at Tarndale and Molesworth used also a bicycle on the track from Awatere Valley to Hanmer. A Christchurch Tramping Club went over the old trail recently aided by a pack horse. A section of Maoris used the track in 1831 when attacking Kaiapohia.

        
The Maoris used to have a kainga at Cheviot, and Hika wai kura, a son of Maru the famous Ngai Tahu chief dwelt there after leaving Omihi near Goose Bay in 
Marlborough. A chief named Turaka tuarua used to dwell in a small settlement at Gore Bay 
(Pariroa).

        
The Maoris had a fishing camp at the mouth of the Hurunui River and in 1857 they vainly sought to have the site made a native reserve. The Blythe River Lagoon just a mile south of the Hurunui River Mouth is Te Puna-a-taipuhi, and there is good reason to believe the famous 
Makawhiu Canoe is buried somewhere there. In 1924 a portion of it or something similar was seen. Of course the relic is extremely "
tapu". Motunau Island was a resting place for canoe
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travellers, but lack of water on the island precluded its use as a permanent village. The place in the Waipara district known as Omihi was originally Omimi. On the south side of the Waipara River Mouth there was a Maori village near the present native reserve known as Waimaia 
(Reserve No. 899). At the mouth of the Kowhai River is the lagoon and reserve known as Rotoroa 
(Reserve No. 895), and at the north side of the Ashley River near the mouth is Rakihuri 
(Reserve No. 896). Rakihuri is strictly the Maori name of the Ashley River. The native reserve on the Lower Styx River at Brook-lands 
(Reserve No. 892) is the site of an old fishing camp named Puharakekenui or Pouharakekenui.. 
(Either form of spelling is correct, though the meaning is very slightly different).

        
Not far from the summit of the Weka Pass on the south side between Waipara and Hurunui townships can be seen the ancient Weka Pass Rock paintings. The shelter cave is 65 feet long, 10 feet high and 12 feet deep. The. paintings are executed in kokowai 
(red oxide) mixed with bird fat.One painting is 15 feet long and 4 feet deep. Owing to stock using the shelter in the past, the author had considerable difficulty in 1924 in attempting to photograph the weird objects on account of the covering dirt, the accumulation of many years. The paintings were examined in the early days by Canon 
J.W. Stack, 
W. M. Maskell and 
Sir Julius Von Haast. In December 1916, Doctor J. R. Elmore of Kansas, U.S.A., thoroughly looked over the drawings. In order to preserve the pictures from human vandalism, the Government made the Weka Pass Shelter an Historic Reserve on January 11th, 1931. Admission to the reserve is allowed by the Commissioner of Crown Lands for Canterbury (in writing only which must be presented to the land owner, Mr C. H. Bethell, in 1950). There is much diversity of opinion as to the tribe who executed the designs. One thing appears sure, the paintings are older than those of South Canterbury.

        
The name Rangiora has been given many literal translations:—"
place of rest", "place of health", "life in the sky", "day of peace", "good weather", "invalid getting well" and many fanciful associations have been put forward to connect the name with the distant 
Hawaiki.

        
Over seventy years ago in a newspaper correspondence column, an early settler of the Rangiora district distinctly stated the name was given because the local bush, when the first Europeans arrived, was composed largely of the tree called Rangiora. Specimens of both varieties of this tree can be seen ih the Christchurch Botanical Gardens. The extensive Rangiora and Flaxton swamps were drained in the early sixties, and as a result the country to-day is vastly different. The Cust River no longer pours its water into swamps, but is diverted into the Main Drain. The numerous small streams that acted as 

tributaries of the Cam 
(Whakahume) have long since disappeared. Some of the names remain, but the present day Maoris cannot give information as to the former whereabouts, and to a lesser extent this remark applies to the sections of bush. The following are a few names applied to bush on the Kaiapoi Native Reserve:—Te Waimango, Te Parikoau, Pukukaruru, Tarekautuku, Te Kotuku and Oruatamatea. The Opihu Bush was situated on the west bank of the Cam River at its first division. The Church Bush known as Okohana was much lower down stream. Waituere, was a very sacred place on a creek of the same name above the hairpin bend of the Cam River, above Harrison's old bridge. The tohi rite was performed at Waituere. The track to Old Kaiapohia went in a direct line through the bush from Waituere. Halfway through the bush, a track branched off to the north. The small kainga on the Cam River near its junction with the North Branch of the Waimakariri 
(Korotuaheke) was named Rua Taniwha, and near the site of the Kaiapoi Woollen Mills was the village of Te Rangi whakaputa.

        
Further up the Cam River on the east bank, but nearer to the Main North Road towards Harrison's old bridge is Te Kai-a-te-atua, an old burial site, but also a present day one. The site of the Southbrook Flourmill is Te Whakapuni-a-urihia. Ourihia is on the north bank of the North Branch of the Waimakariri River about two miles from the mouth at Kairaki. The name has been erroneously applied to the district formerly known as Chaney's on the South Branch. The name of that district is correctly Kaipari. There is an old-time burial-place on the South Branch near Chaney's Corner which from time to time has been encroached on by the Waimakariri River.

        
Before the Waimakariri cut in 1877 what is now the main river through Stewarts' Gully the stream flowed alongside the Main North Road. This channel was called Otukaikino. Pakiaka is situated at the hairpin bend of the Cam near Harrisons, and was the site of old-time cultivations, and Waikirikiri is near the same place. Te Wera on the west bank had native gardens. Te-Kau-a-harua represents the junction of the Cam River and the North Branch. Otumatapuna is the west branch of the Cam River. Otuwhatanui and Otuwhata iti are the branches of the East Cam. The Taranaki Creek drains the Tairutu Lagoon at Old Kaiapohia and Houhou-pounamu is the deep part of the Lagoon. The swamp lands lying along the coast near Kaiapohia were near Woodend 
Tutae patu and by Kairaki 
Ngawhari. The north branch of the Styx River is Nga-putahi and the south branch is Taowhaka-puru. The little Ashley River is Te Wera wera. Te Kohanga-a-kai kai waro is the site of Kaiapohia Pa. The brass tablet on the Memorial stated this name, but has disappeared, or it may have been removed to safety. 

(Vandalism is much in evidence). Tawhiti-a-Te Rangiwetea is that part of the Kaiapoi Reserve bounded on the north by sandhills, on the east by sandhills and on the west by the Main North Road. Te Rau-a-kaka is the Maori name of Stewart's Gully.

        
Mr Herries Beattie, after long investigation, says the name of the Eyre River is Wai-a-raki and Burnt Hill near its headwaters but slightly south is Pata weka. Racecourse Hill between Darfield and Sheffield is Puke marama. The Maoris used to dam the Hawkins River in the eeling season. The whole of the Malvern district seems to have been a favourite haunt of Maori sojourners. On the sharp ridge at the junction of the Selwyn and Hororata Rivers once stood a pa called Whakaepa, which was occupied by a section of the Kaiapoi Maoris. Tau nunu, the chief of Repapa in Port Cooper, had his nephew slain by Kaiapoi natives during the Kai huanga feud, and in vengeance took the Whakaepa Pa (near Coalgate) and slew its inhabitants.

        
Springfield is the county town of Tawera County. The Torlesse Range west of the township is Whatarama—its highest peak Tawera is 6,442 feet. According to legend the range was the home of a gigantic bird which was killed by a warrior named Te hau tawera. The Otarama Peak is Kura tawhiti, a name imported from Polynesia. The Otarama Bush destroyed by bush fires during the early nineties bore the Maori name of Te Maeaea. The bird slain on the Torlesse Range was undoubtedly a moa, as dozens of skeletons of moas, (large and small class) have been found on all sides of the range. Otane uru was Porter's Pass, and Hapua waikawa was Lake Lyndon.

        
A note by Hape of Tuahiwi written over forty years ago says there are no eels in Hapua waikawa. From European sources the statement is absolutely correct. The Maoris used to have a seasonal camp just behind the present Castle Hill Homestead. Oporea is Lake Pearson, noted by the Maori for its large eels (European trout fisherman know that). Oporea iti is Lake Grassmere and Kamoana is Lake Howden not far away. Mererere was altered by the European surveyors in 1864 to Marymere. The Torlesse Range abounded with native rats. To the Maoris the rodent was a delicacy.

        
The birch or more correctly beech forest of Whatarama teemed with bird life. The descendants of Moki, the Ngai Tahu chief who conquered 
Banks Peninsula are concerned with its ownership. Moki considered that the feathers of the kaka bird should adorn his daughter Te Aotukia. Tanetiki, another chief thought of his own daughter Hine mihi, whilst Hikatutae claimed for his daughter Kea ata. Of the claimants none had a better claim than the youngest, the brave Moki.

        
Crossing to the north side of the Waimakariri we enter the county of Oxford. Oxford appears to have borne in the 

early European days no other name than Harewood Forest, an immense area of almost impenetrable bush. Many bush fires and to a lesser extent sawmilling, have cleared practically all the district. Scarred tree stumps, and small patches of live timber in gullies such as at Coopers Creek, alone remain. The Maori name of View Hill is Otauaki; yet the native reserves near and at View Hill Nos. 897, 2061 and 18776 are labelled Tawera. The statement has appeared in print that Kapuka ariki Pa is not situated at Cust but is clearly visible on View Hill. This is contrary to fact. When the bush was cleared off the View Hill about 1872, three Maori ovens were found on its northern slopes near a small flax swamp. Up to the present time that is the only evidence found of old-time Maori association with View Hill. The Maoris had a seasonal clearing in the bush near the present road at Gammon's Creek, the Maori name of which was Pekapeka. The Ram Paddock, one mile north of the Eyre River bore the name Tutae tarahi which denotes that Maoris visiting the place suffered from diarrhoea. This place appears to be the only place strictly in the Oxford area at which a few stone adzes have been found. Samuel. Hewlings the surveyor and his assistants were affected with the same malady when they were working there about 1852. John Robert Godley of the Canterbury Association resented strongly Hewlings accepting a "toddy" from the hand of John Deans of Riccarton, to settle his internals, and requested Thomas Cass, Chief Surveyor of Canterbury to dismiss Hewlings at once. The "medicine" was administered on a Sunday and Cass did not obey.

        
The only prominent peak in the Oxford locality is Mount Oxford or Te Poho-raka-hua. The Canterbury Museum possesses no Maori curios from the Oxford area proper. Burnt Hill, Ashley Gorge, Glentui, Starvation Hill and Lees Valley, Okuku and other places further east and north have yielded up considerable evidence of Maori contact.

        
The Maoris of North Canterbury possess four reserves at Starvation Hill near Bennetts Junction. Pukaukau is the general name for the district, and Tumukai for the country lying towards Eyreton. Native Reserves Nos. 893 and 894 are in the Birch Hill district near the Garry River. These reserves are named Orohaki. The Maoris had tracks to Lees Valley where weka were taken. The trails went over Mount Blowhard by the Glentui and Garry. Another track to Lees Valley went through the Okuku Pass west of Mount Karetu. The evidence given before the Royal Commission of 1879 leaves not the slightest doubt that the chief places of mahinga kai (food gathering) were situated on the Cust Downs and the Ashley River Downs near Loburn. The places particularly mentioned were Pukeriki, Paneto and Hororoa.

        
Pukeriki is Summerhill on the north-west end of the 

Cust (Mairaki) Downs. Paneto was located at North Loburn near the Grey River, and Hororoa is known to Europeans as Percy's Bush and Journey's End. Hororoa is situated up the East Grey towards Mount Grey 
(Maungatere), and can be recognised as the much-photographed, remarkable, scoured-out cliffs. Until comparatively recent years the Maoris had an eeling place on the Cust River at the spot where the concrete bridge crosses the stream at Stoke. In the days of the second Waitaha Tribe there existed two settlements in the Cust Valley, the one at Cust was Kapuka ariki, and that near Stoke was Mairaki. The population has been estimated at 2,000.

        
When the first Europeans came, a long high embankment extended from Stoke to Cust. This has been the means of some folk believing the fortress (if any) was a second London or New York, truly a flight of imagination! The long rampart with its gaps was merely something akin to Agricola's Wall in Scotland, erected to check the advance of barbarians moving to attack people probably engaged peacefully in making a livelihood. The main kainga, there is good reason to believe, stood on the site of the Cust Cemetery; Mairaki was near Stoke. When the first settlers arrived the palisaded look-out 
(Pukeriki) was still standing at Summerhill. All traces have now disappeared.

        
On the South Downs there were several lagoons, and the land was covered with flax and manuka. The North Downs grew koromiko and similar shrubs. The Waitaha settlements were captured by the Ngati Mamoe Tribe. The Waitaha chiefs of the place were Te Waimaongia and Tauhanga. The native lands north of the Ashley River 
(Rakihuri) were acquired for the New Zealand Government by Mr J. W. Hamilton, Native Land Purchase Officer in February 1857, for £500, which was the lowest sum the Maoris would entertain.

        
Payment was made in three instalments. Hamilton had been allowed £200 to extinguish the title, and had very great difficulty in obtaining the extra £300 from the General Government. J. W. Hamilton in his report implies how much he resented being made the tool to carry out such a raw deal. The Government before even the native title had been extinguished had sold an area of the block consisting of 30,000 acres for £15,000. The following are words used in Hamilton's report:—"
a gross fraud practised on the Maoris, for their land which we have already sold at such a different price".
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(Kaiapohia)
        

        
The Kaiapoi Native Reserve (No. 873) comprises 2,640 acres of the best agricultural land in Canterbury. Judge 
Alexander Mackay in a report on the lands set apart as native reserves in the South Island comments on the good fortune of the Kaiapoi natives. Many of the native reserves in the South Island are useless land, which in some instances was set apart on the request of the Maoris themselves for sentimental reasons.

        
When 
W. B. D. Mantell, Land Purchase Commissioner visited Kaiapoi in 1849, Wereta Tainui, Tipora and eight others were dwelling on the south bank of the North Branch of the Waimakariri River, and about a dozen Maoris of the Te Rangi-whakaputa hapu had their abode in two small kaingas on the Cam River near its junction with the North Branch. 
Mantell made a small native reserve at the mouth of the Kaikainui Stream, and the junction of the one-time South Branch with the North Branch below the present Kaiapoi Borough.

        
The Kaikainui Native Reserve (No. 877) contains 5 acres. In 1867 there were thirty-five Maori farms on the Kaiapoi Reserve. During the sixties, in common with North Canterbury European farmers, the Maoris lost nearly all their cattle by a plague. During the season in which the crops in Canterbury suffered loss by rust, the Maori farmers headed the crop averages. The wheat crop threshed out on the Kaiapoi Native Reserve during February, 1879, according to an official return was 87 bushels of wheat to the acre.

        
Only about two Maoris work their land to-day in 1950. Restrictions on alienation were removed by the Native Land Act of 1909 and subsequent Acts. Practically all land has passed to Europeans by sale or long terms of leasehold.

        
The old pa of Kaiapohia situated a mile or so to the south of Waikuku township was built by Turakautahi, the second son of Tuahuriri by his wife Hine te wai about the year 1700 A.D. at the Tairutu Lagoon. The name translated briefly means "
food depot". In a recent publication the 
Rev. J. W. Stack has been accused of using North Island "swank" in calling the old pa, Kaiapohia instead of Kaiapoi. The 
Rev. Stack in his book printed in 1893 distinctly says, "Kaiapohia was always used in formal speeches." Watere Kahu of Arowhenua 

used the unabbreviated name. Long before the arrival of the so called "First Four Ships", 
Edward Shortland, Protector of Aborigines, used the term Kaiapohia. There is good reason to use that name, if only to distinguish the old pa from the modern European borough of Kaiapoi, which is built on a locality formerly known as O te Mate. Pita Te Hori born of all the leading strains of Ngai Tahu was the 
Rev. J. W. Stack's principal informant.

        
The last person of the Maori community of North Canterbury who could be considered an authority on native history was a halfcaste Thomas Eustace Green of Hine Matua blood, who died on September 2nd, 1917. Through the courtesy of Mr Te Aritaua Pitama the writer has been shown a few notes by T. E. Green. Someday Mr Pitama may publish the whole of those papers himself.

        
At the close of the year 1828 Te Rauparaha arrived with 150 warriors at Kaiapohia, his hands still red with the blood of the Ngai Tahu of Kaikoura and Omihi in 
Marlborough, who had been caught completely off guard. Te Rauparaha and his fellow chief Te Rangihaeata professed peace to Te Maiharanui the principal chief of Kaiapohia. Fugitives from Omihi had told their misfortune and the Ngai Tahu were suspicious.

        
There are three accounts given why the North Canterbury Maoris decided to strike the first blow. All three reasons are probably correct. At anyrate the statement made by 
Stack that Hakitara a Nga Puhi warrior in the northern ranks heard the proposals being made for an attack on Kaiapohia, and passed the information on to the Ngai Tahu, has never been seriously questioned.

        
Te Rauparaha in another account caused a Kaiapohia chief to hand over a slave girl to make a juicy meal. A remark that more meat would be required, coming on the top of the knowledge that Te Rauparaha's force had dug up the corpse of Te Ruaki, an aunt of Te Maiharanui at Tuahiwi, washed and cooked it at the Little Ashley decided the action of the Ngai Tahu to strike first.

        
When Te Rauparaha's leading chiefs were within the pa bargaining or more likely "commandeering" the greenstone, the Ngai Tahu struck. Te Pehi-tu-a-te-rangi, Te Pokaitara, Te Rangikatuta, Te Ruatahi, Te Hua Piko, Te Aratangata, Te Kohi and Te Kohua all trusted companions of Te Rauparaha were slain. As the majority of Te Rauparaha's force had returned from Kaikoura and Omihi to Kapiti Island previously, the northern leader had no option but to retire to his canoes at Waipara Mouth, and head for the north. Te Pehi-tu-a-te-rangi, the leading chief slain, received his first wound at the hands of a warrior, Te Paa. Te Paa figures in another chapter and is the ancestor of a very old Maori friend of the writer Wiremu Rehu Te Paa (now deceased) of Tuahiwi. Te 

Rauparaha had his revenge two years later when he captured Te Maiharanui and desroyed Takapuneke Kainga at Akaroa.

        
At the close of 1831, Te Rauparaha came south to Kaiapohia with a force of 600 of his best warriors made up of the following tribes:—Ngati Toa, Ngati Awa, Ngati Raukawa, Puketapu, Ngati Kura, Ngati Koata, Ngati Tama and Ngati Maru. The main hapus of the Ngai Tahu in Kaiapohia at that time were the Ngati Tuteahuka and Ngati Hikawaikura.

        
A section of the attacking forces went overland to the attack via Tophouse and Hanmer, the others went around by sea in canoes. The Ngati Kuia were forced allies of Te Rauparaha.

        
Had the northerners attacked on arrival the pa would have fallen quickly as it was then thinly garrisoned. Taiaroa came back with a force to help, but such relief being insufficient, he emerged again to gather a relieving taua from 
Otakou. Delay occurred and the memorable siege of Kaiapohia commenced.

        
There is little doubt, lack of cohesion in the Ngai Tahu Tribe resulting from the ill feeling caused during the Kai Huanga Feud, plus lack of pakeha fire-arms (which Te Rauparaha possessed) caused the fall of the pa, quite as much as the burning down of its palisades. The northerners had placed brushwood against the defences. When a nor'-wester was blowing a chief Pureko set fire to the tinder to get rid of the menace, but unfortunately the wind changed and blew the flames against the palisades. Some of the Ngai Tahu escaped by way of the Huirapa Gate and the Tairutu Swamp and reached safety, some at Maungatere (Mount Grey), others went south to Wai a te ruati Pa near Temuka, which Te Rauparaha wisely did not attack.

        
Of the thousand men, women and children in the pa, a portion escaped, some were slain, and the rest taken prisoners. A lad Paura was captured but escaped. His descendants live to-day as the Pitama family of Tuahiwi, and the Kini family of Wairewa. The late Mr Kini of Wairewa was quite a character to be seen on the Little River Railway Station with all his garments patched with flax. Perhaps those pakehas who made ungracious remarks little knew that in his blood ran the bluest strains of the Ngai Tahu Tribe and that he was wellversed in history.

        
Te Rauparaha despite the fact that he was responsible for the deaths of several thousand persons of the Maori race in both Islands, did not however lack some redeeming qualities. During the siege of Kaiapohia, Hakopa Te Ata-o-Tu slew in single combat Te Pehi Tahau, one of Te Rauparaha's noted fighters. When the pa fell, Hakopa Te Ata-o-Tu (Old Jacob) was taken prisoner; but instead of putting him into the oven 

Te Rauparaha congratulated the Ngai Tahu chief on his bravery, and gave him a trusted duty at Kapiti Island. Old Jacob eventually returned to Canterbury and became an outstanding member of St. Stephen's Anglican Church at Tuahiwi under the 
Rev. J. W. Stack. The great-grandson of Te Ato-o-Tu served in the Maori Battalion during the World War, and now lives at Tuahiwi.

        
When Kaiapohia Pa fell, Tuahiwi and some half-dozen kaingas within marching distance were destroyed by Te Rauparaha's army along with the aged or infirm inhabitants who had been unable to escape.

        
Wiremu Te Uki of Tuahiwi giving evidence before the Royal Commission of 1879 (Mr Nairn, Judges Smith and Young) stated:—"
We left Tuahiwi because it became sacred." "We built a new pa over on the sandhills named Tioriori." "It was fear of the deities that made us remove from Tuahiwi to Tioriori." "We were induced to locate ourselves again at Tuahiwi by the 
Rev. J. W. Stack."

        
When 
H. T. Kemp came in 1848 the Maoris were not dwelling at Tuahiwi.

        
On September 21st, 1848, 
Mr W. B. D. Mantell, the Commissioner appointed to complete the Kemp's Purchase at Akaroa guaranteed the Maoris that the site of Old. Kaiapohia Pa would be made a reserve that would be sacred to Maori and Pakeha for ever, and no person would dwell there. The Rev. J. Raven, the Anglican clergyman of Woodend, and one of the oldest settlers near the old pa, gathered together all the human remains he could find, and re-interred them reverently in a common grave.

        
Through the exertions of the Rev. Canon 
J. W. Stack, sufficient money was raised to erect a Memorial on the site of Old Kaiapohia Pa. The reverend gentleman laid the foundation stone on October 20th, 1898, before a large assembly of both races. The Memorial was unveiled by the Right 
Hon. R. J. Seddon, Premier, on April 3rd, 1899. Mr T. E. Green of Tuahiwi was the chairman of the Memorial Committee. The Memorial Tiki is 28 feet in height and was erected by Messrs Graham and Greig.

        
The site of Kaiapohia Pa was raised to the status of a full Native Reserve on July 10th, 1868, as Reserve No. 898. The Tairutu Lagoon was made a Native Reserve in May 1899, as Reserve No. 873a, and the custody of both reserves was placed under the control of five trustees. Notwithstanding the pledge given by 
Mr W. B. D. Mantell in 1848 that the place would be held sacred, an application was made in recent years to have the area dug up systematically for curios. Needless to say, the request was refused, and the Judge of the 
Native Land Court present concurred with the decision of the trustees.

        
The Old Pa was visited by sixty members of the 
Christ-

church Workers' Educational Association on September 19th, 1925. Mr Henry Uru, 
m.p., enlightened the gathering concerning the history of the place. The New Brighton W.E.A. paid a visit on June 13th, 1931, Mr W. D. Barrett being the speaker. A few years later on July 28th, 1934, the Christchurch W.E.A. again visited Kaiapohia, when the address was given by Mr I. W. Karaitiana.

        
On October 7th, 1929, the Canterbury Automobile Association resolved to erect a direction sign at the Main North Road. On October 25th, 1931, the Centenary of the Siege was held. Religious services were held at St. Stephen's Anglican Church, Tuahiwi, by Archbishop Julius and Bishop Bennett. The Ratana services were held at the Runanga Hall. On October 26th, 1931, Lord Bledisloe visited Kaiapohia Pa, escorted by Maori horsemen. Mr Tuiti Makitanara,  
m.p., for Southern Maori with several other members of Parliament, clergy and leading citizens were present among the assembly.

        
On August 9th, 1935, the Maoris of North Canterbury with the approval of the Kaiapohia Pa Trust Board sought the assistance of the Rangiora County Council in erecting a model pa on the site. The proposal was, however, after due consideration, rejected as being too costly.

        
Tuahiwi makes its first appearance as a place associated with the pakeha on June 1st, 1852, when G. W. Metehau (George Williams) wrote to Mr John Robert Godley of the Canterbury Association offering to sell timber at Tuahiwi and allowing Europeans to dwell there at a rental payable to himself as owner of the locality. The letter is too lengthy to give in full. His grandfather Te Aritaua with his wife Te Hiwai went and dwelt at Tuahiwi. "When they reached Tuahiwi, Tane the chief stood up and said: "Thou art come to thy place, for thee is all this place and land all Tuahiwi." Metehau mentions the other chiefs Pikai, Rapa and Kaitupuku, then goes on to say: "When Aritaua dwelt at Tuawhiwi the chieftainship fell to Aritaua, afterwards came Tuhakararu. Tuhakaruru and Aritaua paid backets and mats for Tuahiwi to Tane." The son of Aritaua was Pakipaki, and his sons were G. W. Metehau and Pohau Wangahoro. Their father had a carved house called Te Huinga and a food store named Hikurangi.

        
Alas the offer so kindly made for Europeans to dwell at Tuahiwi called forth a letter of protest to the Agent of the Canterbury Association, as the result of a meeting held by the North Canterbury Maoris. The letter was written by Henry Fletcher, schoolmaster and is dated June 22nd, 1852:—"
I am instructed by the Maoris of Kaiapoi to state that the only piece of land possessed by G. W. Metehau or his brother at Tuahiwi is 20 feet square on which formerly stood a house and whata belonging to Tuhakaruru, for which he gave two 

mats and two pokekas in payment to Tane. There is no wood on it, he cannot let or lease without the consent of the parties. Therefore let no white man be led astray. Unless the majority of the Kaiapoi Maoris are consulted, no person whatever will hold any land belonging to them in peace."

        
When 
Mr W. B. D. Mantell visited Kaiapoi on September 2nd, 1849, dealing with Kemp's Purchase, Metehau evinced good common sense when he apprised his fellows that the conditions were harsh, and land and money totally inadequate. However he lost his temper and endeavoured to kill the Commissioner with his mere. Aperahama Te Aika and Wi Te Paa saved 
Mantell's life, and in reward received the Puharakekenui Native Reserve (No. 892) at Lower Styx in 1868.

        
The mere which Te Aika used during the siege of Kaiapohia formerly belonged to his grandfather Te Hau. For a period it was in the possession of Karatia of Old Waikouaiti. The first occasion the mere was on public exhibition was at a Curio Show of the Rangiora Presbyterian Church on September 11th, 1934. A few years ago Eruera Te Aika presented the weapon to the Canterbury Museum. It is probably the best specimen of a mere in New Zealand.

        
The following persons have occupied the office of chairman (Chief) of the Tuahiwi Runanga from the year 1860 up to the present time (1945):—Pita Te Hori, Poihipi, Te Aorahua, Tare Te Ihoka, Wi Naihira, Taituha Hape, T. E. Green, Te Hau Korako, E. Te Aika and W. D. Barrett.

        
The original Runanga Hall which was called Tutekawa, narrowly escaped destruction by fire, but the Maori bucket brigade made a good save on April 14th, 1872. The carvings which once adorned that hall are now stored in the Canterbury Museum. The first hall was replaced by another building which was opened on June 17th, 1880, when the speakers were the Revs. 
J. W. Stack and H. C. M. Watson, Messrs Tare Te Ihoka and Hone Paratane. This hall was named Tuahuriri and cost £300. The hall Tuahuriri was lifted off its foundations by a gale on August 20th, 1880. Replaced, it functioned until the present Runanga Hall was opened. Acetelyne gas lighting was installed in the hall Tuahuriri on May 8th, 1909.

        
At a meeting held in the hall Tuahiriri on March 21st, 1918, it was resolved to erect the present hall, which was declared open by the 
Hon. J. G. Coates. The dedication service was conducted by Archbishop Julius, assisted by the local vicar. Judge Rawson of the 
Native Land Court, several members of Parliament and leading people were present when the ceremony took place on August 3rd, 1922. The hall is named Mahunui, after the canoe used by Maui, an ancestor of many hundred years ago. The cost of the building and fittings was approximately £3,000.

        


        
Kaiapohia, until its destruction by Te Rauparaha in 1831, was the capital of the Ngai Tahu lands. Tuahiwi, on the Kaiapoi Native Reserve, for nearly a century has enjoyed that distinction. Notable visitors are invariably welcomed at Tuahiwi. The proceedings take the form of speeches by the chairman of the Runanga, a few of the native elders, schoolmaster and clergyman, and needless to say a sumptuous feast follows. A gift of some Maori article is usually given to the guest (or guests). The Maoris of Tuahiwi do not lack the art of extending hospitality.

        
The following in the briefest of language are some of the functions which have been held:—Visits: 
Sir George Grey, Governor, February 9th, 1867; Members of the Arawa, Ngati Rangi, and Tuwharetoa Tribes under Poihipi Tukairangi on February 10th, 1867; 
Sir George Bowen, Governor, January 14th, 1869; 
Hon. William Rolleston, Superintendent of Canterbury, October 22nd, 1874; 
Hon. J. Sheehan, the first New Zealand-born Minister of Native Affairs, April 30th, 1878; 
Sir Arthur Gordon, Governor, December 26th, 1881; 
Sir William Jervois, Governor, February 9th, 1885; 
Hon. John Ballance, Minister of Native Affairs, March 1st, 1886; 
Hon. E. Richardson, June 16th, 1884; Bishop Harper, January 25th, 1885; Lord Onslow, Governor, on November 14th, 1889 and December 18th, 1891; Archbishop Julius, May 25th 1890; Captain G. A. Preece, a veteran of the Maori Wars, on July 10th, 1891; Lord Glasgow, Governor, January 20th, 1893; Kotahitanga Rugby Football Team, August 7th, 1896; Lord Ranfurly, Governor, June 16th, 1898, November 1900, and April 7th, 1904; Hon. E. Mitchelson, Minister of Native Affairs, December 10th, 1889. Hon. A. J. Cadman, who took every chance possible to give assistance in providing land for landless natives, when Minister of Native Affairs, December 19th, 1892; Wikitoria, daughter of Major Kemp, loyalist native chief, December 23 rd, 1900; Officers of the Antarctic exploration ship Discovery, December 11th, 1901; Right 
Hon. R. J. Seddon, Premier, April 8th, 1902; Members of the Arawa, Ngati Toa and Ngati Rawakana Tribes, July 3rd, 1905; 
Hon. Sir James Carroll, August 15th, 1906; 
Hon. A. T. Ngata, May 8th,1909; Officers of H.M.S. New Zealand, May 16th, 1913; 
Hon. Sir James Carroll, who was an outstanding orator, January 30th, 1918; 
Sir Arthur Conan Doyle, author, December 17th, 1920; Chief Judge Jones of the 
Native Land Court, January 19th, 1925; New South Wales Rugby Football Team, August 1st, 1925; Bishop Bennett, first visit as a Maori bishop, May 25th, 1929; Chief Judge R. N. Jones and the 
Hon. A. T. Ngata, June 4th, 1929; British Rugby Team, July 8th, 1930; Right 
Hon. G. Forbes, Premier, May 30th, 1931; Mr D. G. Sullivan and others Mayors, February 5th, 1935: Indian Hockey Team, June 23rd, 1935; Right Hon. Michael Joseph Savage, Premier, 

and the 
Hon. D. G. Sullivan, February 19th, 1937; Sir Cyril and Lady Newall, November 29th, 1944. Besides these official receptions numerous conferences relating to Ngai Tahu welfare 
(especially land questions and the Ngai Tahu Claim) have been held at Tuahiwi from time to time.

        
To deal fully with all resolutions and other proceedings of conferences held at Tuahiwi would call for a large work, dealing entirely with the Ngai Tahu Claim. The gathering held during March 1874 occupied three weeks. The principal speakers were H. K. Taiaroa, Horomona Pohio and Matiaha Tiramorehu. Another lengthy hui took place during May 1882. The korero held for several weeks of September 1883 was concerned principally with raising funds to enable the Maoris to fight for the Claim by legal means. During September 1885, the merits of the Claim were again well ventilated.

        
In August 1922 yet another discussion took place under the chairmanship of Mr J. H. Ellison. The sale and lease proposals in connection with the Greymouth Reserve were also considered.

        
So far as an investigation by Government appointed Royal Commission is concerned that carried out by Mr Nairn, Judges Smith and Nairn was thorough. The Commissioners of 1879 had every support from the 
Hon. J. Sheehan, the Native Minister, but his successor in that office the Hon. J. Bryce stifled the final result. The latter gentleman as his statements printed in Hanzard show, had little love for the Maori people.

        
Judge 
Alexander Mackay in two Royal Commissions brought a just consideration of the Claim before Parliament. Messrs J. Strauchon, J. Ormsby and Judge R. N. Jones as a Royal Commission on November 30th, 1920, settled the compensation on the very lowest estimate at £354,000. The Claim was considered by the Maoris at Tuahiwi during August 1920; Mr J. H. W. (Billy) Uru being the principal speaker. Over six hundred Maoris were present during the month of January 1925 when the allocation methods were discussed.

        
Two committees were set up, each with opposite ideas. One was led by R. M. Taiaroa, the other by W. T. Pitama. One favoured a general distribution to all who could trace Ngai Tahu descent from owners in the Block at the time of Kemp's Deed. The other was more concerned for the interest of those who could produce several succession orders. Feeling ran high, and even some wahines danced a haka and went into action. For a time it appeared no compromise or decision would be arrived at. Finally Mr W. T. Pitama allowed that even Ngati Mamoe land occupiers' descendants would be considered.

        
Chief Judge R. N. Jones on January 20th, 1925, held a whakapapa (genealogy) day. Descent was further investigated by the 
Native Land Court during June and November, 1926. 

Chief Judge Jones with the 
Hon. A. T. Ngata, and Tuiti Makitanara, 
m.p., on June 4th, 1929, suggested whatever money was voted by a Government should be funded into a Trust and the money used in a more general way, than outlined by the Ngai Tahu under its distribution under three headings.

        
A Trust Board was formed. Sums of £50,000 and £100,000 during the depression years offered by the Government were declined. To the late Tuiti Makitanara, 
m.p., is due the credit of having accomplished an official acknowledgement of the Claim.

        
On December 15 th, 1944, the Labour Government pruned the Royal Commission award (a low estimate) down to £300,000, and the means adopted by which finality is reached in thirty years' time can only be described as shrewd.

        
Education of the natives first appears in the days of the Canterbury Association, when a native school was in operation at Kaiapoi during the years 1851 and 1852. Henry Fletcher was the schoolmaster. Pita Te Hori, later a Native Assessor was one of the pupils. The school pupils roll is still in existence. On the closing of that school the Maoris were left to shift for themselves.

        
On September 10th, 1859, Bishop Harper, the Revs. Jacobs and Cotterell together with Mr John Hall (later Sir John Hall) arrived at Tuahiwi, and with the aid of Pita Te Hori, the Anglican missionary James West 
Stack was introduced to the Maoris, and on the following day a site for a mission school was selected. Paora Tau, Wiremu Te Uki, Hakopa Te Ata o Tu and Ihaia Tainui accorded the welcome.

        
On May 10th, 1862, the Anglican Church brought down from Auckland, at a cost of £40, a native school teacher Ruinui and his wife. Though the Maoris appreciated the establishment of a place of Christian worship in their midst, they were suspicious of the influence of a school, and three years elapsed before that project was properly launched. The Maoris gave 20 acres of land and half an acre of timber, labour and £62 towards the erection of the Mission building and guaranteed £150 per annum, stipend and expenses. Selling firewood in 
Lyttelton and Christchurch was the means by which the Maoris raised the necessary money.

        
The 
Rev. J. W. Stack was admitted to Holy Orders on December 19th, 1860. There is a large amount of correspondence by the 
Rev. Stack to the Provincial and General Governments from 1860 to 1865 requesting subsidies in the archives. The authorities did not have the revenue available to the extent they did in the seventies.

        
In November 1863, the Tuahiwi Mission School was ready to commence operations in a small way. However it was not until August 1865, that the first pupil was enrolled. In April 1866 the roll increased to 15 scholars. The school hours were 

9 a.m. to 12 noon and 2 p.m. to 4 p.m. The fee per child was 1/- per week, which besides learning, included board and clothing. Miss Rebecca Taylor was the schoolmistress at £75 per annum.

        
On December 4th, 1864, the 
Rev. J. W. Stack stated to the Provincial Secretary of Canterbury that £750 had been the cost of the building, which had been met by grants, and Maori and Pakeha subscriptions. The land donated by the Maoris for Anglican School and Church purposes was gazetted by the Governor on September 6th, 1861. The 
Rev. J. W. Stack and Mr H. J. Tancred were gazetted as trustees of St. Stephen's Church land on December 30th, 1870.

        
On May 5th, 1870, at 10 a.m. the school, mission building and the 
Rev. J. W. Stack's residence adjoining were destroyed by fire. The loss on the building was £800, on the furniture, and personal effects £280. So ended the Tuahiwi Mission School. The Provincial Government having withdrawn grants to denominational schools, and taken the administration of education into its own hands, the Crown Grant of Section No 91 of 20 acres standing in the name of the Anglican bishop was recalled and the area reduced to 16 acres, the remaining four acres being set aside as Section No. 91a.

        
The Tuahiwi Native School was opened in 1872, with Mr and Mrs Henry Reeves as its teachers. The school was continuously under their charge from 1872 until Mr Reeves died in 1899, except during the year 1886 when Mr and Mrs Reeves had a change to a North Island native school. Mr and Mrs W. A. Leech were the teachers during the year 1886.

        
Mr David Cossgrove took control in 1900. L. J. Armitage in 1915, S. H. Andrews in 1916, G. Holmes in 1919, R. McSporran in 1922, and Alexander Dempsey in 1923. Several short-period teachers followed on, until Mrs Philips took charge. She has had to date at least one successor.

        
Tuahiwi Native School enjoys the distinction of having been the first Maori school in the South Island to send pupils forth to Te Aute College on Makarini Scholarships 
(
Sir Donald McLean memorial awards). In February 1883, Hoani Uru won the honour; in May 1894, W. D. Barrett (the present head of the Tuahiwi Runa0nga), and Edward Sherboard in February 1896.

        
On July 27th 1909, the school buildings of the Provincial era were destroyed by fire. The present school was opened on August 10th, 1910, when speeches were delivered by Messrs H. Langford, Taituha Hape and the Rev. Fraer.

        
The foundation stone of St. Stephen's Anglican Church, Tuahiwi, was laid by Governor 
Sir George Grey on February 9th, 1867, assisted by Bishop Harper, 
Rev. J. W. Stack, Messrs Pita Te Hori and Koro Maitai, and the church was opened on September 11th, 1867, by Dean Jacobs, and the Revs. 
Stack, 

Willock and B. W. Dudley. The vicarage of St. Stephen's was dedicated by Archbishop Julius on September 6th, 1906.

        
The Anglican Maoris of North Canterbury during May 1903, gathered in force in the Tuahiwi Runanga Hall and voiced a strong protest to the Anglican Church authorities at the discontinuation of the South Island Maori Mission, and also voiced objection to the St. Stephen's Church congregation being attached to Rangiora or other European parishes. Feeling ran high on what the natives considered (rightly) a breach of faith, seeing the land was handed over so gratuitously for a specific purpose. A direct appeal was also made to Archbishop Julius.

        
Half the former Anglican Maori families in Canterbury can now be counted members of the Ratana sect. St. Stephens in 1945 was merely a branch of Rangiora parish, and has been so for many years. Prior to 1903 the ministers were Revs. 
J. W. Stack, G. P. Mutu, Woodthorpe, W. Ronaldson and W. Blathwayt. From 1904 to 1917 the Rev. Fraer did yeoman service for the Tuahiwi Maoris; 1918 to 1919 Rev. E. Webb and the Rev. E. Chard 1928 to 1930.

        
Four acres of land was set aside in the sixties by the Maoris for the Wesleyan Church, but was never used by the 
Rev. James Buller who always acted as far as possible with the 
Rev. J. W. Stack, the Anglican missioner. On September 30th, 1893, the Maoris requested the 
Native Land Court to be allowed the rental to be used for charitable purposes. The rents in 1945 were payable to the Tuahiwi Runanga.

        
During the sixties the Maoris used to hold annual horse race meetings near the kainga. Near the Tutaepatu Lagoon at Waikuku on February 1st, 1893, the Maoris held a general sports gathering. A feature was the eel-spearing contest which was won by H. Pohio.

        
The Tuahiwi Post Office was opened on January 1st, 1900. The first meeting of the old Mahunui Maori Council was held at Tuahiwi on September 11th, 1902, Mr Taituha Hape presiding.

        
On October 18th, 1922, the Maoris considered erecting a Great War Soldiers' Memorial at a cost of £800, but on reflection were content with the Roll of Honour in the Runanga Hall which had been unveiled by Mr Te Aika on June 14th, 1916. A flag was presented to H.M.S. New Zealand on February 4th, 1917, and its duplicate was dedicated by the Rev. Fraer at St. Stephen's Church on June 10th, 1917.

        
On December 10th, 1866, Pita Te Hori raised a Maori Rifle Volunteer Corps, but it did not carry on through the strenuous opposition of the elders led by Hakopa Te Ata o Tu.

        
Roading through the Kaiapoi Reserve was sanctioned by the Maoris on August 19th, 1855. On November 6th, 1873, the Rangiora and Manderville Road Board paid compensation 

and the Maoris permitted the Church Bush Road and Revell's Road to be formed. On February 10th, 1911, the Maoris of Tuahiwi raised £100 and with a £2 for £1 subsidy from the Government prevailed on the Rangiora Road Board to recondition the roads within the reserve.

        
The Native Reserve in the early days had several large patches of bush, the timber sold providing the Maoris with considerable revenue. Several thousand pounds loss was occasioned by the bush fire which broke out on October 12th, 1859. A similar happening occurred during April 1866.

        
The Native Reserve was fully surveyed in 1859, sections set out in 1860, allotments issued May 1861, and the Grown Grants delivered on September 19th, 1865. On April 27th, 1873, the Maoris decided on laying out a township.

        
The Tairutu Lagoon at Kaiapohia was partially drained during July 1861.
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Otautahi

Christchurch and its district.

        
Looking down on Christchurch from a vantage point on the Port Hills it is difficult to realise that when the first Europeans arrived the district was largely one of swamps, the vegetation raupo and flax. The Otakaro (Avon) and the Opawaho (Heathcote) drained the swamps.

        
In 1840 two Sydney trading firms, Messrs Cooper and Levy 
(whose names are perpetutated in 
Banks Peninsula nomenclature) and Messrs Abercrombie and Co., investigated with negative results the possibilities of a European settlement, on the site of what is now the capital of Canterbury. The first European explorer of whom there is a record was a pakeha Maori of whaling days at Akaroa named James Robinson Clough, the man who interpreted Captain Stanley's speech to the assembled Maoris when the British flag was hoisted at Green's Point, 
Akaroa in 1840. The descendants of this man are well known at the present time as leading lights in the Maori community of Wairewa Pa at Little River. Robinson Clough journeyed up the Avon River by canoe as far as the small Maori Pa of Putaringamotu 
(The Place of the Severed Ear) now the site of Riccarton. The translation of the name Putaringamotu is a figurative expression referring to "
bush isolated from the rest".

        
When Robinson Clough was journeying up the River, at South New Brighton he saw the small pa of Te Kai o te Karoro. This native village occupied the site now taken up by the Jellicoe Reserve of the Pleasant Point Domain. Evidences of its existence were clearly visible until forty years ago, although only the sites of Maori ovens can now be seen. The eeling weirs constructed of manuka stakes were situated half a mile up stream, and these were removed by yachting enthusiasts about 1920. Maori ovens are plentiful on the New Brighton Spit, and were no doubt used by fishing parties. Te Karoro karoro (Sea Gulls' Clatter) is the Maori name of the New Brighton Spit. Nowadays Otautahi is used as the general Maori name for Christchurch, however strictly speaking it is only applicable to that portion of the city bordering the river Avon between Madras and Barbadoes Streets.

        
Tautahi a son of Huikai of Koukourarata (
Port Levy) who was one of the Ngai Tahu chiefs who along with Moki dispossessed the Ngati Mamoe Tribe in North Canterbury, 

three hundred years ago built his pa on the banks of the Avon near its junction with Free's Creek close to what we know to-day as the "Bricks". Free's Creek until fifty years ago was a large stream with several branches draining part of the one time 2,000 acre Bog of St. Albans. St. Albans to-day is a fashionable suburb, and Free's Creek (also named Otautahi) has long since disappeared into concrete pipes. In early European times, up to the sixties, traces of Otautahi Pa were visible, and springs used to bubble forth through large cones of sand. The burial place of Otautahi is now taken up with the spacious grounds of "Chiselhurst". The skeletons were discovered by children in 1865. Traditionally Tautahi was buried in a sandhill in the vicinity and it was probably his remains which were found in 1870 on the opposite bank in Kilmore Street, when excavations were being carried out for St. Luke's (Anglican) Church vicarage.

        
Otautahi was unsuccessfully claimed by Hakopa Te Ata o Tu, a direct descendant of its founder Tautahi, at the 
Native Land Court presided over by Chief Judge F. D. Fenton at Christchurch in 1868, as the land was already crown-granted to Europeans. Pita Te Hore claimed Puari which is now the site in Christchurch of the Supreme Court. His claim was not entertained for the same reason. Modern writers have confused the sites of Otautahi and Puari, and speak glibly on the ford of Otautahi being on the Avon opposite the Supreme Court lawn.

        
Even in the earliest days of the European settlement the River Avon at that portion between the Armagh and Victoria Street Bridges was decidedly dangerous. In the sixties a young man named Fowler, not knowing this fact, entered the river on horseback at this spot. Both horse and rider were swept away and drowned. Other accidents followed, and the Canterbury Provincial Government spent several thousand pounds in employing convict labour on straightening and widening the river opposite the Supreme Court in an endeavour to reduce depth and velocity of flow, evidently with little success, as accidents continued to occur. This dangerous part of the River Avon was the subject of a leading article in the Christchurch "Press" of March 2nd, 1877, which declared the locality was getting more dangerous every year. The last accident the writer knows of at the erroneously called "ford" took place in 1893.

        
Puari, the site of the Supreme Court, was used in the fifties by the Maoris on account of its being near to the Market Square (Victoria Square), for on many occasions they came to Chritschurch to sell their produce. The burial-place for the old Puari Pa was situated where the Christchurch Public Library now stands. As late as 1853 the skeletons could be seen laid side by side in rows barely covered with sand. The Urupa for 

Putaringamotu (Riccarton) is now occupied by the tennis courts of "Oakford". Isolated burial-places have been found from time to time in all quarters of Christchurch, even in the heart of Cathedral Square.

        
Some three hundred years ago Maoris of vision prophesised thus:—"
Behind the tattooed face, a stranger lurks, his face is white, he owns the land," and "
Weep not for me, weep for yourselves, for the time will come when white feet shall desecrate my grave." True they have proved, in both cases. The Maoris dwelling amid the swamps of Christchurch were nicknamed by the natives of other parts O-roto-repo (swamp dwellers).

        
The success which attended the domicile of the Scottish family of the Deans at Riccarton in February 1843, decided the Canterbury Association to make the English settlement in the same locality. The Deans Brothers secured an honest lease of Riccarton and Christchurch from the Maoris, but like all other arrivals before the Canterbury Pilgrims had a desperate fight for rights with John Robert Godley. An appeal to Governor 
Sir George Grey saw justice done to the Deans family. A photographic copy of the Dean's Maori Lease dated December 3rd, 1846, with its authorative Maori signatures can be seen at the Canterbury Museum, also Mr Richmond's approval on behalf of the New Zealand Government.

        
Maori Villages in addition to those mentioned existed at the mouth of Bowron's Creek at Bassett's Reach, and on the Waimairi Stream near Straven Road. There were several kaingas along Dudley Creek, on the Avon below Wainoni, and at Horseshoe Lake (Te Oranga), which was claimed unsuccessfully by Aperhama Te Aika on behalf of Te Onepua at the 
Native Land Court in 1868. A dugout canoe in a decayed condition used to lie until the nineties on the banks of the Avon at the outlet creek of Horseshoe Lake. Pilgrim's Corner in Hagley Park used to boast rest whares used by Maori travellers from 
Banks Peninsula to Kaiapoi.

        
Where the New Brighton Trotting Club Racecourse now stands at North New Brighton once stood a Maori village named Orua paeroa. It was in close proximity to Travis Swamp which abounded with eels and bird life. Orua paeroa was known as the place where strong east winds blew in from the sea, and was, like the pa of Te Kai o te karoro at South New Brighton, used only as a place of mahinga kai. An old native named Maori Joe was the last to visit regularly the latter place (up until 1866). His Maori name was Ngahoira.

        
The whares of Orua paeroa were burnt down when Mr Raine acquired the crown grant of the land in November 1862. The Otakaro (Avon) at Fendalton breaks into several streams. The following names are given to the headwater branches:—
Wairarapa 
(glistening water); Waimairi is the Waimaero (
deep water channel or water of the barbarians); Wai iti 
(small
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water); and Wai utu utu 
(water lifted up); and the Haere roa 
(long wanderer) is the main branch to Avonhead. The tributary to the lastmentioned at Ilam is called the Ota takaro. Rakipaoa is the old Maori name of Upper Riccarton.

        
Off the Burnside Road, a mile beyond the Fendalto tram terminus, can be seen a clump of cabbage trees which were carefully fenced around by an early settler who had learnt of their significance. The place is named Here ora. The trees served as a guide post to Maori travellers, but a tapu character became attached on account of sacred rites being performed there over travellers, to ensure for them a safe journey. Taumata nui is the old camping place at Harewood by the Waimakariri. Waitikiri is the old name of Bottle Lake near Burwood, an eeling lagoon no longer existent. Pukehinau is the settlement of Coringa midway between Harewood and Yaldhurst.

        
An outpost pa of the swamp dwellers once stood on the banks of the Opawaho (Opawa) River about where the Opawa Railway Station now stands. Poho areare is the name of an original chief of Opawaho and is applied to the old Maori track that led over the sandhills from Opawa to South New Brighton. Turaki Po was its later chief. A small carved figure from this Opawa pa can be seen at the Canterbury Museum. The swamps which the Opawaho drained were called Te Kuru. The upper reaches at Spreydon bore the name Wai Mokihi and the little pa there was O Mokihi.

        
Under Victoria Park, on the Cashmere Hills within private property there is a large cave known locally as Pigeon Cave, which has a story to tell of the days when the Ngai Tahu and Ngati Mamoe went to war. There a chief of the latter tribe was slain. The cave bears the Maori name of Matuku Takotako. Every cave and nook bordering the Estuary, between Ferrymead and Sumner appears to have afforded shelter to the Maori of old. Numerous relics have been found. The Moabone Cave at the Cutting, Redcliffs, and Monck's Cave at the Fire Station, Redcliffs, are the best-known, as they contributed very considerably to the Maori collection in the Canterbury Museum. The articles are too varied to name in detail, but the snow shoes from the Moabone Cave at Redcliffs bring it home to us mere pakehas that the Maori explorers of old excelled in bravery as do our modern mountaineers. Tamahika is the name of the mud flats at Redcliffs. The outlet of Watson's Creek at Redcliffs is called Waipatiki through Maoris spearing flounders there. Rae kura is the Maori name of Redcliffs and has the same meaning as the English word. The point at the Redcliffs Cutting is named Te Pou o te Tutemaro, in honour of an explorer.

        
The mud flats at Ferrymead are called Ohika paruparu. Maori women used to gather shell fish there, and as they often 

sank in the mud their sterns became covered with the dirt, hence the name. Rapanui is the name of the Shag Rock and Tuawera that of the Cave Rock. Through the late 
James Cowan interviewing the late H. T. Tikao of Rapaki we owe the story attached to the name Tuawera.

        
Te Ao a daughter of Te Ake of Akaroa was sought for as a wife by Turaki Po of Opawaho. She spurned his advances, so Turaki Po in revenge makutued her to death. Te Ake her father learnt greater magic, and went to the hill overlooking the Cave Rock and Sumner, and sent forth mighty karakia against Turaki po and his people. In answer to his prayers a whale was stranded near the Cave Rock. The folk of Turaki Po eagerly cut it up and feasted on whale, and then went to sleep. It was the sleep of death, and only one girl related to Te Ake awoke. Turaki po felt that the whale was makutued, and did not partake with his people. However later, having few followers left to help him he was duly slain by Te Ake's party. Tuawera figuratively means "cut down as by fire."

        
From Otautahi the Maoris had several tracks leading over from the plains to Whangaraupo (Lyttelton Harbour). Principal paths were the track crossing from "Sandridge" at Sydenham via the line of White's Rapaki Road to Rapaki and the other to Ohinetahi, Governors Bay, by way of the present Dyers Pass Road. Another led via Richmond Hill, Sumner and Mount Pleasant (Tauhinu Korokio) to Lyttelton (Ohinehou).

        
There is very little evidence of Maori occupation of the Bromley area near the Estuary, although Native Reserve No. 900 of ten acres is sandwiched within the Christchurch Drainage Boards lands, and too far away from the channels in the Estuary to be of any use whatsoever to the natives. The name given this reserve is Ihu tai. It is said to have been a burial-place.

        
In the fifties the Maoris made full use of the Market Square 
(Victoria Square) Christchurch, and were much in evidence selling potatoes and other products to the early settlers. However horses had a habit of straying, and their dogs bestowing certain canine attentions which brought the Maoris into disfavour with Europeans.

        
Thomas Cass, Chief Surveyor of Canterbury, on November 21st, 1857, requested the Provincial Government to set aside a Native Reserve in Hagley Park. The request was ignored so Cass repeated it on September 14th, 1858. This time he was successful, and a site was set aside in Hagley Park near the bridge connecting the roads to Papanui and Riccarton. During December 1860, petitions were received by J. Ollivier, Speaker of the Canterbury Provincial Government, from the Maoris requesting the erection of a Maori Hostel by the Province on the Maori Reserve in Hagley Park, Christchurch. 

According to the printed Proceeding of Session 14 the proposal was lost by a narrow margin on December 18th, 1860. The original petitions from the Kaiapoi, Rapaki and 
Port Levy Maoris are now the possession of the Canterbury Museum. The following are the translations:—(Kaiapoi) December 12th, 1860. "
This is our word to you about a house at Christchurch. For we have no resting place there. The evil of this is manifest, when we have to pass through, some are obliged to sleep under the hedges of the roadside, others go to the public houses and spend their money to their hurt. The word of our meeting is that we should be treated as brethren, as one people, be fulfilled. We have lately shown that it is our wish to assist our European friends as far as we can. Let the same spirit be manifested by you towards us in this matter. Follow the example of Auckland, Wellington, 
Nelson and 
Otago, where houses have long been erected for the Maoris. This is the only town without a resting place."

        
These are the persons who signed these words:—Ihaia Taihewa, Hoani Paratene, Pita Te Hori 
(Assessor), Hakopa Te Ata o Tu 
(Assessor), Hamiora Tohuanuku, Horomona Pa, Wiremu Hape, Te Wakena Kokorau, Matiu Hutoi, Te Koro Mautai, Wiremu Te Pa, Tare Rangitira, Hakopa Tahitama, Matene Rehu, Te Wakaemi, Horomona Haukeke, Wiremu Te Hau, Ihaia Tainui, Aperahama Te Aika, Hemiona Pohata, Te Moroati Pakapaka, Ripene Waipapa, Matana Piki, Te Tura Turakina, Mikaera Turangitahi, Hoani Rehu, Henare Korako, Wereta Tainui, Heraia Te Koreke, Hoani Pareti, Hohepa Huria, Meihana Tawha, Manahi Iri, Te Manihera Te Pehu, Irai Tihau, Wiremu Pukupuku, Hapurona Taipata, Ahuira Tama-rangi, Hoani Poutoko, Mohi Patu, Tamate Tikao, Rewite Tekau, Paora Tua, Tukaruatoro, Hoani Hape, Te Wirihana Piro, Taituha Hape, Erua Tihema, Mohi Roperu.

        
(Rapaki) December 3rd, 1860:—"
We have considered about the house at Christchurch. We shall be glad if Mr Moorhouse pays for its erection." From Paora Tau, Hoani Timaru, Harana Huria and others of Rapaki.

        
(
Port Levy) December 5th, 1860. "
Go then our letter to the gentlemen of the Provincial Council of Canterbury. Salutations to you for good will towards the Maoris we believe. We have heard all about your council from our friend 
Mr J. W. Stack. This is our love, our skins are joined and our language too. You are the elder brother, we the younger. Let us be one, the European and the Maori. Let us inquire what union means. It is this, let us have one dwelling place in Christchurch, Canterbury. This is our word to you about a house in Christchurch. The Governor has not yet fulfilled his promise to build us a house at Lyttelton. The Governor and Mr Hamilton will attend to that, but it is good for you to build at Christchurch." Pera Pukenui, Paora Taki, Harapata, 

Hoani Tukutuku and others of 
Port Levy.

        
Walter Buller, Native Officer of the New Zealand General Government on July 8th, 1861, July 15th, 1861 and August 20th, 1861, on behalf of the Maoris continued to press for the erection of a Maori Hostel on the Maori Reserve in Hagley Park, but without result. However the following year on July 25th, 1862, the Provincial Secretary notified the 
Rev. J. W. Stack that the Provincial Government had set apart as a Maori Reserve a portion of Hagley Park coloured red in the tracing, and next to Woodfords Mill Bridge and on the right hand side of the road. In December 1872, it was suggested that the Maoris give over the Hagley Park Reserve in exchange for land elsewhere. The Maoris, through the 
Rev. J. W. Stack on March 3rd, 1873, requested land near the railway line at Kaiapoi or Lyttelton on which to build a store. This was declined. The Provincial Government informed the Hon. John Hall, acting for the Native Minister that land however would be given in exchange for the land at Hagley Park. Nothing has eventuated from 1873 until the present time. The columns of the "Christchurch Star" of March 25th, 1879 reporting on a meeting of the Christchurch City Council mention that Councillor Wilson proposed that a residence for His Excellency, the Governor be erected in Christchurch.

        
One of the sites proposed was Little Hagley Park near the Carlton Bridge, but several Councillors pointed out that it could not be used as it was a native reserve. Nothing came of the proposed Governor's residence. 
(The illustration is photographed from an original lease deed in the possession of the Lands Department, Christchurch. The black lines are the down strokes of the draughtsman's legal lettering showing through the parchment from the reverse side.)

        
On the Maori Reserve in Little Hagley Park during April 1868, over 150 natives of the Ngai Tahu Tribe were camped during the session of the 
Native Land Court of Chief Judge F. D. Fenton. Mr J. E. Coker arranged for a party of the Ngai Tahu Maoris to give a display of hakas and other dances at Coker's Gardens on April 25th, 1868. The Canterbury Provincial Police under Commissioner Shearman stopped the entertainment, perhaps wisely as feeling was running high at the way evidence was being accepted by the 
Native Land Court. The Court's own report supplies the cause in the following words:—"
Whatever the demands of the natives, the Court was completely bound by the evidence of the Crown witnessess."

        
On June 17th, 1940, a conference of local bodies of the Christchurch district had laid before them an offer from the New Zealand Government of the Carved Maori House which had been a feature of the Centennial Exhibition at Wellington. The conference favoured acceptance. The local bodies, 
how-

ever, thought differently from their delegates, and only the Christchurch City Council favoured the acquisition. On January 27th, 1941, the by-laws committee recommended to the City Council the acceptance of the Maori House, free of cost from the New Zealand Government. The Council accepted the recommendation of its committee. Various sites were suggested on which to re-erect the Maori House, one of the positions being Little North Hagley Park. Opposition in the newspapers was made to all sites, and misstatements put forward on cost of the outer building and re-erection, particularly against the use of the forgotten Maori Reserve. Owing to a political change in the personnel of the Christchurch City Council, that body on March 9th, 1942, rescinded the motion of acceptance of the Maori House from the New Zealand Government.

        
One of the main attractions at the International Exhibition opened at Christchurch on Hagley Park in 1906, was the Arai te Uru Pa. This model Maori Pa was erected largely by the natives of Wanganui, and the carvings were executed by expert carvers of the Arawa Tribe. The great war canoe Taharetikitiki was loaned for exhibition by the Waikato tribes. The opening rites were conducted by Peni te ua Mairangi, a tohunga. Toutahi, a tohunga of the Ngarauru Tribe was also present at the function. The Arawa Tribe under Captain Mair were the first North Island Maoris to visit the Arai te Uru Pa.

        
After the close of the Exhibition on April 30th, 1907, the various features of the Arai te Uru Pa were sold by auction, and brought ridicuously low prices. A large carved Tiki was given as a gift to the Christchurch Domains Board, and accepted for re-erection on June 10th, 1907. However yielding to aristocratic pakeha opinion the Christchurch Domain Board removed the carved Tiki on July 15th, 1915, but not before wags had draped it and placed a notice thereon: "
Off to the Museum, draped by order of the old women of the Domain Board."

        
Christchurch possesses the only institution of its kind in the South Island namely Te Waipounamu Maori Girls' College on the Ferry Road. On January 1st, 1909, the Rev. C. A. Fraer saw the need for the special education of young Maori women. After untiring efforts he managed to open the Te Waipounamu School for Maori girls in the old vicarage of St. Albans Anglican Church at Ohoka near 
Kaiapoi, on March 4th, 1909, with eight pupils. Mrs Miller from 
Dunedin was the first teacher. She was succeeded by Miss Opie and Miss Drew. The late Bishop Julius was the principal speaker at the opening. 
The Hon. A. T. Ngata on May 9th, 1909, visited the school, and expressed pleasure at the commencement of the noble work.

        
The Te Waipounamu Maori Girls' School was transferred 

to Christchurch from Ohoka into the former home of the March family, and was duly re-opened by the late Bishop Julius and the late Rev. C. A. Fraer on May 28th, 1921, Miss Opie being the teacher. In 1922 Miss Opie controlled 21 pupils drawn from 
Chatham Islands, Rapaki, Port Cooper, Temuka, 
Otakou and Colac Bay. On May 8th, 1924, Sisters Kate and Theresa were placed in charge, Miss Opie having resigned to be married. Mrs Parkinson the matron also resigned. The late Sister Kate carried the school through the worst part of the depression period, and it has been a profound astonishment ever since how she managed to care for three adults and eighteen girls on an extremely meagre purse (£118). Sister Constance was her successor.

        
The control of the school was next placed with Miss Harding, who had been the principal teacher with the Anglican Sisters, and at the time of writing she still occupies the honourable position.

        
In June 1926, the erection of a carved Maori chapel at the Te Waipounamu School was taken in hand. Mr Roy Lovell-Smith was the architect. The contract price for building was £600 but it eventually cost about £800. The chapel was completed and dedicated on March 26th, 1927. The interior measurement is 40 by 20 feet, and is the Te Whare Tapu a Tumuki. Dedicated to St. Frances by Bishop West-Watson, the whole building is in keeping with Maori Art, the Cross being a memorial to the late Rev. C. A. Fraer. On May 6th, 1944, a new wing (together with other improvements) was opened by the 
Hon. H. G. R. Mason, the then Minister of Native Affairs, and of Education. A similar institution is badly required for Maori boys. The Maori community of Christchurch. have from the earliest pakeha days, given freely and also taken part in most public functions, such as the Jubilee of Christchurch City on May 28th, 1928, the reception of H.R.H. the Duke of Gloucester on January 19th, 1935, and the Christchurch functions of the 1940 Centennial. Surely it is not asking too much that pakehas should help along any movement which carries forward Maori welfare.

        
In the early fifties the Maoris, during the whitebait season, used to camp on Mill Island at Hereford Street Bridge, Christchurch. Mr C. W. Bishop, an arrival by the "First Four Ships", used to befriend the natives supplying them with boiled potatoes. On February 25th, 1857, the chief presented a drawing of his moko 
(tattoo) marked with the the signature Kaikaikoura Matireata to Mr Bishop. The late Mr R. C. Bishop kept the gift to his father in a place of honour in his home during his lifetime. The "moko" document, however, has disappeared since the sale of the surplus effects of the Bishop estate. Very few authentic "moko" patterns of South 

Island Maori chiefs are now in existence. The author failed to locate this particular document. (He recently found that it was deliberately burnt).

        
Prior to the Akaroa Centennial in 1940, a small group of Maori residents in Christchurch met at the Y.M.C.A. and formed the Otautahi Maori Club. On December 9th, 1942, it was re-organised under the name of the Christchurch (Ngati Otautahi) Maori Association, with the patronage of the well-known South Island rangitira Mr R. Te Mairaki Taiaroa. The organisation has been operating in many directions for the wellbeing of the Maori population of Christchurch.

        
Skirting the Peninsula Hills towards the Ellesmere Flats the Maoris of Otautahi wandered. Where the Heathcote and Cashmere Valley streams unite at "Lady Wilson's" the natives of old had a bridge formed of felled tree trunks, and this structure is noted by H. J. Cridland an early surveyor as "Maori bridge". Beyond Halswell and Tai Tapu towards Motukarara extended large swamps, through which many small streams meandered. The Maoris used flax rafts 
(mokohi) on these. Eels and birds were plentiful. Maori settlements existed at the foot of the Landsdowne Valley, at Manuka, Tai Tapu and Ahuriri. The Maoris were evicted from Minchin's property at Landsdowne by the Provincial Government Police on December 29th, 1856. Hapakuka Kairua later at Judge Fenton's Land Court at Christchurch in 1868 unsuccessfully claimed the site.

        
Caves in the Landsdowne Valley known as Te Ika i te ana (Ellesmere Cave) and Te Ana Pohatu Whakairo (Cave of the rock markings) were used as dwellings. Manuka Pa stood on a spur half-way between Halswell and Tai Tapu. The latter word is an obsolete one for boundary. The Tai Tapu River is not tidal, but marks the bounds of the Ngati Koreha hapu, whose old pa stood back on the old coach road north of the Ahuriri Lagoon. The Halswell or Tai Tapu River has two branches, the north fork is Tauawa a maka and the southern fork is Opouira.

        
At Ngati Koreha Pa after the fall of Onawe, Wi Te Paa and his wife Hera kou turned the table on a Ngati toa pursuer by means of stratagem. Wi Te Paa was captured and tied to a tree, the lady allowed herself to be taken and offered herself to the sensuous Ngati toa. A stone hidden behind her head crashed on his skull, and that warrior went into a Ngai Tahu oven.

        
The lagoons south of Ahuriri on the L. River near Greenpark known as Yarr's Lagoon, and Clay Bar Lagoon bear the names respectively Tarere kau tuku and Makonui. The land lying in the bend of the Halswell River near the old creamery at Tai Tapu is an old burial place as is Moffat's Corner at Halswell.

        


        
Quite a number of native burial-grounds have been discovered within the boundaries of Christchurch City, and crushed-in skulls have often been found, showing that strife was quite a diversion in the old-time Maori life at Otautahi on the place Otakaro, a locality known to-day as the "Garden City" and the "City of the Plains." Tautahi who founded Otautahi Pa must not be confounded with Potiki Tautahi who flourished before Maui in the times of the gods, whose name was held almost sacred on account of his birth by a virgin; nor with the Ngati Mamoe chief Potiki tautahi who was slain by the Ngai Tahu at Lake Wanaka about 1710A.D.
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(Bay of the Raupo Reeds).
        

        
Port Cooper or Lyttelton Harbour, the spacious inlet some eight miles in length, was known to the Maoris as Whangaraupo. 
Prior to the raids of Te Rauparaha and his warriors from Kapiti Island, near the beginning of last century, its shores carried a fair Maori population.

        
The northern headland at the entrance to Port Cooper called by Europeans, Godley Head, on which the lighthouse, built in 1865 stands, bore the Maori name of Awaroa. The range of hills extending from Godley Head to Evan's Pass, where the Lyttelton to Sumner Road passes, bore the name Mahoenui.

        
Gollan's Bay lies below Evan's Pass. Gollan's Bay is named after Donald Gollan, overseer for Captain Thomas who was the real founder of the Canterbury Settlement, an honour commonly but erroneously given to John Robert Godley. East of Gollan's Bay and overlooking Fern Bay can easily be seen the ramparts of an old Ngai Tahu pa called Otokitoki (place of the axes). This pa derived its water supply from a spring on the slopes of a hill on its western side. The spring still functions and benefits European cattle. From Otokitoki pa can be seen practically the whole of Pegasus Bay to the north, and the coastline south towards the Long Look Point (Panau). This, together with its proximity to the Harbour, would account for its situation.

        
About half-a-mile west of Otokitoki near Evans Pass can be seen an outpost trench, no doubt to check an assault from the west or by way of Sumner. Otokitoki was claimed for the Ngai Tahu Tribe by Te Koromata and others at the sitting of the 
Native Land Court before Chief Judge F. D. Fenton at Christchurch on April 28th, 1868, (unsuccessfully, because a plan was not furnished as required by the Court).

        
Te Awa Parahi is the original name of Gollon's Bay, and the hill above it is Manuka piri (close clinging tree). The site of the now disused Zig Zag of the Lyttelton to Sumner road was called Tapuwae haruru. Te Awatoetoe is the bay at the Military Barracks below the road.

        
Urumau is the name of the cave at Sticking Point. In his reports Captain Thomas gives Ohinehou as the Maori name of Lyttelton, and to the hills overlooking Lyttelton he gives the names of Okete upoko (place of the basket of heads). 

Ohinehou probably, however, only applied to Salts Gully and its stream.

        
When Te Rangi whakaputa and his warriors of the Ngai Tahu Tribe captured the locality of Lyttelton from the Ngati Mamoe, he adorned the hill points behind the present town with enemy heads. That is the origin of the name Oketeupoko. Te Ana o Huikai is the locality near Naval Point, and is named after Huikai, a Ngai Tahu chief who occasionally rested there when journeying from his own pa to 
Port Levy to see his son Tautahi. Tautahi dwelt at a pa which was situated at the junction of Free's Creek and the Avon River, opposite the Bricks Monument at Christchurch. Erskine Point on the west side bears the name of Tapoa.

        
Mount Pleasant the trig-station hill at the rear of Lyttelton bears the Maori name of Tauhinu-Korokio. On this hill near the present tea house stood the old Ngati Mamoe Pa called Tauhinu Korokio. When the early settlers came in the fifties of last century the posts of its stockades were still visible.

        
Corsair Bay is Motu Kauti iti and Cass Bay is Motu Kauati rahi—both names derived from the kaikomako trees.

        
Just as Captain Thomas saved from oblivion the Maori place names around Lyttelton, we must give credit for the knowledge of the others around Port Cooper to the late Canon 
J. W. Stack.

        
The Maoris found Ohinehou or Lyttelton a convenient place to trade with the Pilgrim Settlers, and built for themselves whares on the Custom House Reserve. On March 8th, 1858, Mr J. W. Hamilton who at that period was Customs Officer, requested the Provincial Government to have the structures removed to the foreshore near Erskine Point in the vicinity of St. David Street. On August 23rd, 1858, a commencement was made with the removal. The completed whares at St. David Street on December 22nd, 1858 were the subject of a forcible letter from Messrs Cookson Bowler and Company. The firm objected to inflammable structures so near their stores.

        
Finding that the Maori camping site interfered with the Lyttelton Tunnel Works, Mr T. W. Maude, Provincial Government Secretary, on February 22nd, 1861, gave the Maoris notice to quit. The notification was delivered to Paori Taki and Wiremu Te Uki, but the Maoris removed the whares on March 14th, 1861, only at the earnest pleading of their friend the 
Rev. James Buller, Wesleyan minister.

        
On July 8th, 1861, Mr Walter Buller of the Native Department approached the Provincial Government for grants of land at Lyttelton and Christchurch on which to build Maori Hostels. Mr Buller found some opposition from the Provincial Governmen on the grounds of some Maoris using their former camping ground for immoral purposes. Mr Buller writing on July 15th 

1861, suggested a reserve on the little promontory near Dampier Bay as a hostel there would be away from European evil influence.

        
On August 20th, 1861, Mr Buller again drew the attention of the Provincial Government to the fact that a Maori hostel was very necessary at Lyttelton, and pointed out that the Wellington, 
Nelson and 
Otago Governments had acted in their districts.

        
J. Hanmer purchased land at Erskine Bay, Lyttelton from the Canterbury Association for £14. The Provincial Government purchased this land for the purposes of a Maori Hostel Reserve for £250 and it was duly proclaimed as Native Reserve 232 on July 16th, 1863.

        
Tenders for the erection of the Lyttelton Maori Hostel were called for during February 1865. The plan was prepared by Mr Igglesden of Lyttelton. The tenders received were Salkeld £290, Weastell £286, Buist £257 and England Bros £219, the last mentioned being accepted.

        
On March 3rd, 1865, J. W. Hamilton, General Government Native Commissioner notified the Provincial Government that the hostel was in course of erection and requested pressure on the Lyttelton Municipal Council as the rats from the Lyttelton Slaughterhouse were causing damage. On March 7th, 1865, a letter was served on the Lyttelton Municipal Council.

        
The Hostel was completed, and furnished in June 1865, at a cost of £500. With the advent of better roading and railway facilities the necessity for a Maori Hostel at Lyttelton vanished. With the consent of the General Government and at the valuation set down by Mr J. W. Hamilton namely £380 the land and buildings were purchased by the Canterbury Provincial Government. The money was paid over to the Maori agent 
Rev. J. W. Stack on July 18th, 1876, and he wisely bought lands for the Maoris concerned. Sections 25633, 25634, and 25635 at Waipuna Springs, Little River were purchased for the Rapaki and 
Port Levy Maoris, while land elsewhere was obtained for the Kaiapoi natives.

        
As a result of the removal of all restrictions on the sale of Native Lands by the Native Lands Act of 1909, reiterated in subsequent Acts, these reserves at Waipuna have passed for ever into European hands. These are not the only reserves that have disappeared. All the efforts of the 
Hon. William Rolleston, Canon 
Stack, and Native Ministers up to the time of the 
Hon. R. J. Seddon have gone by the board, and the Maoris are fast becoming a landless people.

        
The late 
James Cowan put the matter tersely in the columns of the Christchurch "Star-Sun" of October 4th, 1940; "
Maori reserves have a way of dwindling, or disappearing in a perfectly legal manner. With the law-abiding pakeha all things are possible."

        
Rapaki has a chapter to itself, and to the west of that place is Taukahara. The site of the disused old Governor's 

Bay wharf is Pukekaroro, and the locality of the present wharf is Otomiro and south thereof is Te Awa Whakataka. Over two hundred years ago between Governor's Bay and Allandale stood a palisaded pa with ramparts belonging to the Ngati Mamoe. It was captured and occupied by the Ngai Tahu Tribe under Manuwhiri, a son of Te Rangi Whakaputa.

        
Manuwhiri had many sons but only one daughter, so he called the fort Ohinetahi (place of the one daughter). A prophecy said history would be repeated. T. H. Potts the naturalist occupied the locality in Early Canterbury days. T. Potts senior had many sons including T. H. Potts but only one daughter. A memorial window in St. Cuthbert's Anglican Church, Governor's Bay is in memory of the only sister of T. H. Potts.

        
At the time the Maori kainga of Ohinetahi was established a semi-fortified post was constructed on the site of the present Governors Bay School high above the bay. Its `name was Whakataka, a name that also appears at 
Stewart Island.

        
Cass Peak to the rear of Ohinetahi is Orongomai (the place of the voices). Ngati Mamoe refugees were discovered there by the sound of their voices and slaughtered. Cooper's Knob is called Omawete because Mawete, the Ngati Mamoe chief, was killed there. Otuhokai is the Senecio Cliff near Coopers Knob. Somewhere nearby a valued greenstone heirloom was hidden by a Rapaki native when fleeing from Te Rauparaha's scouts in 1831. This prize awaits discovery.

        
Te Tara o te Rakitiaia is the Conical Hill near Gebbies Pass. The summit of Gebbies Pass which leads over from the Head of the Bay to Lake Waihora (Ellesmere) is Kawa taua. At Kawa taua a rite was practised by warriors proceeding to battle.

        
Te Rapu (searching) is the main valley at Teddington and Wai aki (dashing water) is the name of the secondary valley which has the bold cliff face of Parimata looking down upon it. Otarahaka is the Devils Staircase, a double wall of step-like rocks running over the summit of Dyke Hill.

        
The Peninsula between Allandale and Teddington is Kaitangata and the Peninsula separating the Head of the Bay from Charteris Bay is Moe puku. The Maori name of Charteris Bay is Te Wharau and Mount Herbert is Te Ahu Patild. On Mount Herbert once stood a Ngati Mamoe Pa, with its outpost near to the Kaituna Pass.

        
Church Bay almost opposite to 
Lyttelton is Kai-o-ruru. The next bay is Diamond Harbour and then comes Purau at one time a native reserve and settlement of the Te Rangi Whakaputa hapu of Ngai Tahu. In 1857 the population was twelve. The majority of the Maoris of Whangaraupo are down in the census as either Wesleyan or Anglican, with the former 

in the majority. Purau Maoris were all Roman Catholic.

        
The Purau Reserve was crown granted to Wikitoria Nohomutu on April 18th, 1868. The Purau Native Reserve was set aside in the terms of the Port Cooper Purchase, and it was surveyed by Mr O. Carrington assisted by Tiemi Nohomutu, Aptera Kautuanui, Tami Tukutuku, Tiemi Kohorau in the presence of Captain Joseph Thomas on July 25th, 1849. The reserve was abolished in the nineties.

        
In the fifties the Maori shearers Teone Watene, Pukenui Wekipiri were in the employ of the Messrs Rhodes of Purau. The name Purau would indicate usually in Maori translation a two barbed spear or fork, but there is some reason to believe it refers to a traditional mussel basket. According to the late Paori Taki (native assessor of Rapaki), Purau was the abode of a monstrous taniwha whose name was Tuna Tuoro.

        
Three streams enter Purau Bay, on the west is the Purau, in the centre the Waituturi and on the east the Te Wairou. Traces of the old Purau pa can still be seen on the west side of the bay near the larger stream. The grave of a chief is visible with railings around and a small memorial erected by pakehas. The memorial bears the. inscription He Whakama-Mo Rangatiroa-Te Whakaraupo-I Mate I Tetau 1850. The old time cultivations of the pa were situated on section 2156 near the division of the Purau Stream. The Pa covered 10 acres and its owners in 1867 were Kapetara, Te Wakeua, Pita, Paora, Paure, Totiui, Epapara, Peue, Paoraki, and Te Oti.

        
The road bordering on the east and south sides of the Purau Reserve (alongside the creek, section 35) was abandoned on December 6th, 1866. That meant that 3 roods of ground was available for general use. Mount Evans overlooks Purau on the east; Rhodes Monument, a hill of the fairies on the south; and on the west towers Mount Herbert (Te Ahu Patiki).

        
The rocky knob above where the original Greenwood Homestead stood was called Kokokonui. The east head of Purau Bay is Ohape and the west head is Te Ano o Kura. The island situated off the east headland of Paurau Bay is named Ripapa. The original name is lost in the mists of antiquity. It was a fort of the Ngai Tahu Tribe before the pakeha made similar use of it.

        
Before the Ngai Tahu possessed Ripapa it was the site of a pa of the Ngati Mamoe Tribe. Ripapa Island figures in the story of the Kai Huanga feud (Eat Relation), as the stronghold of Tau Nunu. The. Kaiapoi Maoris captured it, despite a warning given to its defenders by Matenga Taiaroa. This chief mercifully allowed many of the defenders to escape through his ranks.

        
Mr F. Strouts visited Ripapa Island in 1870 and made a plan of the Ripapa Island Maori fortress. This sketch now in the Canterbury Museum, shows that the pa had bastions placed 

for flank defence, an escarpment was on the north-west side, as well as inner earthworks.

        
When the workmen were excavating for the pakeha forti-fications in 1888 an exceptionally beautiful greenstone axe was discovered. Two greenstone fish hooks (hei matau) were found at Ripapa and presented to the Canterbury Museum on May 6th, 1890.

        
The following persons of rank were slain at the fall of Ripapa Pa:—Pikoro, Tauakina, Kaihaere, Te Ata kahua kini, and the sisters of Te Maiharanui.

        
The high-handed action of the Hon. John Bryce and his coercive measures with the Maoris of Parihaka resulted in a large batch of native prisoners under the custody of Inspector Coleman of the Armed Constabulary being conveyed by the Government Steamer Hinemoa to Ripapa Island and imprisoned on September 28th, 1880. They were released by the 
Hon. W. Rolleston the next Native Minister in March 1881.

        
On his return to power the Hon. John Bryce a few months later brought Te Whiti, Tohu and others south and imprisoned them. Whakarukeruke and the warriors of Ripapa were the first of the 
Banks Peninsula Maoris to join up with Taiaroa's force which went in to assist the defenders of old Kaiapohia in 1831 against Te Rauparaha's men. Hatera Kotutekorinuku on October 8th, 1879, claimed to be the last descendant of the original Ngai Tahu owners of Ripapa Island.

        
Quarantine Island also known as Quail Island was known to the Maoris as Te Kawa kawa. A more modern Maori name is Otamahua. On March 20th, 1852, two Maoris, Tame and Petera claimed Quail Island on the grounds that it was not part of the Port Cooper Purchase. Wikitoria Nohomutu made a similar claim on her own behalf. Little Quail or Sandstone Island lying west of Quail Island was frequented by the Maoris for stone used in grinding.

        
The Shag Reef lying north-east of Quail Island is Kaimatarua. Little Port Cooper near the south head of Port Cooper bears the Maori name of Waitata. The cave on the east side of Little Port Cooper now used by pakeha fishermen was called Papa Koiro. The fissured cave on the west side of the bay is named Te Ana Ngati Mamoe as a party of that tribe were slain there by the Ngai Tahu Tribe. Purekerake is the blowhole. Adderley Head at the entrance of Whanga raupo on the south side bears the Maori name of Te Piaka.

        
When Captain Joseph Thomas was making the preparations for European settlement as on January 10th, 1850, he was employing 71 Maori labourers on the formation of the Lyttelton to Sumner Road. Some 33 hailed from the North Island, the rest belonged to local pas. Only once did the Maori workers go on strike, and that was because Mr Baker Polhill the foreman had sworn at them. Matters however were promptly and 

amicably settled by Mr Donald Gollan, the superintendent of works.

        
The Maoris gave an enthusiastic welcome to Governor Gore-Browne when he arrived at Lyttelton on August 29th, 1860. The principal native speaker was Pita Te Hori of Kaiapoi, who, in addition to the usual speech of welcome, affirmed the loyalty of the Ngai Tahu Tribe and opposition to the strife occurring in the Taranaki. 
Sir George Grey as Governor was likewise welcomed at Lyttelton by the Maoris during January 1867, again Pita Te Hori was in the leading role. 
Sir George Grey had several native grievances placed before him in the form of petitions.

        
Governor 
Sir George Bowen was welcomed at Lyttelton by the Maoris on January 11th, 1869. The Maoris were led by Pita Te Hori of Tuahiwi. H.R.H. the Duke of Edinburgh was greeted on his arrival by H.M.S. Galatea on April 22nd; 1869. Pita Te Hori again occupied the leadership of the Maoris, and was supported by Matiaha Tiramorehu, Paori Taki, Ihaia Tainui and Ira Tihau in the speeches.

        
Governor 
Sir William Jervois was enthusiastically received by the Maoris led by Paori Taki on February 29th, 1883. Since that time many receptions have been held at Lyttelton (Ohinehou) and the Maoris domiciled along the shores of Whangaraupo have always been in the forefront in extending courtesy to distinguished visitors.
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Rapaki
          


          
(The pa of the Ngati Wheke).
        

        
Few places within reasonable walking distance of Christchurch offer greater attractions than the Maori kainga of Rapaki, situated on Lyttelton Harbour 
(Whanga raupo), midway between Port Lyttelton and the popular rendezvous of Governor's Bay. A half century ago Rapaki was a much visited place, but in these days of fast motor travel people pass it unnoticed. The road from Lyttelton is good and almost level, and the three miles of walking cannot be considered too severe even for persons of mature years.

        
Rapaki possesses an excellent water supply, this being obtained from the Lyttelton service, a good jetty, a boulder beach and also a sandy beach. The Maoris are most hospitable and belong to the Ngati Wheke hapu of the Ngai Tahu Tribe. Wheke was the son of Te Rangi whakaputa who ousted the Ngati Mamoe Tribe from the shores of Lyttelton Harbour 
(known in the early Provincial days as Port Cooper).

        
The sharp pointed hill to the south of the kainga is Te Poho Tamatea 
("the Breast of Tamatea"). Tamatea was a Maori explorer of about six hundred years ago. Tamatea, and his followers, the Waitaha Tribe 
(second tribe of that name) journeyed by the Takitimu Canoe, which eventually was stranded near the mouth of the Waiau River in Southland. According to legend the Takitimu Canoe remains in Southland as the Takitimu Mountains.

        
To the north-east of Rapaki village at the edge of the rocky hills named the Tors can be seen an outstanding craig, which is known to the Maoris as Te Moenga o Wheke 
("the Sleeping Place of Wheke"). Witch Hill the high peak of the Port Hills directly overlooking Rapaki is named Te Upoko o Kuri, and the wall of lava rock nearby known to Europeans as the Giant's Causeway, the Maoris say is Ahi-a-Tamatea, 
("the Fire of Tamatea"). Thus does the native personify the work of Nature's volcanic fire.

        
On Witch Hill there is erected a memorial to the soldiers of St. Martins and Opawa together with those worthy descendants of Wheke of old, hailing from Rapaki who gave their lives in the Great War of 1914-18. The Pakeha tablet on the War Memorial faces St. Martins, and bears the names of Opawa and St. Martins soldiers who perished. The Maori tablet looks down on Rapaki. The Maori inscription reads:—
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"
He whakamaharatanga tenei mo tangata toa o te iwi Maori o Rapaki". (
In memory of the rapaki boys who gave their lives in the great war for king and empire).

        
The small gullies on the hill, Tamatea's Breast, are named Amaru, Huataki and Paua te rua 
(shellfish of Te Rua). Otuherekio is the point between Cass and Rapaki bays. Nohomutu is a cliff above Little Rapaki, and a stream in the locality is the Okaraki.

        
The name Rapaki is often erroneously spelled Raupaki and very often wrongly translated "pleasant aspect". However according to the late 
James Cowan the full name of the place is Te Rapaki o Te Rangiwhakaputa. When Te Rangiwhakaputu took possession of the locality he placed his rapaki (kilt) down to mark his ownership.

        
The Rapaki Native Reserve (No. 875) which covers 850 acres, was surveyed on July 27th, 1849. The Port Cooper Block from which it was reserved has its Deed of Sale dated August 10th, 1849. Of the whole area of the Rapaki Reserve only about 70 acres are suitable for cultivation.

        
The Maoris of Rapaki living there in 1857 had considerable energy and courage, as Provincial Government returns show that they had 87 acres at Rapaki planted in wheat, oats and potatoes, and 21 acres at Little Rapaki in similar crops. Unfortunately no record exists of what returns the Maoris obtained in crop from parts of the area which were little more than barren hill sides. In 1857 the Rapaki Maoris had stock on the reserve, totalling 147 animals, principally pigs. In the early days the Maoris of Rapaki found a ready market for their produce in Port Lyttelton.

        
In 1859 there were 15 dwellings at Rapaki and 3 at little Rapaki 
(Taukahara). Like most places on 
Banks Peninsula Rapaki suffered at the hands of Te Rauparaha and his warriors after the fall of Kaiapohia and Onawe in 1831. The Maoris of Rapaki who were not slain, escaped by fleeing in canoes over the waters of Whanga raupo 
(Port Cooper or Lyttelton Harbour) to Purau where they found refuge in the Motuhikarehu Bush under the lee of Te Ahu Patiki 
(Mount Herbert). The Motuhikarehu Bush as a refuge is referred to in the evidence given before. Chief Judge Fenton at the 
Native Land Court in 1868,—the Rapaki case. When Captain Benjamin Morrell,, an American whaler visited Port Cooper in 1830, he found about a half dozen, half starved Maoris dwelling there. They were making a precarious living by means of fishing.

        
When Frederick Tuckett, a surveyor of the 
New Zealand Company visited the place on April 8th, 1844, he found conditions much the same. He records that the whole community of Rapaki were dwelling in three whares.

        


        
Rapaki became a recognised halting place for 
Banks Peninsula Maoris visiting relatives and friends in North Canterbury, bartering their fish for the natural products of other parts.

        
The Rapaki Maoris in early European days used to journey over Gebbie's Pass and indulge in eeling on Lake Ellesmere near Kaiuna and Motukarara. They invariably called and visited their pakeha friends the Gebbies and Mansons en route.

        
When Te Rauparaha made his unwelcomed visit to Rapaki he lost his putorino flute. When the Maoris of Rapaki returned to their old home the flute was discovered. The finders many years afterwards 
(in 1886) unaware of its original ownership bartered the putorino to Mr Martin, manager for Messrs Hawker, provision merchants of Lyttelton in exchange for tobacco. Mr Martin loaned the flute to Mr W. J. Carlyle of Christchurch. The latter gentleman photographed it, and when Mr A. Hamilton produced his book on Maori Art it figured among the illustrations. It was immediately recognised by the Ngati Toa Tribe. On the death of Mr Martin, the Auckland Museum secured it for £50 from his next of kin in 1923.

        
The late R. M. Laing, the naturalist was informed in the eighties that a Ngai Tribe of Rapaki fleeing from Te Rauparaha's scouting parties hid a valuable greenstone mere in a rock crevice at the Head of Port Cooper somewhere near Coopers Knobs. Pakehas and Maoris have searched for it in vain.

        
At the time of the sale of the Port Cooper Block the elders of Rapaki were Tukaha, Paora, Hoani Te Akikaia, Petera Hoani Tukutuku, Hopa Kaukau and Mahureka; with friends and relatives the total population was about 30 souls.

        
Tukaha was looked upon as their leader, though he was as much a member of the Ngati Tuahuriri hapu of Kaiapoi, as of the real owners of Rapaki the Ngati Wheke Through his influence many Kaiapoi natives were allowed to live and cultivate land at Rapaki.

        
In 1868 the 
Native Land Court under Chief Judge H. D. Fenton had a long arduous sitting in settling who were entitled to be considered close enough in blood to be counted as of Ngati Wheke hapu. Their descendants in the intervening years where Rapaki lands are concerned sign official documents as members of the Ngati Wheke hapu of the Ngai Tahu Tribe.

        
Arapata Koti, Tuawea, Henare Pereita, Mohi Patu and Pita Te Hori were early inhabitants at Rapaki. Haeana Huri was the Native Assessor 
(magistrate) at Rapaki in 1867. Rapaki like most other places has had a person looked upon as a "character".

        
In early pakeha times there dwelt such a person known to posterity as "Happy Jack". He insisted on wearing only a shirt and jacket, however his face was always wearing a becoming smile. In an endeavour to make him respectable his friends 

presented him with trousers, but with difficulty he was persuaded to make use of them only when visiting Lyttelton.

        
Maori labourers were engaged in forming the original road from Lyttelton to Governor's Bay in the portion covered by the Rapaki Native Reserve.

        
On January 1st, 1873, Mr T. H. Potts, Chairman of the Port Victoria Road Board, wrote to the Canterbury Provincial Government requesting that a diversion be made on the Lyttelton-Governor's Bay Road through the Rapaki Reserve. In November 1873, the Public Works Department of the Canterbury Provincial Government decided to make the diversion, having made a verbal arrangement with Horopapera Momo, head of the Rapaki Runanga a month previously. On the death of that worthy, the Maoris repudiated the agreement.

        
After a series of negotiations with the 
Rev. J. W. Stack as the intermediary, the natives agreed to accept £72 for the 5 acres 3 roods 14 perches taken up for the new road, and take possession of the old road as part of their reserve. The following signed the deed of exchange as members of the Ngati Wheke hapu:—

        

	
            
Iharaira Tukaha, Hohaia Tekotuku, Te One Wetere, Peneta, Papara Kahutuanui, Natanahira Waruwarutu, Teoti Pita, Pereimena Korako, Hemi Korako, Kaaono Koiki, Hori Te Maiwhakarea, Waitere Teupoko, Hana Hapaikete, Pene Tahui, Hana Hori, Wi Te Koti, Harete, Irihapeti, Ruruhira, Irihaukawa, Keita Taua, Hana Momo, Ramari Paora Tau, Monika, Wikitoria Reihana, Reihana Tau, Katarina Huria, Pita Mutu, Reihono, Matana Piki, Hikana Piki, Mata Pi, Wikitoria Teoti Pita Mutu.

          


        
        
This deed by members of Ngati Wheke was signed on March 20th, 1874, and the wording is in both Maori and English.

        
The native bush on the Rapaki Reserve was severely damaged by fire on January 16th, 1871. The Rapaki Bush was finally destroyed by fire on March 10th, 1889, which had commenced on a spur overlooking the Canterbury Plains. Rapaki kainga and the European homes on the Governor's Bay Road were saved from destruction only by the combined efforts of Maori and Pakeha fire-fighters.

        
The Maoris of Rapaki, like other sections of the Ngai Tahu Tribe, have invariably stood loyally by their pakeha neighbours in troublous times, especially during the Maori wars of the North Island. On July 28th, 1860, a large meeting was held at Rapaki, when, through H. G. Gouland, magistrate at Lyttelton and the 
Rev. James Buller, the Maoris expressed goodwill to the pakehas and showed practical sympathy with the European sufferers in the Taranaki War.

        
Europeans of poor principles in 1864 were guilty of plundering the gardens at Rapaki, necessitating Doctor Donald, 

then magistrate at Lyttelton, taking action on December 3rd, 1864. When Doctor Donald left Lyttelton to visit the Old Country the Maoris presented him with a farewell letter, as did their Rapaki Native Assessor Paori Taki on February 28th, 1879. These documents in the beautiful wording of the Maori were presented by the son of Doctor Donald in 1925 to the safe custody of the Canterbury Museum.

        
Walter Buller of the Native Department visited Taukahara 
(Little Rapaki) on March 8th, 1860. Rapaki has been the scene of many notable gatherings, and has received visits from distinguished visitors. On January '21st, 1893, a flag hoisting ceremony was held.' The flag measured 10 by 18 feet, and the speakers at the function were 
Hon. H. K. Taiaroa, H. T. Tikao and G. Robinson. Subjects discussed were the functions of a Maori Parliament and the observing of the Treaty of Waitangi. On the previous day Lord Glasgow, the Governor of New Zealand, had been officially welcomed to the kainga.

        
On May 19th, 1901, the Canterbury Engineer Volunteers visited Rapaki, and attended divine service in the Rapaki Church, when the Rev. Chambers of Lyttelton officiated.

        
On December 31st, 1901, the Maori Councils Act was discussed by the Rapaki natives when H. T. Tikao presided. 
The Hon. T. Y. Duncan, Minister of Lands was present and appealed to the Maoris to assist the Lands and Survey Department in preserving Maori place names and history.

        
On February 2nd, 1902, H. T. Tikao and E. A. Hastings laid before Parliament proposals for a pure water supply through the agency of H. G. Ell and G. Laurenson, M.P's. The application was approved.

        
In June 1912, the periodical cleaning of the Rapaki Reservoir was facilitated by the placing of a 10 foot ladder. On September 23rd, 1916, a new jetty at Rapaki was declared open for use by Mrs M. J. Millar, the ribbon being severed with silver scissors presented by Miss Te Ao Manihera. The jetty was christened Gallipoli. The visitors were conveyed from Lyttelton to Rapaki by the S.S. Pierau.

        
On August 16th, 1925, Rear Admiral Schofield of the United States Navy with officers of the warship Omaha visited Rapaki, and were welcomed by Eruera Manihera on behalf of H. T. Tikao who was unfortunately ill. Mats and greenstone curios were presented to Admiral Schofield by Marewa Manihera and Mrs Tainui as gifts from Rapaki.

        
On February 16th, 1929, the Naval Reserve commenced a course of training on the S.S. Wootton anchored in Rapaki Bay. On June 24th, 1931, a severe gale drove the S.S. Wootton ashore alongside the jetty. Both were severely damaged, and the vessel ever since has done duty as a houseboat.

        
During January 1934, several campers endeavoured to 

camp on the foreshore at Rapaki, although it was declared by the Maoris that there was not a coastal chain in the reserve. The Grown Grant of the Reserve proves the contrary. The New Zealand Gazette in 1915 made the coastal chain a Government Road, which equally stands against use of the area for camping. One can appreciate the action of the Maori elders in preserving decorum in their midst.

        
The Maori Church with its bell suspended from a ribbon-wood tree has called the kainga to divine service for many a year. The church was opened on May 4th, 1869, when the ministers of the Anglican, Presbyterian and Wesleyan Churches of Lyttelton all took part in the ceremony. More than 150 persons listened to the sermon of the Rev. MacIntosh who preached from the text: "When two or three are gathered in Thy Name".

        
The Rev. Te Kooti Te Rato ministered to the Maoris at Rapaki for close on 30 years. He was born in the 
Wairarapa, but fell a prisoner, to Te Rauparaha. He became a protege of the Rev. Ironsides, the famous Wesleyan missionary of the Wairau. The Rev. Te Kooti Te Rato passed away on May 13th, 1895.

        
At Rapaki can be seen the ruins of the Roman Catholic Church, with ferns growing through its floor. That broadminded priest, the late 
Rev. Father Cooney of Lyttelton furnished its story. The corner stone was laid by Rev. Father Francis of Lyttelton, on July 16th, 1874. The stone was a gift from Captain Giovanni of the Italian bargue Fratelli. On December 10th, 1874 at 11 a.m., the church was opened.by Rev. Father Chervier in the presence of 200 people. The choir from Lyttelton, assisted by musical friends from Christchurch contributed to the singing.

        
The Rapaki School was opened on Tuesday, November 5th, 1876, by the 
Hon. H. K. Taiaroa. A large assembly gathered including children from Tuahiwi, 
Port Levy and Wairewa. The speeches of welcome were given by the Revs. G. P. Mutu and Te Kooti Te Rato, Messrs J. S. Tahuna and T. H. Potts. The 
Rev. J. W. Stack introduced the first schoolmaster Patrick Hirlihey. Particulars of the school history were supplied by the late Waata Momo one of its early pupils, and a son of Horopapera Momo who was the head of the Rapaki Runanga at the time of his death on October 7th, 1873. In 1886 the 
Rev. W. S. Lucas was the schoolmaster and his assistant Miss K. Piper. He resigned the following year after long service, and Mr and Mrs J. Moore became the teachers.

        
In 1890, Mrs and Mrs Bone succeeded. During 1893, Mr Crook of Christchurch gave several lantern entertainments in aid of the Rapaki School funds. In 1901, Mr E. A. Hastings and Miss Tikao were the teachers, followed in 1905 by Mr C. A. Lyon and Miss M. Tikao. In July 1908, the 

Rapaki School passed from the control of the Native Section of the Education Department to that of the Canterbury Education Board. For a period the Rapaki school was closed, and the Maori children conveyed by motor service to the West Lyttelton School. On October 30th, 1932, the Rapaki School was reopened with Miss M. Manihera as its schoolteacher.

        
The first annual festival of the Rapaki School was held on November 20th, 1879; J. S. Tahuna, T. H. Potts and Merson with the Revs. 
J. W. Stack, Te Kooti Te Rato and G. P. Mutu taking active parts. On Sunday, September 27th, 1891, an open air Anglican Church service was held at Rapaki, conducted by the Rev. Coats assisted by H. T. Tikao. The offertory was devoted to the Rapaki School prize fund.

        
Paori Taki who passed away in December 10th 1897, was for many years a leading light at Rapaki where he held the official rank of Native Assessor.

        
The largest and most prominent building in Rapaki is the Runanga Hall which bears the name of Wheke, called after the son of Te Rangiwhakaputa from whom the present inhabitants claim descent. The hall was opened by the 
Hon. W. C. Walker, Minister of Labour, on December 30th, 1901. The Union Jack that was flown was the gift of the Minister of Justice. The visitors were officially welcomed by the head of the runanga, H. T. Tikao. The hall was christened Wheke by Miss Walker, who broke a bottle of wine on the barrier. Visitors present were Messrs H. G. Ell and G. Laurenson, M.P's, Mr Feild, Mayor of Lyttelton and Doctor Pomare. All the Maori settlements of Canterbury were represented. Scottish pipers namely Pipers Fraser, MacDonald and Walker played on the Highland warpipes. Te Kino (a daughter of the one-time Native Assessor of Rapaki) was also present, aged 84 years. This lady claimed to have wept at 120 tangis.

        
When Lord Ranfurly was Governor of New Zealand he visited Rapaki on April 8th, 1904, and received an enthusiastic welcome. A good story attaches to his visit. A member of the Governor's staff posed as a Maori scholar, and to keep up his reputation travelled to Rapaki the previous day and obtained an English translation of the Chief's speech. On the fateful day he duly explained the Maori speech to His Excellency the Governor. His downfall came when Lord Ranfurly requested him to render the speech of the Governor made in English into the Maori tongue as a compliment to the Maoris. The Maoris had fired previously a Royal Salute on a small cannon, this together with the bagpipe music must also have assisted in the interpreter's downfall.

        
The Rapaki Runanga Hall cost £260 to build, and was the aftermath of a tangi in 1900, when the influx of visitors was so great that 150 persons had to be accommodated in a five roomed house. One can easily imagine the necessity for a 

large hall when it can be mentioned that four hundred Maoris of the Ngai Tahu Tribe gathered at Rapaki on April 17th, 1911, to discuss tribal questions and the Ngai Tahu Claim. Tiemi Hepi of Puketeraki was the chairman of that representative meeting.

        
There has been a gradual falling off in the attractiveness of Rapaki kainga in common with other native settlements in Canterbury during the past thirty years. The present generation do not cultivate either flowers or vegetables like their forbears used to do, neither is Maori art very noticeable.

        
Rapaki was visited by Ratana, founder of the Ratana Church and his retinue on July 23rd, 1921. The Ratana Movement of today is however more political than religious. Four hundred Maoris of the Ngai Tahu Tribe assembled at Rapaki on October 5th, 1921, and considered the Ngai Tahu Claim. Persons entitled to benefit from a settlement of the claim were estimated at 1,000 persons. As a centre of Maori activity Rapaki is rapidly declining, the natives preferring Lyttelton with the seasonal employment which is offered to them there.
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Akaroa

(Whangaroa) and its district.

        
Akaroa Harbour, that deep indentation 10 miles long towards the south-east portion of 
Banks Peninsula is so well known as a tourist resort that it barely needs an introduction, certainly not the small town of Akaroa (the oldest town in Canterbury) built on its shores in 1840. Akaroa is a corrupted name, to be correct it should be called Whangaroa (Long Harbour). This is made perfectly clear by that valuable possession, Captain George Hempelman's Diary, now in the custody of the Canterbury Museum.

        
When the Ngati Mamoe stronghold of Parakakariki fell to the Ngai Tahu Tribe about 1700A.D., several chiefs of the latter lost no time in exploring Whangaroa, and claiming parts of it as their own. Some of these chiefs were: Tutakakahikura, Te Ake, Manaia, Te Rangi Taurewa and Te Ruahikihiki. The more active and warlike of the Ngai Tahu chiefs kept on the war path, ever driving to the south the defeated Ngati Mamoe. Peace fell on those of the Ngai Tahu who remained at Akaroa. The calm was broken eventually by the Kai Huanga (Eat Relation) Feud, only to be followed on by the raids of Te Rauparaha of Kapiti Island in 
Cook Strait, well named the Maori Napoleon.

        
One mile from the Akaroa Post Office and just past Green's Point Memorial (where the British flag was hoisted prior to the arrival of the French on August 11th, 1840), is Red House Bay. When Te Rauparaha (with his hands red with the blood of Ngai Tahu tribesmen of Kaikoura) paid what was supposed to be a friendly visit to Kaiapohia, the natives of that placed scented treachery, and struck the first blow by slaying Te Pehi and several other northern Chiefs.

        
Thwarted by that event of 1829 Te Rauparaha withdrew his forces to his island fortress of Kapiti, and schemed revenge. In 1830 Te Rauparaha induced a degenerate whaling and flax trading captain, namely Captain Stewart of the brig Elizabeth (236 tons) to convey him and about 100 warriors from Kapiti to Akaroa. For his complicity Captain Stewart was promised a cargo of flax.

        
Te Rauparaha had for his objective the capture of Te Maiharanui, the leading chief of the Ngai Tahu Tribe. Revenge called for the life of the most exalted chief. Captain Stewart invited Te Maiharanui, the wife Te Whe and the
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daughter Roimata and others aboard. Taken below they fell an easy capture to Te Rauparaha and his concealed warriors. Te Maiharanui strangled his daughter to save her from dishonour. The chief and his wife were taken to the north, tortured and cruelly slain. Te Rauparaha inveigled other Akaroa natives aboard.

        
Before the brig Elizabeth left 
Akaroa for Kapiti, Te Rauparaha saw fit to destroy the peaceful and unsuspecting kainga of Takapiineke. The slain were cooked and eaten to the numbers of 100, and 50 persons were taken away as captives from Takapuneka. Takapuneke was destroyed on November 6th, 1830. The French documents call their Akaroa settlement Takobinik (their spelling of Takapuneke).

        
Red House Bay is a delightful, peaceful place to-day. As far as European knowledge goes, however, it has. not been popular as a dwelling place among the Maoris. On the other hand Tikao Bay, Ohae and all other parts of the Wainui (Opukutahi) Native Reserve on the opposite part of Whangaroa to Akaroa have from earliest European times been occupied. Tikao Bay was frequented by Te Maiharanui. Mrs Rahera Tikao, an escapee from Takapuneke, was one of the 
Rev. Canon Stack's informants. With its blood-stained soil (practically a place of murder) it is highly improbable Maoris would dwell on such a place as Takapuneke.

        
Onuku and Wainui were places requested for occupation by the Akaroa Maoris in the provisional purchase by the French, of portions of 
Banks Peninsula in 1838. Onuku, Opukutahi (Wainui) and Wairewa. (Little River) are the Native Reserves set out in the deed of the Akaroa Block Purchase by the New Zealand Government at the hands of Mr J. W. Hamilton and signed on December 10th, 1856. The Onuku of to-day is merely a blind end, situated a mile beyond Red House Bay. Little of its one-time importance is evident, consisting as the settlement does of two rather derelict houses, and a little church which was restored and put into service in 1940 by the Akaroa Centennial Committee. To Onuku is usually bestowed locally the name of Kaik.

        
The Onuku Nataive Reserve (No. 886) contains 426 acres with sea frontage and was originally surveyed by C. Davie under instructions form T. Cass, Chief Surveyor of Canterbury, in July 1856. The survey for its roading was carried out by R. Townsend under instructions from S. Hewlings, Chief Surveyor of Canterbury, in August 1873, and the chainmen were two Maoris, Karangohape and Wekipiri Korotepa. The original grantees of the Onuku Reserve were Wiremu Harihona, Hone Taupoki, Matene Paewiti, Rahera Tikao, Rauriri Te Ito, Wiremu Ngaere Te Ao (Hau), Hoani Kamokamo, Erihapete Kirihoto, Men Harihona and Ameria Wi.

        
The foundation stone of the Onuku Church was laid on 

November 22nd, 1876, by the Rev. Mr Scott of the Wesleyan Maori Mission. The church was officially opened as undemoninational, and as the property of the Onuku kainga on Thursday, March 21st, 1878, at noon. It was built to accommodate 60 persons. Canon 
J. W. Stack was the preacher, the Revs. Anderson and G. P. Mutu said the prayers. The veteran Maori Wesleyan clergyman of Rapaki, the Rev. Te Kooti Te Rato led the hymns and the lessons were read by Charles Tikao. The sum of £35 was owing for the church building on opening day, however George Robinson, the Maori athelete of Wairewa went round with the hat and the debt was soon liquidated. The customary Maori feast concluded the proceedings.

        
In 1856 the Maori population of Onuku was 40 persons. At that period the leading characters of the place were Wiremu Harihona Puhirere (its chief), known as Big William, and Wiremu Ngaere Te Hau, his cousin called Little William. Both these men were present at Onawe when that pa fell to Te Rauparaha. Little William was a layreader of the Onuku Church and a stalwart helper of Canon 
J. W. Stack of the Anglican Maori Mission. He also took a keen interest in Maori education, and was for many years chairman of the Onuku School Committee. Wiremu Ngaere Te Hau (Little William) passed away in August 1891. The Maoris treasured his portrait painted in 1889, but his home following ancient custom was burnt down by them.

        
Briggy Puhirere, a Maori wrestler, passed away in June 1888 at the early age of 24 years. A daughter of Wiremu Harihona Puhirere named Ameria Puhirere (Mrs Peni Hokianga) despite her great age, took part at the re-opening of the Onuku Church during the Akaroa Centennial functions in 1940.

        
Place names at Onuku are as follows:—Tokoroa is the Pinnacle Rock near the Akaroa boundary of the Reserve. Manukatahi is the opposite end of the reserve. The creek that runs past the site of the old school is Te Waikopani. Opua Te Rehu is the school site. Te Ngaio is a point near the Pinnacle Rock. Te Ahi Taraiti is the part of the reserve near its centre line and Te One Potu is an old time burial ground. Otehore is the site of an old pa high up on the hill at the rear of Omuku near where the Flea Bay Road junctions with the Akaroa Lighthouse Road.

        
In 1880 the Maori population of Onuku was 50 persons, but within thirty years the inhabitants had fallen to 6 souls. Wiremu Harihona Puhirere in 1867 on May 27th, commenced an annual gathering of Pakehas and Maoris to celebrate the birthday of a son. This function was commemorated for many years. Nothing pleases a Maori better than to offer hospitality with an open hand.

        
A school was opened at Onuku in the beginning of January 

1880, with A. G. Hamilton as the schoolmaster. His successors were Mr and Mrs Maloney. In 1888 they had 34 Maori pupils. In 1891, Mr Maloney was the recipient of a silver watch, duly inscribed from the Maoris as an appreciation of his having befriended their late chief 280 Wiremu Ngaere Te Hau during his illness, and for many acts of kindness to themeslves. The Maoris never forgot an injury, and always remember a kindness.

        
In 1892 the control of the Onuku School was transferred from the Education Department to that of the North Canterbury Education Board. Onawe, the pear-shaped Peninsula, almost an island, at the head of Akaroa separating Duvauchelles Bay from Barry's Bay recalls a tragic spot in Ngai Tahu history. There the tribe living on 
Banks Peninsula made a forlorn stand against Te Rauparaha's forces, fresh from the capture of Kaiapohia. The pa built in 1831 was placed for defence under the charge of Tangatahara whose lieutenants were the chiefs Puaka and Potahi.

        
Some writers have commended the choice of Onawe Peninsula (three quarters of a mile long by a quarter of a mile wide, and its highest point 348 feet) as the site of the Maori fort. The absence of cliffs affording natural defence, and the ease by which the pa could be observed by the enemy from higher land on the mainland contributed to its fall. This was proved when Tangatahara endeavoured to cut off Te Raupahara's forces in Barry's Bay from his other section in Duvauchelles Bay. The sortie from Onawe failed, and the appearance of Te Rauparaha's men mixed with prisoners from Kaiapohia disconcerted the defenders. The northerners gained entrance partially through the lingering jealousies occasioned in the Ngai Tahu Tribe in North Canterbury by the then comparatively recent Kai Huanga Feud.

        
A large number of the defenders fell in battle, many of the prisoners went into the ovens, and the rest who were not fortunate enough to escape to South Canterbury were conveyed as slaves to Kapiti. Te Rauparaha was too clever to accept a challenge to venture into South Canterbury. His scouts found that the Ngai Tahu at Te Wai a te ruati and south thereof were quite prepared to give him battle.

        
The fortifications on Onawe consisted of two large oblong blocks, one of which was 8 chains long by 2 chains wide, and the other 10 chains long by 2 chains wide. There was also an irregular annexe, and the two blocks were divided by a formidable fence. The foregoing formed the main position. The area enclosed was three acres—the whole however was surrounded by a stout palisade, outside of which was a very deep trench. The palisades were about 16 feet high. One or two of these posts were still standing in January 1920, when Mr L. Dent and the author visited Onawe. The trenches outside the palisades were about 15 feet deep. At the sides of the 

fort were redoubts and other projections in order to strengthen the defence of the entrance gates. Two palisaded trenches gave access to the springs. The narrow neck entering Onawe was defended by a covered way.

        
In 1891, Mr O'Callaghan was the property owner. On March 17th, 1891, he ran a festival on Onawe. The 
Banks Peninsula Maoris were invited to take part, but to their credit held aloof, only Pakehas going to celebrate jollification on land sacred to "Ngai Tahu dead. On February 6th, 1904, Dr. Levinge, at the request of the Christchurch Beautifying Society, approached the New Zealand Government to acquire Onawe as an Historic Reserve. Sir R. Heaton Rhodes made a similar request in 1905 and again as an M.P. direct to the late Hon. R. McNab, Minister of Lands on May 2nd, 1908. The author appealed also to the New Zealand Government to acquire Onawe on October 4th, 1939, as a Centennial (Akaroa) 1940 gesture to the South Island Maoris, but without effect.

        
On the highest part of Onawe named Te Pa nui o Hau, dwelt the Spirit of the Winds that turned away intruders.A survey of the Maori fort on Onawe was made by J. S.Welch in January 1886, and by W. D. Wilkins of Akaroa in 1889. Another survey was made in 1094. The name of the point connecting Onawe with the Mainland is called Tara-o-kura.

        
The late 
Sir Arthur Dudley Dobson about twenty years ago as a result of a survey he made of Onawe, contemplated drawing a plan of the old fortification as a gift to the New Zealand Institute. Pupu Hine Pani is a point near Barry's Bay.

        
Barry's Bay, the western of the three bays at the Head of Akaroa Harbour, was frequented by the Maoris in early European days, and is referred to by Captain Greaves, one time harbour master at Akaroa, as Kai Bay. The Maoris had a small kainga near the northern part of the bay known as Ihutu. On May 12th, 1874, the Maoris requested the Canterbury Provincial Government to make a reserve there and erect a small Maori hostel on it. The Maori name of Barry's Bay is Taraouta, and the creek is called Kaituna. Te Kai waitau is the swampy foreshore.

        
The large bay known as French Farm south of Barry's Bay is Te Rau tahi. The next bay, Brough's Bay, officially known as Petit Carenage, was the site of, an outpost pa of Onawe, and it was named Opakia. Tikao Bay is named after the well-known Maori family of 
Banks Peninsula. The southern point of this bay is Otahukoka and its northern headland is Whata Manga. At Whata Manga the shark food was stored.

        
The Wainui or Opukutahi Native Reserve consists of about 500 acres and was set aside in 1856 for the Ngai Tarawa hapu of the Ngai Tahu Tribe. Te Ruahikihiki occupied Waniui prior to moving to Whakamoa and finally to 
Taumutu at the 

outlet of Lake Ellesmere. Te Mai haranui who was captured at Takapuneke by Te Rauparaha had a secondary kainga at Wainui, as it was conveniently situated near the flax growing places, the flax being traded by him to Europeans visiting Akaroa Harbour. The Maori population in 1857 was 40 Maoris. In 1861 the number of the population has decreased to 30 persons. The Maoris past and present cultivate a fair amount of ground, and run quite a creditable number of stock.

        
Cape Three Points beyond Wainui Beach is named Nga Mautarua, and the cliff nearby is Te Aka Tarewa. Mat Wights Bay in old Maori days had groves of Titoki trees from which the Maoris obtained a scented balm. At Mat Wights Bay are cliffs called Te Ana Kororiwha and Ohine atua. Great caves are in this locality and reputedly haunted.

        
The hills which overlook the Wainui Native Reserve were the abode of the Patu Pairareha, a Maori fairy tribe. Saddle Hill bears the name of Puaitahi, but Mount Bossu (2,336 feet) has an ancient tradition, as it is said to be the ko or digging spade of Rakaihautu of the first Waitaha Tribe who came to the South Island in the Uruao Canoe about 850 A.D., and explored the land, digging out many lakes with that marvellous implement called Tuhi raki. According to tradition this chief, from whom descendants can be traced, ended his days on the shores of Whangaroa now called Akaroa Harbour.

        
The original grants of the Wainui Native reserve (Opukutahi) No. 885, were issued to Hone Tare Tikao, Paurini Hirawhea, Wiremu Ngaere Te Ao, Pirihita Raroiti, Tamati Tikao and Rahera Maireha. Akaroa has associations with Captain George Hempelman, a whaler who made a creditable purchase of lands in its neighbourhood from the Maoris in March 1837, that is so far as Europeans generally made bargains in land with the natives, at the best never honest.

        
Captain Hempelman, unfortunately for himself, did not French, the following year on August 2nd, 1838. The French came out of their deal receiving good compensation considering that the Maoris concerned admitted selling only an area of 400 acres at Akaroa, and smaller areas at Pigeon Bay, 
Port Levy and Camp Bay. The double selling of land on 
Banks Peninsula is said to have been engineered by Koroko, a chief at Waikouaiti, to spite Taiaroa, Karetau, Patuki and Tuhawaiki, who were friendly disposed to Captain Hempleman. Te Mena, Tikao, Waruwarutu, Toria, Pukonui and 12 other Maoris were concerned in the sale to the French.

        
Captain Hempelman, unfortunately for himself, did not jump at the award of Colonel Campbell, 
Sir George Grey's Commissioner, of 2,650 acres. When the Provincial Government's Commissioner made his award it was 250 acres, probably to please the Godley party who in the early part of Canterbury Government were a power to contend with. (During the fifties).

        


        
The infamous Ngai Tahu Deed (Kemps) by which 12,500,000 acres passed to the 
New Zealand Company per the New Zealand Government officers for £2,000 (and broken promises) was signed on June 12th, 1848. The native vendors were Taiaroa, Maopo, Paoro Tau, Koti, Tainui, Karetai, Wiremu Te Raki, Horomona Pohio, Te Whaikai Pokeno, Rangi Whakana, Potiki, Tiare Wetere, Tare Te Aruru, Haereroa, Te Raki. Te Hau, Matiaha, Ihaia, Waruwarum, Taki, Ririwa, Koreke, Te Poriohua, Wiremu, Hape, Pukenui, Tuawau, Tuahuru, Te Hau, Manahi and Te Uki. The European witnesses were R. A. Olliver, T. Bull, John Watson, C. H. Kettle, James Bruce and 
H. T. Kemp. In 1944 claims by the Ngai Tahu Tribe under that land sale remained unsettled; though all the necessary legislation was passed in 1928 by Parliament to settle the claim. The Royal Commission of 1921 made the award, a fair and just one.

        
In 1945, the Ngai Tahu Claim Act settled the whole grievance by severely pruning the award suggested by the Royal Commission and awarding £300,000, to be paid in annual payments of £10,000 for 30 years. The point is that at the end of the period, £200,000 remains in the Fund seeing that two-thirds of the annual £10,000 payment can be borrowed from the treasury only (which is an investment fund). Clause 20 of the Ngai Tahu Trust Board Act, 1946, distinctly disfranchises all real Ngai Tahu Block beneficaries. In the printed words of Mr E. T. Tirikatine, m.p., "the act benefits the Maoris of the South Island as a whole".

        
Bishop Selwyn visited Akaroa by the schooner Richmond on January 4th. 1844. 
Sir George Grey in company with Te Wherowhero and other North Island chiefs visited Akaroa in March 1848, and held a conclave with leading 
Banks Peninsula chiefs. On May 25th, 1913, H.M.S. New Zealand anchored off Akaroa. The Maoris gave Captain Halsey and his men a typical Maori welcome. The principal speakers were Taokahi Ropata Paurini and Mrs Peni Hokianga. The gifts were presented by Hoani Tehau Pere, Mrs Pere and Mrs Keef.

        
On April 20th, 1940, over 500 Maoris gathered at Akaroa to assist in the Akaroa Centennial Celebrations. Of this number 100 belonged to the North Island tribes. The welcome to the North Island Maoris was extended on behalf of the Southerners by P. H. McDonald. Prominent North Island Maoris present were: P. K. Paikea, A. T. Ngata, H. T. Ratana, M.P's; and Rangi Mawheti, M.L.C., Purere Katene, K. T. Hemana. H. W. Hui, W. K. Waiaua, Riri Maihi Kawiti, Mete Takerangi, Hohepa Winera, Hari Katene and Kengi Tahiwi. Mr Piki Te Mairaki Taiaroa, Bishop Bennett and Kengi Tahiwi extended the welcome to His Excellency the Governor.

        
When the occasion offered Mr R. M. Taiaroa on behalf of the Ngai Tahu Tribe requested the Prime Minister, the 

Right Hon. Peter Fraser and the Hon. T. Armstrong to give sanction to the settlement of the nearly a century-old grievance—the Ngai Tahu Claim. The replies of the honourable gentlemen were by no means what should have been expected. The Church at Onuku was reopened by Bishops West-Watson and Bishop Bennett assisted by the Rev. Rugby Pratt (Wesleyan) and the Rev. Lawson Robinson (Presbyterian) on April 21st, 1940. Rain marred the proceedings.

        
On May 16th, 1943, the gift of the Rhodes family, a new carved altar for the Onuku Church was dedicated by Bishop West-Watson, who was welcomed by Mr H. Keefe. Mr Tom Robinson acted as interpreter. The carving was executed by the Arawa Maori Trust Board to a design by Mr Tai Mitchell. The Tuku Tuku and Paniko work is a replica of such art at the Ohinemutu Maori Church.

        
The following are place names at Akaroa:—

        
Te Papaki, bay past Red House Bay. Tahi na torea, point opposite the buoys at Akaroa. Te Pito o Tutahi is a point towards Onuku. Kaitangata, the mouth of the Aylmer's Valley Creek. Te Wai iti is the central stream in Akaroa. Te Wai pirau is the creek on entering Akaroa. Otahuahua, is the foot of the main road as it enters Akaroa. Otipua is the German Bay Hill. O Tangamatua (Takamatua) is German Bay, and Kaka kaiau is Robinson's Bay.

        
Very few Maoris reside now at Akaroa, very different from was the case in the year 1877, when the natives found it necessary to request the New Zealand Government to make a grant of half an acre of land, and build thereon a Maori hostelry. However, then as now, efforts to promote Maori welfare do not meet with success from the powers that be.

        
The Akaroa Maoris of sixty years ago were ardent fishermen. A day's catch made on March 19th, 1884, accounted for 350 barracouta, and for the week 1,000 barracouta were caught, only two boats being used. In 1944, the natives had to contend with strong European competition in the fishing industry.

        
The Maoris of 
Banks Peninsula made their first direct contact with a New Zealand Government at Akaroa on May 28th, 1840, when Major Bunbury came ashore from H.M.S. Herald to obtain signatures for the Treaty of Waitangi, a document which has never been given legal status, and so far as a gentleman's agreement is concerned, only partially carried out by the pakeha.
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Wairewa is the Maori name of Lake Forsyth, the sheet of water four miles long by three-quarters of a mile wide, skirting the main Christchurch-Akaroa Road at the south-west corner of 
Banks Peninsula. The meaning of the name is "
water lifted up". Waihora is the larger companion lake lying to the south of Wairewa popularly known as Lake Ellesmere. This lake is fifteen miles long and at its widest part about ten miles across. Waihora, translated means "
water spread out". According to Maori legend both lakes were formed by Rakaihautu with his famous ko 
(digging spade). Rakaihautu brought to New Zealand an aboriginal people named the Waitaha by a canoe named Uruao about 850 A.D. This Waitaha Tribe were of a different stock from the folk also called Waitaha who came to the South Island by the Takitimu Canoe under Tamatea several hundred years later.

        
Both lakes teem with eels, fish and bird life, a plentiful food supply for the several tribes which in turn have dwelt along the shores. The lakes are separated from the sea only by narrow shingle spits, and the inhabitants of the district have from time immemorial let the waters out to prevent undue flooding of the surrounding country.

        
Wairewa is the name given to the Native Reserve (No. 857) at Little River of which 440 acres were set aside in December 1856, according to the terms of the purchase of the Akaroa Block by J. W. Hamilton, Native Commissioner. The population on September 30th, 1857, was 36 all of whom belonged to the Ngai Tahu Tribe and of its hapus, Ngai-te-Irakehu and Ngati Mako. In 1861, there were 51 Maoris of the Ngai Tahu and 7 natives of other tribes dwelling at Wairewa.

        
The Ngai Tahu Tribe first became aware of the suitability of the environs of Wairewa and Waihora as places of habitation, through the glowing reports brought to 
Marlborough by the explorers Kaiapu and Te Makino, who had travelled as far south as Foveaux Strait. The inhabitants of Wairewa during the Kai huanga Feud took sides with Te Maiharanui in the attack on 
Taumutu, 
(which latter settlement aided by reinforcements from 
Otakou obtained satisfaction on Wairewa at the fight called Kai-whare-atua).

        


        
Wairewa again suffered in an attack by southerners, when three canoes of fugitives were overtaken on Lake Wairewa and slaughtered. The inroads of Te Rauparaha and his Ngati Toa and Ngati Awa followers to the South Island caused the Ngai Tahu Tribe to cease fighting among themselves. The decimation of the warriors, and the lingering jealousies contributed largely to the successes Te Rauparaha achieved in 
Canterbury.

        
The Wairewa Native Reserve commences at the ridge called Waipawa, thence to Oweka, then to the hill Karawera and on to Hukahukaroa. The original grant was issued in the names of Heremaia Mautai, Henare Te Paro, Tamati Tikao, Rawini Te Ito, Raniera Kurawaka, Tamati Waka, Hoani Porohe, Hoani Te Ruru, Henare Tawha, Te Kaha Wharepuni. Mr W. L. Buller of the Native Department visited Wairewa in March 1860, and was highly pleased with the influence Tamati Tikao was exercising upon his people, the hygienic conditions at the pa, and the spreading of secular and religious education.

        
From 1860 to 1863 he maintained a boarding school for Maori children at his own expense. He was created a Native Assessor by Governor Gore-Browne, and immediately drew up laws and enforced them in every part of his district. Tamati Tikao died at Wainui on September 29th, 1885.

        
The Maori Church (Anglican) at Wairewa Pa was opened on January 19th, 1870, by the 
Rev. J. W. Stack before a large assemblage of both races. The building was erected by Noah Walters and consisted principally of totara timber, the glass stained windows being the work of Mr Wilson of Christchurch. Irai Tihau was the leader of the movement for a church

        
On May 24th, 1877, the pupils of the Wairewa Native School by means of a concert raised funds which were used in the embellishment of the interior of the native church. One of the last public religious acts of Bishop Harper was the holding of a confirmation service for over 16 candidates on March 19th, 1890. Bishop Harper was assisted by the Revs. 
J. W. Stack and G. P. Mutu together with Haimona Tuonga the Maori lay-reader.

        
Bishop Grimes, R.C. Bishop of Christchurch, visited Wairewa Pa on October 27th, 1888, and on April 2nd, 1889, assisted by Rev. Melu, he converted to the Roman Catholic faith a large number of the Wairewa Maoris, including the aged chief Paurini. It was decidedly noticeable, at the Maori Camp held at the Akaroa Centennial Camp in 1940, that the Roman Catholic clergy alone fraternised with the Maoris, irrespective of what communion they belonged to. The best of the land which is at all arable on the Wairewa Native Reserve, is unfortunately often damaged by floods, as in 

February 1868, when a severe flood completely destroyed the extensive potato crops.

        
On January 10th, 1872, maize, wheat and standing crops were swept away by fire. The Maoris also lost their greatest asset, the Wairewa Bush, mostly totara, of which each tree was worth £1 to £3, by fire shortly afterwards. On December 18th, 1877, Mr J. W. Hamilton, always a staunch friend of the Maori people, called public attention to the fact that the losses the natives suffered were in the main caused by European carelessness, and advocated the appointment of a Government officer to protect them.

        
In 1865, William White, with the approval of the Little River Road Board and Provincial Government, endeavoured to obtain timber from an overall width road line, the Maoris appealed to J. W. Hamilton, native commissioner for justice, as the pakeha action was contrary to terms of the sale of the Native Land, which allowed the timber to the Maoris, and only a certain acreage for roads. The General Government authorised the native commissioner to take the matter to the Supreme Court, and the local authorities promptly came to terms. Compensation was paid over to Heremaia Mautau, Irai Tihau, Tamati Tikao, Tera Maitua and Eruera Irikapua.

        
The correct extent of roading had been surveyed in 1863 by H. J. Cridland under orders from T. Cass, Chief Surveyor of Canterbury. Mr Cass on July 6th, 1864, expressed the opinion that the river should have been exclusively reserved for the Maoris.

        
On May 16th, 1863, Mr J. W. Hamilton, Native Commissioner, wrote the following to His Honour, the Superintendant.of Canterbury: "
I trust that I may obtain Your Honour's sympathy for the aboriginal owners of the land. I think a sense of shame if not a feeling of fair play ought to induce the Europeans to do something substantial and real for this section of their fellow subjects."

        
On August 4th, 1878, George Robinson of the Wairewa runanga called the attention of the local authorities and the Central Board of Health to the fact that owing to an impure water supply, and unsanitary housing at the pa, fever was rife, and that 19 Maoris had died and 11 were in a precarious condition and requiring medical attention. On July 29th, 1903, Mr Parata brought forward the need of a pure water supply for Wairewa Pa, on the grounds that available water was not fit for human consumption.

        
On December 22nd, 1918, the housing and water supply was condemmed by the authorities, and Doctor Chesson was requested to plan improvements. Doctor Burnett and others, during December 1936, pressed for housing and water at 

Wairewa Pa. On December 14th, 1937, the Health Department reported on Walker's Creek, and other sources for a pure water supply to the Wairewa County Council. The Wairewa County Council at its meeting held on September 13th, 1943, reported that the Government through its Native Department had deferred the matter of a pure water supply, even though the County Council and the Wairewa Maoris had agreed to contribute towards the cost of such necessary work. Many deaths since 1878 can be laid to the lack of healthy conditions.

        
On October 23rd, 1919, Hoani Te Hau Pere and other 
Banks Peninsula natives petitioned Parliament to have Lake Wairewa 
(Forsyth) gazetted a Maori fishing reserve. The Europeans of Little River cast longing eyes on that portion of the Wairewa Native Reserve opposite the railway station for a Recreation Park. The Maoris however sent their chief, George Robinson per the S.S. Arahura to Wellington on August 25th, 1905, and he laid objection before the Government.

        
The Christchurch Workers' Educational Association visited Wairewa on January 5th, 1922 and were welcomed by the Maoris at the runanga hall. On November 8th, 1923, the War Memorial at Little River was unveiled by Lord Jellicoe and hymns were sung in Maori by Miss Mere Tini, Mrs Mary Kipa, Mrs Mary Tupa and Mrs Rahu Whaitiri. The Wairewa Maoris welcomed Governor Lord Bledisloe on November 6th, 1933.

        
On May 10th, 1935, the Maoris of Wairewa planted trees to commemorate the King's Jubilee. Under the guidance of H. Kini, a bonfire was lit on Springvale Hill in the evening, speeches being made by J. Roberts and T. Robinson, while hakas and poi dances were presented later.

        
A new Runanga Hall was opened on Thursday, April 16th, 1885, by the 
Hon. H. K. Taiaroa, M.L.C.; Honi Topi Patuki and T. Parata assisted. The present hall, opened about thirty years ago by R. Paurini, is named Mako 
(Mango) after the founder of the settlement, and the kitchen bears the name of his wife Ropuake.

        
On the conquest of 
Banks Peninsula by the Ngai Tahu Tribe from the Ngati Mamoe, Mako selected the site of his principal abode at the head of Lake Wairewa on R.S. 1784 near 4804, at the junction of the Okuti and Te Oka Roads. Kuaiti near Kinloch used to possess a tapu tree which had the faculty of disappearing from the vision of an unwelcome visitor. The name denotes this fact. The tree used to be on section 1109, but like the rest of the native flora has passed for ever.

        
Near the runanga hall stands a monument to Tangatahara, the 
Banks Peninsula warrior who was present at the old pa of Kaiapohia near Woodend, North Canterbury in 1829, when 

the Ngai Tahu Tribe forestalled the treachery of the visiting Te Rauparaha by slaying eight of his leading chiefs. Te Pehi, his greatest, fell to the blow of Tangatahara. The monument stands as a contrast to the vainglorious memorial to Te Rauparaha at 
Otaki.

        
Tangatahara in his early manhood went a-wooing, but the lady he set his heart on would not countenance him at any price and dubbed him "
ugly face". Hence his name Tangatahara, who was the commander of the Banks Peninsula Ngai Tahu Maoris that made a stand against Te Rauparaha's forces at Onawe.

        
When Onawe was invested by the northerners, Tangatahara noticed that the two main sections of the invaders Ngati Awa and Ngati Toa occupied different camps; he made a sortie on Ngati Awa, but his move was observed by the watchful Ngati Toa, who went to the aid of their allies. During the retreat of the Ngai Tahu back on Onawe, some of the northerners in the disorder (assisted by the lingering jealousies occasioned by the relation feud among the prisoners taken by Te Rauparaha at Kaiapohia) also effected an entrance. What bloodshed! Some 600 Ngati Tahu were either slain or captured. Tangatahara was captured, and fell to the custody of Te Hiko, the son of Te Pehi, whom Tangatahara had killed at Kaiapohia.

        
When the northerners were camped at Okaruru (Gough's Bay) the Ngati Toa folk demanded the life of Tangatahara, but Te Hiko stoutly refused, Te Hiko, the Ngati Awa chief, actuated either by a generous admiration of his captive or a strong dislike to his Ngati Toa allies, assisted Tangatahara to escape and go with other fugitives to 
Moeraki in North Otago.

        
Tangatahara retrieved his honour and took part in the Ngai Tahu expeditions organised in 
Otago to go north to 
Marlborough in 1833 and 1834 which thoroughly defeated Te Rauparaha's warriors. Indeed on one occasion had not Matata's dog barked, raising an alarm, Te Rauparaha might have found his way into a Ngai Tahu oven.

        
When Te Puoho sought Te Rauparaha's advice on carrying warfare down into 
Otago via Westland the wily old fox did his best to dissuade him. Te Rauparaha had escaped his Ngai Tahu foes only by under water swimming, his personal reward as he said being "a belly full of salt water". Te Puoho, as was to be expected, met his fate at Tuturau near Mataura at the close of 1836. The fighting honours remained with the Ngai Tahu Tribe.

        
Tangatahara settled for a time at Akaroa, but revisited 
Moeraki in 1840. He came back to 
Banks Peninsula where he died on December 13th, 1847. He was interred at Otu Reinga, the old burial place at Wainui. The memorial at 

Little River was unveiled by the 
Hon. H. K. Taiaroa on March 22nd, 1900. Five hundred persons were present at the function, including many Ngai Tahu chiefs of rank. The Rev. Blathwayt also took part in the proceedings. A glorious feast was provided, all served in true Maori fashion under the guidance of George Robinson, then head of the Wairewa runanga.

        
The late Robert Gilbert who passed away on April 27th, 1944, aged 96 years, was a nephew of Tangatahara by the sister Te Marino, Gilbert senior being a whaler at Hempleman's Peraki station.

        
The Wairewa Native School was closed down in December 1943, Miss Young being its last teacher. One cannot but regret the passing of a school with a noble record. On February 8th, 1873, the 
Rev. J. W. Stack, the pioneer of organised native education in Canterbury approached the committee of the pakeha school at Little River to allow Maori children to attend the school. The committee did not agree entirely with the proposal, and resolved that an evening school be held in building at Wairewa Pa on three evenings of the week, and decided to lend their schoolmaster. Such was the humble beginning of the Wairewa Native School.

        
In 1875, the 
Rev. J. W. Stack helped by the untiring support of Eli Tihau and Tamati Tikao, secured a building at the pa, and the new day school was duly opened with a roll of 16 pupils, and H. J. Reeves from the Tuahiwi Native School as its first schoolmaster. Eli Tihau was the first chairman of the school committee.

        
On March 6th, 1877, the school was transferred to a building specially built by a Mr Grigg, and 26 Maori pupils faced Mr J. P. Restell, the schools inspector of the Canterbury Provincial Government. In his examination report, he speaks highly of the intelligence of the Maori children, and especially of their aptitude for geography. At the prize-giving function more than 300 residents of the Little River district were present, and addresses were given by the Revs. 
J. W. Stack, Te Koti te Rato, G. P. Mutu and Mr H. Buchanan of Kinloch. spoke.

        
As descendants of the scholars of 1877 are still living in the district, it may be of interest to give the prize list. Here is the list of recipients; Te Hira Mutu, Amelia Christie, Queenie Tawhio, Margaret Tini, Miriam Ruruwaku, Mary Nutira, Pipi Horotipu, C. Irihau, Mary Tawha, J. Nutira, Harawera Korotipu, John Pohio, Pinohi Korotipu.

        
Captain Curling, the next master of Wairewa School, came from the native school at the Wairau. Captain Curling was succeeded by Mr and Mrs Maloney, who had been teachers at the Onuku native school. During the nineties Mr and Mr F. A. Green were teachers, succeeded in 1902 by 

Mr and Mrs H. R. Hamilton, in 1904 Mr and Mrs J. H. Thompson, in 1905 Mr Hastings, in 1906 Mr and Mrs Jennings and in 1907 Mr and Mrs J. Munro.

        
Since the Education Board took over the native schools in North Canterbury from the Education Department in 1908, Wairewa has, in common with others, had many teachers. Perhaps the most outstanding have been Mr and Mrs Freeman, who possessed that rare gift of understanding the Maori character. During their control, for years the Wairewa School won the Rock Peak Challenge Cup for art and sewing work, leaving the 16 European schools on 
Banks Peninsula far behind.

        
In the field of sport the Maori school has not been far behind the pakeha school at Little River. For example, it nearly secured "
the ashes" at a cricket match held on October 18th, 1896. Having viewed work done at the Wairewa School, the writer feels the words of a former Minister of Education to be worth repeating: "It has given me great pleasure to obtain samples of work done in native schools, which in some respects, excel that done in some of the primary schools of Europeans."

        
The difference between Maori and pakeha naming of rivers is clearly shown in the Wairewa or Little River district nomenclature. Kakerikawai is the name of the Little River close to Lake Wairewa 
(Forsyth) below the confluence of the Okuti valley stream. One and a half miles up from this junction, the main stream 
(Okana) divides into the Western Valley stream 
(Huka huka tu roa) and the Eastern Valley stream 
(Opuaho.) At Puaha the Eastern Valley stream divides into the Te Puha 
(Eastern) and Hikuika 
(Western) creeks.

        
The outlet of Lake Forsyth at the head of the Ninety Mile beach is much frequented by the Wairewa Maoris in the eeling season. Hundred of eels can then be seen hanging under cover on stages. This locality is historically interesting for the isolated rock called Poutaiki alongside section 3,730 is an old Maori burial place named Wairenapa. There Te Rangi Tauhuka a Tane, a brother to Ropuake who was wife to Mako is buried. The lines of Oruaka pa can be seen west of Prices's homestead, and nearby is the spring alongside of which Taununu was slain by Kaiwhata and Kaurehe during the Eat Relation Feud. A cave east of the spot is Te Ana Koko, named after a North Island warrior slain there by Tuhawaiki.

        
On the south side of the lake stood the pa Mata hapuka visited by 
Edward Shortland on January 29th, 1844, when Tukupani was its chief. He was succeeded by Matenga Te Rapa whose descendants still live at Wairewa. Nguti piri and Otukakau are other old time pas in the locality. The isolated knob alongside the sharp ridge 
(Maro kura nui) is known to 

Europeans as the Devil's Elbow and near Birdlings Flat railway station is Maro kura iti, a very ancient and tapu burial place.

        
The very high hill west of Little River railway station is Upoko a Tahumata 
(Tahumata's Head); the Europeans simply call it Bare Hill. It is the site of a one time hill pa, with Otekata and Okaua place names on its shoulders. Waipuna Springs at the head of Western Valley were the traditional possession of Te Rangi whakaputa of the Ngai Tahu Tribe.

        
Mount Sinclair which overlooks Eastern Valley is Terawera. Nga Mokaikai is the Barrys Bay Saddle at Hill Top, Kapurua a Whakatohe is the spring alongside the Main Road just before entering Little River, and is named after a chief who lived there with his two wives. Tahu ahi is the Rora Tawha Estate, Oweka the hill near Barclay's Estate. Te Pamakahi is part of the Waipuna Saddle and Wharau nui and Wharau iti small bays on the western side of Lake Forsyth.

        
The Kaitorete or Ellesmere Spit separates Lake Waihora 
(Ellesmere) from the sea. The Maoris fought hard for its possession before Judge Fenton's Land Court in 1868, and subsequently J. W. Hamilton, a Native Land Purchase officer on June 3rd, 1866 remarked:—'"
From all the Maoris have told me, and so far as I can understand them I doubt if ever the Kaitorete Spit was ceded by them."

        
Perhaps the failure of the Maori claim lay in the admission made in Judge Fenton's report in 1868:—"
Whatever the demands of the natives, the Court was completely bound by the evidence of the Crown witnesses."

        
On the Kaitorete Spit, fighting took place during the Eat Relation Feud. On it the great Te Maiharanui of the Ngai Tahu showed cowardice and was forced to go forward and fight by his comrade Whakatuka. Guns were first used by the Ngai Tahu during this intertribal feud. Halfway down the Spit is Otuweruweru, the site of a former small habitation.

        
Kaikanohi, a point down the Spit on the lake nearer to 
Taumutu, is so named because a chief caught his wife in adultery there, gouged out her eyes and swallowed them. Kua o whiti is where Harts Creek enters Lake Waihora; Waiwhio the Irwell; Waikerikeri the Selwyn; Ararira the mouth of the Lake and Heketara the outlet of the Halswell. Waikakahi Pa is situated at the Bluegums at Wascoes near Birdlings Flat. There Tutekawa, a Ngai Tahu chief, took up his abode after the slaying of Tuahuriri's wives, (Hinekaitaki and Tuaruwhati) at Wellington. He was looked up by Moki one of Tuahuriri's sons and slain by Whakuku.

        
Tutekawa was then an old man, and his son Te Rangi tamau dwelt at 
Taumutu at the outlet of Lake Waihora. Te Rangi tamau went to Waikakahi, and by night entered the 

pa, and succeeded in placing his mat on the sleeping Moki. As a result of having spared the life of Moki, the latter pledged peace with Te Rangi tamau. The citadel of Waikakahi named Te Puia is still clearly visible on the point separating the Waikoko and Prices Valleys a few chains from the Main Akaroa Road, and near Mr E. A. Birdling's homestead.

        
Sites of old kaingas can be seen on all the hill spurs from Birdlings Flat to Gebbies Pass; showing that the waters of Lake Waihora 
(Ellesmere) abounded with food for the Maori people.

        
Lake Waihora and its Maori Associations have been dealt with more fully by the writer in a publication under that heading. Of Te Rangi tamau's pa at 
Taumutu no traces remain, as it was washed away by the sea and the overflow waters of the Lake. However the pas erected by Te Ruahikihiki and Moki II can still be easily discerned. The former encloses the Wesley Church and cemetery at 
Taumutu, and bears the name Orariki. Moki II Pa is near the 
Taumutu runanga hall. In 1840 there were twelve native dwellings at 
Taumutu and Rewa Koruarua was the principal man.

        
In January 1844, Bishop Selwyn preached to 40 
Taumutu Maoris. On October 7th, 1845, the 
Rev. Charles Creed held the first Wesleyan service at 
Taumutu, and October 27th, 1851, the 
Rev. James Watkin of Old Waikouaiti baptised seven adults and one Maori child. The Wesleyan Church at 
Taumutu was opened by the Rev. Te Kote te Rato of Rapaki on Easter Sunday, 1885. The present runanga hall named Moki II was opened by R. M. Taiaroa on May 7th, 1891.

        
The large swamp at 
Taumutu is called Wai wakaheke tupa pakau and is fed by a spring. As the name implies it was a place for water burials. Whakamatakuira is the high boulder bank alongside the 
Taumutu Commonage, and from it could be observed the coming of visitors, whether friend or foe from the north. Pa-o-te-korua and Pa-o-te-ikamutu together with Wai pupu were old time look-out points at the south end of Lake Waihora near 
Taumutu. The few Maoris now dwelling at 
Taumutu, owing to the barren character of their lands make a precarious living as fishermen.

        
Quiet 
Taumutu is to-day, such a change from its past. A Kaikoura party on their way to 
Moeraki were ambushed there. 
Moeraki executed the usual revenge, only a celebrated runner named Kuwhare managed to escape death and slavery.

        

Through a lady named Murihaka, wife of a chief named Potahi placing on her shoulders a mat belonging to the great Te Maiharaui, an act of sacrilege, made for "utu" on a women named Rirewaka as the alternative of punishing by death the real culprit. The several hapus of North Canterbury were 

soon at war with one another, and so commenced the Eat Relation Feud. Ngati Koreha Pa at Ahuriri near Tai Tapu, Waikakahi near Birdlings Flat, 
Taumutu, Wairewa, Ripapa Pa near Lyttelton, Whakaepa near Coalgate, Koukourarata 
(
Port Levy) were all drawn into the squabble.

        
The 
Taumutu Maoris had varying fortunes until Te Maiharanui's side defeated them at Hakitai, the remainder of the 
Taumutu warriors then going south to 
Otakou. Te Maiharanui made an offer of peace, which they foolishly accepted, but on their way back to Taumutu, they were set on at Orehu near 
Rakaia Mouth, and completely decimated.

        
Te Mai hara nui was the chief captured by Te Rauparaha in Akaroa through the agency of the despicable Captain Stewart of the brig "Elizabeth". Fortunately his loss was not deplored by the Ngai Tahu Tribe or revenge would have been taken on the European sailors who within two or three years of the capture were beginning to frequent the coast of 
Banks Peninsula.
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The tract of country extending from the Rakaia River to the Waitaki was well travelled over by the old time Maoris. There is hardly a portion of the Canterbury Plains which has not yielded Maori curios. It was usual however for the Maoris when on long journeys to keep near the coast. The common interpretation of the word 
Rakaia, "
adorn the hair" is a questionable one, as it is not the type of river which allows placid pools to act as a mirror for hair adornment. The 
Rakaia was a difficult river to ford and the Maoris crossed it arranged in ranks holding on to a pole or rope.

        

Rakaia is the South Island variation of the standard Maori word "rangaia" 
(to arrange in ranks). Rangitata can be translated "
close sky" or "
day of lowering clouds". From the 
Rakaia Mouth to the Rangitata en route to 
Arowhenua trudged the escapees from the fall of the pas at Kaiapohia and Onawe, excluding of course, the survivors who hid in the bush of Mount Grey 
(Maunga tere) in North Canterbury.

        
Through the kindness of Mr Te Aritaua Pitama the writer was privileged to see a Maori account of their journeys. Taken in conjunction with information on place names gathered by surveyor Davie on instructions by Thomas Cass, Chief Surveyor of the Early Canterbury Province, it is possible to state the halting places. The halting places going south from 
Taumutu were Otepeka near 
Rakaia Mouth, Tahu a Tao (Dorie), Outoo (Kyle), Takapuneke (Seafield), Rerepari, Wharauka (Sea View), Whakanui, Hakatere (north side of Ashburton Mouth), Tuhina-a-po (near south side of Ashburton Mouth), Te Takanga o te-koutuku 
(described as a place where there was a scour in the beach cliffs) five miles north of the Rangitata River, and Pakihaukuku a stream two miles north of the Rangitata River.

        
According to Tare Wetere te Kahu the Maoris called the Rangitata Mouth Kai Whareatua, as a war party found little food there, and had to subsist on mushrooms. The Maoris used to have a fishing camp on the Ashburton 
(Hakatere) River above the site of the present borough.

        
Between Orari and Timaru the Maoris of Arowhenua possess several reserves, alas mostly leased out to Europeans—905 (600 acres at Kapunatiki), 913 (15 acres), 914 (30 acres), 908 (20 acres), 882 (187 acres) Waipopo, 883 (20 acres) 

Rakipawa, 909 (10 acres), 910 (20 acres) and 911 (2 acres) Waitarakao or Washdyke Lagoon. Wai tarakao has been translated in many ways, but information gleaned by Herries Beattie settles the matter as "
water with quicksands". European settlers have suffered with stock being caught in the quicksands at Washdyke Lagoon; the Maoris knew the danger long ago.

        
Timaru has for its literal translation "
sheltered cabbage tree". Under the terms of Kemp's Deed a reserve of 20 acres was set aside in 1849 at Caroline Bay, Timaru, (Reserve 884). In 1871 the reserve was reduced in area to allow the formation of the Southern Railway, and the Maoris were compensated.

        
The Maoris with interests in the reserve made little if any use of this valuable land. In January 1914, the reserve was partitioned into 66 sections. Some of the owners made use of their sections and paid the half-rates required to the local body. the others did not. The Timaru Borough Council then demanded the half rates on the whole reserve. The matter of rates was brought before the 
Native Land Court with Judge Gilfedder on November 29th, 1916. After numerous petitions and counter petitions, the Native owners of Reserve 884 of 16 acres resolved to accept the offer of purchase made by the Timaru Borough Council at £12,000.

        
The acceptance of the Borough's offer was made on October 7th, 1920, in accordance with the Maori Land Board's decision of May 20th, 1920. On September 3rd and 4th, 1926, Mr A. N. Booth paid over £8,000 to the Maoris who went to the Arowhenua Runanga Hall to receive it. The individual amounts varied from £423 to 10/-, the larger sums being given to those with several succession orders. A year afterwards it could be truly said the Timaru Borough Council alone had something to show. The borough decided to call the land Ataahua 
(beautiful place), where the park on this beautiful part of Timaru is known to all as Maori Park.

        
If the shades of the old native trustees Tamati Tarawhata, Wiremu Takitahi, Te Maiharoa, Pita Korako, Kepa Toeka, Hoani Kahu, Wiratu te kou, Himiona Titok, Whata Uira, and Te Ote Kahu pass by what would be the opinion of their descendants?

        
Within easy motoring distance of Timaru are places with old native rock paintings, which, like those of the Weka Pass in North Canterbury, are the subject of many theories. One thing can be conceded—the work was done either in early Ngati Mamoe days or in the earlier Waitaha period. There is Maori authority for saying the paintings were made by roving bands of the Puhirere. The rock paintings at the Te Ngawai Gorge 
(Te Ana wai) are situated on the Albury Park property four miles from Albury railway station.

        
The painting at Cave are on Dog's Head Rock half a mile 

from Cave railway station. The paintings at Hanging Rock (Noah's Ark) are at the north end of the bridge over the Opihi River. At Leys the paintings are on the south bank of the Opihi River half a mile above Hanging Rock. The paintings at Hazelburn are nine miles north-east of Cave. There are paintings at Raincliff, three miles north of Hazelburn.

        
During January 1931, Professor Speight and the writer's friend H. McCully inspected the various sites of moa hunters'camps, and places with rock paintings. Some of the places were Waitaki Mouth, Kakahu, Otaia, Gray Hills, Temuka and Upper Pareora. There are quite a number of sites at Upper Pareora with these remarkable paintings particularly that portion known as Frenchman's Gully. Duntroon and other places of the Waitaki watershed have also a number of interesting paintings to show.

        
The Timaru Borough Council during January 1943, in conjunction with the South Canterbury Chamber of Commerce paid a visit of inspection to the rock paintings at Raincliff, which are situated on a rock bay 30 feet long. Rock paintings are supposed to be protected by Act of Parliament, and any appearance of vandalism requires prompt checking.

        
On August 9th, 1943, the Oamaru Presbytery with the Right Rev Moderater J. G. Laughton and the Rev. J. T. V. Steele as speakers called attention to the value archaeologically of the ancient rock paintings, and as a result the Mackenzie County Council made representations to the New Zealand Government for enforcement of the law.

        
Pareora according to the late 
James Cowan (1937) should be Pureora, "
a sacred ceremony for the recovery of the sick". Mr Johannes Andersen about the same time called attention to the name Te Nga wai being correctly Te Ana wai, quoting as authority Rawirri Te Maire and Hoani Kahu. Tangi harakeke was the name of an old kainga and eeling place at Coal Creek 
(Nga Waro) between Cave and Albury. Manahune is Mackenzie Creek and the Whalesback is Te Horo where the traveller is on the verge of the Mackenzie Plains.

        
Hare Kokoro of Temuka has asserted that for many ages the Maoris were well acquainted with the Mackenzie Country and the Upper Waitaki, which parts were brought to the notice of Europeans by the Highland Reiver Mackenzie. Greenstone tools have been found alongside Maori ovens at Haldon, Jack's Creek, Simon's Hill and Boulton Gully situated on the north-east side of Lake Pukaki. Judging by the number of fractured skulls found at a hollow near Black Forest, warfare was not unknown on the Mackenzie Plains.

        
When the site for the Mount Hay homestead was being cleared in 1858 old Maori fishermen's whares were still standing. The Maoris used to have a quartz quarry at Gray Hills, where the Ngai Tahu possessed a small pa. The Maoris as recently 

as 1889 brought down from Lake Pukaki 3 tons of preserved birds.

        
Gray Hills saw a conflict between the Ngai Tahu and the Ngati Mamoe, and a gossiping woman named Hinekato was the cause of the strife. Tu te Urutira and Kahore of the Ngati Mamoe were slain at Opuha, inland from Geraldine, and their companions were caught up with and killed at Gray Hills, 
(Tau whare kura). Revenge for the slaying of the chiefs Tu te Urutira and Kahore was exacted by Wahakai, who also slew the gossiping woman Hine kato.

        
It has been stated at various times that Lake Tekapo should be Takapo and Lake Ohau as Ohou. As both forms are good Maori words, and from the fact that in the first documents both forms were used, it is now absolutely impossible to dogmatise to-day. Burkes Pass is Te Kopi Opihi, the islet in Lake Tekapo was Motu ariki. Lake Alexandrina is Taka-moana and Lake Macgregor has for its Maori name Whakarukumoana.. Mount Cook was named Aorangi by an arrival by the Arai te uru Canoe; Mount Tasman is Horo koau, Mount Sefton is Maunga atua, Mount Cook Range is Kirikiri katata, and the lowest peak of Mount Cook is Aroaro haihe. These mountains represent persons who arrived by the Arai te uru Canoe, which was wrecked near 
Shag Point in North Otago.

        
The Maoris of South Canterbury visiting the Upper Rangitata invariably journeyed there by proceeding up the Opihi River to Raincliff, 
(Hurutini) and then going up the Opuha and over a saddle and down the Forest Creek 
(Totara) to the Rangitata River near where Ben McLeod Station now stands. It is extremely unlikely that the Maoris journeyed over the Dennistoun or other of the headwater saddles to Westland.

        
There is some possibility of the Sealey Pass at the head of the Godley Glacier further south having been used, as green-stone tools have been found at the head of Sealey Pass. Moreover it is known that despite its high elevation and the crevasses on the Godley Glacier, over four dozen European men and women have made the cross trip without Government tracks to help them. What Europeans could do, so could Maori explorers.

        
At Lake Ohau 
(place of wind) about 1750 A.D. stood a Ngati Mamoe Pa. This settlement was attacked by a section of the Ngai Tahu Tribe led by chiefs Te Kaimutu and Tawhiri ruru. They managed to kill Pohowera and others. Te Rakitauhopo the son of Pohowera gathered together his friends and they slew both Te Kaimutu and Tawhiri ruru. The Ngai Tahu decided to even up matters, and a taua was sent to Ohau, which proved successful. Te Rakitauhopo was slain by a spear thrown by a Ngai Tahu lad named Kaunia, just as the Ngati Mamoe chief was escaping. Mr Herries Beattie 

informed me that the lad's reward was permission to marry Te Hau Maiia, the grand-daughter of Kaweriri 
(this chief was slain in battle in Southland by the Ngati Mamoe chief Tutemakohu).

        
The traditional wanderings of Tamatea the explorer of six centuries ago included a trip to the 
West Coast from Lake Ohau—the route being from Lake Ohau via the Hopkins River, Huxley River, over the pass, down to the Otoko River and on to its junction with the Paringa River, following that stream to the coast. Opokia was an old time kainga, at the south eastern shores of Lake Ohau, Te Wakapapa was another village in the same locality, and Rua taniwha is Ben Ohau.

        
Europeans who know the back country are sceptical of it ever having been universally used by the Maoris, and the same remark applies even more strongly to the printed statements that the Maoris used the Whitcombe Pass at the headwaters of the 
Rakaia (despite its low altitude).

        
The Maoris in their food-gathering expeditions frequently crossed over the saddles from the Upper Rangitata to the Upper Ashburton, to the Upper 
Rakaia Valleys. The Clent Hills were called Uhi, the Stour River was Matakou, and the small tarns known as the Maori Lakes were called collectively Otuwharekai. Lake Heron and its outlet stream to the 
Rakaia were Oturoto. Lake Tripp or Clearwater was Punataka, Lake Howard or Camp was Otautari, Lake Acland or Emma was Kirihonuhonu, Lake Denny was Otamatako and Lake Roundabout was Otuharekai. Near Double Hill by a lagoon and on the south side of the Rakaia River almost opposite to the Mathias Junction, the Maoris had a seasonal kainga named Toki nui, where the totara posts were visible until the early nineties 
(when the timber was removed for European fencing). Mount Somers is Koi koi, Mount Winterslow is Opihako, Alford Forest is Te Makaha and Mount Hutt is Opuke.

        
At Staveley near Mount Somers there is a tapu tree. Through successive Ngati Mamoe and Ngai Tahu chiefs touching it, the tree had absorbed much "
mana" and was in consequence very sacred. The Ngai Tahu named the tree Hine Paaka, a memorial to the wife of Maru. The present day European residents state the tree is now a dead skeleton, but they would not remove it until this is absolutely necessary.

        
Mount Peel which overshadows the Peel Forest district on the south side of the Rangitata is Tarahaoa, and Geraldine with its old time forest was Rau kapuka. Returning to the coast, there is the Otutohukai Creek draining into the Washdyke Lagoon, and the former lagoon named Waimataitai (now drained) on the north side of Timaru.

        
At Caroline Bay when the native reserve was set aside there was situated a spring called Ponui-a-hine, a name imported from 
Hawaiki. Te Aitarakihi is the commencement of the Ninety Mile Beach. At Dashing Rocks quite an 

assortment of Maori curios have been found. The Otipua Lagoon south of Timaru has been drained—the old time settlements there were Tipua and Hine te kura. Pititi is the point south of Timaru on which the lighthouse stands, and Te Motu motu the old canoe landing.

        
Jack's Point, three miles south of Timaru, is usually known to the Maoris as Paparoa, though there is some evidence that the original name was Ohinekaweau. Otaoka is the vicinity of St. Andrews, where the firebrand Ngai Tahu chief Taoka possessed a pa. Wherever that worthy dwelt, trouble brewed for someone! Otaia is the correct spelling of the place now named Otaio, and a stream south of it is the Owhatawhata.

        
Te Whanga a Kohika a lagoon south of Otaia was visited by 
Edward Shortland in January 1844. The north branch of the Makikihi River is the Makihikihi-wai-pakihi and the south branch is the Makihikihi-wai nui. The Hook River is the Waiariari; Pighunting Creek is to the Maoris the Wharetane-whiwhi. At the Upper Hook the Maoris used to have bird-catchers' camps.

        
The Native Reserve No. 907 (Puhakati), at the mouth of the Hook River at the Wainono Lagoon contains 20 acres, and the Native Reserve No. 906, at the south end of the Wainono Lagoon has an area of 10 acres. Native Reserve No. 891, on the beach south of the Waihao River, known as Waikawa contains 156 acres.

        
Native Reserve No. 903 at Waihao (Morven) contains 500 acres and is known as Raukawa. Reserve No. 880 is Tauhinu or Te Kapa's Pah on the Waitaki River has an area of 23 acres. No. 904, west of Waimate has an area of 30 acres, and No. 888 at Waimate contains 40 acres. The Maoris possess also a very small camping reserve north of Waitaki Mouth. The halfcastes' lands at Glenavy cover approximately 450 acres. Practically all the Maori population south of Timaru now dwell at Waihao 
(Morven). Oteheni is the site of the present fishing camp on the north side of the mouth of the Waitaki River. According to information gleaned by the writer the place is named after a woman who flourished there about 150 years ago. The statement has however appeared more than once in print that the name commemorates a male survivor from the Arai te uru Canoe wrecked centuries ago. Te Ruakoaro is the mouth of the Waimate Creek or close nearby. Ohari is the name of the stream near Studholme Junction.

        
During 1941 the writer spent a week in the Waitaki district endeavouring to locate the old Maori haunts. It proved a difficult task as European drainage work, etc., has altered the whole appearance of the country near the coast. The country on the south side of the Willowbridge Stream was called Punatarakio, where stood a pa named Ko te Kaiatiatua. Its 

chiefs were Kaikaia waro and Te Karara, and they controlled the lives of two hundred people. The back-wash arm of the Waihao Estuary was called Takiri twa, and was a favourite duck-catching place. The mouth of the Punatarakio Creek was the abode of a taniwha. The pa was originally built by Hateatea, the name being the same as the site of the native cemetery on the North Road between Kaiapoi and Woodend in North Canterbury.

        
The base of the low hills which separate the valley of the Waihao and Waitaki was called Marokura. Somewhere on it was situated Te Umu-a-te-Rakitauneke. The late 
Mr W. H. S. Roberts of Oamaru stated some forty years ago that human flesh was roasted at the oven of Te Rakitauneke, and karakia 
(prayers) were always said there by Maori travellers to ensure a safe journey by placating the spirits. The custom was called uru-uru-whenua. Te Rotopateke is the swamp at Dogkennel Creek. The borough of Waimate occupies the site of a seasonal settlement of the Maori people, indeed nearly all the so-called kaingas such as Tauhinu came under the same category.

        
Te Waimate mate was the full name of Waimate when first settled by Europeans, though the natives referred to the place as Kaherehire. The Creek from the Waimate Gorge is the Wai kokopara, the name being derived from that of an indigenous fish that abounded in its waters. From a paper tracing made by the survey or Samuel Hewlings it was possible to give the Maori name of Kelcy Bush which is Te Wai-ki-a Te Maiheraki, as a chief of the name Te Maiheraki camped there beside flowing water and not oozing trickles as at Waimatemate. Waimate Gorge is Huruhia kaiua. The find of moa bones at the Kapua Swamp at Arno was a goldmine to archaeological folk in 1896.

        
The Maoris opened a Centennial Runanga Hall at Morven on January 15th, 1941, Mr George Dash, Mayor of Waimate, being the principal speaker. Mr H. Wixon, a Maori elder, opened the hall, which was built by Mr J. Scoringe. A patriotic eel drive held at Lake Wainono during February 1941, by the Maoris, resulted in 2,500 eels being taken and preserved for sending overseas to the Maori soldiers at the World War.

        
The Maoris at the time of European settlement had a small kainga in the vicinity of Point Bush complete with church and meeting house. The site was above Huruhuru's Monument, and was called Tutekawa. Point Bush was named Titipa, and Urutane is the well known hill near Waimate.

        
On June 11th, 1867, Native Commissioner A. Mackay, approached the Waimate School Committee to educate the Maori children. The Native Department of the Government offered to subsidise a native school by £3 for every £1 subscribed, but the Maoris held aloof. Mr W. McClune of the Waimate Public School offered to teach the Maori children 

free, but the Maori parents would not entertain the scheme. On November 13 th, 1868, Mr McClune informed the Secretary of the Native Department that the chief Horomona Pohio had told him "
He did not like, too late, he believed in receiving money, so why did the Government not pay him." Another Maori remarked, "
Why not the white man send his children to a Maori School and learn Maori?"

        
Horomona Pohio, who passed away on March 12 th, 1880, was a Native Assessor and a staunch Wesleyan Methodist, and when his land was subdivided, he caused a section to be reserved on which to erect a church. The land was purchased by him in 1862, the first subdivision took place on February 18th, 1879, and further subdivisions have taken place until recent years. Native Commissioner Alexander Mackay on December 25th, 1868, visited the Maori kainga near Point bush, Waimate and reported favourably on the state of their ten dwelling whares.

        
On July 18th, 1854, Michael Studholme arrived at Waimate, and contacted Huruhuru, the paramount chief of the district. He was welcomed, and on February 1st, 1855, he took up the Waimate Run. At that time the Maori population numbered fifty. 
Edward Shortland met Huruhuru at Puna a maru on January 10th, 1844 and had his services as guide until they parted at Waiho five days later. Huruhuru furnished 
Shortland with a map of the Waitaki watershed. The Maori chief was highly spoken of by 
Shortland.

        

Commissioner W. B. D. Mantell visited the Waitaki in 1852 and was not impressed with either Huruhuru or his friend Rakitawini whom he states were wantonly destroying bush to spite the Europeans. 
Commissioner Mantell praised Te Whare-korari of the Hakataramea kainga on the other hand. The Messrs, Studholme and other early settlers of Waimate owed much to the kindness of Huruhuru. At the Maori Cemetery near Point Bush the Borough of Waimate has erected a monument to the memory of Huruhuru, who had first qualifications to be considered a member of the Ngai Taoka hapu of the Ngai Tahu Tribe. He went north with the Ngai Tahu to 
Marlborough when Te Rauparaha suffered defeats. When the northern forces under Te Puoho captured the pa at Hawea, Huruhuru successfully escaped to the Waitaki.

        
At the sitting of the 
Native Land Court held at Temuka in February 1935, the alienation of Sub-division 5 of the Waimate Native Reserve No. 888 containing the grave of Huruhuru, without restrictions was confirmed by the Waimate Borough Council. The Europeans of Waimate are appreciative of the Maori race, and show it in practical form. Maori-designed shelters for visitors in various parts of the Borough brighten its appearance. The Carved Maori House in Seddon Square, Waimate was officially opened on October 17th, 1929. The carvings were executed by carvers of the Arawa Tribe of 

Rotorua. The arch at the gates of Manchester Park, Waimate, built wholly of concrete and depicting Maori art was unveiled on August 9th, 1934. The compliments to the Maori race were reciprocated also in 1934 when Charles Thomas Huruhuru, grandson of the chief (who, tattooed and paralysed, died in 1861), laid the Waimate Borough Jubilee Memorial Stone.

        
On the north bank of the Waitaki River stood a pa named Takiharakeke, which Te Rakitauneke, the Ngati Mamoe chief, built after he left the Temuka district. A Ngai Tahu chief named Huruhuru 
(not the Waimate celebrity) set forth to capture the place. Te Rakitauneke was away strolling when he was clubbed and left for dead, but he recovered and managed to warn his warriors at Takiharakeke. The men of Takiharakeke fought well against the Ngai Tahu, who, seeing what they took to be the ghost of Te Rakitauneke, turned and fled. Huruhuru made for the Waitaki near Warokuri, plunging into the waters at the place which bears his name, narrowly missing being speared by the Ngati Mamoe. The spot is clearly marked in early maps as Te Papaka o huruhuru, a reminder of an event of 300 years ago. Te Parekura was a pa up stream from Takiharakeke.

        
The Maoris had a ford over the Waitaki River near the confluence of the Otematata Stream. At the Goose Neck 
(Te Pire a whakataka kura), there are rock paintings, also at Sheppard's Creek 
(Pari karangaranga). Te Kaika tahu was an old village below Te Kara, where the Europeans built a stone protective wall. When 
Commissioner W. B. D. Mantell visited Hakataramea in 1852, he found a small kainga where dwelt Te Wharekorari, the wife Tuapuka with their children and relatives Wharekorari helped 
Mantell in his duties, and a reserve of 150 was recommended. A. Domett, Colonial Secretary notified 
W. B. D. Mantell on April 6th, 1853, of the New Zealand Governments approval, and in addition instructed the Commissioner to make a present worth £10 to the chief.

        
The Canterbury Provincial Government sanctioned the reserve but by an oversight, His Honour, the Superintendant of Canterbury neglected to make the Proclamation. The reserve was made temporary on September 10th, 1862, and confirmed on October 29th, 1862. When Commissioner Alexander Mackay visited the locality in April 1868, he found that all the good portion of the Hakataramea Reserve had been sold as European freehold or under pre-emptive right. The General Government in an endeavour to right matters purchased at a cost of £300 land at Waikawa on the Lower Waitaki. The new reserve there was allotted to Rawiri Te Maire and other relatives of Whare korari on November 1st, 1870. The exchange was evidently not satisfactory as the Maoris continued to visit the vicinity of Station Peak hunting weka. In 1870, 

three tons of preserved birds were brought down to Waimate.

        
The Middle Island Native Claims Commission of 1891 records the Maori view point when evidence was given at Waitaki by Tahiti, Hemi Paiki, Tamati Toko and others on March 18th, 1891. The following are extracts: "
All the old mahinga kai are taken by the pakeha" "The Waitaki is not available to us owing to its being stocked with trout," "Some of us were nearly put in gaol through catching weka on the runs, as the station owners stated they wanted them for game, but afterwards the wekas were killed off with poison." Te Haka tarewa is now called Akatarewa.

        
In 1866 a chief named Rauki ran a ferry boat over the Waitaki near Maerewhenua. On the east bank of the Pukaki River near its junction with the Tekapo once stood a village called Rauru (rustling leaves) named after an ancester of the South Island Maoris, namely Toi. Puna kotuku is Station Peak. The Maoris used flax rafts extensively on the Waitaki River.
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A Legend of the 
Rakaia Gorge
        

        
To the best of the writer's knowledge not one tourist or historical book, or magazine, has recorded the legend of the 
Rakaia Gorge, known only to a few settlers of long ago.

        
Fighting Hill, in the 
Rakaia Gorge above Windwhistle, does not refer to an old-time Maori battle as might be presumed. Past Maoris in their legends tell the stories in a figurative way. This narrative refers to the frequent north-west wind being broken in velocity, and halted largely in further destructive progress, as it come in conflict with a wind blowing towards the west across the Canterbury Plains.

        
A taniwha used to dwell near where the Acheron homestead now stands. He had cultivations there, and in addition for food, he captured the gigantic bird known as the moa, the weka, and other feathered game (although the moa no longer exists, his bones and his gizzard stones can still be found in the locality).

        
The possessions of the taniwha were exceedingly tapu, and any interfering visitors suffered accordingly. However, if left alone, the taniwha did not cause harm to anyone.

        
One very cold day the taniwha journeyed away to find a hot spring in which to warm himself. While away, a demon personified in the form of a violent north-west wind, came down the 
Rakaia from the Main Divide, and flattened out the property of the taniwha. The latter individual, ever industrious, returned and re-established everything, but at the same time determined to outwit the north-west demon, and protect the possessions from any future destruction planned by the evil deity.

        
The taniwha journeyed up to the mountains and brought down huge stones and boulders with which he hoped to halt or even imprison the demon. With the stones and boulders the course of the 
Rakaia was narrowed so that it flowed contorted between two rocky walls. The keystone of the taniwha's gigantic task remains today as the rock island which acts as a portion of the 
Rakaia Gorge bridge.

        
The evil one, the north-west wind, in his struggle to have a clear strong pathway to the plains, became so warm that the heat from his body melted the snow on the mountains. The taniwha in forming his barrier to the demon's progress also 

suffered a heated body, and the perspiration fell so hot on the stones and boulders that they were blistered. The proof is that today you can find rock crystal in the bed of the 
Rakaia river.

        
The taniwha and the north-west demon proved a well-matched pair. They still have their little differences but on the whole we can now consider them fairly good friends and it is well that such is the case as it benefits us now dwelling on the Canterbury Plains.

        
Such is the story of Fighting Hill.
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Maori Associations of

North Otago
        

        
The Waitaki River is the counterpart of the River Tweed of Great Britain, dividing as it does English Canterbury from Scottish 
Otago. At its mouth on the 
Otago side there once existed a native settlement named Korotuaheka, its history going back to the unrecorded past. Its site is now the happy hunting grounds of archaeologists. Though hundreds of old flints, adzes and moa bones have been unearthed, except to the scientist with his pet theories and writings to the Polynesian Journal, a layman in the year 1944 can not be other than a little impressed.

        
During January 1931, Messrs H. S. McCully, A. G. Hornsey and D. Teviotdale were excavating at Korotuaheka. H. S. McCully, who hails from Peel Forest, conducted 60 Maoris of South Canterbury over the site during January 1936. Messrs D. Teviotdale, Philip George and Lindsay Buick during January 1937 were working over the ground and during April 1937, Messrs D. Teviotdale and G. H. Smith were likewise employed. Although Mr H. S. McCully has disposed of hundreds of stone implements to the Museums, he has still some 5,000 specimens in his collection.

        
The writer would commend the reader to read the unorthodox views of Mr H. S. McCully, which somehow or other have been allowed to appear in the Polynesian Journals of 1941 and 1943. His views are the most convincing yet expounded. Messrs Larnach and J. Herries Beattie visited Korotuaheka but their views have not been publicly expressed.

        
A few years ago a so-called "Mystery Stone" was unearthed near the old burial place. This occasioned much speculation, however analysis proved it was composed of consolidated ash from a permanent fire. The Korotuaheka Reserve of 489 acres was set aside for the natives at Chief Judge Fenton's Land Court, at 
Dunedin in 1868, being sections 12, 13 and 14 of Block 8, Papakaiao Survey District. The trustees were Matiaha Tiramorehu, Henare Maupara, Arama te Whatakaraka, Rawiri te Mamaru and Teone Rehu. In 1879 the Maoris appealed to the New Zealand Government to be given extra land as the Waitaki River had scoured away an area of 200 acres of the reserve.

        
In 1916 the Maori Land Board sanctioned the leasing of the reserve to a pakeha at 4/-d. per acre, and a few years 

later that body allowed a sale by the Maoris at £3 per acre. Mr Chapman is the present owner, and he generously allows one Maori lady to reside on her tribal land. A right of way is reserved to the Maori cemetery in compliance with the Native Lands Act of 1930. In the seventies at Korotuaheka, Te Maiharoa started a whare kura or school of learning in a building called Matiti. Te Maiharoa received instruction in tohungaism from Piripi, a visiting tohunga from the North Island. Te Maiharia's fame for performing miracles is still common knowledge in South Canterbury and North Otago.

        
In 1944, little evidence can be observed of the existence of Te Maiharoa's kainga. Of the prior settlement abandoned probably two hundred years ago the bones and stone implements remain. 
James Cowan in 1937 truly remarked in the Christchurch Star: "
Archaeology is of less importance than tribal history and traditions in assessing the duration of Maori and pre-Maori occupations of New Zealand. One wave of primitive race migrations after another might pass and leave little or no material trace behind."

        
Off the mouth of the Waitaki River is a rock named Te Whakatiki a Taarehu. According to information supplied in 1902 by Riria Potiki and Wi Pokuku, the rock represents a female survivor from the wreck of the Arai te uru Canoe. The lady was a sister to Maunga atua, a male survivor from the same famous canoe. Tradition says that a canoe commanded by a warrior named Matua hai tiri was wrecked at Waitaki Mouth. Survivors also became natural features of North Otago. Puke uri Junction is named after Puke ure an individual who landed from the Arai te uru wreck 
and is now a hill.

        
A small fight between the Waitaha and Ngati Mamoe tribes is said to have taken place at Puke uri. Of this skirmish we have no particulars. The probability is the hapu of the Waitaha dwelling at Makotuku-tuku Pa at Cape Wanbrow near Oamaru were contestants in the particular fray. Te Raki whaitiri and Te Ika o Puku are places at Waitaki Mouth.

        
In Ngai Tahu times the country from the Waitaki south to 
Shag Point and inland to Lakes Hawea and Wanaka was the land of the Ngati kane hapu. The sea beach from Oamaru to Waitaki is called Mimihanui. The Natural Arch at Cape Wanbrow is Tau Raka. This vicinity has yielded many curios of Waitaha times. The beach from Cape Wanbrow to Kakaunui is Whakoata. Allday Bay is Orore. Travelling south by road or rail the Wai anakama River presents a scene which charms. 
Mr W. H. S. Roberts interprets the name "
where two waters meet". Mr Herries Beattie translates as "
the creek of Naka rua". Te Kuri is the well-known stream at Hampden. Ka tiki is now corrupted to "Kartigi". 
Shag Point is Matakaea 
(wandering gaze) where stood (for over 200 years) until 1845, 

a pa of the Ngati kane hapu of the Ngai Tahu Tribe. Matahaere, who was a grandfather of Tame Parata, 
m.p., once held sway there.

        
On November 11th, 1879, Tikini Pahau and others protested to the New Zealand Government that the 
Shag Point Colliery had in construction of its branch railway cut through the old burial place called Whateparaerae. The name Waituapapa is applied to the Katiki Beach. Tuckett, the surveyor visited Matakaea on April 20th, 1844. Pakateaio is that portion of the 
Shag Point Peninsula facing the Waihemo (Shag River). Ohinemaru is Bushy Park just north of Palmerston South. 
Moeraki, a mile or so distant from Hillgrove 
(Waipouri) railway station and situated midway between the towns of Hampden and Palmerston South, embodies over a century of European occupation. The latter dates from December 26th, 1836, when John Hughes accompanied by 
William Isaac Haberfield, Peter Sivatt, John Thompson, Richard Burn and John Knox established a whaling station, several of these whalers taking to themselves Maori wives.

        
When the Europeans first arrived, 
Moeraki was the home of Tangatahara and a few other 
Banks Peninsula natives who fled there after the fall of Onawe. With the advent of European settlement on 
Banks Peninsula these natives returned to their former home. Maoris from Kaiapoi led by Matiaha Tira-morehu came south and occupied 
Moeraki. Matiaha Tiramorehu died on April 7th 1881, and was interred at the Old Maori Cemetery at the old kainga. Other leaders were Rawiri Te Mamaru who died in 1887, and Henare Mauhara who passed away in 1899.

        
The Maoris of 
Moeraki became Christians in the forties through the efforts of the Wesleyan missionaries of old Waikouaiti. The Maoris possessed a printing press and printed their own religious notices. Dissension followed as the result of the visit of Bishop Pompallier, Roman Catholic missioner; and later in June 1843, when the Maori Anglican natives Matene Te Whi whi and Wiremu Tamihane arrived on the scene.

        
Bishop Selwyn held Anglican services in January 1844, in 1848 and 1851 at John Hughes's home. 
Moeraki then became the seat of strong sectarian bitterness. A Whare kura (school of learning) was conducted by Matiaha Tiramorehu at 
Moeraki right up to 1868. When the hall named "Uenuku" was built, the old whare kura building was burnt down. The kitchen of the Uenuku Hall, named after one of the wives of the ancestor Uenuku, is Wairututai. The writer carries memories of the old hall "Uenuku" with one of the last graduates of the Whare kura sitting on its doorstep endeavouring to instill the old learning into reluctant Maori listeners. The old worthy was Herewina Ira (Selwyn Eli) then about 75
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years old (that was in 1905). He was more or less a cripple as the result of a fall, but the remarkable feature about him was that his face bore the old system of tattoo, namely two narrow horizontal lines across the cheeks from ear to ear. He could recite his genealogy back fifty generations to Maui, who arrived in the Mahunui Canoe. Selwyn Eli presented his taiaha to my friend Felix Mitchell of Ravensbourne, 
Dunedin, a reward for his listening. The taiaha has since been presented to the Otago Museum. Selwyn Eli was converted by Bishop Selwyn.

        

W. B. D. Mantell, Land Purchase Commissioner, visited 
Moeraki in January 1849, and dealt principally with the chiefs Paitu and Tira Morehu. When the Native Reserve was being apportioned on December 20th, 1861, the leading men were Matiaha Tiramorehu, Henare Mauhara, Arama Haraka Te Watakaraka, Wateni Iki and Natanahira Waruwarutu. Matiaha Tiramorehu was baptised by the 
Rev. James Watkin, on July 30th, 1843.

        
The Maori population of early 
Moeraki fluctuated, in 1844 it was 200, in 1861 only 64, and 1869 it was 100.The reserve is of 640 acres. In 1868, the 
Moeraki Maoris were allowed an extra 322 acres up at Kaiapoi. The North Otago Daily Times of December 26th, 1895, called attention to the deterioration of the Old 
Moeraki Kainga. A few months earlier part of an old burial-ground was allowed to be washed away by the sea. The pa was finally abandoned in 1907, the Maoris moving into the European fishing village.

        
A Maori Court of Justice was held at 
Moeraki during August 1871. A native who was found guilty of stealing a pig belonging to 
William Isaac Haberfield was called upon to forfeit a mare and foal and pay £11 court expenses. Rawiri Te Mamaru was appointed Native Assessor at 
Moeraki on September 13th, 1861. Teone Rene Te Mamaru was made Native Assessor on March 6th, 1888.

        
The battle of Te Raka-a-hene-atea was fought between the Ngati Wairua and the Ngati Whaitara, a few chains from the 
Moeraki Lighthouse. It was at this battle that the warrior Kiri ma hinahina was slain and his body cooked and eaten by Te Wera and his friends. An aged 
Moeraki Maori requested me to make little of this fight as his folk were ashamed of practically massacring a bunch of old men. The next fight took place between the Ngati kane and Ngati tuahuriri near the railway line at Katiki and is called the fight of Takakopa. This was an intertribal affair occasioned by the actions of the quarrelsome Taoka who caused no end of mischief in the Ngai Tahu Tribe from Kaikoura southward. At Omihi near Kaikoura, Taoka's son had successfully wrestled with the son of Tawha ki te Raki. Not content, Taoka had made his son insult his opponent by placing his foot on his head. Long after, 

Taoka remarked that Tawha ki te Raki was too fat to fight. The challenge was taken up by the northerners, who went south, but were repulsed. The leaders on the southern side were Taoka, Te Hau, Wheke, Puaka, Rehui; on the northern side Tawha ki te Raki Matauira, Te Hine Kapo, Pokeko and Parakiore. The northerners would have won the fight had not a section of their party emulated a Highland clan at Culloden by remaining sullen observers. Parakiore was an athlete and runner and exceeded his best performance when chased by Te Hau. He out-distanced his pursuer even though handicapped by having to carry his wife to safety on his back.

        
Some of the place names on 
Moeraki Peninsula may be given. These were collected from Henare Rehu, Wiremu Rehu, Wanaka Weka, Hamiora Tipene and others during short visits to 
Moeraki during the years 1906, 1907 and 1908. Omurahi was the site of the home of the late Wanaka Weka, who passed away in 1943. Pakitua was a rise on the Rehu property. Mahiti koura and Porou were places in the same locality. The site of the old kainga is Koraro tahuri. Waipepeke was west of the hall. Te kutu o te pa was the gate of the old pa. Te ahi a pokaka was a boundary near the 
Moeraki Lighthouse. Ohinehou a spring named after an ancestor (whose name is also immortalised at Port Lyttelton) is in the same locality. A ridge on the way to the old kainga is Tawha karuru.

        
The lagoon at the south-west end of 
Moeraki Peninsula was Wanu tui tui. The ridge west of the old kainga is Te kai wahia, and the beach south of it is Tutakahukura. It is named after a chief from Pohatu Pa, Flea Bay, 
Banks Peninsula. The southern point of Tutakahukura Beach is Te-upoko-a Paitu, and is named after Paitu the chief who with Tira Morehu dealt with 
W. B. D. Mantell, Land Commissioner in 1849. Te Kohere patiki is a point further south, and the creek is Te Awa hohonu. Raumoa and Puketiraki are hills on 
Moeraki Peninsula. In the vicinity of Kawa Creek mouth is an old canoe landing place.

        
There are five old burial-places on 
Moeraki Peninsula: Kihipuku, Kawa, Tikoraki, Uhi mataitai and Tawhiroko. Wai whero whero is a stream on Hampden Beach near the Nugget Rock (Pukemata) towards Hillgrove. Port 
Moeraki is One kakara. Poutaiki is a hill over towards the 
Moeraki Light-house. Koekohe is a beach to the north of 
Moeraki. Tarere-kautuku is the first bay and point reached coming from Hillgrove. The reef near the lighthouse is Taki a maru, and like the names Oamaru and Punaomaru further north honour an ancestor. Islets off the 
Moeraki Peninsula are Tokatara, Amira and Tutemakohu—the latter named after a famous chief. Beaches are Maukaika, Matua tiki and Kawa kawa.

        
Slightly north of Port 
Moeraki are the famous 
Moeraki boulders. The Arai te uru canoe going south heeled over on 

its side and its cargo was cast ashore. The "waka" itself found its last resting place at the mouth of the Shag River (Waihemo). The reef there is its petrified hull, and a prominent rock is the body of Hipo its navigator. The large boulders on Moeraki Beach are the eel baskets of Hape ka taurake and his slave Puketapu; the smaller boulders are the calabashes which held the water, and the very small stones are the kumeras. Several of the crew got ashore and have become natural features. Puketapu Hill east of Palmerston South is the slave. Puke hiwi tahi, now known by its corrupted name Pukeviti, represents the one-armed captain of the Arai te uru Canoe calling in vain for the return of the twin children of Hekura (the Nga tamariki a Hekura), which are now the Sister Hills, west of Palmerston South. These children were overtaken by the dawn when out gathering firewood, and converted into hills.

        
On December 28th, 1936, a model pa was opened at Port 
Moeraki as a part of the 
Moeraki centennial functions. Grass grows rank over what was once the site of the 
Moeraki kainga. Hakapupu is the original name of the Pleasant River. The site of the Pleasant Valley Sanatorium is Otu tahanga (stand naked). The site of the baths at Akaroa, strange to say, also bears this name. At Goodwood, and Matainaka near Hawksbury, now known as Waikouaiti, are situated old Maori burial-grounds. Kakahu tuna is the name of the creek at Beach Road, Hawksbury (modern Waikouaiti). Mount Watkin called after the pioneer missionary, bears the Maori name of Hikororoa, and honours a Ngati Mamoe chief of that name.

        
Mount Durden is Pahatea, Kaoa kaoa Paikea being the native name of the slopes of Mount Durden. Wai a te ao is Mount Mackenzie, and Rupuku is the name of Mount Royal which, however, bears also the appellation of Rua tu pakahu.

        
From the railway station of modern Waikouaiti looking south-west one can see several miles away Old Waikouaiti now known as Karitane. The Hawksbury Lagoon is Mata inanga and its outlet is Waipaku; Marunihi is the small bay north of Mata inanga Head. Mount Cornish is called Ohine a moa. The Maoris of North Otago journeyed often into the back-blocks to Lakes Hawea and Wanaka, and to the Canterbury lakes of the Waitaki River basin—Ohau, Tekapo and Pukaki; all places of "mahinga kai".

        
Lake Hawea has an area of 45 square miles and is 1,062 feet above sea level. Lake Wanaka has an area of 75 square miles and is 920 feet above sea level. The literal translations of the name Hawea is "
doubt" and of Wanaka "
legend". Te Wai-haka-ata is an alternative name for Lake Wanaka and this means "
mirror waters". The great explorer Rakaihautu, who arrived at the South Island by the Uruao Canoe about 850A.D. with the first Waitaha tribe is credited with the 

formation of Lakes Hawea and Wanaka. The Hawea tribe which has given its name to Hawea lake was perhaps an offshoot of the Waitaha folk. Some traditions say they were a darker race with curly hair and spoke a different language from the Maori, other legends say they were a fairer race. Sifting out the differences it would appear that confusion has taken place; the original inhabitants being confounded with the second Waitaha Tribe who came on the scene centuries later in the Takitimu Canoe to the South Island.

        
According to Canon 
J. W. Stack, the tribe best known as Waitaha arrived from 
Hawaiki by the Arawa Canoe, the main ancestry of the Ngati Mamoe came in the Tokomaru Canoe. The Ngai Tahu trace their ancestry to the Takitimu, Kurahaupo and Matahorua Canoes. The Parata's, father and son so well remembered as M.P's for Southern Maori, have left on record the statement they were descended from an aboriginal people of the Waitaki who were dark and possessed curly hair. These folk were known as the Ngati Rakai; later they were joined by people who hailed from Patea, who claimed descent from Toi, (who arrived in New Zealand about 1125A.D.) Practically every tribe in both islands now trace ancestry in New Zealand to before the Great Arrival from 
Hawaiki in 1350A.D. So all have more or less a Moriori strain; evidences of a Melanesian tar brush can also be traced in the make-up of the Maori people, even in the South Island.

        
At Duntroon rock paintings are situated on a limestone cliff, and also at a rock shelter two miles west of Duntroon close to the main road. These drawings according to the traditions of the Ngati Mamoe Tribe were executed about the 12th Century by folk under Puhi a Rauru. There are several places north and south of the Waitaki showing similar art. At the meeting of the Oamaru Presbytery on August 9th, 1943, the Rev. J. T. Steele, minister at Dunstroon, made reference to the old rock paintings and their preservation. The Right 
Rev. J. G. Laughton, Moderator, considered the work as only early Maori. The Mackenzie County Council approached the New Zealand Government to have the Rock Paintings Caves protected by law. Ka wai kaukau and Otakiroa are the Maori names of these interesting caves aat Duntroon. To the average investigator these paintings were executed much later than the rock drawings of the Weka Pass in Canterbury

        
From information gleaned by 
Edward Shortland in 1843, and by 
W. B. D. Mantell in 1848, the old Maori trail to Lakes Hawea and Wanaka is definitely known. Fuller information in more modern times was obtained by W. H. B. Roberts of Oamaru. Starting at Waitaki Mouth the first stopping place was Te Puna-a-maru, which is situated at the junction of the Awamoko Stream with the main river; the next call was 

Otamareu whenua; the next Otamatakou; the next Makatipu; the next Omarama, which was the scene of a memorable eviction in 1879 A.D.; the next call was Whanaukakino (Wether Range); the next Okahu (Lindis Pass); next Omako; next Tautuku; next Okotane, and finally Lake Hawea. These places mentioned are all in North Otago; however a break across the Waitaki River to places on the South Canterbury side was occasionally made at certain places. Samuel Hewlings, surveyor, had pointed out to him the Maori Reef situated about two miles above the Old Waitaki Ferry, where the Waitaki River runs shallow over a barrier of rock. (Samuel Hewlings eventually became the last Chief Surveyor of the Canterbury Provincial Government and perhaps the most efficient to the present time to hold the office. He was looked upon by the Maoris as a staunch friend.)

        
Tahitowaio was an ancient deserted pa above Te Puna-a-maru. Otekaike and Oteake were occasional stopping places. Kurow should be named Kohu-rau (covered with fog). Te Rihatauriki was the name of an ancient pas near Kohu-rau. The journey to Omarama was made up the Ahuriri River. Through the land grabbing propensities of early run holders the Maoris lost a reserve at Hakataramea set aside by 
W. B. D. Mantell for a hapu under Te Ware korari. The loss of this important place of mahinga kai, and the stringent attitude of the run holders to Maoris hunting weka on their pasturage runs prompted the Maoris of the Waitaki under Te Maiharoa to migrate to Omarama and occupy about 100 acres there, and so force the ussue. The Maoris in 1876, settled on the banks of the Ahuriri River, five miles below the Omarama Sheep Station. On August 9th, 1877, the manager of the Omarama Run, drove a mob of old wethers through the Maori Camp; this had the effect of stampeding the Maoris' horses over on to the Benmore Run, to which place the Maoris then shifted camp.

        
An article inspired by the runholders appeared in the Timaru Herald of February 5th, 1878, stating that the dogs belonging to the Maoris had destroyed 2,000 sheep. In October 1878, D. Sutherland, on behalf of the runholders made the same statement to the Waitaki County Council. Horomona Pohio, the Native Assessor for South Canterbury, who is remembered as a staunch supporter of the Wesleyan Church at Waimate, and a man of unquestionable integrity, stoutly denied the accusations. Of the runholders concerned, the Hon. R. Campbell and Son in 1877. only owned 250,000 acres, comprised of Benmore, Ohau, Otekaike, Station Peak and smaller runs. Trouble beween run holders and the Maoris was evidently burning in 1865; as Mr Hunter Brown, (then the Native Commissioner for the South Island), wrote to the Canterbury Provincial Government questioning the legality of treating Maori weka hunters as trespassers. He based his 

opinion on the wording of the terms by which the runholders were in possession of the land. He put up a good case for the natives, but failed to get a hearing.

        
The writer had 100,000 documents of the Canterbury Provincial Government pass through his hands and it is remarkable that in the closely settled areas adjacent to Maori kaingas no complaints are recorded of sheep destruction by the dogs of the Maoris. Complaints by Maoris against European neighbours are on the other hand frequent, and moreover supported by such men as Doctors Donald and Rayner, Messrs J. W. Hamilton, B. W. Woolcombe and the 
Rev. J. W. Stack. The Hon. Mr Sheehan, the Native Minister of the short lived Liberal Government of 
Sir George Grey, gave the Maoris notice to quit Omarama, only allowing them sufficient time to harvest their cultivations.

        
On October 29th, 1878, the Hon. R. Campbell, and Mr F. G. Dalgety (who was the leaseholder of the Omarama Run), appealed to the New Zealand Government to have the Maoris evicted. The order of eviction had been issued the previous month, but the Hon. Mr Sheehan was reluctant to force the matter. However on August 9th, 1879, the Government had twelve armed mounted police and seventeen armed men from the Benmore and Omarama Runs sent to carry out by force the eviction. The Europeans were in charge of Inspector Thompson of 
Otago. The Maoris were equally determined to fight, but bloodshed was avoided through the influence of Horomona Pohio who had sent a close relative of his own ahead of the Europeans pleading with the Maoris to retire quietly back to Waitaki Mouth. The Maoris carried out the wishes of their chief. Slowly fifty Maoris with their wives, children and little worldly belongings trekked back in carts and on foot to Waitaki Mouth, leaving forever Omarama which for centuries had been a home of their ancestors.

        
Perhaps with some knowledge in his mind of the Highland Clearance in his beloved Scotland, D. Gordon Macdonald of 
Dunedin had willow trees planted to mark the site of the Maori eviction. These trees can still be seen below Omarama Junction. During the period of Maori occupation Te Maiharoa their leader conducted a whare kura 
(school of learning), at a whare called "Te Waka a ahua a raki". The runs on and surrounding the scene of the eviction were cut up for closer settlement by the Liberal Governments led by the 
Hon. R. J. Seddon and the 
Hon. J. G. Ward respectively, from 1906 onwards. Paritea, is the name of a landslip near Omarama and was the site of an intertribal skirmish. Te Monoao, is a hill near Omarama, and Tahu-a-arapaoa is the old track.

        
The Maoris journeyed down the Waitaki usually by means of a mokihi 
(flax raft). 
W. B. D. Mantell records such means of travel. From Te Awakamau to Hakataramea took an hour, 

and from the later place to Te Puna-a-maru the raft travel covered four hours. Manuhaea is the name of the isthmus of Lake Hawea, and is the site of an old-time pa of the Ngati Mamoe Tribe. The locality which is near a lagoon on the western arm was made a native reserve of 100 acres by the 
Native Land Court in 1868, for the use of the Maoris of North Otago. Lake Hawea in the forties had a floating island. Te Tawaha a Hawea is the outlet of Lake Hawea. Turahuka at the head of Lake Hawea was the abode of a "taniwha". Pokotauia is a place on the Dingle River. Manuhaea Pa was once the possession of the chief Te Raki, and from this village passed the track to Lake Wanaka via the places known as Makapueko and Whakati.

        
The Hon. Captain Fraser, 
m.l.c., of 
Otago, during the seventies was a strong advocate for placing Maoris as sheep farmers on a large reserve to be given them at Lake Wanaka, but his pleadings were in vain. The evidence of old-time Maori occupation at the Makarore Valley of a permanent nature with large clearings for cultivation was clearly visible when F. F. C. Huddleston in the sixties took up the land. The following are place names at Lake Wanaka and Hawea: Wakanui, foot of Minarets, Lake Wanaka; the Minaret's Burn is Ote whakariki; Ote kotikake is the hill at Rambling Burn; Kotorepi, south of Buchanans Peak on the western shores of Lake Wanaka; Takekararapa, Stevenson's Arm of Lake Wanaka; Mouoiho is Manuka Island; Motutapu is the islet on the lakelet of Manuka Island; Teuhaha is a peak on the eastern shore near Isthmus Inlet; Orokotewhata, the saddle at Isthmus Inlet; Oterahere, is the creek at Teat Ridge; Otuawhiti is Steepburn Creek; Te Marara at Young River; Paekai, creek and bush near the homestead at the head of Lake Wanaka; Otepitoko is Rayburn Creek; Toakarora, is the bay on the western shore of Lake Wanaka near Estuary Burn; Oeuraki, a creek at the head of the Lake as is also Purupatea; Te Waiatakaia is Mount Barker; Ure tarewa is Craig Creek, Lake Hawea; Oternaku, is west of the Hawea River. Upoko Tauia is the site of an old time pa halfway up the Hunter River; Taumakukuhare, is the creek at the north-west side of Lake Hawea. Huripopoiarua is the East Burn.

        
At Pembroke stood the Ngati Mamoe Pa called Parakarehu, where Te Weka, grandson of Tutekawa, led a Ngai Tahu taua about 1710 A.D. and killed the chief Potika-tautahi. The Tautahi Mountains are named after this unfortunate chief. Paekai mentioned previously was the site of a pa. Matukituki (Mount Iron) bears the chief's name. Three miles up the Matukituki River near the Mate tapu creek, stood a pa called Nehe nehe, with its burial ground on a nearby hill. Te Moene of the Ngai Tahu tribe was captured there in 1836, when Te Puoho made his memorable raid from 
Nelson via Westland and 

the Haast Pass to Tuturau near Mataura, where the northeners were overwhelmed.

        
The pas at Lake Wanaka, called Mouwaho and Takikarara, were dealt with by Te Puoho. However at the latter place Te Puoho had three of his warriors slain by the Ngai Tahu. The accounts of Te Puoho's raid although comparatively recent, vary to such a degree that one has to make a personal conclusion. However, from the tangle, it would appear blood was shed at Makarora before some of Te Raki's Ngai Tahu managed to escape to the forests. Some accounts say at Tuturau the struggle was great, others contradict this fact. Mr Lindsay Buick's estimate of thirty northerners killed at Tuturau appears correct.

        
Kaweriri, a son of Turakautahi, who was the founder of Kaiapohia Pa at Woodend in Canterbury, visited Lake Wanaka and Ohau with a Ngai Tahu taua. At Ohau he destroyed the Ngati Mamoe survivors from Weka's raid. He found no adversaries at Lake Wanaka and journeyed on to Southland, where he met the fate he deserved at the hands of Tutemakaho, the great Ngati Mamoe chief.
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Dunedin is singularly fortunate in having on the north line such historically interesting and picturesque holiday resorts as Puketiraki with Karitane, Waitati and Purakaunui. Puketiraki gives acess to Karitane which was the Waikouaiti of the early whaling days. The Native Reserve of Waikouaiti (Reserve No. 13) was set aside in accordance with Kemp's Purchase of the Ngai Tahu Block and then consisted of 1,800 acres. This area was later increased so as to total 3,000 acres. Not another native reserve or settlement in the South Island can compete with Old Waikouaiti for picturesque setting. The Maoris have enhanced their position by maintaining a better standard of living than is usual in most native settlements; this being brought about by an inherent pride of race.

        
From 1905 until 1920 the writer spent a large amount of his leisure time among the Maori people of Old Waikouaiti of whom practically all have now crossed the Great Divide. Memories of their abounding hospitality and brotherly actions however remain. The last full-blood, Hoani Matiu, passed away in June 1944. In no small degree did the following contribute to the writer's note books:—Tame Parata, 
m.p., C. R. Parata, 
m.p., Mr and Mrs Mohi Te Wahia, the Apes Brothers, the Paaka Family, Mrs Harper (Big Mary), George Watkin and Mrs He Kini (popularly known as Mrs Chicken). Mr Ned Parata is probably the last of that old brigade still living.

        
Old Waikouaiti has been the abode of aboriginal people dating back to the dim and misty past. The Waitaha (first of that name), Hawea, Papuwai, Waitaha (second of that name), Ngati Mamoe, and finally the Ngai Tahu Tribe have in turn occupied the locality. Now Old Waikouaiti is being flooded with European week-enders, who like the Maoris appreciate its charms. Merton is the nearest railway station giving access from the north, and is the second such south of modern Waikouaiti.

        
Ta wako o waka is the Maori name of Merton and denotes a canoe landing-place on the Waikouaiti River. Huriawa Peninsula is situated at the mouth of the Waikouaiti River, and consists of a cluster of small hills joined to the mainland by a narrow isthmus (only a few chains wide and 

a few feet in height) with the river running into the sea on the north side into Waikouaiti Bay.

        
Huriawa means the river turned round, and there can be little doubt that the Waikouaiti River once entered the sea on the south side into Puketiraki Bay. Huriawa Peninsula proved an ideal place for a Maori fort. On Huriawa Peninsula the Ngati Mamoe Tribe once had a pa, and its name Pa katata still clings to the outer part. When the Ngai Tahu Tribe forced its way south about 1730A.D. the great Te Wera immediately observed that Huriawa was a fine location for a pa. Te Wera was a chief of the Te Ruahikihiki hapu, and it was not long before his selection was put to the test.

        
Taoka the turbulent, whose mission in life seems to have been to cause the maximum of trouble for his fellow men, found an excuse to attack Te Wera's pa. The reason for the struggle between the two cousins was occasioned by events which had occurred a short time previously at Purakaunui and at Pukekura (
Otago Heads). These events will be dealt with in another chapter. Te Wera beat off all attacks made on his stronghold. After a siege of six months Taoka gave up the effort to capture Huriawa Pa. Te Wera had taken the precaution of fully stocking the commissariat. Moreover a spring within the pa known to this day as Te Puna a Te Wera supplied an abundance of water. Te Wera had denuded the vicinity of Old Waikouaiti of vegetable foods. Taoka's force stationed on the bleak Waikouaiti Spit consequently lacked these necessities and their health gave way.

        
The Maoris of Old Waikouaiti can still recite Taoka's taunt and Te Wera's reply. Taoka camped on the Waikouaiti Spit called out to the besieged:—"
Me whakatiki koutou ki te kai", (We will starve you out). Te Wera replied: "
Ekore ai, e kore! Ekore au e mate i te kai, e kore ma matua whakatakoto ke te Kutu u Toretore—ekore i taea; Engarima te matua mate wai, ka mate ai". (Never, never, We will never die for want of food, neither will we be conquered by the army lying there below the lips of Toretore; You shall never reach us, only by the army of thirst shall we be overcome meaning if the water supply should be cut off).

        
Perhaps the only real anxiety Te Wera had was when one of Taoka's warriors silently entered Huriawa Pa by one of the Blowholes on the Peninsula, and stole away the image of the protecting deity. Taoka held it up defiantly to the inmates of the pa. Hautu, the tohunga of Huriawa Pa, however, by a powerful karakia (prayer) caused the sacred image the following night to return to its rightful place. A similar story is told. When the Maoris of 
Taumutu under Te Rua pu raided Waikouaiti on one occasion the god was taken and conveyed north, but the karakia uttered by the Waikouaiti tohunga caused its return south through space.

        


        
The present inhabitants of Old Waikouaiti are members of the Te Ruahikihiki and Huirapa hapus. The Runanga Hall is named Huirapa and its kitchen bears the name of that chief's wife Maririhau. Runanga halls frequently honour chiefs and their wives in this fashion. The Karitane Domain of 38 acres has its connection with the past. When a party of the Ngai Tahu were visiting 
Otakou by canoe from Canterbury, a chief died when off Waikouaiti, and he was buried ashore. In 1927 Europeans decided to turn the burial site into a children's playground. The Maoris rightly objected and at the 
Native Land Court on July 25th, 1929, Judge Gilfidder upheld the native attitude.

        
During November 1907, several pipi shells which were found on the beach at Karitane, contained shellfish embalmed in mother-of-pearl. Epiha Maaka and Miss Parata were the finders. It was Epiha Maaka in conjunction with Doctor Pomare and Henare Mairi who made the orations at the funeral of Tame Parata, 
m.p., on March 10th, 1917. Taare Parata, 
m.p., passed away on January 8th, 1918, and the funeral service was conducted by the Rev. E. J. Neale of Waikouaiti.

        
Since Old Waikouaiti is a healthy place it appears quite natural that the district produced many persons who lived long past what we term the allotted span. Mrs Ria Te Kini (Chicken) previously mentioned reached the age of 110 years, and was a young woman when the Wesleyan Mission was functioning at Old Waikouaiti. She was tattooed, and was known as a shrewd business woman. She died in July 1919. Mrs Mere Harper (Big Mary) passed away at a ripe old age in June 1924. Hoani Tamahika Matiu born at Old Waikouaiti on November 16th, 1854, passed away on June 4th, 1944. He was a strong supporter of the Ngai Tahu Claim, and on tribal history he was exceptionally valuable to Europeans.

        
Teoti Te Whai who passed away on December 24th. 1891, was aged 105 years, and then there was Mrs Mere Wheikori Te Haoutu, who died at Riverton that same month and year. She left 15 grandchildren and 1 great grandchild. She lived over sixty years at Waikouaiti and was married by Bishop Selwyn. When 
W. B. D. Mantell, Maori Land Purchase Officer, went south in 1848, Miriama Matui had just married her third husband. She nursed Rawiri Te Maire. The lady applied for the old-age pension in September 1899. She was then over 90 years of age. She died on January 29th, 1902.

        
No story of Old Waikouaiti would be complete without reference to the Wesleyan Maori Mission established by the 
Rev. James Watkin on May 16th, 1840. The Rev. Watkin and his successor the 
Rev. Creed converted to Christianity practically every Maori chief of note in the southern districts. The Rev Watkin has left us a good pen picture of such 

worthies as Koroko and Kurakura, chiefs at Old Waikouaiti; and Tangatahara of Wairewa, 
Banks Peninsula. Koroko stated definitely to the Rev. Watkin that he had seen a moa in his youth, and such information has been given by other Maoris of that period in other parts.

        
The site of the old Wesleyan Mission station is marked by blue-gum trees. However it cannot be gainsaid that the Wesleyans did the spade-work in the South Island Maori mission-field, making the task of the other communions easy. It is to be hoped the Rev. Rugby Pratt (or another Wesleyan historian) will publish more fully the history of their missions.

        
The celebrated whaler and trader of the early days, Johnny Jones, donated 64 sections at Old Waikouaiti for the purposes of the Anglican Church. Through the efforts of the Parata family, helped by a grant from the Government, an Anglican Church was built and named Hui te Rangiora 
(the place of heavenly assembly). The church was dedicated by Bishop Nevill in 1873.

        
Education was a feature of the work of the Wesleyan Church in the South Island as the public documents decidedly show. The 
Rev. C. Creed appointed a Mr Feren, an arrival by the Otago Association ship John Wickliffe, as a schoolmaster at Old Waikouaiti. However Mr Feren gave up the teaching profession, and became a runholder in 
Otago. Doctor Cracrome was the first medical practitioner. Matiu Kapene was an early Native Assessor (or J.P.), being appointed such on December 20th, 1862.

        
The native school at Waikouaiti in 1876 was in charge of Mr and Mrs Maloney. In later years they conducted schools on 
Banks Peninsula. In 1878 there were 60 pupils at Waikouaiti Native School, and in 1889 the roll was 34. During the eighties the average annual cost of conducting the school was £240.

        
Of the Old Waikouaiti of the whaling days, either on the Spit or the nearby mainland at the river mouth, nothing in the way of buildings remain. The later-tmentioned portion is now the fishing and holiday resort called Karitane. The word Karitane for forty years and more has been given at least six explanations. The most modern of these is that Karitane is a Maori parody to remember the 
Rev. Creed. Kari—Creed; Tane—Man. None of the old generation held that view. Hoani Matiu stated that it referred to a dance of welcome by men only at Old Waikouaiti when their women folk who usually performed that service were absent. Another explanation was it referred to a drain cut by men in which to trap eels. The fourth version says it signifies a swampy place near the Neck. Fifth, that at one time the district had more than its share of cripples. The sixth story has it that during the siege of Huriawa Pa by Taoka, the stalwarts of the garrison 

slipped out on a fishing expedition leaving only a few wounded (maimed) men to guard the pa. The last-mentioned explanation appears the most satisfactory.

        
Huriawa is correctly the old Ngai Tahu name of the Peninsula; but just as Port Victoria for a time displaced Port Cooper as the name of Lyttelton Harbour, so was the venerable old name of Huriawa placed aside. The name Karitane applied to the real Waikouaiti now-a-days is equally unfortunate. The name Waikouaiti is held by many well-known writers to be a corruption. They maintain the spelling should be Wai kawa iti. However none of the old-time Maori inhabitants held such a view. In a round-about way they stated it signified a tidal peculiarity at the mouth of the Waikouaiti River. The channel of the river lies deep below the tidal mud flats. When the tide is well up these flats are quickly covered with shallow water. On the tide falling the covering water becomes less—the name Waikouaiti is therefore a descriptive one.

        
In 1872 the Maoris of the district made good use of their 3,000 acres of land. They owned 3,500 sheep and 30 horses, and had 350 acres growing wheat and oats. The natives owned 13 ploughs, 10 carts, 3 reaping machines and 2 threshing mills. For many years prior to 1872 the Maoris had to contend with European neighbors allowing sheep and cattle to graze on the native reserve. The protest of the Maoris through their chief Matiu Rapene and the 
Rev. J. F. Riemenschneider was forwarded to the Native Department on March 20th, 1866, with little result.

        
After the memorable siege of Huriawa, Te Wara's old fort was abandoned, and its inhabitants dwelt in kiangas along the Waikouaiti River or overlooking Puketiraki Bay. Te Wera migrated finally to 
Stewart Island where the old warrior died peacefully in his bed, a death he enjoined his sons not to emulate, but to go down fighting as true warriors. This injunction the sons carried out to the letter in the fighting around Colac Bay, Southland.

        
On the north side of Huriawa Peninsula is a small cove or boat harbor called Te Awa Mokihi, where Te Wera's fishing fleet was moored. The gateway to the pa was called Ngutu a Tore tore 
(the lips of Tore Tore): At the west side of Huriawa stood the carved house Kuramatakitaki and the Owhare kainga. On the south-east side of Huriawa Peninsula are two large pinnacle rocks known as the Old Man and Old Woman Rocks. The Old Man in the sea is Maramai Te Whata 
(left from the storehouse), and the Old Woman on the edge of the land is Araki Te Araroa 
(shaken to life). A rock nearby represents a child.

        
Not far away are two remarkable rocks known as the Hongi Rocks, as they have the appearance of two women 

pressing noises. On Huriawa Peninsula are three blowholes 
(Pehu), two of which can be easily seen. A legend explains their origin. Away in the dim past a Maori maid and a Maori youth fell in love, as most folk do. The parents on both sides objected to a marriage, so the young couple eloped. A year passed by, and they returned to Old Waikouaiti to receive forgiveness and a paternal blessing. In this they were disappointed. The parents took their respective offspring to the Puke Maeroero Hills behind Puketiraki, and angrily heaved them into space. The young woman had become much heavier than her spouse, and consequently her fall caused the larger blowhole, the one nearest to Puketiraki Beach.

        
Waikouaiti Beach is known to the Maori as O Hine-te-moa and Puketiraki Beach as Wha kawai Pakepake. On Puketiraki Beach midway south are remarkable basaltic rocks named Ka-whatu-a-haere 
(the rocks of Haere). Against these the seas dash with fury, the resultant spray rich in fragments of rainbows showing well in the sunlight. Haere is the deity of rainbow fragments.

        
The following is a list of place names obtained about forty years ago:—Kaka kutuna, the creek entering the Waikouaiti River near Merton and Oxley. Haka riki on south bank of the Waikouaiti River. Tupare koau, bush and cliffs below the junction of the branches of the Waikouaiti River. Te Rua karehu, a dip in the ground near to the site of the old customs house. Kiri kiri whaka horo, the creek west of Merton railway station which runs to the Tautaka a Poti, flat and backwash of the river. Te Pou a te Wera is a site behind the original Waikouaiti village.

        
Koko nui, is the creek running towards the swamp land at Merton on the east side of the railway and past the Apes home. Pohure is the modern Maori name of Maui's Rock at the southern end of Puketiraki Beach. In modern European times it has been called Mother Robertson's Tooth, but to the early whalers it was Mother Brinn's. With the latter name it honours the memory of one of the earliest pakeha women residents of Old Waikouaiti. Pohatu tautini, is the bush near the Puketiraki railway tunnel. Huirapa is the saucer-like depression near the old home of Mohi Te Wahia. Pata ma kiri is the site of the small bridge on the south side of the backwash of the Waikouaiti River west of Merton.

        
Whakamaniaro is the name of the creek flowing past an old home of the late Hoani Matiu, Okuroeero, a reef off Puketiraki Bay, Ouneahi part of the Puke maerero hills behind Puketiraki. Te Rua karihu is situated near Cameron's weekend house (formerly Hon. David Pinkerton's). Maramao or Murimao is the channel of the Waikouaiti River near the sea, Maukorea bight on Huriawa Peninsula outward from the canoe landing 
(Te Awa mokihi). Maiore is the neck of 

Huriawa Peninsula; Hau te kapa akpa is the assembly ground; Pipi-te-one-ora is that portion of the beach south of the neck, and in the vicinity is Te one o makuku. Tau o te pukio is a reef just off the neck. Waipipi kaike is the site of an old hamlet as is Makuku and Marukure. Otohe represents the under-water rocks off Puketiraki Beach. O Hine pou weru is the name of the sandspit at Old Waikouaiti on which Taoka camped. Parahamiti is on the coast near the Yellow Bluff. Te Taumata-o-Kupe is the terrace overlooking Puketiraki Beach. The Yellow Bluff is Te Pa Hawea and is the site of a former pa. Te Awaparariki is near the Yellow Bluff. Te Awa kai pawa is Green's Point. Te Awa koeo is Brinn's Point, and south of the latter is Tau here keo keo. Ahuriri is the name of rocks off Waikouaiti Bay. Te Awa puaka is a creek entering Puketiraki Bay and the terrace nearby bears the name Te Taumatea o Puaka.

        
Leaving Old Waikouaiti or modern Karitane we pass south. Okai hau is the outlet to the sea of the Omimi Greek. The full name of the site of the Omimi railway station is Te Mimi e te haki. The location of the Seacliff Mental Hospital is Turau aruhe. Waikoko is the Seacliff Creek. Potaerua represents the bush at Seacliff and the bight on the coastline towards Omimi is Rau-one. Warrington, the aristocratic weekend resort, bears the name of a famous greenstone weapon Aka hau. Whaitiri-paku was the name of an old native village at what we now call Evansdale. The Evansdale Stream below its Kilmog branch, was an eeling place called Wai moi 
(sour water). The streams entering Blueskin Bay travelling south were the Totara, Waiputi and Waitete (the latter erroneously spelt Waitati). Waitete means "
bubbling water", and no one who has lived alongside its course would question the translation as being truly descriptive.

        
The Orokonui Stream drains the northern slopes of Mount Mopariui entering the mouth of the Waitete not far away from the Orokonui Mental Hospital. Blueskin was the name of Waitete in the early days. The early settlers named it such after a well-tattooed Maori called Te Hikututu, whose nickname was Blueskin.

        
A Ngai Tahu chief named Tutakahikura visiting Southland, coveted the wives of a Ngati Mamoe chief named Tutemakeho when the latter chief was away foraging, and abducted the women. A chase from Southland resulted, and Tutemakeho fortunately caught up with the abductor at Pae Kohu 
(place of frogs) or Green Hill on the divide between the Silverstream and the coastal valleys. It was decided by the warriors to fight the matter out in gladiator fashion at Waitete. Tu te makaho won back his wives, taking them back to Otaupiri. A leaderless hapu of the Ngai Tahu returned to Canterbury.

        
Approximately 12 miles from 
Dunedin is Purakaunui 

wrongly spelt Purakanui, which boasts a large native reserve, and its native inhabitants, who originally hailed from Kaiapoi, are proud of the fact that they are descendants of Ngai Tahu, who were there long before the fall of Kaiapohia, and are not begotten of refugee stock. Away back about the year 1750A.D. the War God Tu controlled the lives of the inhabitants of Purakaunui. Three cousins of chief rank but with no trace of family affection kept the Ngai Tahu Tribe in almost an unbroken state of strife. Their names were Moki II, Taoka and Te Wera. Te Wera of Huriawa Pa at Old Waikouaiti dwelt for a time at Pukekura Pa at 
Otakou Heads. When there the paramount chief Tu ki taha rangi died, also Moki II's son. Te Wera was accused of practising makutu (wizardry) on his kinsfolk and killing them. Te Wera fled away to Purakaunui where Te Rehu, his sister's husband held sway. Moki II was not to be outmatched; so he sent a surprise war party to Purakaunui kainga under the chief Kapo. The house of the chiefs was surrounded and most of the inmates slain, including a chief named Patuki. Te Rehu and Te Wera made a miraculous escape, indeed a wailing for their decease had commenced at Huriawa when they arrived. Safe back in his fortress Te Wera waited and gathered together his warriors. He then set out for Pukekura on which he exacted full vengeance.

        
Taoka took up the Pukekura cause and besieged Te Wera at Huriawa. He failed to capture that pa, so he turned his attention later to Mapou tahi on Goat Island Peninsula where the railway skirts the Blueskin Cliffs near the tunnel. When Taoha arrived at Mapoutahi in mid-winter, his scouts found the narrow neck of land which gave access to the pa well guarded. One exceptionally wild night, however, the sentries were withdrawn, and dummies put in their place. The ruse worked until Taoka went forth and did scouting for himself. He discovered the true position and Mapou tohi Pa was stormed. Only a few persons escaped by swimming and scaling the vine ladders on the Blueskin Cliffs which had been used for bird nesting.

        
The name for Goat Island is Mata awhe awhe 
(dead gathered in a heap), and its isthmus is called after Pakihaukea, its unfortunate defender. The portion of the Blueskin Cliffs nearest to Waitati is Wata awa awa 
(edge of the valley). The bay east of the peninsula is Paua nui 
(large ear shell fish). On October 22nd, 1930, Goat Island Peninsula, area 4 acres, was vested as a scenic reserve under the control of the 
Otago University. Why the Maori people were not favoured with possession is not clear.

        
Near Mapou tahi the canoe of Waiti named Tau a Tara-whata was wrecked a few centuries ago. Mihiwaka 
(lament for a canoe) is the hill which separates the Purakaunui Valley
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from 
Otago Harbour. Aorangi 
(light of heaven) is the hill across Purakaunui Bay near the site of the old whaling station. Opeke is the foot of Foote's Greek. Ko te wai a pukuraku is a small watercourse near the sand drift to the railway line. Haereoa, Teoti Wahie and Noah were the leading men at Purakaunui in the forties. The present native inhabitants of the reserve are half-castes, being descendants of the old whalers. The Purakaunui Reserve was set aside in pursuance of the infamous Kemp Deed.

        
Near Purakaunui is Long Beach, known as Whare wera wera, which contains a native reserve of a few hundred acres. The original trustees of this poor quality reserve were Tamati Tiko, Te Ati Poroki, Hipa Porekaha, Riki Tuete and Haereroa. The land is of sandy nature, with, however, miniature lagoons through which a very wandering stream passes, and in the days when the Piorakaunui district once held a large native population, provided good eeling places. There is no doubt that the Maoris living between Purakaunui and 
Otago Heads suffered severely from European diseases during the period sealing ships were frequenting the coast. The cold-water treatment by the tohungas of influenza and measles could only result in one way—death.

        
South of Longbeach is Murdering Beach which should be known by its Maori name of Whare ake ake. On December 24th, 1817, a Tasmanian brig named the Sophia, commanded by Captain Kelly, anchored there to trade with the Maoris. However a man named Tucker was recognised as a person who at Riverton traded in dried Maori heads. Such sacrilege quite rightly brought down on the pakahas the anger of the Maoris. Tucker fell to the blow of a mere wielded by Te Matahaere, as did two or three others. The remaining boatsmen returned to the ship for reinforcements, and in the skirmish the Maoris were defeated, and prisoners taken back to the Sophia, including the chief Korako, a progenitor of the Taiaroa family. The Maoris rallied under the chief Tukarekare, and in canoes attacked the ship, but without success. Korako rejoined his friends by jumping overboard to the canoes. The Europeans then killed their other prisoners, and sailed away to 
Otakou Heads where they destroyed the native village.

        
The bay south of Whare ake ake is called Kaikai after a Ngati Mamoe man dwelling there in a cave in the early days. The proper name is Takeratawhai. The cave belonging to Kaikai is now used as a sheep pen. A heavy "tapu" rested on Murdering Beach until it was lifted by a North Island tohunga at the request of the Purakaunui Maoris. The three bays south of Purakaunui have been the happy hunting-grounds of curio collectors, alas many not venerating the burial-places. It has been estimated that 3½ tons of worked greenstone has been 

recovered. In 1912 a large part of this collection passed to British and American museums.

        
In 1926 a curious adze hogbacked with a very narrow cutting edge was found. Mr Washbourne Hunter was the land owner in the early days, and during his time 400 curios were discovered. Two dozen greenstone tikis have been found at Whare ake ake. The late Mr Murray Thomson, who had a weekend house at Murdering Beach, was an enthusiastic collector, and he assisted greatly the archaeological section of the Otago Institute during a fortnight of March 1935, in cross trenching, digging and searching every nook and corner of Kaikai, Murdering and Longbeach, and the chance of finding a good cache of curios is now very remote. Though a "green-stone workers' factory" the meres found have invariably been executed in slaty stone.

        
When 
Edward Shortland visited Purakaunui in October 1843, the Maori population had dwindled to 32 persons. Pukai-a-te-ao and Kaitipu of the Huirapa hapu had succeeded Urukino in the leadership. When 
Mantell made his census of Purakaunui in connection with the sale of the Ngai Tahu Block the inhabitants numbered 46. The majority of the people belonged to the Ngai tuna hapu. The Huirapa hapu (mostly females) counted 8 and the Ngati Tuahuriri 2 persons. The few Maoris who now occupy Purakaunui are half-caste descendants of whalers. The settlement is now a popular 
Dunedin weekend resort. The little fenced-in cemetery on the Purakaunui Spit alone reminds the visitor of the Maori backgroundOld Waikouaiti and Purakaunui are usually by-passed by motorists journeying to 
Dunedin who travel on the Main Road. The Main Road from modern Waikouaiti to Waitati crosses over the well-known Kilmog Hill, Kilmog being a corruption of the Maori name of the plant Kirimoko known to botanists as Septospermum ericoides, which grows profusely in the locality.
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Maori Associations of 
Banks Peninsula
        

        
The large area of Canterbury called 
Banks Peninsula, named after Doctor Banks of Captain Cook's explorations, is rich in its Maori associations. Practically every bay and inlet produces evidence of native occupation. Owing to the several waves of conquest that have swept over the area, the very earliest history has been lost. Through the efforts of the late Canon 
J. W. Stack, some of the later history was verbally obtained from the Maoris who knew it, and the foundation stone laid for future historians.

        
The South Island, principally south of the Clarence River in 
Marlborough, has been occupied by the following people: Waitaha, (first tribe of that name), who arrived by the Uruao Canoe under Rakaihautu about 850 A.D., Hawea, Rapuwai, Waitaha, (second tribe of that name), Ngati Mamoe, and finally Ngai Tahu, (the present tribe). Even earlier than the first Waitaha tribe, about 750 A.D., Mam, an explorer, arrived with people in the Mahunui Canoe. Places on the coastline down to Southland bear his name. The isolated rock off the 
Banks Peninsula coast, known as Pompey's Pillar, bears the name Omaui. The name Mahunui, which belonged to Maui's canoe, was bestowed in modern times on the Land District lying between the Clarence and Waitaki Rivers, and also on the Runanga Hall of the Tuahiwi Maoris of Kaiapoi.

        
South Island tradition has made it clear that 
Banks Peninsula was a favourite abode of the Waitaha tribe of Rakaihautu's time. Indeed, Rakaihautu is supposed to have died and been buried near Akaroa.

        
War between the present Ngai Tahu Tribe and the Ngati Mamoe Tribe commenced about 1700 A.D., after the former had for a space been domiciled on the south side of 
Cook Strait. Though gradually retreating to the south, the Ngati Mamoe, especially in 
Otago and Southland, put up many a fight to their credit. The last two battles told against them however, and they now form a hapu of the Ngai Tahu Tribe (particularly numerous south of the Clutha River).

        
Most of the history of 
Banks Peninsula circles around Moki, a younger son of Tuahuriri of the Ngai Tahu Tribe, who in his war canoe, Makawhiu, subdued the Ngati Mamoe Tribe on 
Banks Peninsula. The Ngai Tahu chiefs, Kaiapu, Te Makino and Waitai, had journeyed from Wairau to Southland. 

From the former chiefs Moki learnt that a Ngai Tahu chief named Tutekawa, was living within Ngati Mamoe country at Waikakahi, near Lake Ellesmere. As revenge was sought against Tutekawa for slaying Tuahuriri's wives, Hinekaitaki and Tuaruwhati, during an inter-tribal fight in the Wellington district, a reason for fighting the Ngati Mamoe was furnished. Moki's first landing was made at Little Okain's Bay. Waikerikikari Bay, Goughs Bay 
(Okaruru) and Long Bay (No. 1) where the main Ngati Mamoe stronghold of Parakakariki stood, all figure in Moki's advance on Waikakahi where Tuekawa dwelt.

        

Port Levy or Koukourarata, the large bay south of Port Cooper is still a centre of Maori life. The first of the Ngai Tahu Tribe to settle at 
Port Levy was Huikai, and his son Tautahi was responsible for the formation of one of the pas, namely Otautahi, which stood amid the swamps on the area now known as the City of Chrischurch. Moki, who conquered 
Banks Peninsula for the Ngai Tahu Tribe from the Ngati Mamoe, made use of 
Port Levy as a place to keep his prisoners, prior to their use as slaves or to supplement the food supply. 
Port Levy, like other places on 
Banks Peninsula, suffered at the hands of Te Rauparaha after the fall of Onawe in Akaroa Harbour in 1831. It was also attacked previously, during the Kai Huanga Feud of the Ngai Tahu Tribe, when one of its aged chiefs named Te-hanui-orangi was slain. However, 
Port Levy was one of the first places in Canterbury to receive the message of the Prince of Peace, for Christianity was introduced to the natives from their former enemies of the North Island.

        
Taawao, a Maori of the Nga Puhi Tribe, and a Wesleyan, brought the faith to 
Banks Peninsula in 1841. A year later, after his baptism by the 
Rev. J. Watkin, of Old Waikouaiti, in conjunction with Hohepa Korehi, a Wesleyan from Cloudy Bay, he used 
Port Levy as a base. In 1843, Tamihana Te Rauparaha and his cousin Whiwhi (Henare Matene) came to 
Port Levy in the interests of the Anglican Church. Bishop Selwyn followed on February 17th, 1844. By the close of 1844, both the Wesleyans and Anglicans had erected Maori churches. The positions of the two churches are clearly marked on the original map of the Koukaurarata Reserve drawn by surveyor O. Carrington, in 1849, the Anglican Church being at the eastern side of the reserve and the Wesleyan Church at the western side.

        
On November 21st, 1853, over one hundred and sixty Maoris of North Canterbury visited the Anglican Church, among whom was Hakopa Te Ata o Tu, who, while a prisoner of Te Rauparaha, came under the influence of Bishop Hadfield at 
Otaki. At this Maori gathering 1 ton of flour, 1 ton of 

sugar, 3 calabashes of soup, 400 birds, 5 pigs and eels were devoured.

        
When the Rev. Canon 
J. W. Stack visited 
Port Levy in 1859, the Anglican Church was in bad repair and worship almost extinct, because its leader Te Koro Maitai had given up this work through what he considered his own unworthiness. Canon 
Stack and Hakopa Te Ata o Tu persuaded Te Koro to take over this Christian service again. The church was immediately repaired and put to use. In 1860, a Maori named Paora was catechist for 
Port Levy and Pigeon Bay. Four years later the Anglican Maoris raised £100, and with a Provincial Government grant made further improvements to the Church. In 1877 all the pas of Canterbury, with the exception of Rapaki and Tuahiwi, had reverted to tohungaism as taught by Te Maiharoa of Arawhenua. Bishop Harper and Canon 
Stack, however, brought them back to the fold and the church was once more repaired.

        
At present by culpable neglect the old historic Anglican Church stands derelict. Even its bell is missing. Only about ten years ago Bishops West-Watson and Bennett preached within its walls, which in earlier days vibrated to the voices of Bishops Selwyn and Harper. Now in 1944 the Maoris when in the mood attend a Ratana service at the hall. The Red Rock about 350 yards up a valley from the derelict Anglican Church, was where the tohungas of old had addressed the people. It is a very tapu place and also an ancient burial-ground.

        
The Native Reserve, consisting of about 1,350 acres, was set aside in 1848. In 1849, this settlement had twelve houses and the pa was called Puari. The name Pauri was applied about the same time to a pa at Christchurch.

        
Prior to 1848, the population of 
Port Levy was 260, but the majority of these natives dwelt on the north side of the Harbour at Kaitara near the north head. The islet near Kaitara, which is called Pukerarauke 
(isle of ferns) or Devils Island, was frequented by the Maoris for shellfish. Horomanga Island, near Puari, was a shelter in olden days for canoes. On March 3rd, 1933, a claim by Apera Pukenui and twenty-four other natives, for possession of Horomonga was not entertained by the Natives Affairs Committee of Parliament.

        

Port Levy 
(Koukourarata) is officially the reserve of the Ngai Tutehuarewa hapu of the Ngai Tahu Tribe. The Maoris of 
Port Levy had no sympathy with the Maori King Movement, and on November 25th, 1863, they imprisoned for disloyalty a North Island Maori named Te Koko.

        
During December 1886, the Port Levy Native Reserve was re-surveyed on request of Mr Alexander Mackay, Native Commissioner. The main road from 
Port Levy to Little River is formed on the line of the old Maori track recommended by J. W. Hamilton on April 6th, 1858. The earliest settlers 

recount tales of the heavy loads carried by the Maoris on their backs. Shark from 
Port Levy was bartered for the eels of Wairewa.

        
Mrs Repeka Horomona, who lived to more than 110 years of age and who was present at a huia at Tuahiwi in February 1925, often in her girlhood visited what is now Sumner, travelling by canoe from 
Port Levy, (crossing the Sumner Bar). She was the mother of 16 children, had 50 grandchildren, and at the time of her death, many great-grandchildren.

        
In 1857, over a dozen Maoris of the Tuahuriri hapu were dwelling at Pigeon Bay 
(Wakaroi). The whares were situated at four sites—on the flat near the wharf, at the head of the bay, at Holmes Bay and lastly at Hakukaka valley. During the sixties Te Rangipupu owned a good house surrounded by extensive cultivations at Pigeon Bay.

        
Macintosh Bay, now known as Menzies Bay, shows the remains of a Maori pa, as does an indent between Little Pigeon Bay and Blind Bay. The pa site at Decanter Bay is close to the beach. This pa furnished Maori guides for the early settlers.

        
Little Akaroa had its main settlement on Look Out Point 
(Panau). The ruins of the pa on Long Look Out Point are situated at the furthest end of the promontory. The grass-covered ramparts enclose an oblong space. One side is protected by a precipice, another part by a watercourse, the crown of the promontory overlooks the outer ramparts. The Maoris of the Panau pa used to obtain food largely by fishing and by eeling in the two creeks which enter Raupo Bay.

        
The population of Panau was augumented by refugees during the Kai Huanga feud. Unfortunately some of the Panau natives broke the rules of tapu by wearing at Kaiapoi the mats belonging to two slain chiefs Hape and Te Puhirere. Retribution then fell on the settlement from the paramount chief of the Ngai Tahu Tribe, the cruel and cowardly Te Maiharanui. Later Te Rauparaha's warriors, after fighting at Onawe, came and wiped out the settlement.

        
A traditional burial casket was discoverd at Raupo Bay, on May 17th, 1935, and by order of the 
Native Land Court is deposited in trust at the Canterbury Museum. Lavericks Bay south of Okains Bay has also furnished much material to the Museum. Okains Bay has every indication of having in the days gone by carried a large Maori population. At Little Okains Bay the famous Moki made his memorable landing on 
Banks Peninsula, when he was charmed with the karaka groves there. Kawatea is the Maori name for Little Okains Bay. Poaiiha is the original name applied to Okains Bay by Moki, as he observed the seals there at mating time. In the main Okains Bay Valley there is a flat piece of land severed by the Okains River, which from settlement of long ago derives its 

name of Pa. On it numerous curios have been discovered. Also in the neighbourhood are a burial-ground and a spring. The hillsides in this portion of the Okains Valley show signs of ancient cultivations, each marked with ovens and boundary stones. In the sawmilling days about half-a-dozen Europeans were living with their Maori wives and half-caste offspring in the vicinity of the area called the Pa.

        
In June 1899, Messrs Christopher and J. Thacker discovered in a cave on the point near the island, which was once a burial-ground, between Big and Little Okains Bays, perhaps one of the greatest assortments of Maori objects ever found in one place on 
Banks Peninsula. On East Head of Okains Bay, ruins of an old pa stood as late as 1900, but in 1935 very little evidence remained. Lying off East Head is the three-acre Pa Island, which is very much a natural fortification. The native name assigned to it is Te Puke-ki-Waitaha, probably derived from its use by the old Waitaha Tribe.

        
Under the south head of Waikerikikari Bay, called Otu tahu ao by Moki, there is a cave called Te Ana Kai Nehu. Here Moki's warriors set to to eat a meal of dried barracouta presented by a chief Hikatutu. Whakuku, also a chief, received the scraps, but so disgusted was he that he turned to his friends and exclaimed, "
Hold tight to the fish dust!" and so originated the name of the cave. It was at this bay that the chief Mahi-Ao-Tea observed enchanted black pine trees 
(Te-Aita-Nga-A-Hine-Mate-Roa), enchanted ti trees 
(Te-Ti-A-Tau-Whete-Kui) and enchanted broadleaf trees 
(Te Papa-To-A-Mauheke) dancing and embracing each other. Was it the effects that the fishbone dust caused to Mahi-Ao-Tea?

        
Okaruru or Goughs Bay shows the ruins of an extensive pa over which Hereford cattle now wander. The bay is, very tapu and the Maoris prefer not to live there. Goughs Bay Maoris were affected by the Kai Huanga Feud, and later by Te Rauparaha's raids. Two lots of treasure are traditionally buried in the creek covered by the tapu laid by respective tohungas. "
But safe as the Holy Grail from the eyes of the base and guilty—Lie, the buried wakas of Hiwi, the treasures of the fallen Ngai Tahu".—by H. C. Jacobsen, 1893.

        
At Paua Bay, south of Goughs Bay, overlooking Fisherman's Bay, can be seen the ruins of the ancient pa of Nga Toko Ono.

        
Tradition preserved by the Morioris of the 
Chatham Islands records that a people from 
Banks Peninsula came in their midst, and were welcomed by Marupo, the Moriori chief. The new arrivals were prevailed upon to give over cannibalism. Certainly coastal features of 
Banks Peninsula were known by name when the Rev. Te Kooti Te Rato of Rapaki visited the Chathams. The former occupants of Nga Toko Ono are said to have arrived at Wharekauri 
(Chathams) as the result of an inter-tribal quarrel, in which their chief Tira had been slain. 

They were no doubt Maoris of the Ngati Mamoe Tribe. Some accounts say they belonged to the Manuka Pa at Halswell, near Christchurch, prior to going to dwell at Nga Toko Ono, but it does appear they were the section of the Ngati Mamoe ousted from Manuka by the sons of the Ngai Tahu chief, Te Rangi Whakaputa, or we may have had more definite knowledge of Nga Toko Ono pa. According to the late Tame Green of Tuahiwi, a section of the natives living near Akaroa slew a woman named Hinerau of the Waitaha Tribe, and as a result of that deed, were forced to migrate to the 
Chatham Islands by a canoe named Matokoke.

        
At Long Bay No 1, over the hills from Akaroa, stood Parakakariki Pa, the principal stronghold of the Ngati Mamoe on 
Banks Peninsula. Parakakariki is situated on the south side of the bay on the spur above the Narbey homestead. It is only two miles away from Nga Toko Ono, which is further north. As Parakarariki was captured from the Ngati Mamoe for the Ngai Tahu Tribe by Moki in his campaign on 
Banks Peninsula, it is remarkable that no reference has been handed down of Nga Toko Ono at the same period. When the Ngai Tahu warriors were approaching Parakaraiki by land from Gough's Bay, several canoes of Ngati Mamoe were observed fishing off Fisherman's Bay. Moki dangled his white mere over the cliffs, but the action of the Ngai Tahu chief was not observed by the fishermen, and Whakuku was sent ahead to reconnoitre. He signalled back his observations, and Parakakariki was captured at dawn with great slaughter. Many prisoners were taken. The chief of the Ngati Mamoe, Te Ao Tu Tahi, was slain by Mahi Ao Tea and his son Uruhanga was speared by Whakuku.

        
Sleepy Cove, Stony Bay and Flea Bay have yielded many curios. At Flea Bay can be seen the ruins of an old Ngati Mamoe Pa called Pae Karoro, which was captured for the Ngai Tahu by Tutakakahihura, one of Moki's warriors. This pa is also known as Pohatu Pa. Stone which figured strongly in the ramparts can be plainly observed at the present time. The site is on the hillside overlooking the beach on its south side.

        
The small bay, known as Damons Bay, to the north of the North Head of Akaroa Harbour, gives evidence of visits by Maori fishermen. Te Ruahine Point at Akaroa Head has been corrupted to Truini Point. The South Head of Akaroa Harbour is named Timu Timu. Te Ruahikihiki pa standing inside Whakamoa Bay, was occupied by that famous chief prior to his moving on to Orariki Pa at the outlet of Lake Waihora 
(Ellesmere). Heavy inter-tribal fighting took place around Island Bay 
(Whakaki). The island which gives the bay its name is Motu-ngarara. An old Ngati Mamoe pa once existed at Island Bay. Between Island Bay and Long Bay No. 2, on a wind-swept point, there is a cave named Te Ana
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Tukete—one of the few places where Maori dead received water-burial in the South Island. Tukete was a celebrated explorer of the Rapuwai Tribe.

        
Peraki, the site of Captain George Hempelman's whaling activities in 1835, despite the fact that it is the best harbour on the south-western part of 
Banks Peninsula, for some reason which we know not, was not much frequented by the Maoris. The next bay, Robinhood, known to the Maoris as Maherua, was used extensively by the Maoris when catching shark and hapuka. The creek and raupo swamp abounded with eels. The extent of the area on which Maori ovens can be seen is surprising, as in olden times this bay must have been difficult of access.

        
At Magnet Bay was situated an old pa called Makara, and at Tumbledown Bay 
(Te Ngaio) an old burial-ground. Te Ngaio was thoroughly searched for relics by 
Sir Julius Von Haast and his assistant Mr Fuller, and has been a happy hunting-ground for collectors of curios ever since.

        
Ikoraki 
(Hikurangi) Bay (the whaling station of Captain Price of 1840) once possessed a pa called Ka-te-raki, practically all traces of which have disappeared through the activities of curio hunters with their spades and shovels. When Europeans first came to the bay, only one Maori with his wife and children were dwelling there. Tokoroa Bay has several caves which gave temporary shelter to Maori fishermen. Oauhau Bay was the site of a whaling station started by Phillip Ryan in 1839. When Europeans gave over whaling at Oauhau Bay, known also as Goashore, the Maoris took over and worked in a desultory fashion until comparatively modern times. The spring up the valley is named after the Ngai Tahu warrior, Moki. The correct name of Price's Head at Oauhau is Moki Point, also known as Nga Roimata o rehua. Nga pua is the fishing ground near Oauhau Bay.

        
Phillip Ryan of Oauhau, married Mary, the daughter of George Tuwhia (Big Fellow) of Port. Levy. She escaped at the fall of Kaiapohia; fleeing to 
Taumutu. Mrs Phillip Ryan used to grind wheat for other Maoris on a small mill, the gift of Mr Deans of Riccarton. Her descendants are still to be found in the several native settlements of Canterbury.
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Otakou
        

        
The story of that tract of country bordering on 
Otago Harbour forms the subject of this chapter. 
Otakou; as a name, is, however, applicable also to the greater area which extends from Heywards Point, north of 
Otago Harbour, southwards to the Nuggets, covering 400,000 acres known in native land purchases records as the 
Otakou Block. On July 31st, 1844, the Ngai Tahu Tribe sold the 
Otakou Block to the 
New Zealand Company for £2,400. The deed was signed by 25 chiefs, but not before a promise was made that a tenth of the land sold would be held by the Company in trust for the future welfare of the tribe, as had been the case in other purchases by the 
New Zealand Company. The instructions as to "tenths" by Captain J. J. Symonds, Lands Purchase Officer, conveniently dissappeared.

        
The native vendors were:—Tuhawaiki, Taiaroa, Karetai, Korako Karetai, Korako, Kaikaorere, Mokomoko, Te Ao, Tutewaiuo, Papa Kawa, Takamaitu, Te Raki, Topi, Kihau, Horomona Pohio, Pohau, Kahuti, Kurakura, Te Hoki, Kai-wakana, Potiki, Pohatu, Te Raki, Pokene and Pokihu.

        
The Maoris living within the Otahou Block have continuously up to the present time, petitioned parliament for redress, but without avail notwithstanding the fact that Royal Commissions have reported in favour of the natives.

        
The sum paid for the land in 1844 represents payment at the rate of l½d. per acre. 
Otakou better known as the "
Kaik" situated on the south side of 
Otago Harbour near Taiaroa Head, has been for ages the centre of Maori life in the province of 
Otago. 
Otakou as a name has been invariably stated to mean red ochre. The Maoris, who have long since passed away, stated it was a name imported from the distant "

Hawaiki", and was given not to the land at 
Otago Heads but to the water. The old channel which once made the North Spit at the Heads an island was called 
Otakou. Indeed the North Spit, as an island, was claimed in 1882 by H. K. Taiaroa.

        
The Harbour Board's lengthy mole has for ever converted Kapukepuke kite Waiparapara into a peninsula, on which Europeans now have weekend cottages Red ochre can be found at Kumo kumo whero behind the kaika, but it is always known to the South Island Maoris as maukoroa. The native reserve at 
Otago Heads in Early European days contained 

several small settlements as follows:—Pukekura, Te Rua a titiko, Te Rauone, Tahakopa, Omate and Waipepeke. Quite a large area formerly in occupation is now covered by drifting sand. Captain Haberfield of 
Moeraki, who was acquainted with 
Otakou in the early thirties, has stated that the Maori population at the Heads was 2,000 persons and at Purakaunui 500, and it was not uncommon to see a dozen fully-loaded double canoes at sea off Taiaroa Head. Influenza, measles and other. introduced European diseases caused hundreds of deaths at a time. Doctor Ellison and others have made similar well-founded statements. The population in 1848 at 
Otakou was 110.

        
The first authentic references we have to Ngai Tahu occupation of Pukekura at 
Otago Heads appear to have occurred when Waitai and his followers parted company with the rest of the tribe at the 
Marlborough Sounds shortly after its big migration from the Wellington district. Maru, the principal chief, was of a merciful disposition, and he saw fit to spare the life of an enemy chief named Te Rapa a te kuri, whom had been taken prisoner in battle. Waitai, annoyed, journeyed south to 
Otago Heads, Port Molyneux and finally to the Bluff, slaying all the peaceful folk he met on the way without hindrance. The Ngati Mamoe Tribe however, eventually saw fit to slay Waitai and his followers at Mokamoka near the Bluff. Te Wera, Taoka, Moki II and other Ngai Tahu chiefs later occupied Pukekura, and there were periods of peace between the Ngai Tahu and the Ngati Mamoe who occupied a near-by pa named Rangi pipi kao.

        
When Te Wera was dwelling at Pukekura, the paramount chief Tukitaha rangi and the son of Moki II died. Te Wera was accused of having practised makutu 
(wizardry) and as discretion is the best part of valour, he fled to Purakaunui where his sister's husband Te Rehu held sway. Moki II sent out a war party under Kapo, but Te Rehu and Te Wera escaped from the net. Te Wera, safe back at his own pa of Huriawa at Old Waikouaiti; thought out plans for revenge. Journeying by canoe to 
Otakou he surprised a party of women on Te rauone Beach, slew them, cut off their heads which were boldly displayed as the canoe passed below Pukekura Pa Taoka was later invited to act as peacemaker, but he declined. Te Wera with followers then went on a similar errand. Te Taoho of Pukekura and Te Aruhe, a son of Te Wera, fell out with each other and soon a general conflict t ook place. Te Wera killed Kapo, and, there is reason to believe, Moki II also. The Ngati Mamoe, allied to the Pukekura Ngai Tahu, suffered with them in the disastrous defeat, the Ngati Mamoe dead being cast away at Calliope 
(Ryan's) Bay near a cave, but Te Wera spared the life of a lad named Taikawa. Kapo was disembowelled, cooked, and eaten by Te Wera's men on the island in Papanui Inlet, which bear his name. Several Ngati 

Mamoe were slain when hiding in the cave at the Little Pyramid on Kapuketereti Flat.

        
Kumu kumu whero, behind 
Otakou, recalls an incident of Te Wera's raid, its reddish colour being a reminder that a warrior was seen ascending the spot, his posterior being badly slashed and gory. For over sixty years the vicinity of the Little Pyramid has been the happy hunting-ground of European collectors of skulls, and the cave within, although "tapu" to the Maoris, was ransacked in the so-called interests of science during August and September, 1938, and hailed as a great discovery. The restless spirits of the slain from Te Wera's raids are said still to frequent Pipikarita on the sea coast, going to that beach to gather pipis. The present-day Maori however calls this tapu place Pipi Garhead.

        
The irreconcilables of the Ngai Tahu and Ngati Mamoe Tribes were slow in being bound by the alliance of the tribes made at Kaiapoi when Te Rahi ihia, the leading chief of the Ngati Mamoe, married Hine hakari, the sister of Te Hau tapunui o tu, the great chief of the Ngai Tahu. The son of the latter, Honekai, married Kohiwai, the granddaughter of Te Raki ihia. At Papanui, near Cape Saunders, dwelt a section of the Ngati Mamoe under the chiefs Rangiamoa and Whaka taka newha. At Pukekura dwelt the Ngati Tahu and their chiefs were Maru, Tarewai, and Aparangi. The success which attended the fishing activities of the Ngati Mamoe of Papanui, brought forth the green streak of jealousy in the hearts of the Ngai Tahu, and so they spoilt the fishing grounds by burning kelp and casting the ashes over the sea. Not content with this they rendered the Ngati Mamoe canoes unseaworthy. The Ngai Tahu then went fishing over the Ngati Mamoe reserve. Rangiamoa, the Papanui chief, made his way to the point called Putoki, and by means of karakia 
(prayer) brought on a gale which scattered the fleet from Pukekura.

        
Peace reigned for a while, but the Ngati Mamoe had not forgotten the wrongs, and they looked on Tarewai as their principal enemy. Retribution came when Tarewai and his companions were invited to help the Ngati Mamoe to build a whare at Kapu turoto 
(hills standing inland) near the Pyramids. One by one the Ngai Tahu men were inveigled away and slain, among these being a famous tohunga named Kahutu punei. Tarewai was reserved to receive the full force of Ngati Mamoe revenge. He was captured and held down on his back by four men while others proceeded to cut slices of flesh from his body with cutting stones. Strangers appeared on the scene, and this attracted the attention for an instant of the Ngati Mamoe captors. Tarewai grasped the opportunity, broke loose and escaped. But his death-dealing mere was in the possession of the enemy, and Tarewai was determined to regain it.

        


        
Seated round a fire at evening were the Ngati Mamoe warriors admiring the weapon and speaking in praise of the fearless Tarewai. Tawewai, unnoticed, joined the party having been mistaken for a Ngati Mamoe individual with defective speech. Simulating a stutter he asked to be shown the mere. It was unsuspectingly handed to him. With the mere in his possession he struck right and left, and escaping he called out to his former captors, "Naia te toa o Tarewai, Kei aia ano tanu patu" 
(the brave Tarewai has recovered his weapon). Hotly pursued he escaped in the direction of Pukekura Pa. He leaped around a bluff near the pakeha fort, which bears his name on the survey maps as Te rereka o Tarewai. Tarewai, after his leap to safety, taunted his pursuers as follows:—"Haere, e moea tou wahine e whaki i tou tamariki, whakaika kia kai, apopo te raki moku". 
(Go and look after your wives and feed your children. Tomorrow will be the day for me). A spot not far away is Ka tapuwae o Tarewai 
(the foot steps of Tarewai), where his foot marks can still be seen on the rocks. At Otikiha once existed a stone called Te konohi-o-tarewai 
(the eye of Tarewai), which showed bright at night until some European vandal removed it.

        
Tarewai when recovering from his wounds, is said to have occupied a cave named Te Ana Korokoraka along with members of a fairy tribe. Harbour Cone, at the rear of Smith Bay, which bears the name Puku mata, is also associated with Tarewai's exploits. Rangi amoa of the Ngati Mamoe paid a peace visit to Pukekura but was immediately slain by Maru and Aparangi. As Tarewai recovered strength he made his own personal deeds of revenge, slaying odd members of the Ngati Mamoe as they visited the springs. When Tarewai was well enough to return to Pukekura, its warriors danced a haka to divert the attention of the Ngati Mamoe in the nearby pa of Rangi pipi kao. Tarewai slipped in to Pukekura unobserved, and he and a chief Katamakinao, wrecked full vengeance on the Ngati Mamoe in battle at Pari haumia near Beconsfield. Tarewai's career ended at Preservation Inlet, but that is another story.

        
Many years later the bones of the Ngati Mamoe chief Te Raki ihia, who had arranged the alliance at Kaiapoi, were desecrated and used to make fish hooks by a party of the Ngai Tahu Tribe. The Ngati Mamoe, led by Te Maui the son of Te Raki ihia and nephew of Taihua, took revenge by slaying some Ngai Tahu who were gathering firewood on Terauone Beach. Tane toro tika, a son of the Ngai Tahu chief Taoka, was among the slain. Taikawa, the protege of Te Wera, warned Te Maui that full revenge would be taken by Te Hau tapu nui of Ngai Tahu. This duly came to pass and will be told in another chapter.

        
When 
Edward Shortland visited 
Otakou in September 1843, 

he met the chiefs Pokene (who was an uncle of the Canterbury chief Te Maiharanui), Matenga Taiaroa, Karetai, Pohatu, Taheke and Matahara. Just a little previously, in 1842, Taiaroa had strangled the chief Kohi. It appeared that Kohi had instructed his servants, Kurukuru and Rau o te uri, to burn the 
Otakou community boat. By doing so Kohi had roused the enmity of his fellows. With the consent of his wife Piro, he consented to be strangled as propitation for his sin. Taiaroa in doing the task was not making a good job and Kohi exclaimed: "Kahore kia mataa a Taiaroa ki te mea o te taura" 
(Taiaroa does not know how to tie a knot).

        
C. B. Robinson, Resident Magistrate at Akaroa, in a letter dated October 31st, 1842, mentioned that Taiaroa of 
Otakou, had accused others of strangling Kohi, but he felt the matter had better be investigated by an official versed in Maori customs.

        
Colonel Wakefield, in a letter dated October 23rd, 1842, states that Matenga Taiaroa was dwelling at Oteheiti near Pulling Point, 
Otago Harbour, in a house of European pattern, and had 700 warriors to obey his call. Kohi dwelt at Koputai 
(Port Chalmers). Bishop Selwyn visited 
Otakou on January 24th, 1844. The Wesleyan Methodist Church, however, had already predated his missionary efforts, working from its headquarters at Old Waikouaiti. When the sale of the 
Otakou Block was executed on July 31st, 1844, at Koputai 
(Port Chalmers) on or near the site occupied by the Watkin Creed Memorial Church, no less than 22 chiefs and many of their followers had embraced Christianity.

        
Tawhiroku Pa stood on the north side of Pulling Point. At the hill known as Ohine tu, at 
Otakou, the famous warrior chief of the Ngai Tahu and Ngati Mamoe Tribes addressed his people on the selling of the 
Otakou Block. Teone Topi Patuki, according to the 
Rev. T. A. Pybus, was baptised at 
Otakou on September 15th, 1844, by the 
Rev. Creed, Wesleyan missionary. The Wesleyan Church in the forties had mission halls at the kaingas of Te Rua a titoko, Tahakopa and Omate of the Otakou Native Reserve.

        
Through the zeal of the 
Rev. T. A. Pybus, a beautiful Otakou Maori Centennial Church has been erected at the settlement. The foundation stone, known as the Waitangi Stone, was laid on February 24th, 1940, by Miss Watkin, a granddaughter of the 
Rev. J. Watkin, the pioneer missionary of 
Otago. Mr J. Ellison rendered the Maori welcome. Speakers were the Revs. Eruera Te Tuhi, M. Tauroa, L. B. Neale, Haddon and G. S. Laurenson. Sister Atawhai also spoke. The church was opened on March 22nd, 1941, by Miss A. Karetai. On this occasion the principal speakers were Mr J. Ellison and the Hon, F. Langstone (Minister of Native Affairs). Clergy present were: Revs. Te Tuhi, Piripi Rakena, W. A. Burley, Rugby Pratt, L. B. Neale and G. I. Laurenson. Leading 

citizens of 
Dunedin and Port Chalmers were present. The 
Rev. T. A. Pybus conducted the first regular services on April 6th, 1941.

        
The Wesleyan Methodist Church, unlike the other bodies, has kept the banner flying at 
Otakou. Bishop Pompalier arriving by his little vessel, the Sancta Maria, introduced the Roman Catholic faith to the Maoris during November 1840. He made little progress, even though he made gifts. The Wesleyan Methodist mission had accomplished its work well in promoting both secular and religious education. There was hardly a Maori who could not read and write, and that was more than could be said of the European whaling population. The Rev. Riemenschneider (Presbyterian), did wondrous service to the Maoris during the sixties. Of the native lay preachers at 
Otakou, mention must be made of Patoromu 
(Bartholomew), who died on July 10th, 1877. For over twenty years he was an assiduous worker. The funeral service was conducted by the Revs. A. Blake, W. Johnstone and the Rev. Dr. Stuart.

        
A native church was opened at 
Otakou on January 1st, 1865, by the Rev. Johnstone of Port Chalmers, assisted by the Rev. Rieminschneider. Five hundred persons were present, including one hundred and twenty Maoris. The visitors arrived from 
Dunedin and Port Chalmers by the S.S. "Bruce" and S.S. "Golden Age". The interior of the church was 28 x 16 feet, the chancel 8x8 feet, and the height of the building 30 feet; the tower being 10 feet higher than the roof. The seating accommodation was for 120 persons. The Rev. Rieminschneider commenced his Maori mission on behalf of the Presbyterian Church in June 1862. The services at that time being held in a dilapidated cottage.

        
By February 1863, the Maoris had placed in the missionary's hands £57 for the projected church, later this sum was augmented, and when building operations commenced, £170 had been collected. The exterior work on the the church cost £250 and the interior £30. The pulpit was made by the Rev. Rieminschneider, and the fancy linen work was the gift of Mrs Perry. Clergy present were: Rev. Dr. Stuart, Conebe, Johnstone, Bunn, Fraser, R. Hood, W. Gillies and Will. Many prominent citizens of 
Dunedin and Port Chalmers were present. The Rev. Rieminschneider passed away in 1866. In 1873, Bishop Nevill, with the assistance of a member of the Taiaroa family, managed to have the Presbyterian services at 
Otakou replaced by those of the Anglican Church. The Rev. Ngara, a native clergyman was the Anglican choice.

        
The school at 
Otakou was erected during January 1869, and was opened in March, with Mr Oldfield as its first teacher. H. Leask took over in October 1869, and continued as master until the end of 1871. On January 1st, 1872, Mr Walker 

became the schoolmaster, and the female pupils were taught sewing by Mrs Walker. The school and master's house were erected on land set aside by the Maoris as a church reserve. The buildings were partly erected at the expense of the natives. Additions were later made, for which a Provincial Government subsidy of £286 was forthcoming. The roll in 1874 stood at 19 boys and 6 girls. The teacher's salary was £50 per annum. In 1876, Mr Lucas was the master and there were 31 pupils.

        
On the North Spit, close to Heywards Point, was a small kaiaka with cultivations; this was occupied by Maori squatters under a chief from Arowhenua in South Canterbury, known as Kaikaorere. When the 
Otakou Block was sold, Taiaroa gave him land at 
Otakou as compensation. Kaikaorere, known to the Europeans as Big Fellow, was accidentally drowned on May 2nd, 1852. The North Spit and the burial caves alongside the Otago Harbour Board Quarry, have yielded numerous curios and relics right up to April 8th, 1929. The numerous skeletons show the force of the influenza and measles epidemics of the whaling days.

        
The Maori name of Port Chalmers, which is Koputai 
(high tide) refers to an occasion when a war party left their canoe, as they thought, high and dry at a cave at Boiler Point toward Carey's Bay; to their discomfiture it was carried away by the high tide. Goat Island is Rangiriri, and was an abode of the god Tangaroa. Quarantine Island is Mamoe Taurua 
(place of the nets) or Kamau taurua, once a favourite fishing place. Takirikao is the point of the Port Chalmers Peninsula nearest Sawyer's Bay, and Te Waitohi the part nearset Port Chalmers. Kahukarere is Kilgour Point at Sawyer's Bay. Te Umu te whiti is halfway between Burkes and Ravensbourne. Te Paopiri is the eastern part of Ravensbourne. Kaitaka Tamariki is the old Maori name of Ravensbourne. Pu waitaha is Burkes. Logans Point is Otukaiwheti and Black Jacks Point is 
Tauranga pipi. Maia, the hill behind Burkes is a personal name meaning "
brave". Signal Hill bears the Maori name Te Pahuri o te Rangipohika, and the fashionable suburb of 
Dunedin called Opoho bears the name of a warrior chief of the Ngati Wairua, who dwelt thereabouts 200 years ago. Otepoti, the centre of Dunedin City, was formerly the site of an old Maori canoe landing. The name Otepoti signifies "
a corner of the harbour".

        

Dunedin never boasted a large native population. The occasional residents belonged mainly to the Ngati Wairua augmented by a few members of the Ngati Ruahikihiki, Ngati Taoka and Ngati Kaweriri hapus of the Ngai Tahu Tribe. The main attraction was the eels obtained from the mouths of the various streams, such as the Owheo 
(Water of Leith), Toitu, and the Kaituna, which entered the harbour near the site of the present Gas Works. Ko ranga a ranga te rangi was 

the old name of Hillside. Nga moano-o-rua is the site of the Dunedin Gaol, and Matau kareao marks lower Hanover Street. A chief named Tamarua, lived and died and was buried on a site overlooking Otepoti. A descendant claimed the site in 1879. The site of the old landing place known as Otepoti, at 
Dunedin, was made a native reserve in 1852, by 
Sir George Grey, on the advice of 
Mr W. B. Mantell, then Commissioner of Crown Lands, the site being used by the Maoris until 1861. It was recognised as a Native Reserve by Captain Cargill, who had a native hostelry built on it. From 1848 until 1855 no Europeans used the land, but in the later years a blacksmith squatted on the ground.

        
In 1861, the town of 
Dunedin, backed by the 
Otago Provincial Government coveted the site as it stood in the way of harbour improvements, and the legality of the belated justice of 
Sir George Grey to the Maoris was questioned. On July 22nd, 1865, Henry Sewell, Attorney General, on behalf of the General Government upheld the legal ownership by the Maoris. On January 11th, 1866, 
Sir George Grey inadvertently issued a Crown Grant to the Superintendent of 
Otago, which had been placed between other grants requiring signature by the Governor from the 
Otago Provincial Government. Though 
Sir George Grey soon dropped to his mistake, he was not quick enough. The crown grant was well on its way by ship to 
Dunedin. The supporters of the 
Otago Provincial Government in the General Government were strong enough to defeat a motion to have the legality of the crown grant of the Otepoti 
(Princes Street) Reserve tested by the Supreme Court. The Maoris then took action at the Supreme Court and lost. The Court of Appeal supported the decision, so the Maoris moved to have the matter tried by the Privy Council. The sum of £5,000 was then paid to the natives to stop proceedings in 1872. In 1877, the Maoris petitioned Parliament for the rents that had accrued prior to the issuing of the crown grant. The Maoris asked £6,000. In 1878, Parliament voted £5,000 to settle the matter. £1,000 was paid out at Kaiapoi and £4,000 at 
Otakou.

        
That the natives came out of the whole matter as well as they did was owing to the energy of the 
Hon. W. B. D. Mantell and Mr Izard their lawyer, coupled with the sympathy of the Hons. W. Rolleston, J. Sheehan and W. Fox in Parliament. The Hon. John Byrce, of Parihaka fame, was a strong opponent of the native claim. The Princes Street 
(Otepoti) Reserve 
Dunedin, is now well away from the water front, and in the most valuable part of the City it is forgotten except by the Maoris who still consider themselves wronged. When the 
Native Land Court was in session at 
Dunedin, on June 14th, 1929, the Maoris took up a proposal by Mr Tuiti Makitanara, m.p., to spend £3,000 on erecting a carved meeting house at 
Dunedin if the Ngai Tahu Claim was settled in a satisfactory way.

        


        
Tradition says the Maoris had a pa called Puketai at Anderson's Bay, also that a skirmish, details of which are not now known, took place long ago at Halfway Bush on the slopes of Flagstaff, the site being called Taputakinoi. Flagstaff Hill, a favourite resort of trampers, is known to the Maoris as Whanau-paki and Swampy Hill as Whawha-raupo. The low divide between these hills is Whe kore; the whole range, however, is Whaka-ari 
(held up to view). Waverley is Te Koau and Macandrews Bay is Te Rotopateke. Pudding Island between Smith Bay and Portobello bears the Maori name Paotiteremoana. On the coast Lawyer's Head is named Te Ika a paraheke, Maori Head is Otane, and Highcliff is Tutaehinu. Sandymount is called Pikiwhara, and on its south extremity stood a pa called Orau. Tutekawa, a chief whose name figures often in the Maori history of 
Otago and Southland, is buried there. The writer has reason to believe the relics of this worthy lie in a cave on the ocean face of the cliffs, inaccessible except with ropes.

        
In the forties Kahuti, Kurukuru and others were dwelling on Sandymount. These folk belonged to the Ngati Wairua and Ngati Raki. Kahuti died at Old Waikouaiti in 1881. Poatiri is the name of Mount Charles, the highest point of Cape Saunders Peninsula. The lighthouse in on Matakitaki Point, not on the real Cape Saunders 
(Kai-mata). At little Papanui Beach, near Cape Saunders, was situated a Maori pa which figures in the story of Tarewai. Te Wera and Taumaro also dwelt there for a short period after the former chief had vacated Huriawa at Old Waikouaiti, and prior to his departure to Moturata Island at Taieri Mouth. The old pa at Papanui stood where the Orangi-wairua stream enters the sea, the place being called Au-raki-tau rira. Not only the pa-site but the burial-grounds nearby have been for nearly a half-century well dug over by curio collectors.

        
The New Zealand Government in 1862, were leasing 20 acres of the native land at Cape Saunders at an annual rental of £20, based on a 21 year lease for marine purposes. Makahoe is the Maori name of Wickliffe Bay, on the beach of which can still be seen the wreck of the S.S. "Victory". On the northern extremity of this Bay is the long headland Whakarekaiwi. The southern headland is Tara kipa. Wai whakaheke on the coast just south of Taiaroa Head is one of the few places in the South Island where the dead received water burial. The Taiaroa Head Lighthouse was built from stone obtained on the land occupied by Korako Karetai. In November 1877, he was awarded £50 compensation.

        
The Runanga Hall at 
Otakou opened on January 22nd, 1874, and named Te Mahi Tamariki 
(the work of children), measured 60 x 30 feet, was demolished in 1945 to make room for a larger and more up-to-date building. The Union Jack 

flown in 1874 was a gift from 
Sir Julius Vogel. The new hall, the most ornate Maori Hall in the South Island, was opened on December 7th, 1946, by the Right Hon. Peter Fraser. Messrs G. Karetai, R. M. Taiaroa, and T. Wesley, as representatives of the 
Otakou natives, welcomed the visitors. The Rev. E. Te Tuhi of Auckland, made the reply, and delivered the necessary karakia 
(prayer) to raise the tapu off the building. Mrs Cameron, Mayoress of 
Dunedin, was accorded the honour of being the first woman to cross the threshold. Messrs Miller and White were the architects. The 
Rev. T. A. Pybus was the force behind the venture. The new Hall is named Tamatea, after the explorer who voyaged around New Zealand in the Takitimu Canoe. This famous canoe was wrecked at the Waimeha Stream near the Waiau River in Southland. The canoe was transformed into the Takitimu Mountains of Southland according to Maori legend.

        
The Maoris in conference discussed the Ngai Tahu Claim. During May 1875, representatives from all the principal native settlements from Kaiapoi to Port Molyneux, foregathered at 
Otakou to give consideration to the Ngai Tahu Claim. 
The Hon. J. Sheehan, Native Minister of 
Sir George Grey's Government, paid an unofficial visit to 
Otakou, and was warmly welcomed by the Maoris, who well knew his sympathy with native grievances. On December 8th, 1892, the Hon. A. J. Cadman paid the first official visit of a Native Minister to 
Otakou. 
The Hon. A. J. Cadman spoke on the land available for Landless Natives. Access to 
Otakou was improved during August 1905, when the Otago Road Board was permitted by the New Zealand Government to take land to form a public road through the Otakou Reserve.

        
The North Spit is named Wai para para. Its southern portion is called Te Mapou, and the northern part near the Bear and Lion Rocks is Nga tamariki a parera. Otuhare rau is the south-east portion of Heywards Point. Jacob's Ladder at Heywards Point is called Otu warerau. Otawhero is the name of the small point called Otafelo. Otawhiroki is Taylor Point and Taraepuha is Pulling Point. Kaparukakahu is the Maori name of Deborah Bay. Te Ana o te makau is at the southern end of Carey's Bay.

        
The Native Reserve at Port Chalmers was set aside by 
Mr W. B. D. Mantell and sanctioned by 
Sir George Grey, Governor in 1853. The Presbyterian Church at the 
Native Land Court held at 
Dunedin in 1868, claimed one of the sections which formed part of the reserve. However the title to the three remaining sections was issued to the Maoris in the names of Horomona Pohi, O Hoani Wetere Korako, Hori Kerei Taiaroa and Hone Topi Patuki. Overlooking the country traversed in this chapter, stands Mount Cargill, the highest of its hills and until a quarter-century ago covered with much bush, which, alas, 

fire swept clean! Its beauty departed, the long Maori name remains—Kapukataumahaka.

        
On June 30th, 1943, 
General Freyberg, Commander of the New Zealand Division in the World War II, received a welcome from the Maoris of 
Otago and Southland at the Y.M.C.A. Concert Hall, 
Dunedin. Addresses were made by P. Karetai and Ned Parata. A presentation of a paper weight, representing a silver Kiwi formed on a greenstone base, was handed to General Fryberg by Miss Parata. Mr A. H. Allen, Mayor of 
Dunedin, represented the Europeans. Maori or pakeha can with every confidence, when viewing 
Dunedin and 
Otakou Harbour from Highcliff, and after seeing the sights in other places, endorse the views expressed in 
Thomas Bracken's poem, "
Dunedin from the Bay". "… these may be grand, but give to me 
Dunedin from the bay." Perhaps the history told may add interest to those otherwise uninfluenced by beauty.

        
The name 
Otakou is a name imported from 
Hawaiki; usually interpreted "red clay". The name, however, referred to an old channel into the harbour, and was bestwed in error to the land by the early whalers, and there it remains.
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Anyone making a scrutiny of the location of Maori tools, etc., found in various parts of New Zealand now in the 
Otago and Canterbury Museums, will be astonished at the evidence which proves that the Maoris were second to no other race in being thorough explorers, even in such unpromising country (to them) as the 
Otago Central. Mr J. W. Hamilton, in the early days of Canterbury, recommended the Survey Department to lay out roads following as closely as possible the old Maori tracks. Intentionally and otherwise (perhaps the latter) our roads and railways generally have made little divergence from that advice. The valleys of the Molyneux, Mataura and Taieri Rivers all figure in Maori history.

        
The Molyneux River, where it issues from Lake Wanaka, is 990 feet above sea level. At Clyde the minimum discharge is 522,000 cubic feet per minute, and below Balclutha 1,690,000 cubic feet per minute. This river drains 7,000 square miles. At Balclutha the velocity is greater below the surface where the flow is four miles per hour, and on the surface three miles per hour. The Molyneux, the greatest river in New Zealand, was personified by the old-time Maori into a monster, and is the subject of two legends.

        
Some seventy years ago 
Mr Hanson Turton told the story of Matai (the Maori name of the Molyneux), in a short but easily understandable way. Years later the tale was enlarged out of recognition with theatrical embellishments and published in a New Zealand Government publication, and forgotten until the writer retold it in something like its original form in the Christchurch Press (February 16th, 1939).

        

	
            
"In the heart of 
Otago Central there once dwelt a chief who possessed a very handsome daughter named Manata. Many a young man longed to have her for his wife, but the old chief was exceptionally particular about the choice of his son-in-law. It came about that a young warrior named Matakawri, unfortunately of low degree, fell in love with Manata, and his affection was reciprocated. The old chief who was furious, kept his daughter under close observation, but a giant named Matau came and stole her away. The heart-broken father then offered Manata in marriage to the man who could bring her safe home. Strong young warriors quailed at such a task, but the love 

that throbbed in the heart of Matakauri was so great that no obstacle could stand in the way. He went forth on a preliminary scouting, and discovered that where the giant Matau dwelt, when an east wind blew, the monster invariably went into the deepest sleep. Selecting a day with that favourable wind, Matakauri essayed forth. He found Matau fast asleep; but he also found Manata fastened to the monster by strong cords. Manata's heart throbbed with joy at the sight of her lover. Matakauri set to work with his mere to sever the bonds, but try as he could, he failed. Manata then sobbed bitterly; her tears, however, fell on the thongs. So great was the love embodied in her tears that the cords were melted away. Matakauri picked up Manata in his arms, and she was carried safely home to the old chief, who, as a reward, allowed the lovers to become man and wife. While Matau lived, no maiden was safe, so Matakauri sallied forth once more on a day with the favourable east wind. The brave warrior found the giant sound asleep as expected. Matakauri set fire to the large growth of bracken used as a bed; the giant was smothered in the flames, the fat from his body augmenting the fire, until the blaze was so fierce that it burned a hole in the land more than 1,000 feet deep. The snow on the distant hills melted, streams poured forth, and filled up the hollow; you can see it to-day—it is Lake Wakatipu."

          


        
        
From Lake Wakatipu and its sister lakes of 
Otago Central, flow rivers which join and form the Matau or Molyneux River. The other legend about Kopuwai 
(water swallower) has often been told, another telling will make little difference, particularly as love, quite as strong a passion as hate in Maori character, is lacking, indeed one could imagine the original home of the story was Borneo.

        

	
            
"In the vicinity of Kawarau, near the outlet of Lake Wakatipu, dwelt a veritable monster named Kopuwai. One of his captives was a Maori girl named Kaiamio. On going to sleep the monster fastened her to his leg, considering that a tug now and then would assure him that she was still secured. When the monster eventually went to sleep, she substituted a large log of wood in place of herself. Kopuwai tugged occasionally, and feeling the strain, considered all was well. The girl, however had obtained a flax raft and escaped down the river to her friends at Port Molyneux. On waking in the morning the monster was extremely angry at being duped, and his wrath was so great that he swallowed so much water from the Kawarau that for a period the river was emptied right down to its rocky bed." Kopuwai to-day can be seen as the rock called the Obelisk on the Old Man Range, while Kaiamio is the lagoon near by.

          


        
        


        
Having seen the Matau in flood, the country from Benhar to Otanomomo 
( Otanemoamoa), down to Kaitangata, a surging mass of water, one can easily feel, like the Maoris of old, that there exists a destructive monster. Okura is the Maori name of the rapids at the junction of the Molyneux and Kawarau Rivers. Otakihia are rapids on the river above Cromwell, while the old-time pa on the site now occupied by Cromwell, was Wairere. Alexandra is Ka moana haehae.

        
The Maoris used to have a camping site on the banks of the Molyneux River, 2½ miles south of Miller's Flat, opposite to Island Block, one of the Maori ovens being at least 50 feet in length. In 1907, a thirty foot canoe was found half-way between the river and Dismal Swamp.

        
Lake Wakatipu, one of the sources of the great Molyneux River, is famed as a picturesque tourist resort, but long before pakeha feet trod its shores, it was the abode of the gallant Ngati Mamoe Tribe. At least one story of the tribe deals with what we are too often inclined to call the "weaker sex", and the background to it is Lake Wakatipu. On its shores near Queenstown once stood a pa called Tahuna where was born an Ngati Mamoe chief named Tu Wiri Roa who grew to manhood there, married, and had a daughter named Haki Te Kura. She grew to womanhood at Tahuna, where she saw the Ngati Mamoe women swimming in the lake. Her ambition was to excel them all. From a vantage point on the lower slopes of Ben Lomond she watched the swimmers. When she told her father of her hopes, Te Wiri Roa coached his daughter.

        
One day, confidence gained, and provided with a bunch of dry raupo, Haki Te Kura set forth before day-break and swam the two-and-a-half miles across the cold waters of Lake Wakatipu, using the Cecil and Walter Peaks as her guiding beacon. She landed safely at Refuge Point, and lit a fire to warm her chilled body. Te Wiri Roa observed the fire and proudly sent a canoe across to bring his daughter back. The mark of the fire at Refuge Point can still be seen, and is called 
Te Ahi o Haki Te Kura. The guiding peaks are 
Ko Kamu o Haki Te Kura. Kawarau Peninsula also bears the name of the Maori woman swimmer as 
Te Unuku o Haki Te Kura. Haki Te Kura figures again in the history of Taieri Ferry, which is told in another chapter. Te Kirikiri Pa used to occupy the site of the Park at Queenstown. The Ngati Mamoe had a pa near the Kawarau Falls on the north side called Oteroto, and on the south side one called Tititea. At Kingston was a pa called Takerehaka. Queenstown Peninsula is named Te Kararo; Queenstown Hill is Tapanui. Kinloch is called Totara ka wha wha; the Rees River is Puahere; the Dart River is Te Awa Wakatipu. Diamond Lake (so often photographed) is Oturu. This locality was the home of the former Waitaha Tribe. Mount Earnslaw is Te Puke rakitahi. The Humbolt 

Range is Te Koraka and an old pa nearby was Puia, greenstone being obtained there. The island at the upper end of Lake Wakatipu is known as Wawahi waka.

        
Lake Wakatipu is 52 miles long and 3 miles wide at its widest part, area approximately 112 square miles, 1,242 feet in depth, and 1,016 feet above sea level. A peculiarity of Lake Wakatipu is that its overflow at Kawarau by no means accounts for the water taken in. Geologists believe its waters find an underground channel into one of the tributaries of the Mataura River which starts from huge gushing springs.

        
Early in the fighting between the Ngai Tahu and Ngati Mamoe Tribes, a taua of the former, 300 strong, set out from Temuka, in Canterbury, under Te Mahika to destroy the Tititea Pa at Kawarau Falls. The force journeyed south via Omarama, Omaka (Lindis), Albertown, over the Crown Range 
(Haumatiketike), down the Arrow to Tititea. The Ngai Tahu found the taking of the pa beyond their power, and had to retreat, burning the grass behind them to hinder pursuit. An incoming fog also assisted the Ngai Tahu in making a safe get-away to Canterbury.

        
That Lake Wakatipu was long known to the Maoris is shown by the fact that greenstone adzes and chisels were discovered several feet down in the soil near Lake Wakatipu during October 1876. About 1710 A.D. a war party of the Ngai Tahu Tribe led by Weka, a son of Te Rangitamau of 
Taumutu and grandson of Tutekawa of Waikakahi, Canterbury, attacked the Ngati Mamoe of Lake Wanaka. The folk of Lake Wanaka were closely related, but that did not deter Weka from slaying his uncle Potiki tautahi and other relations. Kaweriri, a son of Turakautahi the founder of Kaiapohia Pa, North Canterbury, later journeyed with a taua via the Mackenzie Plains to Lake Wanaka to put some finishing touches.

        
The pa at Pembroke, Lake Wanaka, was called Para karehu. The Tautahi Mountains are named after the slain Ngati Mamoe chief. Lake Wanaka is 928 feet above sea level, is 14 by 12 miles, and the area is 75 square miles. Pigeon Island on Lake Wakatipu has for its Maori name Te Mou a Hou and its tiny lakelet is Moutimu. Crescent Island is Motutapu.

        
The early European settlers of the sixties record large clearings being found up the Matukituki River at the head of Lake Wanaka. Three miles up the Matukituki River there once stood a pa called Nehenehe, where Te Puoho captured the Ngai Tahu chief Te Mohene during the famous raid by the northerners on Tuturau near Mataura in 1837. Three of Te Puoho's party were slain at Lake Wanaka. Matetapu Creek is an old burial place. Taki karara Pa was situated on the peninsula between Roy and Dublin Bays. At Makarora, where the river enters Lake Wanaka, Te Puoho
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took several Ngai Tahu as prisoners. Makarora is considered as two days' journey from the 
West Coast, and when the track over Haast Pass is formed into a motor road, the time taken will be considerably less.

        
The Matukituki River is named after an old-time chief. The summit of Haast Pass is Toripatea, and Mount Brewster is called Hau mai tiketike 
(wind blowing from the heights). Wakanui is the locality at the base of the Minarets. Ote whakariki, the Minarets Burn. Ote kotihake near Rambling Burn on the western side. Kotorepi is south of Buchanan's Creek. Parakarehu is the peninsula at Stevenson's Arm. Pokeinamu is an island in Stevenson's Arm. Teuhaha is near Isthmus Inlet; Orokotewhata, a saddle near Isthmus Inlet. Oterahere is near Teat Ridge. Otuawhiti is near Steepburn; Te Marara is near the Young River. Paekai is the creek and bush at the homestead at the head of Lake Wanaka and Oturaki is near-by. Ote pitoko is at Rayburn; Toakarora near Estuary Burn. Oewraki and Parapatea are at the head of Lake Wanaka. Te wai a takaia is the vicinity of Mount Barker. Lake Hawea is l,062 feet above sea level, is 12 miles long by 2 miles wide and has an area of 48 square miles.

        
Te Puoho's northern raiders in 1837 captured a few of an eeling party of Ngai Tahu at Lake Hawea, a better result than Kaweriri obtained a few generations previously in endeavouring to wipe out the Ngati Mamoe of that district. Manuhaia is a lagoon near Pekerakitahi at the Isthmus, Lake Hawea, and was the site of an eeling kianga. Uretawa is the vicinity of Craig Creek, Otemamaku the localty west of the Hawea River, and Upoko tauia is the site of a one time native village up the Hunter River. Taumakuokuhare is on the north-west side of Lake Hawea, Huri popoiarua is by the East Burn, and Terahaka o te awe awe is a range at the upper end of Lake Hawea. Te Wai rere are falls at Isthmus Inlet, Turihuka is nearby, Haumai is north of Fraser's Creek, Tike tike is on the east side of Lake Hawea and Poitarariki represents the outlet of Lake Hawea.

        
The 
Native Land Court, under Chief Judge F. D. Fenton, sitting at 
Dunedin in 1868, granted the Maoris a reserve at Hawea of 100 acres at the site of the old time kainga of Manuhaia. The literal translations of the names Wanaka and Hawea respectively are "
legend" and "
doubt".

        
The Taieri River takes its rise in the Taieri Lake, alas through gold mining in its vicinity, now merely a muddy lagoon. The old Maori name of this place of "
mahinga kai" was Tuna hekataka, and over eeling rights a small fracas once occurred there. A Maori track used to go from the Kyeburn to Dansey Pass. Waipiata is translated as "
glistening water" and the well-known Maniatoto Plain is "
plain of blood". The Maniatoto Plain was a place of food getting, and some other reason 

must be ascribed for the wording. The Manuherekia valley was also a food-gathering place, and the name implies that birds caught there were tied together. A desolate place it appears to-day with dredge tailings and rusting machinery!

        
Along the course of the Pou-mahaka 
(posts to which snares are attached), one of the principal feeders of the Molyneux, can be observed downs on which perhaps the best sheep in New Zealand graze, especially near Waikoi koi 
(cool cool water).

        
On the Poumahaka River below Conical Hill there are falls. These are called Opurere 
(flying mist) and were frequented by Maoris taking lampreys. The show locality for modern visitors to the towns of Tapanui, Kelso and Heriot is the Leithen Gorge with all its rugged beauty. The Maori name of which is Oreheke. The Tapanui, or better-known Blue Mountains Range separates the Poumahaka River from the Molyneux River. On the summit of the Blue Mountains Maori implements have been found, and also on the popular approaches such as Black Gully and Whisky Gully. Bird and other life no doubt abounded. The dried skeletons of ancient forest perhaps produced firewood for the Maori ovens.

        
Tapanui has been translated "
sacred ground", "a weaving pattern", "mussel", "great edge". The last mentioned can be taken as correctly descriptive, as the summit of the mountain is a long saucer depression with an edge, breaks in which allow streams like the Rankleburn and Blackcleugh to pass out to join the main rivers. There is reason to believe that the correct name of the Tapanui Range is Tapu wae nuku 
(foot-steps of the Rainbow God), like that of the Kaikoura Mountains of 
Marlborough.

        
Some of the territory covered in this chapter figures in the fourteen or so traditional journeys of Tamatea, the great explorer of the South Island of New Zealand of six hundred years ago. Tamatea is credited with having trekked from the mouth of the Waitaki River up to Lake Hawea. On Lake Hawea he canoed to Manuhaia, tramped to Lake Wanaka, canoed up that lake to Makarora, and travelled over Haast Pass on foot to the coast. Another tradition says he also journeyed to the 
West Coast via the Matukituki River, and over the saddle down to Jackson's Bay.

        
Not long before the white man first saw Lake Hawea it boasted a "
floating island". The Maoris' looked upon the island as being the handwork of a taniwha, a fabled water monster. The narration says that when a Maori named Taki was fishing on the shore of the lake, the section on which he stood broke adrift and floated about from place to place with the wind. To the pakeha it is quite understandable, especially if he has heard of or seen the "
floating island" on the lakelet at Glen Wye, near the Lewis Pass route to the west coast of 
Nelson.

        
A former generation believed that a curious animal 
some-

thing like a beaver lived at Lakes Wanaka and Hawea, and the Maoris called it a "
kaurahe". However it is now looked on as mythical. The name Wakatipu has been translated as "
crooked lake". A peculiarity of the water of Lake Wakatipu is that it rises and falls three inches at intervals of five minutes, just in some respects like the beat of the human heart. A satisfactory explanation has never been given. Would it be too much to believe that Matau (or even Kopuwai) still lives, and it is only after all the heart beats of a giant?
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Murihiku, "
end of the tail" is the Maori naming of the most southerly province of New Zealand, namely Southland. Within the boundaries of this district exists the finest lake and fiord scenery in New Zealand. Lake Poteriteri, which has an area of 17 square miles, and Lake Hauroko, of 25 square miles, situated beyond the great Waiau River are unfortunately set in country suited to visitation only by experienced explorers. The lakes of the Waiau watershed—Te Anau, Monowai (correctly Manokiwai), Manapouri (correctly Manawa pouri) are easily visited. There are a dozen or more lakelets all bearing European names, but these are not connected with the story of Murihiku.

        
Lake Te Anau is 33 miles long by 6 miles wide, area 132 square miles; Lake Manawa pouri, 12 miles long by 6 miles wide, area 56 square miles; Lake Manokiwai, 12 miles long by 1 mile wide, area 12 square miles. The Maoris of Southland always pronounce Te Anau as "Te Ana u". The name Te Anau has been translated in several ways—"
uneven surface", "long view", "lake of many arms", "water current in a cave"; however the lake is in actual fact called after Te Anau, a granddaughter of Hekeia, whose name is bestowed on the Longwood Range.

        
About the year 1775 A.D., Te Hau tapu nui o tu lead a taua of Ngai Tahu, augumented by members of the Ngati Mamoe who stood by the alliance made at Kaiapoi, towards Te Anau, where it was determined to slay the irreconcilables. One section of the latter journeyed to Lake Manawapouri led by Te Mauwai, while the rest journeyed to Te Anau. The taua caught the Te Anau section under Pukutahi at the South Fiord. Pukutahi and his immediate companions were slain, the others made good their escape on rafts to the head of Lake Anau. Journeying over to the Sounds the fugitives joined others of similar fortune from other fightings, becoming known to later generations as the "
Lost hapu of Ngati Mamoe". A Maori authority of European times estimated that the lost tribe at one time numbered 500 souls. Captain Cook's vessel, the "Resolution" visited 
Dusky Sound (as is shown by the log) on March 28th, 1773 A.D. Two canoes with Maoris and families aboard were observed. Huts were seen on March 30th, but contacts were not made until April 10th. On April 19th, the natives received gifts.

        


        
When Captain Vancouver of the "Discovery" visited Facile Arm, 
Dusky Sound on November 10th, 1781 A.D., he saw huts just vacated. Lieutenant W. R. Broughton of the "Chatham", in George Sound, November 11th, 1791, records similar information. Captain Raven of the "Britannia" at Breaksea Sound, on November 13th, 1792, saw both huts and natives, and at 
Dusky Sound, on October 11th, 1793 A.D., only huts were seen. When Captain Bamptoh in 1795 A.D., visited 
Dusky Sound the natives fled. Captain Raven had a similar experience at Chalky Inlet and Preservation Inlet. In 1823, Captain Dawson saw evidences of recent occupation. Captain John Balleny of the "Eliza Scott' in 1838 saw only Maori footprints.

        
In 1830, a war party of the. Ngai Tahu, led by Rimurapa, Hurou and Whatui, caught a woman named Takitekura at Taumoana on the west side of Resolution Island, but as she refused to divulge the hide-out of her people, she was consequently slain. 
Captain Howell of Riverton found evidence of occupation at 
Bligh Sound in 1842, and Captain Stokes in 1850, actually saw the natives. The Lost Hapu were seen in 1872 by explorers, and again in 1882. That was the last occasion. There appears to be little doubt that the natives seen by Captain Cook in 1773, were Maru, Te Ao paraki and a chieftainess named Kai mai waho and companions from the fight at Preservation Inlet. These folk are said to have ended their days at Taumoana on Resolution Island. Along the sparsely explored coastline west from Port Craig, there is abundant evidence of former occupation. "Rosaline Redwood" (Mrs Thomas), a writer to women's magazines, in one of her articles gives photographic corroboration.

        
My friend, Mr Herries Beattie, gives the name of the old Maori canoe landing near the sawmills at Port Craig as Te Whata. Sandhill Point in western Southland bears the name Hakapureirei. Mr Beattie says the Ngati Mamoe chief Te Hikumaia lived there. A smaller war party of the Ngai Tahu, under two brothers Hotu and Tamatahi, paid a visit and slew Te Hikumaia. Hotu of course claimed the wife. Not content however, he slew also his brother Tamatahi, and appropriated his brother's wife. News of the vile deed reached the relatives and Hotu met his doom by makutu 
(the curse of death). In the chapter on 
Otakou, mention is made of fighting there and of a Ngai Tahu chief named Tarewai. A section of the Ngati Mamoe concerned in that warfare, betook themselves to Preservation Inlet and built a pa called Pa-a-te-whara on Matauira Island. Tarewai and his kinsmen Te Waha-o-te-marama with others of the Ngai Tahu Tribe, went south by two double canoes ostensibly on a friendly visit, but lay off in the bay delaying the coming ashore till morning. The Ngati Mamoe that evening attached ropes to the canoes, and dragged the 

craft with the sleeping passengers ashore, and took all the Ngai Tahu prisoners. Tarewai made a bid to escape, but slipped on greasy flax laid for the purpose. He struggled desperately until dispatched. The companions of Tarewai met the same fate as their leader.

        
The Ngai Tahu of 
Otakou raised a war party under the chiefs Maru and Te Ao paraki and proceeded south for revenge at Matauira Island. Maru impersonated a seal and drew the occupants of the pa out into the open and into ambush. The pa was taken. However the Ngai Tahu had left their canoes unguarded, and a party of the Ngati Mamoe, returning from a fishing expedition, appropriated the craft and sailed defiantly off, leaving the Ngai Tahu marooned at Pa-te-whara. These are the natives who it is believed were seen by Captain Cook in 1773 A.D. One thing is certain, Maru, Te Ao paraki and others never returned to 
Otakou. Tradition says they ended their days at Preservation Inlet, probably near where the township of Te Oneroa now stands.

        
The Waiau River is an extremely swift-flowing river, and the Maoris declared it was three times more difficult to navigate than the Waitaki River of the Canterbury-
Otago border. The natives seldom used flax rafts other than up the stream near the Lakes. Europeans say the river at Tuatapere is one foot higher at the middle of the current than at the banks. Tutaka hina hina was a chief who once held sway at the mouth of the Waiau River. The great explorer Tamatea with the Takitimu Canoe attempted to sail that craft into the mouth of the Waiau River, but was baffled. The Takitimu Canoe of six hundred years ago met its doom at the mouth of the Waimeha Stream. The wrecked canoe was transformed into the well`known Takitimu Mountains. The canoe had narrowly missed disaster at the mouth of the Waiau River.

        
The old Maori ford over the Waiau River was called Tuahu. There was a fishing village at the mouth, where dwelt the chiefs Te Ao and Te Waewae. Kai namu was a camping place where the sandflies were a nuisance. The average fall of the Waiau River is 10 feet per mile. Tua tapera has been translated as "
pout of the lips", said to be a reference to water drunk there being bitter to the taste. The common rendering is "
small island". There is an island on the river near the old ferry. The late 
Mr James Cowan gives the meaning of Tuatapere as "
sacred ceremony at a singing assembly".

        
O whitianga te ra 
(place of the shining sun), was the name of a Waitaha Pa close to the southern end of Lake Te Anau. An eeling pa at Lake Te Anau was called Te Rua-o-te Moko. Te Kowhai Pa was situated at the entrance to South Fiord. On the south-western shore was situated a lagoon named Wai o Pani 
(pool of the orphan). Moturau 
(hundred isles) was the name of an old Maori kainga on a stream one 

mile north of the outlet of the Waiau River at Lake Manawa pouri, and was occupied by members of the Ngati Mamoe Tribe until the year 1865. Moturau was sometimes given as the name of the lake. Shallow Bay at the west end of Lake Manawapouri, near a lagoon has a grassy flat covered with Maori ovens. Where a stream enters the lake can be seen converging weirs and net stakes used by Maori eeling parties. The limestone caves nead Clifden were used by fugitive members of the Ngati Mamoe Tribe as places of refuge. Te Rua a te kai amio is the Maori name of the caves.

        
Tradition says, Tamatea, at a place near Te Anau, called Te Rua o te moko, prepared the pigment used for tattooing. From Lake Te Anau to Milford Sound is a distance of 74 miles, and as early as 1859, 
Captain Howell of Riverton, informed the Chief Surveyor of 
Otago that the Maoris had said there was a route from the Head of Lake Te Anau to Milford Sound. Roto-ua 
(rainy lake), is said to be the original name of Lake Manawa pouri. For over a half century it has been known that Lake Mavora should be called Mararoa. Its sister lake is Lake Hikurangi. The stream that drains these lakes is the Marae roa 
(long courtyard) which flows into the Waiau River. The Maoris knew the routes not only to the Sounds, but also to Martin's Bay and Jacksons Bay. The journey to Martins Bay was made via the Lake Harris Saddle from both Lake Te Anau and Lake Wakatipu and down the Hollyford River to Lake Mi Kerrow. The Okura Pass was also used by Maoris going to the 
West Coast until the 1866.

        
Te Matehaere, it is known, led a war-party of 300 men of the Ngai Tahu Tribe over to the 
West Coast via the Hollyford River carrying warfare along the coast to the 
Nelson district. J. Hector, the 
Otago Provincial geologist, when at Martin's Bay on August 27th, 1863, observed on the connecting rivers the remains of the old Maori pa which is 3 miles long. The new pa had for its only inhabitants a Maori with a wife and two daughters. They arrived at Martin's Bay from Jackson's Bay in 1860. The Hollyford River was known to the Maoris as Whakatipu katuka, and Lake McKerrow bore the name of Whakatipu waitai. Big Bay was Wai one and Okari was the site of the Maori village there, while Atua rere is the point separating Big Bay from Martin's Bay. The Pike River and Lake Alabaster both bore the name Mawahiwaka. Lake Alabaster was much frequented by Maori eeling parties.

        
Daggs Sound, called Te Ra, was used in the early European era by Maori sealers as a camping place. When the sealing industry was in vogue, the Maori sealers found a haven in all the dozen Sounds. The Maoris who dwelt at Riverton in a village on the site now occupied by the Riverton High School, used right up to the eighties to visit regularly Te Anau and the back country. The site of the old kainga is still called 

the "Kaik". In the early days the Riverton district was heavily bushed and not bare like it is to-day. Tradition says a battle took place at the mouth of the Aparima River. Numerous skeletons have been discovered from time to time, and not at the regular Maori burial-ground, which was closed in 1862. This cemetery became well filled after an epidemic of measles in 1858.

        
Riverton celebrated its centenary as a European settlement a few years ago, when a memorial to the founder 
Captain Howell was unveiled. Some of the old time Maoris were Paitu, Patu, Parara, Tapui nui Poko, Eai a mi and Tare Te Au. The Maoris had a fishing camp on the Waimatuku, where a bridge now crosses the stream. 
Captain Howell was married to Koekoe, a Ngati Mamoe chieftainess. A school was established for the Maoris in 1866, and J. Ireland was the master. Aparima means "party of five". For some time Riverton was called "Jacob's River". Jacob was a well tattooed Maori of the early days. When American whalers visited Aparima, Jacob fled to the bush as he had been told a tattooed head brought a good price on the European market. There remains unfortunately the fact that the trade in heads prior to 1840, was in vogue (whether taken off a live Maori or a long dried specimen). The Hon. F. Waite, in his history of Port Molyneux, quotes documental evidence of the abominable practice. The beach at Riverton is called Mate a waewae 
(sore feet). Aropaki is the correct name of Orepuki.

        
The eastern point of the bay at Pahia is Ahi rahuru, and the western bluff is Mata whero. On the island called Matariki stood the pa called Kiri o-Tunu, which was once occupied by the kith and kin of the great Ngai Tahu chief Te Wera. Matariki was guarded by a taniwha which guarded the narrow channel that separated the island from the mainland. When the majority of the Ngai Tahu were away food-collecting, the Ngati Mamoe attacked and captured the pa. The tohunga of the pa had instructed the defenders to break through the investing force in small parties. His advice was disregarded and the taniwha deserted its post. Tawheke the tohunga was slain with the rest. The Ngati Mamoe then awaited the return of the food party and the battle was fought on the mainland Teihoka, where the Ngai Tahu were defeated. Near Oraki at the beach of Colac (Korako) Bay, the Ngati Mamoe cooked and ate a women Te Haki. Her name remains slightly corrupted to mark the spot to-day. These events took place approximately in 1770 A.D.

        
The Oreti or New River Estuary, near Invercargill, was much frequented by the Maoris. The correct name of the Puni Creek which flows through Invercargill is Otarewa. Oue or Tuft Island was the site of a pa controlled by a chief Huruhuru, whom the early settlers called Henry. The Bluff
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Hill is called Motupohue, and on its summit was. buried the Ngati Mamoe chief Te Rakitauneke, whose escapades figure from Kaikoura to Eoveaux Strait. He was in truth "a cat with seven lives" if his reported recoveries from death by cubbing are considered. He died naturally. The name of the Bluff district is Tarere-ki-whenua 
(land of precipices). The Bluff Maori Hostel also bears that name. The New Zealand Government subsidised the erection costs on August 26th, 1902. Green Hills at Bluff Harbour was the favourite Maori resort, the name being Te Ahi rari. Te Whero was a one-time pa at Boat Harbour on the ocean side of the Bluff, and Omaui a pa on the Oreti Estuary. Maui was the chief who was in the district long before the days of Kupe, and the
: members of the Ngai Tahu-Mamoe Tribe can prove it by genealogy. Taurangitewaru was a pa on the site of Invercargill and on the ancient Maori track to the north.

        
The Maori hall at Colac Bay was erected with a subsidy from the New Zealand Government in July, 1904. Ti Wai is the north point of Bluff Harbour, Te Kuri the shoals at the head of the harbour and Te Awarakau is the bay on the coast side of Bluff Hill. Shortly after the arrival of the main body of the Ngai Tahu Tribe across Raukawa (
Cook Strait) to the South Island, a chief named Waitai, with 300 of his followers broke adrift from the others owing to the merciful latitude of leading chiefs to their enemies. Waitai figured at Pukekura (
Otago Heads) and Port Molyneux; always looking for trouble, he had the audacity to establish his abode at Mokamoka at the Bluff, right in the heart of Ngati Mamoe lands. Waitai and his followers were tolerated for a while, but grew to put too much value on themselves, so that the Ngati Mamoe led by Marakai, Tutemakohu and Wahahauka attacked the pa, took it and slew the whole garrison except two. Kaiapu and Tamakino escaped to the far north as told by the 
Rev. Canon Stack. Their glowing accounts of Lake Waihora (Ellesmere) and other places were the means of inducing the Ngai Tahu to move south. Mokamoka was the scene of the first fight between the Ngai Tahu and Ngati Mamoe in Murihiku (Southland) about 1710 A.D.

        
Kaweriri, a son of Turakautahi the founder of Kaiapohia Pa in Canterbury, set out with a large force of the Ngai Tahu Tribe to destroy the Ngati Mamoe of 
Otago and Southland. The force travelled via the Mackenzie Plains to Lake Wanaka, then over the Crown Range, Nevis and Nukumai (now corrupted to Nokomai), to the Waimea Plains, where there was an eeling party of the Ngati Mamoe. An escapee, however, managed to get to Otaupiri and warn the chief Tutemakohu. The latter chief then had insufficient forces to give battle, so he resolved to join up with his comrade Marakai at Lake Wakatipu. Moving off in that direction with his party of men, 

women and children, he was overtaken, and forced to stand with his small force and fight at Waitaramea (Oswald Stream). Tutemakohu slew the leader of the Ngai Tahu, Kaweriri, and his warriors accounted for the lieutenants, Waimatuku being the first to fall. An on-coming fog permitted the Ngati Mamoe to break off the fight and move on to Wakatipu. Disconcerted at the turn of events and the loss of Kaweriri and his lieutenants, the Ngai Tahu returned disconsolate to Canterbury. The Ngai Tahu led by Matauira, however, were successful in a fight at Waiharakeke (Lillburn) towards Lake Te Anau. The chiefs of Waiharakeke Pa were Whetuki, Pane-o-te-kaka and Motu te whiu. Fortunately the two latter chiefs escaped slaughter as at the time of the fight they were eeling on the Waiau River. Having observed the concealed Ngai Tahu warriors on the bank, they allowed themselves a speedy raft journey down the Waiau River, their enemies dared not attempt swimming the river to affect a capture. The fight at Waiharake was about 25 years after the fray at Waitaramea.

        
Near the modern borough of Mataura there is a small farming place called Tuturau. In 1837, at Tuturau a Ngati Tama chief named Te Puoho met his Waterloo. Despite the warnings of his former comrade-in-arms Te Rauparaha, and Nihoniho the Ngati Tama chief at Mawhera (
Greymouth), he set out to conquer the Ngai Tahu. Filled with ambition to outdo Te Rauparaha, he set out from Paturau, in 
Nelson, with 100 warriors and also women folk. Niho niho at Mawhera refused to join in the campaign, although a few of his warriors did. The hard travelling through the wilds of South Westland and over the Haast Pass (Tioripatea), was itself an outstanding achievement. It was a half-famished force that descended down the Makarore River to Lake Wanaka, visiting also Lake Hawea. At Wanaka, two young women captured (Pipiki. and Ramuri) were cooked and eaten. The accounts of Te Puoho's raid are so much at variance as to killings and acts of clemency by both sides (Ngai Tahu and Ngati Tama) that getting the truth is next to impossible, no matter which narrator is followed for material. This statement seems a bold one and a middle course will be steered by the writer.

        
The route taken by Te Puoho from Lake Wanaka to Tuturau has been a bone of contention. The writer is in accord with his friend (historian) Herries Beattie that Te Puoho travelled from Lake Wanaka up the Cadrona River, over the Grown Range to the Kawarau, then across the Natural Bridge, up the Nevis River to Nukumai (Nokomai), and down the Mataura Valley to Tuturau. At the Junction of the Waikaia and Mataura rivers a Ngai Tahu eeling-party was captured. The leaders of the eelers were Korako, Hapaimoko and Reko. One of the Ngati Tama warriors was lost in this part of the 

Mataura and was never seen again. The raiders and their prisoners duly arrived at Tuturau, which was taken by surprise without a struggle. Te Puoho did not inform his captives of their probable fate, and the Ngati Tama set themselves out to feed and rest after their difficult journey.

        
At the Mimihau River near Wyndham the northerners found an eeling-party of the Ngai Tahu. Teoti Wera, Rakitaotao, Matiaha Kukeke aided by their wives beat off the attack and escaped. A young warrior of Ngai Tahu named Tiakikai, from Tiwai Point, by smoke signals to the Bluff gave warning of the fall of Tuturau. Tuhawaiki, the Ngai Tahu chief, quickly gathered together a force of slightly over 100 men, and after consulting the tohunga set forth for the recapture of Tuturau. Chiefs accompanying Tuhawaiki were: Haereroa, Topi Patuki, Taiaroa, Tawiri, Mahere, Takapakino, Hape and Whaitiri. The Ngai Tahu arrived silently by night but waited until dawn before attacking (on the advice of two veterans Porutu and Wharaki). Te Puoho was shot by Topi Patuki, and his head cut off as a trophy. Te Kiore te Wahapiro, a close relative, was taken prisoner by Taiaroa, but later released, reputably on account of Te Hiko having shown generosity to him at Kaiapohia when he closed his eyes to allow Taiaroa's band through the ranks of the besiegers there. Tuturau fell to the Ngati Tama on January 18th, 1837, and was recaptured by the Ngai Tahu on January 23rd, 1837. The prisoners were taken to Ruapuke. Some were slain when attempting to escape; and others managed to do so aided by "Scotch John" whose wife was a North Island Maori. There were no acts of cannibalism practised by the Ngai Tahu.

        
Te Puoho was born at Poutama near Kawhia. His father was Whangatake and his mother Hinewairoro. The accounts of the slaughter vary from only Te Puoho to nearly all the Ngati Tama. Mr Lindsay Buick's is moderate compared with most estimates. Tare Te Wetere Te Kahu, a Maori authority, says the majority, probably three dozen men of little account were slain all through the ambition of Te Puoho to show the Maori fashion of scaling a fish—"start at the tail and work up to the head", otherwise Murihiku to Raukawa.

        
In 1937, Tuturau was vested as a memorial in the Mataura Borough Council by the Maoris of Southland. A monument and carved house were unveiled by John Topi Patuki, descendant of the man who slew Te Puoho. Mataura Falls is a favourite place for taking lamprey (kanakana). For generations the Maoris have visited the falls annually. Te Au-nui (great current) is the name of the Mataura Falls, and the rock wall is Rerepari. Waikanakana is the name given to the river at the falls. On October 1st, 1901, a typical gathering of Maoris visited Mataura Falls and had an exceptional catch of lampreys. These fish, which are of the eel type, jump the 

Falls by holding on to the rock faces by means of suckers which act as mouths. The Maoris catch the kanakana as it holds on. There appears to be some form of leadership with the fish as when a leader is knocked off the others fall off en masse. The takes of kanakana are prodigious and all are dried and stored for future use.

        
In the town of Mataura is a flat rock with a hollow, named Te Kohanga moa (nest of the moa). Moa bones were frequently found at Mataura is the early days. The native reserves of Southland are Oue, Aparima, Oraka, Kawhaka-putaputa, Onetoto, Omaui. These were augmented by the Landless Natives Acts, and these are mostly situated beyond the Waiau River or otherwise in the "never never" country. The Native Department in 1870, complained of the inaccuracy of some Southland surveys, and the native reserves were re-surveyed between the years 1870 and 1874. One native reserve contained 260 acres over, and at least one line was several chains out. The extinguishment of the native right to Murihiku was accomplished by 
Commissioner W. B. Mantell for the Crown on August 17th, 1853, at £2,600.
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Rakiura
        

        

Stewart Island is a land of hills, virgin bush and picturesque bays. It is forty miles in length and twenty-five miles wide with an area of approximately 1,000 square miles. It contains considerable mineral wealth, but the country generally is not suited for carrying a large population, and moreover is separated from the South Island by the often angry waters of Foveaux Strait, as visitors to the island travelling by the old S.S. "Theresa Ward" well know. It was discovered to be an island by Captain Dugald Stewart of the schooner Prince of Denmark, in 1808. The Maori name for 
Stewart Island is Raki ura, "
heavenly glow." Its original name as recorded by the late 
James Cowan was Te Pungo-o-te-wako-o-Maui, signifying the anchor stone of Maui's Canoe.

        
Maui was the old time explorer who fished up the North Island whilst at Kaikoura in 
Marlborough. Of course this is the South Island Maori tradition. There were several Mauis, mostly mythical, but there is little doubt that a real Maui explored New Zealand, the South Island at any rate, about 750A.D., in the Mahunui canoe. Several places bear his name, one being Omaui in Port Adventure, 
Stewart Island. The native history of 
Stewart Island is very fragmentary, and from the depth below ground at which Maori ovens and tools have been found it can be inferred that 
Stewart Island, like the 
West Coast Sounds, had been a refuge for defeated tribes.

        
About 1720A.D. Tukiauau, and his son Koroko whiti, as Ngati Mamoe chiefs, had run foul of another chief of the same tribe at the Taieri, and found it expedient to move off with their hapu, and take refuge with a chief Tukete, at the north-west end of 
Stewart Island. Tu Wiri Roa later followed up with a taua, and catching a section of his enemies off guard whilst fishing at Orua kotuku, near Mason's Bay, slew them all. Moving on, he took the pa at Putatara further north and put Tukiauau Koroko whiti and Tukete to death. About thirty-five years later the great Ngai Tahu chief Te Wera, who had defied Taoka to oust him from Huriawa Pa at Old Waikouaiti, moved down to 
Stewart Island from Motu rata Island at Taieri Mouth. The "
Ancient History of the Maori" by John White, mentions three places on 
Stewart Island where Te Wera lived which cannot now be identified, namely Otara, Moreuaki and Waikori.

        


        
Te Wera visited Orangiahua in Patersons Inlet also Ohekia (Freshwater River) in the same inlet. Some fighting with the Ngati Mamoe there is called Kaitangata. Te Wera moved to the north-west portion of 
Stewart Island to Smoky, then called Orautahi. This shift is said to have been caused through disease at Ohekia occasioning many deaths. At Orautahi, Te Wera had further strife with the Ngati Mamoe of Okopihi Pa in the same locality. Te Wera and his people eventually crossed Foveaux Strait to Matariki, where a pa was built, and Te Wera himself died comfortably in his bed and is buried at Taramea (Howells Point). Fighting later at Matariki and nearby caused Te Wera's hapu to find death as true warriors.

        
The European period can be counted from June 5th, 1840, when Captain Nias of H.M.S. Herald, assisted by Major Bunbury hoisted the British Flag and claimed possession at Pegasus Inlet. Bishop Selwyn, during February 1844, visited the various native settlements. During May 1844, the schooner Deborah, with surveyors F. Tuckett, Barnicoat and Davison aboard made coastal surveys. This work was more carefully done by the officers and men of H.M.S. Acheron during 1850 and 1851.

        
On August 2nd, 1860, John Topi Patuki wrote to Governor Gore-Browne on behalf of himself, Paitu and the heirs of Tuhawaiki, offering the sale of 
Stewart Island to the Crown. After a considerable amount of correspondence, on June 29th, 1864, Commissioner Clarke purchased 
Stewart Island for the Crown at £6,000, subject to several reserves, and some eighteen mutton-birding islands off the coast.

        
The nine reserves made on 
Stewart Island were situated as follows:—Lord's Harbour, Port Adventure, The Neck, North side of Paterson's Inlet, North Head of Horseshoe Bay, Cultivation Point at Port William, Raggedy, Port Easy and Masons Bay. In 1864, Port Adventure boasted a small kainga occupied by half-castes. Wiremu Topi Patuki, a half brother to John Topi Patuki was the leading Maori of the small settlements at Port Adventure and other places on 
Stewart Island. Native villages once existed at Native or Rabbit Island (Te Whara-whara), Broad or Wilson's Bay, Port Adventure (Waipuna), Port Willian (Pa Whakataka), Orangiahua at Caerhowel Arm of Paterson's Inlet, and Horomamae or Queen Island. Te Wera had two pas at The Neck long before European days. The Maori name for The Neck is Te Wahi a te Wera, because that redoubtable warrior who feared no man in fight took fright at this locality and ran away when he met a sea lion for the first time.

        
The Titi or Mutton Birding Islands whether Maori or Crown owned are generally well known by both their European and Maori names to those Maoris who have the exclusive right of landing thereon. The names of the islands figure in 

the original maps of the early days, and appear (a few at a time) annually in the press reports on the mutton-birding industry.

        
The following are names which have so appeared:—Owen Island (Horomamae), Entrance Island (Tia), Refuge Island (Herekopare or Marama), Long Island (Kanaiwera or Taukiepa), Moggy Islands (Moki nui and Moki iti), Solomon Island near Long Island is Rere whakaupoko, Wedge Island (Poho o waitai; The Breaksea Group which are often mentioned in reports are Wharepuaitaha, Rakawhakakura, Kaihuka and Te Pomata kia rehu, Stage Island (Poho o tairea), Timore and islet south of Stage Island, Te Maka an islet near Easy Harbour, Kai Mohu an islet north of Solomon Island, Poutama (Eevening Island); Hidden Island (Putahinu), Huirapa and Te Mai o te Mioka south of Huirapa are three islets near Wedge Island. Motunui is Hotunui, Haremai te raki and Kani te toi are two islets of the Fancy Group; Te Wahi taua is Bench Island. Return or Bates Island is called Te Moutere o te Wharerimu. Kane is First Island and Pukeweka is the second islet north of Long Island. The large island called Codfish is to the Maori Whenua hou.

        
The mutton-birding rights have occasioned personal strife among the natives concerned. At the Supreme Court, Inver-cargill, on September 30th, 1909, a native ouf Arowhenua took action against a native of the Bluff for an eviction made on Horomamoe Island on April 11th, 1909. The action was dismissed as the matter was a subject of settlement by the 
Native Land Court. The 
Native Land Court in 1914 and in 1921, decided the names of the Maoris entitled to enter upon the Tite Island, and the same was published in the New Zealand Gazette together with the location of the several sections.

        
The Fluttering Shearwater is the mutton bird of the South Island. In the North Island the bird taken is the Grey-faced Petrel. The Titi Islands are divided off into sections, each one of which is marked off by tufts of fern tied to a tree, and each mutton-birder has to keep to his own section. During the mutton-birding season of 1897, the Maoris of Riverton and Colac Bay, some 50 persons belonging to 17 families, obtained a catch of 75,000 birds or approximately 15,000 to an individual. Valued at 3d. per head (bird) the return was £937/10/0. Two Maori maidens of Riverton took 4,200 birds between them. In the season of 1899 the Maoris of Colac Bay were unfortunate in as much as the whole of the take was lost when the cutter "Aparima" was wrecked near Riverton, on May 25th, 1899, the loss to the Maoris being £380. The New Zealand Government, however, made a benevolent grant of £190. During the season of 1908, the Maoris took 100,000 birds. The value of each bird at 4d. 

netted the Maoris £1,600. Some 100 men were engaged, and when the women and children helpers were included, the tally was 400 persons. An average family earning was £16 for the season less £2 expenses. The season of 1909 commenced on April 1st and ended on May 31st., over 200,000 birds being taken.

        
During the 1910 season, the Maoris working the Breaksea Islets (Kaihuka, Kahawhakakura, Wharepuaitaha, Te Pomata kia rehu) brought into The Neck 190 kits representing 8,000 birds which was exceptionally good considering that the weather allowed only about a fortnight's work. The "Rakiura" conveyed the Maoris to the islands during the seasons of 1908 and 1090. The best take of the 1909 season was from Papatea (Green Island), In 1913 it cost the Maoris £4/10/0 per head to be conveyed by boat to the Titi Islands from Riverton, 50 miles distant. A large number of natives journeyed to the Titi Islands from Colac Bay, Papatotara and Arowhenua in 1915, and a larger number from the same settlement in 1917. On March 10th, 1917, the "Rita" conveyed Wixon's Maoris to Poutama Island, and on the following day took over the natives from Colac Bay and Riverton. On March 12th, 1917, the S.S. "Loyalty" took West's party to Poho-o-waitai, Big Island and Cundy Island. The S.S. "Dispatch" took over Davis's party to Boat Harbour on March 15th. The "Savaii" took over King's party to Moki nui and Rerewhakoupoko (Solomons).

        
The birds in 1917 were valued at 8d. each. On June 11th, 1917, Mr T. Parata, 
m.p., appealed to the Maoris to raise £10 per runanga towards the cost of sending 10,000 preserved mutton birds to the Maori soldiers of the Great War. In June 1918, Rahera Mutu on her own appeal obtained 8,000 birds at the Bluff to send overseas. In the season of 1921, the Maoris of Riverton and Colac Bay captured 24,000 birds and in 1922 the take was 14,000 birds. On March 27th, 1934, the S.S. "Tamatea" conveyed the mutton birders from the Bluff. The 1937 season was a poor one as in April of that year the S.S. Kekeno returned with only 25,000 birds, owing to weather conditions. The S.S. "Orewa" has taken over the Maoris of recent years. The mutton-birding season lasts approximately ten weeks. The birds lay their eggs at the end of November. The time of incubation lasts one month. When the young birds can fend for themselves, the old birds leave Foveaux Strait in April.

        
The bags for holding the birds are made from bull kelp. The giant sea weed is cut into lengths four feet long and two feet wide. The Maori inserts his hand along the inside honey-comb until a bag is formed, with about two inches left unbroken around the edges. The bag is inflated and secured for three days, and then left in a cool place to soften. Flax or totara 

bark is used as its protective covering. The heads, tails, wings and feet are removed from the birds prior to preserving. The birds are cooked in their own fat. The contents of a kelp bag are numbered with knots on a flax cord. Each knot represents 10 birds. In 1941 (about February) a meeting of delegates from the several runangas was held at Tuahiwi, Canterbury, and a commencement was made to provide the Maoris at the World War with (to them) the tasty mutton bird.

        
It must not be taken for granted that Titi Island, though abandoned for nine months of the year by the Maoris is otherwise useless. Mr J. Bragg made a clearing on Pukeokaoka Island which lies off the entrance to Halfmoon Bay, 
Stewart Island, and on it planted on it "Up to Date" potatoes. From an area 66 x 24 feet he obtained a return of ½-ton of potatoes, many weighing 21bs. each. In the early days the Maoris indulged in sealing. A party of Maori sealers, who left the Bluff for Seal Cove at South East Cape at 
Stewart Island, returned three weeks later on January 23rd, 1871, with 73 seal skins. The seals were obtained on a narrow ledge reached by climbing a 40 foot precipice.

        
Horomona Paitu, the chief who controlled Soloman's Island (Rere whakaupoko) built a church thereon in the early days, so that the mutton-birders and seal takers did not neglect spiritual affairs. Old Soloman was a convert of Bishop Selwyn's, and was catechist at Riverton. In the sealing days Tupai was a leading chief at 
Stewart Island, though Tukete held sway at Codfish Island, and Paitu at Port William. By the several Landless Natives Acts, land was reserved for the natives at Lord's River and Port Adventure, during the Liberal Government regime. However in 1914, Royal Commissioners Gilfedder and Hazard stated that no permanent residence had been taken up by the Maoris concerned (a few hundred in all). Similar lands in.Southland met a similar fate, being poor and too far away from civilization and costly to clear by a tribe with little (if any) fund to assist. The little island of Whero, ½-acre in extent, has been the subject of much attention of recent years on account of the destruction of native bird life by cats. Other small islets have suffered from the same cause. It was on this islet that the whaling ship "C. A. Larsen" was damaged.

        
Mouterenui is an old name for 
Stewart Island, Pa Whakataka is Port William, Hautupe was the Maori settlement at Horseshoe Bay, Kai rakau is Halfmoon Bay, and Pukuheke is the site of the lighthouse. Otakuu is Murray River, Orautahi is Smoky, Ohekia is Freshwater River, Orangiahua is at Paterson's Inlet, Te Oneroa is Masons Bay, Lords River is Tutae kawetoweto. Te Wharawhara is Native or Rabbit Island, Tinko is Coopers or Ulva Island. Paitu was a tattooed Ngai Tahu chief, and Horomona Patu (Pukuhiti) was a Ngati 

Mamoe chief; both played a prominent part at 
Stewart Island in early sealing days.

        
Foveaux Strait on many maps bears the name "Te Ara a Kiwa", Kiwa was a more or less shadowy explorer of 2,000 years ago, and probably of Melanesian origin, certainly of a darker race than the Polynesian, as the Maoris of Southland invariably call a dark member of their race "a son Kiwa". Solander Island bears the name Hautere and Centre Island is always referred to in the southern dialect as Raratoka not Raratonga as in the north. Raratoka has a sacred burial-place.

        
When the New Zealand Government steamer "Stella" called at Centre Island on July 30th, 1878, to inspect the lighthouse, the officers found a group of angry Maoris in possession. Diplomacy was used, the Maoris being guaranteed that while no interference with their burials would be permitted, on the other hand drastic action would be taken if the Marine Department's work was hindered. Ruapuke Island is fifteen miles south-east of the Bluff and is made a centre for the mutton-birding expeditions, and a haven for the oyster cutters. The island has an area of approximately 4,000 acres. Its chief claim to interest lies in the fact that it was the island fortress of the famous Ngai Tahu and Ngati Mamoe chief Tuhawaiki, who proved himself more than an equal as a warrior to Te Rauparaha whom he defeated in fair battle.

        
The 
Rev. J. F. H. Wohlers, a missionary, landed at Ruapuke on May 17th, 1844, by the schooner "Deborah", which also conveyed F. Tuckett, the surveyor. The Rev. Wohlers who made the welfare of the Maoris his object in life, passed away at The Neck, 
Stewart Island, on May 7th, 1885. The pa of Tuhawaiki was situated on an islet connected at low tide with the mainland, and it was called Pa rangia-io (bait for fish). It was the site of a former Ngati Mamoe fortress. Tuhawaiki possessed cannon and guns obtained in Sydney, and had his warriors disciplined in European fashion.

        
The house of Tuhawaiki on Ruapuke, built in European fashion with rough boards, consisted of two rooms with a lean to. Tuhawaiki was born at Tuahinu, Inch Clutha, in 1805. He was a son of Te Kaihere of the Huirapa hapu of Ngai Tahu by the wife Kura, who was a sister of Whakataupuku. He became chief at Ruapuke in October 1835. The interpretation of his name is "ancestral war god". He was drowned from off his canoe in November 1844, at Patiti Point, Timaru. Te Iri haukoa, a wife, was on board at the time of the accident. In February 1844, Bishop Selwyn visited Ruapuke per Tuhawaiki's schooner "Perseverance". This vessel was wrecked in July 1847. The name Ruapuke interpreted means "
two hills". There used to be several small villages on Ruapuke. Where the 
Rev. J. F. H. Wohlers lived is now called Porora, but on the maps it is Tau-a-te-maka.
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Arowhenua
        

        
Arowhenua is the principal Maori kainga of South Canterbury and lies between the junction of the Temuka and Opihi Rivers just one mile south of the progressive pakeha town of Temuka which itself in early provincial days bore the name of its Maori suburb. The name Arowhenua would signify "turning up land for cultivation". However the name belonged originally to the distant and almost mythical "
Hawaiki", but has been placed with several localities in New Zealand, to the far south by the migrating tribes, but so far as pakehas are concerned in these instances not carried forward to posterity. Arowhenua is the principal pa of the Huirapa hapu of the Ngai Tahu Tribe in Canterbury. The population, however, includes those of the Ngati kahukura, Ngati mahiki, Ngati whae, Ngati raki and Ngati hinekato.

        
The Maoris of Arowhenua are on the whole a happy family, and this has helped along the progress of the village, which has only been slightly marred by religious differences of recent years. The district has been the possession of the Waitaha and Ngati Mamoe Tribes before the present Ngai Tahu took over. The locality is rich in the natural foods of the Maori particularly the Milford Lagoon, which is the estuary of the Temuka and Opihi Rivers. The combined channel of these rivers as it approaches the sea is called Whanganui. At the Milford Lagoon, at the mouth of the rivers, is the site of an historic pa, on an island known to Europeans as Green-tone Island. The correct name (a double one) of this island was Harakeke tautoru-Paritataha. It was named after a chief and his wife. The portion of the island named after the woman Paritataha was scoured away by floods and now the Lands Department only records the place as Harakeke tautoru.

        
It is known that scouts of Te Rauparaha's forces after the fall of Kaiapohia and Onawe came down as far as this to investigate the possibility of obtaining possession of both this pa, Wai a te ruati and other Ngai Tahu pas in the vicinity. The scouts found a greenstone mere so placed near Harakeke tautoru that it showed the Ngai Tahu were quite prepared to give the northerners battle. Wai a te ruati was a strong palis-aded pa with natural defences so its chiefs sent a challenge to Te Rauparaha to come and take it. Te Rauparaha declined in these words: "He aha te rawa a Te Kaikoareare raua ko Raki-whakaatia ki au." 
(What business have Te Kaikoareare and 


Rakiwhakaatia with me). The Ngai Tahu Tribe despite their losses in North Canterbury were far from being a conquered tribe, and when guns became available to them they were a match for their northern foes as was proved later in the 
Marlborough fighting.

        
Wai a te ruati besides being considered the usual type of pa was also a place of mahinga kai. 
Edward Shortland gave the population of Te Wai a rua ti as 63 males and 65 females. The gates of the old Te Wai a ruati Pa were called Huirapa, Te Huataki and Te Kaue. Mahinga kais were places where the Maoris obtained food which was the natural product of the soil, such as cabbage trees and fern root. The Ti or cabbage tree flourished at Wai a te rua ti. The place was visited by 
Shortland, 
Mantell, Bishop Selwyn and other early pakeha sojourners. Old pas near Arowhenua were Upoko pipi, Ohou and Wai te mati, the latter pa situated at the Opihi River in the Waipopo Native Reserve where the road runs north and south. At Ohou on the Opihi, dwelt a Ngati Mamoe Chief, Te Rangitauneke, who was on more than one occasion clubbed and left for dead by his Ngai Tahu foes, but he proved that some men, like cats, can have nine lives. In fact his reappearance on fields of battle caused quite a sensation among the more timid of the Ngai Tahu.

        
Oteihoka is the name given to an intertribal fight near Tarakeke tautoru pa when the local Maoris were defeated by Maoris from Ohapuku. In a similar fight near the Wai a te ruati pa the chiefs Hapi and Taka ahi were slain.. In the fifties the Maoris had a track from their settlements on Native Reserve 882 to Native Reserve 883. On the north side of the Waipopo Reserve the Maoris had their gardens; at Tipare and at Wai a patuki there were cultivations. At Okatare dwelt the chief Tame Tarawhata known to early European settlers as "Old Tommy", whose gardens were at the south side of Whitireia. The burial-place of the district was in a sandhill near the centre of Native Reserve 881. When the Europeans came, Wai a te ruati was the centre of Maori life, since a nearby pa had long been abandoned. The present kainga of Arowhenua dates from the days of roads. Waiapatuki, Waikoko and Whareki are the subdivisions of the present pa of Arowhenua.

        
It was at Arowhenua that the 
Ngai Tahu Tribe were made acquainted with the use of greenstone for tool making. A Ngati Wairangi lady from Westland (Raureka), who had journeyed over Browning's Pass showed some of the Arowhenua natives that greenstone tools were superior in the making of a canoe. Little did the chieftainess from Westland think that the possession of greenstone would lead to fighting in which her people would be decimated.

        
The several reserves in South Canterbury allotted to the 

natives of Arowhenua were crown lands granted originally in the names of the following Maoris: Tamati Tarawhata, Wiremu Takitahi, Maiharoa, Pita Korako, Kepa Toeko, Hoani Kahu, Waraki Te Kore, Hemiona Titoki, What uira, Te Ote Kahu. The channel of the Temuka River on its south side by the Arowhenua Reserve still bears the name "Tommys Creek" being so called in remembrance of Tamati Tarawhata who was something of a character.

        
Tame Tarawhata, when journeying along the beach near Milford, stumbled over a quarter cask. He immediately returned to the pa for the assistance of his fellow Maoris and dug it out. Needless to say a hole was bored in the cask and its contents sampled. Very little remained in the cask by the time the pa was reached. News of the find reached the Provincial Government. The investigation which followed showed that the cask had contained sweetened gin thrown over-board in April 1865, from a schooner evading the Customs Revenue.

        
Tarawhata and his brother Poua acted as guides to 
Edward Shortland when at Te Wai a te ruati pa on January 20th, 1844. 
Shortland speaks well of Tarawhata, and of the kindness he received from Te Rehe, the chief and father.

        
Even at that early period of European contact the Maoris had been christianized by the Wesleyan missionaries. 
Shortland records, however, that the chapel was full of fleas. Kairakau a South Canterbury native received £10 as his share of the sale of the Ngati Tahu Block, and handed it over to Tame Tarawhata to purchase a cow for him. Tarawhata duly purchased a cow from a Mr Bruce, but kept it for himself without returning the price to Kairakau. The latter laid a charge with A. Chatham Stroude, the resident magistrate at 
Dunedin. This was outside his jurisdiction so on July 23rd, 1852, the case was transferred to Captain Simeon, the resident magistrate at 
Lyttelton. Two ineffectual efforts were made to serve the summons by the police, and eventually the case was tried in an overcrowded Court House at Lyttelton. Tarawhata was ordered to hand over the cow to Kairakau, and a heavy fine was imposed, which was promptly paid by Tarawhata's friends in court.

        
On March 4th, 1859, Tarawhata requested to be made a native assessor. The application written in Maori is still in existence along with the translation by the translation by the Rev. J. Aldred. Horomona Pohio was another nominee for the office of assessor. His nomination dated January 6th, 1859, was supported by Maiharoa, Kupe, Honi Kahu, Kahuti, Ihaia Te Kihu, Wiremu, Tamati and Reihana. Doctor Rayner of the Flagstaff, Arowhenua, whose advice was often sought by the Canterbury Provincial Government, stated on March 4th, 1859, that "Old Tommy was not truthful".

        


        
Te Maiharoa was another chief and character of the Arowhenua of the early days. Te Maiharoa's genealogical tree goes back to Rakai hautu of the Uruao Canoe of the first Waitaha Tribe of about 850A.D. He is stated to have been steeped in Maori lore, but his fame as tohunga and wizard was obtained by knowledge from a North Island tohunga named Piripi who spent a considerable time at Arow-henua during the year 1866. Doctor Raymer kept a close eye on the proceedings, and kept in touch with the Government, and the letters are decidedly interesting. Piripi visited all the tapu places in South Canterbury picking up all manner of trifles from such places. The trifles were duly cooked (something akin to a stew), and such was dispensed to the assembled Maoris. Piripi averred he saw the devils sporting inside Te Maiharoa. However he drove them out. Te Maiharoa kept on the work, and by the seventies such stalwarts of the Christian faith as the 
Rev. J. W. Stack, admitted that with the exception of a few individuals the Maoris had reverted to tohungaism, Tuahiwi and Rapaki alone of the Canterbury settlements remaining unaffected.

        
Te Maiharoa it was who led the migration to Omarama, from which they were evicted by armed Europeans in 1879. Looking back over the years, and from an honest view-point, one's sympathy must go to the Maoris, and not to great land owners who acquired the Hakataramea Reserve of the Maoris by accident (or was it so?), in the Upper Waitaki region.

        
Among the Maori folk as among the pakeha, there from time to time blossoms forth a practical joker. In the early days Arowhenua had such an individual whose name was Korai. For a quarter century he was guilty of hoaxing his fellows, usually by sending his dupes on "wild goose errands". On one occasion he represented himself to the inn-keeper at Ashburton as Horomona Pohio, chief of Waimate, thereby securing free bed and breakfast. Previously he had put South Canterbury on the alert, stating that the North Island Maoris were on the war path to the south. At Tuahiwi he sent Hautai and other natives on useless errands. He failed however to do so with Metehau (George Williams). The Maoris of Tuahiwi got their revenge on Korai. When Korai went to Kaikoura on a visit, a message was sent by the Tuahiwi folk to him that his brother was dying. Korai lost no time in returning, making that long journey to Arowhenua in two days and two nights, only to find the brother hale and hearty fishing at Milford Lagoon on September 17th, 1864.

        
Hawea and Tahiku are on the south side of the Opihi near the mouth. Tahiku was requested as a native reserve by Tarawhata as an exchange for land taken out of the then existing Arowhenua reserves by roading. Tarawhata pleaded that the spot be obtained for the Maoris from Mr Rhodes.

        


        
On December 20th, 1868, 
Alexander Mackay, Native Commissioner, visited the Arowhenua Pa, and he records that it possessed 15 dwelling houses and a church. The Ohapi Stream to the north of the settlement was a favourite haunt for the Maoris taking lampreys. Large numbers of moa bones near old Maori ovens were discovered by Mr Wadsworth on April 18th, 1877. The Maoris of Arowhenua of forty years ago were quite as staunch Sabbatarians as that of any Scottish community, as on October 9th, 1901, they convened a meeting at Temuka of Europeans and Maoris to discuss fishing matters. The Maoris considered it inadvisable to allow fishing on Sundays, and the Europeans very reluctantly agreed to desist from whitebaiting on the local streams on Sundays.

        
On October 21st, 1863, Mr Young of the Arowhenua accommodation house complained to the Canterbury Provincial Government that the Maoris interfered with his ferry punt. The trouble, however, was occasioned by the European patrons trespassing on native land. Indeed Europeans were so great a nuisance to the Maoris about that time that on June 25th, 1862, Mr B.Woollcombe, resident magistrate of Timaru, and Mr Walter Buller, Native Commissioner, requested that squatters and sawyers be evicted from the Arowhenua Reserve. On June 18th, 1862, the 
Hon. William Fox approved of the Canterbury Government appointing Mr W. H. Revell to the Arowhenua Police Station. During the middle sixties Rupini Kuri was running a private ferry over the Opihi River. On December 13th, 1873, the Maoris of Arowhenua blocked the mail coach when it made a deviation from the bridge over the Opihi, which was native land, and rough and tumble took place between pakeha and Maori.

        

Sir George Grey, accompanied by Mr Cox, visited Arowhenua Pa on February 6th, 1867. The Maoris led by the chief Horomona Pohio extended the welcome, and the Maoris rose to the occasion by paving the roadway as far as Holy Trinity Church with mats. 
Sir Charles Fergusson, Governor of New Zealand was welcomed at Arowhenua on October 9th, 1926, by R. C. Taipana. The Tuahiwi Football Team played the Arowhenua team on August 22nd, 1929, the later team winning by 25 points to 3. On November 7th, 1929, Arowhenua prepared a banquet for visitors from Ratana. The visitors were delayed, and the children of Arowhenua school had the feast instead; "An ill wind that blows nobody good". However, later the visitors did arrive, and with the goodness of heart that characterises the Maori people, were royally welcomed at the Arowhenua Hall by Messrs H. Tereinga and E. Karekare.

        
During the depression years the Maoris of Arowhenua were hard pressed, but the relief work done during the years 1931 and 1932 produced results of lasting benefit to the settlement 

such as new roads, swamp drainage and cultivation, improved surroundings of the hall, and a well 24 feet deep providing clean water for the Arowhenua Native School. Officials of the Health Department on January 11th, 1934, inspected the pa, and were accompanied on their rounds by Messrs P. Paipeta, H. T. Paiki and W. Mihaka. The Arowhenua Maori Women's Institute opened on July 20th, 193?, under the control of the following ladies:—K. Rehu, M. Waaka, P. Paipeta, Manning and M. Paiki has been a useful adjunct in the feminine section of the community.

        
Prior to 1895, the Maori chidren had no regular school at the pa. The juniors were being taught in a desultory way at an old dwelling house, and the senior children sent to the pakeha school in Temuka where their presence was not always as welcome as it could have been. The Arowhenua Native School was opened on March 1st, 1895, in charge of Mr G.. C.J. Blathwayt, assisted by the Misses R. and H. Blathwayt. From 1898 to 1901, the teachers were Mr and Mrs F. J. Heatley, and from 1902 to 1915, Mr and Mrs W. H. Reeves. From 1915 to 1917, the teachers were Mr and Mrs Whitehead and they were succeeded by the Misses H. and E. Bremner. Miss H. Bremner in 1944 still controls the destiny of the Arowhenua School, and about 50 pupils. The general appearance of the school grounds was enhanced by the children on Arbor Day 1922, in planting out over 70 trees and shrubs. The original Arowhenua Runanga Hall was destroyed by fire in November 1903, and the Maoris applied to the Government for a subsidy towards erecting a new building. On July 13th, 1904, a grant of £200 was forthcoming. The new hall was completed on April 30th, 1905, at a cost of £420. The structure was officially opened by Colonel Pitt, assisted by Doctor Pomare, F. A. Flatman and the Mayor of Timaru. The visitors to the numbers of 500 were welcomed by Taare Parata, 
m.p. Taare Tikao and Tikau Wera addressed Colonel Pitt on South Island Native grievances, notably the Ngai Tahu Claim. The name of the hall is Hapa O Nuiterinui (Grievance of New Zealand). Electric lighting was switched on at the hall by Mrs Mata Whaora on June 23rd, 1927.

        
The first Anglican Church (which the present Holy Trinity supersedes) was erected entirely by the Maoris themselves from timber sawn about a hundred yards away, supplemented by that cut at the Geraldine Bush by G. Levens. This church was opened by Canon J. W.Stack on August 26th, 1866. By 1931 the building had long outlived its usefulness. The Ratana body offered strong opposition to the erection of the new building.

        
The matter was ventilated at a special sitting of the 
Native Land Court, presided over by Judge Gilfedder. The Court granted permission for an area of 60 x 78 feet of the church reserve being vested in the Anglican Church Property
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Trustees. The Rev. G. N. Watson was able to inform the Court that the Anglican Maoris had subscribed £800 towards erection, and of that amount £250 came from the North Island. On June 5th, 1931, it was stated the church would be available to non-Anglican communions. The Holy Trinity Church was built to the same plan and specifications as St. Mark's at Marshland, Christchurch. The church was opened and consecrated by Bishops West-Watson and Bennett, assisted by Rev. Canon Norris and Rev. G. N. Watson. The church interior is embellished with Maori art. The interior measures 47 x 20 feet, the tower 9 feet square and 26 feet high.

        
The Ratana folk on November 1st, 1934, had plans of a War Memorial Arch prepared. The Arowhenua Runanga rejected the proposal of erection near the Runanga Hall, so the promoters decided to erect a Ratana Memorial Arch on land opposite Holy Trinity Church, which had been given by Mrs Wikitoria Paipeta and Mrs Miria Kemara. The foundation stone was laid on December 13th, 1904, by Mr E. T. Tirikatene, 
m.p. The completed arch bears Ratana symbols and the names of two Ratana sons, it is built of Oamaru stone and is 15 feet in height. The 
Native Land Court, under Judge Hervey, during February 1935, investigated the means by which the money had been raised. When the irregularity was righted, Wiremu Te Ratana was allowed to unveil the Ratana Memorial Arch on November 14th, 1935. The passing visitor cannot fail to notice the enhancement of Arowhenua by the fine Anglican Church and Ratana Arch. The so-called model pa however detracts as it is neither one thing or the other.

        
Arowhenua has had its centenarians. Hoani Kahu passed away at Arowhenua on November 29th, 1887, aged 110 years. Mrs Waaka who died at Arowhenua on March 24th, 1896, had also passed a century of life leaving children, grand children and one great grandchild. Ruataki Maiharoa, who passed away at Waitaki, on July 12th, 1890, was interred at her birthplace Arowhenua, on July 22nd, 1890. She enjoyed the distinction not only of being a centenarian, but also of being one of the earliest Maoris to embrace Christianity.

        
Doctor Rayner was appointed medical officer for the Maoris in October 1859. A petition requesting such an appointment had been forwarded to the Provincial Government by Horomona Pohio, Te Maiharoa, Tarawhata and fifteen others. Roading at Arowhenua was commenced in 1859. The Waipopo Reserve was partitioned in 1928. The Temuka River is the Umu kaha (whirling current). Ti Muka and Upoko pipi were old time pas on the area now taken up by the Temuka Domain. Kumara plantations were there, and also huge ovens. These latter were no doubt associated with sacred rites over the ti-tree, and similar to the fire-walking ceremonies practised even to-day in 
Fiji. Though the Maoris have lost the art of fire-

walking, the earlier inhabitants who had a large daub of the Melanesian tar-brush knew the secrets.

        
An intertribal fight took place where the motor camp in the Temuka Domain now stands. As in many other such cases, we know very little of this event. Taumatakahu is the stream bordering the South Canterbury Acclimatisation Grounds at Temuka. Arowhenua has been the centre for many large Maori gatherings, such as the meeting held during March 1875, when the Ngai Tahu Claim was considered. On July 31st, 1938, the Right Hon. Michael J. Savage, Prime Minister, visited Arow-henua, and was presented with a greenstone pen by T. Whitau on behalf of the Maoris who hoped it would be used to sanction settlement of the Ngai Tahu Claim. The illness which culminated in death deprived the great statesman of the privilege.

        
On December 7th, 1944, the Maoris were given a poor settlement of their grievance. On February 25th, 1941, a party of 25 Arowhenua natives under the guidance of Maitai Tuture Hoani Mamaru and Mrs Raherae Manning caught 2,500 eels at the Wainono Lagoon. The eels were preserved at Arowhenua and placed in containers ready for sending overseas to the Maori soldiers so valiantly fighting for world freedom.
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Mawhera

(The Greymouth District)

        
At Massacre Bay in 
Nelson, a section of the Ngati Toa called Ngatirarua under the chiefs Niho and Takarei, had together with the Ngati Tama under Te Puoho, become settled after defeating the Ngati Tumatakokiri and Ngati Hapa folk. Niho and Takarei conquered the lands of the Ngai Tahu as far south as Hokitika, and Tuhuru was taken prisoner, but was ransomed for a famous greenstone mere. Niho and Takerei treated him more as a friend than an enemy, and protected Tuhuru during Te Puoho's journey through to Tuturau in Southland. These chiefs abandoned the Ngai Tahu lands when Tuhawaiki's force defeated Te Puoko at Tuturau in 1837.

        
Tuhuru, the Ngai Tahu chief, was a man of gigantic stature. In March 1914, the erection of a life size statue to Tuhuru carved in greenstone was proposed at 
Greymouth. Tuhuru was the first Ngai Tahu chief to be interred at the Burial Cave at 
Greymouth (in 1854). The cave had been used previously by the Ngati Wairangi Tribe, however a tohunga removed the "tapu", and the bones of the former occupants were cast away. When the site was required by the pakeha for public purposes, a tohunga had to be obtained to remove the "tapu", and payment made for his services.

        
The Ngai Tahu tribe often had quarrels between hapus. In 1790, the hapu dwelling at Kaikoura journeyed over by one of the passes at the head of the Waiau au and destroyed the pa of Mawhera, on the north bank of the Grey River at 
Greymouth. The survivors from Mawhera journeyed to South Westland and being reinforced travelled north and overtook the Kaikoura Maoris at the junction of the Mawhera (Grey) and Ahaura Rivers, defeating them. The last of the Kaikoura prisoners were duly cooked and eaten on the island on Lake Brunner (Moana). The correct name for Lake Brunner is Te kotuku whakaoka (the darting heron).

        
The Ngai Tahu of Westland built the new Mawhera Pa on the south bank, the former site having become "tapu" by bloodshed. The Native Reserve on the south bank of the river at 
Greymouth is described in a letter by J. Rochfort, the surveyor, dated April 6th, 1865:—"
It is heavily timbered with rata, and an undergrowth of kowhai, konini etc., densely choked with supplejack, and kiekie. The natives here know absolutely 

nothing of the bush country ten chains from their houses". What a contrast with that part of the 
Greymouth Borough of to-day.

        
Arapata Horau, the native assessor at Mawhera, on April 13th, 1864, penned the following:—"Tarapuki our friend is dead. He died on Thursday, April 8th, 1864. Thus all our hearts are full of pain, because of the departure of our father Tarapuhi from us. Our hearts are sore. But it is well, he died in the Word. Wherefore also let us take care of ourselves. The Lord Liveth." Maere Tarapuhi notified 
His Honour Samuel Bealey, Superintendent of Canterbury, on April 18th, 1864, as follows:—"Hearken, your friend Tarapuhi is dead. He died on April 8th, 1864, at Mawhera in the presence of his friends Mr Revell and Mr Rochfort, who were very sorry to lose this grand old man. We his children grieve for our father. This is all from Tarapuhi's loving daughter". Tarapuhi was interred at the Burial Cave at Mawhera along-side his father Tuhuru and his sister Nihorere. Other burials there have been Mere Tarapuhi; Tini Te waihuka, Hereni, Maere and Tirikaihua, daughters of Tarapuhi; Wereta Tainui a bother of Tarapuhi, Hoani Hautaha Tainui, Tamati Tainui and three close relations. The grave of Wereta Tainui can be seen fenced in close to the road and railway at 
Greymouth.

        
When Brunner, Heaphy and Mackay, the earliest explorers visited Westland the natives had already been influenced by Christianity derived from Wesleyan Methodist native converts of the north. Arapata Horau was appointed native assessor at Mawhera on July 11th, 1861, as was also Ihaia Tainui. Kinihi Te Kao and Kerei were made assessors at Mahitahi (Maitahi) on July 11th 1861, covering South Westland. A census of the Maori population of the 
West Coast was obtained by Horomona Taupaki in 1857, on orders from J. W. Hamilton, Native Commissioner. Wereta Tainui, the brother of Tarapuhi received Christian baptism, but was not noted as being a regular church attender; he bore the reputation of loving practical jokes, and was an adept at caricaturing persons especially surveyors with their equipment. Wereta Tainui never trusted the chief Niho and preferred to dwell in Canterbury at Kaikainui near Kaiapoi.

        
Mr J. C. Revell of the Canterbury Provincial Government office in 
Greymouth, in his communications pays great tribute to the services rendered by the Maoris of Westland. In a letter dated February 2nd, 1864, he mentions that Wereta Tainui had been absent on a gold-prospecting expedition to Hokitika and had met with little success. Arapata Horau the assessor had been ill, nevertheless these two Maoris had offered a site at the native cultivations on which to erect the Government store, which would then be free from floods. On February 12th, 1864, Tarapuki arrived back at Mawhera with 

gold prospectors from the Buller (Kawatiri). On the 13th a severe flood occurred but Tarapuhi with alacrity came to the rescue with canoes and salvaged the Government stores. He also saved 
Arthur Dudley Dobson's boat and made good use of it for the Government. Ihaia Tainui brought in 
A. D. Dobson's horse and mule safely from the Upper Taramakau. Simon, a Maori in the Government services, is described as the hardest working and most useful workman in Westland. Simon brought over from Christchurch via Harpers Pass to Mawhera on February 11th, 1864, the first two horses to come to that district near the Buller.

        
The Maoris during the years 1863-1864 made many canoe journeys up the Grey River to the Arnold Junction and thence to the old pa called Taka taka on Lake Brunner. Tarapuhi and Wereta Tainui often made the trip. Three Maoris in a canoe could make the journey to Lake Brunner (Moana) in a week, conveying ½-ton of goods. On the return journey owing to the character of the river it was necessary to lash two canoes together. Wereta Tainui on November 4th, 1862, offered his services to the Provincial Survey Department.

        
On October 9th, 1865, the Maoris received £30 as compensation for 6½ acres taken for roading purposes at 
Greymouth, and £100 for the Customs House site. The cost of surveying the native reserves in the Grey district from 1866 to 1870 amounted to £2,500. The proceeds from the leasing of the Grey River Reserves to Europeans from 1865 to August 1875, amounted to £29,295. The revenue was utilised in the interests of the natives by Commissioner Alexander Mackay. The proceeds from 1874 to 1879 amounted to £3,517; from 1880 to 1890 was £3,089; from 1890 to 1900 was £3,479; from 1900 to 1910 was £3,500. On October 30th, 1922, the control of the native lands at 
Greymouth was placed with the Native Trustee. The Greymouth Borough Council on July 22nd, 1908, passed a resolution not to revalue the native reserves in order to keep down the rental value in the interests of Europeans. When Wereta Tainui died in 1900, the Maoris of Mawhera moved away to Arahura.

        
At Kaiapoi, on August 3rd, 1922, the Maoris with interests in the 
Greymouth reserves held a conference, and the subject of leases was discussed. Many attempts have been made by Europeans to obtain a freehold of the 
Greymouth Reserves, but the natives very wisely have sanctioned only leasehold. The matter of leaseholds was fully discussed on January 31st, 1924, when Judge Rawson, the Native Trustee, and the Grey-mouth Chamber of Commerce met together. At 
Greymouth on June 17th, 1928, the Maoris in conference refused to sell the Grey River Reserves.

        
In 1864 the Maoris of Mawhera (
Greymouth) possessed extensive cultivations of potatoes which they bartered for 

European goods. The white residents, however, complained bitterly that the goats belonging to the natives played havoc with fruit trees, which they in turn were attemptng to grow. The Maoris of 
Greymouth at that time were exceptionally kind to the first whites to arrive there. Though often in want of food themselves, they ungrudgingly shared with the pakeha. Tarapuhi te Kaukihi the chief, and son of Tuhuru, often gave his all.

        
On March 28th, 1864, the wife of Tarapuhi was taken seriously ill, and placed in a whare to die, but she unexpectedly recovered and died three years later. On April 5th, 1864, Tarapuhi took ill and passed away on April 8th, 1864. Eulogies from white men were forwarded in numbers to the Canterbury Provincial Government. The letter from W. H. Revell, magistrate, dated April 16th, 1864, reads thus:—"
He will be greatly missed at the Grey for he was a sterling friend to many of the white men travelling along the coast who would have starved only for him, for he would share his last morsel of food with any one in want, when others would have refused or demanded payment".

        
The first official European connection with Mawhera dates December 24th, 1847, when Thomas Brunner visited the pa. On January 25th, 1848, Brunner set out from Mawhera with Maori companions to explore the Grey River to its source. Accounts of his journeys were published in the early Wellington newspapers (alas these papers can be found only in the reference shelves of the four main city libraries). Brunner departed up the Grey River in four canoes as follows:—"Te Wairakou" with Br nner and nine natives, "Te Maikai" with Aperhama and four others, "Te Paiekau" held two Maoris with fishing gear etc., "Te Matamata" carried four natives. The party journeyed five miles up the river and camped on the island of Motutapu which rises 100 feet above water level where the river runs in a confined space. The canoes went up the Arnold to Lake Brunner (Moana) on January 29th, 1848. On January 31st, 1848, the party arrived back at Mawhera.

        
On February 1st, 1848, Brunner explored the Mawhera iti River, then crossed the Waimaunga Saddle and down the Inangaha River to the Kawatiri (Buller). He explored the Buller on to Lake Roto iti, down the Motupiko to 
Nelson which he reached, on June 15th, 1848, more dead than alive. His companions from the start to finish were E. Kehu and E. Pikiwati with their wives. These natives belonged to the Ngati tumatakokiri Tribe. Brunner paid tribute to the loving care of E. Kehu and his wife towards him during sickness through lack of food. Europeans far too often fail to recognise the finer nature of the Maori people—to know the Maori and possess Maori friendships is worth a golden crown to 

the recipient. There is no room for inferiority complex and they obtain perfect understanding instead.

        
Peter Mutu of Kaiapoi was the mail man from Christchurch to Mawhera via Harpers Pass during November 1864. In 1865, Hone Paratene Tamanui arangi applied for the position of mailman. The latter became the first M.P. for the Southern Maori Electorate a few years later. The Maoris of Kaikoura visited Mawhera via the Upper Waiau au River, the Cannibal Gorge, Maruia Springs and down the Grey River. Sometimes up the Conway River, across the Hanmer Plains to the tributaries of the Waiau au leading to the saddle overlooking the 
West Coast streams of Ahaura, Waiake or Tutaekuri and over to Lakes Haupiri and Brunner (Moana) and on to Mawhera. The Maoris had a pa on the open plain near Ahaura called Ohine takitaki.

        
Brunner, the explorer, was guided to Ohinetakitaki by a Maori named Te Raipo in 1848. On March 10th, 1857, J. Mackay, Po Arama and Wiremu Kingi, with three others visited Mawhera and explored the Grev River. A Maori of the party was greatly appreciative of Mawhera, and the following is the translation of his exclamation:—"
What a beautiful place Mawhera is! What a fine place it would be for all the natives to come and settle on, where there is so much bush for them to cultivate. What an extraordinary large place it is". In 1863, the Maori's forecast had failed to eventuate as R. A. Sherrin, of the Canterbury Provincial Government service writes thus:—"
The pa is situated on the south bank of the Mawhera (Grey), and is fifty chains from the Bar and consists of five whares, and the only permanent inhabitants appear to be a Maori, with his son and seven daughters. They have seven acres under cultivation, three acres of which are growing wheat."

        
The Waipuna Plain is situated in the Upper Grey Valley. Going up the coast the following places are met with:—Seven Mile Creek is the Waimatuku, Nine Mile Creek is the Kotorepi, Ten Mile Creek is the Wai aniwhaniwha, next is the Kararoa Creek, Thirteen Mile Creek is the Waiwhio, Baker's Creek near the Seventeen Mile Bluff is the Maukurunui, Canoe Creek is the Okiwi, next come the well-known feature Punakaikai. Razor Back Point south of Punakaikai is called Okoriko. The Porarari Creek lies north of Punakaikai and above is the boundary of the Nelson Land District. Off the Twelve Mile Bluff lie coastal rocks named Motu kiakia; Point Elizabeth is Tarakena and the locality is called Matungi Tawau.

        
When Heaphy was at Kawatiri (Buller) in September 1846, he met a chief named Aperahama journeying up the coast from Ahaura, with a son and daughter as companions, going to 
Nelson to receive Christian baptism. The early European explorers were correct when they said there were 

only two real passes through the alpine backbone of the South Island—the Haast Pass connecting 
Otago with South Westland, and Harper's Pass from North Canterbury to North Westland. These were the routes followed during what may be termed family migrations. Browning Pass and Arthurs Pass were used only by agile Maoris. Despite its comparatively low altitude Whitcombe Pass with its easy approach from Canterbury on its western side, develops into the very worst route to Westland, and probably only one Maori ever made the desperate venture.

        
On September 26th, 1857, Harpers Pass was discovered by Messrs Mason (after whom Mason's Flat, North Canterbury is named), Dampier, E. Dobson, and Henry Taylor of the Lake Summer Station with two of his shepherds. In November 1857, Tarapuhi, Wereta Tainui and two Maoris from Kaiapoi guided Messrs Harper and Lock over this pass at the head of the north branch of the Hurunui River to the headwaters of the Taramakau. The journey was made from Mason's Flat via the Waitohi Valley, across the Seaward River, Maori Gully over the south branch of the Hurunui River, past Lakes Taylor, Katrine and Sumner, then up to the divide at the head of the North Branch. A few weeks later the Maoris guided Messrs Yonge and Vilson over Harper Pass. Messrs 
James Mackay, 
Alexander Mackay and John Rochfort crossed during January 1859.

        
In January 1863, a track route was surveyed by Mr Drake. During February 1863, ten Kaiapoi Maoris journeyed over en route to the Hohonu where a few months previously Ihaia Tainui had discovered what afterwards proved to be a very profitable gold field. When the track was being formed by Chorlton Howitt and assistants, twenty Kaiapoi Maoris were over the pass fossicking for gold. Close on 1,000 persons Maori and pakeha used the Pass during a six months period in 1865. Ihaia Tainui carried over a parcel of gold obtained by Captain Dixon on the 
West Coast beach, to the latter's friend Mr Oakes, who put forward on Dixon's behalf a claim to the bonus offered by the Canterbury Provincial Government to the discoverer of a payable gold field. Ihaia Tainui had been the first to produce the evidence, but despite the efforts for recognition made by the 
Rev. J. W. Stack, the Maori was practically ignored. The notorious Albert Hunt in 1864, dumped himself alongside the claim of the Maoris at Hohonu and claimed the award. Mr W. H. Revell, the Gold Fields Warden, at first backed up Albert Hunt's claim, but later he found out the truth and his written reports in the Provincial Government archives are decidedly hostile. A motion to grant a gold discovery bonus to Hunt on January 6th, 1866, was negatived by the Canterbury Provincial Government, there being only four favourable votes. Later through the persistence 

of these four persons a grant of £200 was made to Albert Hunt as an explorer.

        
W. H. Revell in his report of September 20th, 1864, declared the Maoris (Simon and party) possessed the best claim at Hohonu (the Greenstone), and on October 14th, 1864, a gold nugget weighing 4ozs. 2dwts. was obtained. With merely a tin dish the Maori Simon was obtaining 5ozs. of gold every four hours. The Maoris were equally successful in the freight business. They were conveying goods from the mouth of the Taramakau to the Hohonu Stream, a distance by canoe of eight miles; with three men to a canoe. The trip was made in four hours and some 15cwt. of freight was taken at a cost of 8/- per cwt. Hakopa Te Ata o Tu (the Ngai Tahu hero during the sacking of Kaiapohia in 1831 by Te Rauparaha) is known to have made the crossing from Kaiapoi to Mawhera five times in the company of his wife.

        
Lake Sumner is 1,802 feet above sea level, and its Maori name is Hoka kura. The neighbouring lakelets Mason, Marion, Shepherd, Raupo, Katrine and Taylor are decidedly picturesque. At evening time these lakes are veiled from sight with mountain fog. The veil rises like a theatre curtain on the appearance of the morning sun making a picture not easily forgotten. Maori Gully, previously mentioned, was a bad place to negotiate in Maori days. Vine ladders were used. When J. W. Hamilton was at Kaiapoi on January 11th, 1850, he met a large party of Maori men, women and children who had come across from Westland to claim their share in the payment for the native lands sold north of Kaiapoi. The Maoris made easy travelling, having taken a fortnight on the journey. Horomona Taupaki of Kaiapoi used to make the cross trip regularly in less than five days. Horomona was drowned along with Messrs C. Townsend and Mitchelmore when their boat capsized on the Grey River Bar, October 9th, 1863.

        
At the foot of the deepest descent on the Taramakau side of Harpers Pass the Maoris had a recognised camping place Whakamoemoe. Lake Kauru pataka (Kaura pataka) up a small stream above the confluence of the Taramakau with the Otira was a favourite eeling place. In olden times the Maoris had a small pa in the bush in the Lower Otira Valley near the Taramakau. This village was more for the benefit of those agile natives such as Kahuai, Kerei and others who had ventured over Arthur's Pass. The principal settlement was situated on the south bank of the Taramakau between Jacksons and the place with the coined name of Taipo, just where the main river turns south, the site being approximately three miles above Taipo and twenty-four miles from Harper's Pass. The evidence was clearly visible, but tutu covered the cultivations in 1862. This pa, abandoned by the Maoris in 1825, was named Tauotikirangi. Tamutakaka was at the 

head of the Taramakau. The Taipo was a treacherous river to cross and the Maoris often waited a week until conditions were favourable. Hope oka is the correct name, though sometimes rendered as Hope okoa, and refers to the cold water (hot springs in the upper reaches notwithstanding) stabbing the loins of the Maori making a crossing.

        
The position of old villages during 1863 at the Taramakau is as follows:—Maori pa on the south bank of the Taramakau one mile below the Hohonu junction had three whares, accommodating three families, and 1½ acres under cultivation. Maori Pa on the north bank of the Taramakau River near the mouth, with four Maoris and 2 acres under cultivation.

        
At the mouth of the Taramakau on May 6th, 1863, Whitcombe, the discoverer of Whitcombe Pass lost his life. Whitcombe and his companion Louper in the last stages of exhaustion and starvation, the result of their harrowing journey, attempted to cross the Taramakau in two small lashed canoes which the Maoris used only for washing purposes. The explorerers unfortunately did not know a serviceable canoe was stationed a mile further up stream. Tarapuhi and his Maoris nursed the survivor Louper back to health.

        
In 1864, 
A. Dudley Dobson was surveying near the mouth of the Taramakau river when the native convolvulus was in full bloom. His Maori assistants called the flowers Kohimara, a name not recorded in standard Maori owing to the word being only a local usage. Dobson called the district Kohimara, but the early settlers changed the name to Kumara (sweet potato) and so it remains. When the author visited Kumara and Dillmanstown in 1897, the whole locality was disfigured with mining tailings.









Victoria University of Wellington Library




Lore and history of the South Island Maori

South Otago





        

          
South Otago
        

        
As we journey south from 
Dunedin it is evident that the Ngati Mamoe strain becomes stronger within the blood stream of the Nga Tahu Tribe, especially once the Molyneux River is crossed. In Canterbury the Maoris are apt to forget that many of them possess Ngati Mamoe blood, much of it acquired in the North Island, as shown in the principal whakapapa (genealogical trees). In dealing with Maori history of South Otago it can be shown that the Ngati Mamoe in battle often gave as much as they got. Wise men on both sides saw that an alliance was for the best, even if the Ngati Mamoe were in the position of junior partner. The so-called "Lost Tribe" of the 
West Coast Sounds were but an accumulation of broken groups from various fightings on both east and west coasts of the South Island.

        
When the Maori Hall called Te Waipounamu was opened on April 9th, 1901, at Henley on Taieri, several of the natives present were proud to declare that they belonged to the Ngati Mamoe Tribe. When the hui was held at Tuahiwi, North Canterbury, during January 1925, the late Mr W. T. Pitama, a member of one of the committees discussing ways and means of dealing with moneys from settlement of the Ngai Tahu Claim found it expedient to assure the members of the committee, that the interests of the Ngati Mamoe, who for three generations had supported the claim, would be safe-guarded. The further south one goes the more frequent is the use of the Ngati Mamoe dialect, especially in place names; "nga" being substituted by "ka"; for example the names of the tribes are given as Kati Tahu and Kati Mamoe. The writer here has endeavoured to use the common usage applied in the localities under review. The Rangitata River is always called such, not Rakitata, the Waitangi River on the other hand is always Waitaki. The monument at Old Kaiapohia erected by the Maoris of Kaiauoi bears in bold letters the name of the tribe "Ngai Tahu". It seems a pity when so few of the young native people speak the native tongue, that standard Maori should not be universally used in the South Island as a means of preserving the. language.

        
The Taieri Plain, south of 
Dunedin, hardly requires an introduction as it has earned the reputation of being one of the finest agricultural districts in New Zealand. So far as the pakeha is concerned the Taieri district dates from the year 1843 when 
Edward Shortland, sub protector of aborigines visited it. In 1844, Tuckett the surveyor and Dr. Munro, explored the locality, much of it by way of the Taieri River, 

in Maori canoes as far as its junction with Scrogg's Creek at Owhiro. The Maoris divided the Taieri Plain into three sections, the northern section nearest 
Dunedin is Wakaehu, the middle or East Taieri is Owhiro, and the southern section towards Lake Waihola is Waihora. The lakes at South Taieri are Lake Waihora, Lake Waipori, Lake Tatawai, Lake Potaka and Lake Marama Te Taha (Ascog). The pas west of Lake Ascog was also called Marama Te Taha.

        
Over the waters of these lakes, the Maori lovers Koroko Whiti and Haki Te Kura, the southern counterparts of Tutanekai and Hinemoa, used to go courting in their canoes—but alas! their love making ended in tragedy. Koroko Whiti was the handsome son of Tukiauau, a Ngati Mamoe chief from 
Marlborough, who had suffered many reverses there, and had found at least a temporary haven from the relentless Ngai Tahu in the Henley district of the Taieri. Ram Island on Lake Waihola, known to the Maoris as Whakaraupuku was the site of the pa of Tukiauau. Haki Te Kura was the daughter of Tu Wiri Roa, a Ngati Mamoe chief of Motu para Pa at Taieri Mouth, who formerly dwelt on the shores of Lake Wakatipu. Tu Wiri Roa appears to have been a surly individual, as he neither countenanced his daughter's sweetheart, nor the hapu of the Ngati Mamoe Tribe to which he belonged. When Tukiauau and his son Koroko Whiti were passing down the Lower Taieri Gorge below Omoua Pa in canoes, on a move to 
Stewart Island, Haki Te Kura leapt from a cliff on the south bank to join her lover. Alas, her leap fell short of deep water, and she met her death on a ledge below! The cliff is known as Te Rereka-o-hakitekura even to this day.

        
The six miles of the Lower Taieri Gorge from Henley to Taieri Mouth offers quite beautiful and interesting country, something akin to the loudly praised Wanganui of the North Island. The writer is reminded of several leisure trips by boats from Henley with the Dunedin Photographic Society forty years ago. There is another Maori Leap on the Taieri River on its north bank, perhaps better known; it is called Te Rereka o Tuhokairaki. Tu Wiri Roa followed up the folk he considered responsible for the death of his daughter, and wiped them out, all but two young men Tuokioki and Hapetaua-ki-whiti. These men managed to gain the sympathy of the Ngati Kahununu Tribe of the North Island and a party of 240 men under Tapari taniwha came south to avenge. Tu Wiri Roa's Pa of Omoua was too strong to take by assault, so stratagem was resorted to. The Northerners set to and built a pa further up the Taieri River between Otokia and Allanton near the estate of the late Johnathan Shore at the Elbow, and for a time lived at peace with their neighbours. A feast was prepared and the folk of Omoua Pa were invited. The guests duly arrived, and a massacre of Glencoe resulted. The stay-

at-homes of Omoua Pa were next attacked and formed the menu of a second feast. The chief Tuhokairaki, while escaping, was speared at the cliff which bears his name. The Elbow is called Amoka, and the pa named Pa a tupari taniwha. The ramparts can still be defined. The northerners, their object accomplished, reurned to the North Island.

        
Motu rata the island off Taieri Mouth was for a time the abode of Te Wera and his people, after the abandonment of Huriawa Pa and Old Waikouaiti and prior to the migration to 
Stewart Island. Onumia is the name of the large but somewhat useless native reserve on the north bank of the Taieri River below Henley. Manu whaka rau was the name of a Maori village that once existed at Te Whata, better known to-day as Palmer's Gully. John Bulls Gulley is Whakarekeamake, the much-photographed cliff known as the Governor's Chimney is Te mai kau mai.

        
Away to the west from Henley towering high above the Taieri Plain is Maunga atua (the hill of spirits), named after a survivor from the Arai te uru canoe, keeping guard on the ancient Maori past. The Taieri was once the abode of a taniwha (water monster) which had its home up the Silver-stream Valley near Whare Flat. Its nest was a swamp, Waipotaka (round pool), but it was of a restless disposition so it journeyed down stream to the place where the town of Mosgiel, and the woollen factory, now stand. The hollow where the town exists was formed by its weight. Mosgiel did not meet the monster's demands so it tripped down the Taieri River. Wriggling and wriggling it made all the sharp bends between Allanton and Otokia. This part of the Taieri is called Te Rua taniwha and its former resting place at Mosgiel is Te Konika o te matamata. When the taniwha died it became Saddle Hill near Riccarton with two main humps named Puke Makamaka and Turi Makamaka.

        
Make hakikatoa is Outram, and Outram Glen, the favourite picnic resort, is Te Kerikeri. Waipapa a karetai is the deep pool on the Silverstream known as Barclay's Pool. On January 4th, 1896, two remarkably made totara canoes each 22 feet long with extra topsides were found at Lee Creek on the west side of the Taieri Plain. Lake Tatawai at the south end of the Taieri Plain was gazetted a native fishery reserve of 125 acres on March 28th, 1901. Native schools were established at Taieri Mouth and Taieri Ferry in 1876 each with 15 pupils. Te Raki and Kura were the principal men at the Taieri in 1844, and Rawiri Te Uraura in 1868. In addition to these mentioned, past leaders have been Tuarea, Te Kurihi and Tamaki.

        
On April 9th, 1901, the Maori Hall named Te Waipounamu was opened at Taieri Ferry by Henare Karetai and the Union 

Jack was hoisted by T. Parata, 
m.p. Speeches were made by Mr Carncross, 
m.p., Mr T. Edwards and Mr Maire. Mr W. Brown was M.C. Mrs Tanner and Mrs Crane, daughters of W. Palmer were present at the function. Their claim for distinction being that their mother Titi was of pure Ngati Mamoe lineage through her parents Te Maukaumai and Te Rahui. The hall was largely the outcome of the zeal of Hoani Koani and his subscription list.

        
In 1859, the Maoris at Taieri Ferry had 20 acres under cultivation and they possessed 10 houses. In 1871, a native school was established at the Taieri. Miss Christie was appointed as teacher and for her services she was remunerated at the rate of £4 per pupil per annum. The pa at the Taieri has had at least one of its inhabitants classed as a centenarian—Matene Koroko Wera, who passed away on September 22nd, 1896, had reached the outstanding age of 129 years. Motu rata island off Taieri Mouth saw the end of Te Mauwi and his followers. These warriors were the die-hards of the Ngati Mamoe Tribe who refused to be bound by the alliance with Ngai Tahu, but continued to attack and slay members of the latter tribe on sight. Boulder Hill near Mullocky Gully, North Taieri is Tuaheka, and the Silver Peak at the head of the Silverstream (and South Branch of the Waikouaiti on its north side) is called Huatea.

        
The Kaikorai, the well-known stream near 
Dunedin which enters the sea at Green Island Beach towards Brighton, should be spelt Kaikarae. At its mouth are evidences of Maori camping places, and such exist at intervals south along the coast to the exit of the Tokomairaro River, at which place a rougher coastline commences. Inland from the town of Milton is the small village and stream known as Waitahuna, usually interpreted as "valley of water". It takes its name from a Ngati Mamoe chief who was slain there by the Ngai Tahu, after the disgraceful ambush and massacre of the Ngati Mamoe at Kauwae whakatoro (now named Hillend).

        
The district stretching from Lovell's Flat to the Molyneux River was once the abode of the ancient Rapuwai Tribe of which little reliable history now remains except that they made their landing in the South Island at Te Hoiere in the 
Marlborough Sounds, and were noted for the manner in which they swam. Taratu near Lovell's Flat produces an excellent coal for the Dunedin Market, but its importance to our subject is that it was once the site of a very strong Ngati Mamoe Pa. Te teke kapu was the place of making kai near by. Lovell's Flat Stream is Tuaki tata.

        
For the Kaitangata district information I am indebted to the kindness of my friend Mr Herries Beattie of Waimate, whose energy in preserving the Maori place names in published form will be more greatly appreciated as the years roll on. My own 

visits to the locality were in the interests of a large Friendly Society, and the press, and I made no personal historical inquiries. The lakes known as Kaitangata and Rangitoto should be named Kaitiria and Roto-nui-awhatu respectively, the latter bearing the name of an ancient explorer. It appears that the name Kaitangata is derived from the fact that the Ngai Tahu Tribe dwelling at Kotore a hinau Pa, near the present town of Kaitangata, under the chiefs Te Rua a wai and Tuahuriri, had a fight with the Ngati Mamoe of Lovell's Flat over eeling rights on the lakes. Among the slain of the Ngati Mamoe was their chief Mokomoko, who was duly cooked and eaten. The Ngai Tahu by no means had all the victories.

        
We move on from the Kaitangata district to Balclutha, well-known to all Maori scholars by its Maori name of Iwi Katea (bleached bone). The Ngai Tahu suffered a crushing reverse at the hands of the Ngati Mamoe led by Kaurahi, Te Whara-whara and Marakai. The bones of the vanquished remained bleaching in the sun for years. Marakai with his bosom friend Tutemakahu were thorns in the side of the Ngai Tahu Tribe defeating them at Te Waewae Bay, Warepa and Waipahi. At Waipahi, Marakai captured the Ngai Tahu chief Matauira and instead of putting his captive to death let him go free despite the advice of his friend Tutemakohu not to do so. The gallant Marakai paid for his clemency, as later Matauira captured him while he was strolling alone at Otaraia between Clinton and Gore and promptly put him to death. Matauira met his own death near 
Moeraki in an intertribal quarrel. Tutemakohu of the Ngati Mamoe lived to fight the Ngai Tahu often and yet died naturally in his bed.

        
The massacre of the Ngati Mamoe which took place at Hillend, known as Kauwae whakatoro, was engineered by the Ngai Tahu leader Te Hau tapu nui o tu in order to eliminate those of the other tribe who did not favour an alliance. Taikawa, a protege of Te Wera, who had been saved by the latter in the fighting at Pukekura (
Otakou) acted the part of the decoy (in a similar manner to the decoy animal at the abattoirs). The Nai Tahu closed around their victims like jaws around food, and the name kauwae whakatoro is descriptive. Te Hau tapu nui o tu died at 
Taumutu, and his legendary burial place is near the mouth, of the 
Selwyn River in Canterbury.

        
The large island known as Inch Clutha on the Molyneaux River below Balclutha, formed by the branches Koau and Matau has its claim for notice because it was the birthplace of the great leader of the South Island Maoris—Tuhawaiki of the early European era. This chief figures in the defeating of Te Rauparaha at 
Marlborough, in several land deals, the Treaty of Waitangi and the sale of the 
Otakou Block. Without exception all early European observers speak highly of his personal 

attributes. He was unfortunately drowned in his canoe at Jack's Point, Timaru, in November 1844, as recorded by the "New Zealand Spectator and 
Cook Strait Guardian" (Wellington) of November 16th, 1844.

        
The Molyneux River which now enters the sea south of Coal Point near Kaitangata used to have its exit at Port Molyneux. Port Molyneux is now dry land, but in its day saw a considerable amount of coastal shipping. Its European history is admirably told by Colonel Waite, 
m.l.c., in his centennial publication. When Captain Benjamin Morrell, the American whaler, visited Port Molyneux on January 7th, 1830, he found 200 Maoris dwelling there. When George Willsher came on the scene in 1840 the native population had shrunk to half a dozen persons.

        
When Frederick Tucker, the surveyor on May 7th, 1844, was at Port Molyneux, or to give the place its Maori name Maranuku, he found the following Maoris dwelling there:—Toke, the widow of Tahu and aunt of Tuhawaiki; Makariri her daughter; Maihou and Tauwera, both old men; Raki raki, Kinihi Kurupohatu; and three children. The reason for so few inhabitants being found there, was the introduction of measles and influenza epidemics by Europeans. At Measley Beach, near Wangaloa can be seen hundreds of graves (as at other places), which according to Dr Ellison, a Maori authority, reduced the South Island Maori population from 30,000 to to approximately 3,000 souls; a greater scourge than war.

        
The old-time native villages near the mouth of the Molyneux River were called Murikauhaka, Otapatu and Matai pipi. Port Molyneux and the Nuggets (Tokata) are to-day favourite pakeha holiday resorts, easily visited from Balclutha by rail or motor. The Maori connection goes back to the time when a Ngai Tahu chief Waitai, joined up with a Ngati Mamoe chief named Rakitauneke, and commenced slaughtering the peaceful folk of the Waitaha II Tribe. This warfare started after Waitai left Pukekura (
Otakou) and prior to his arrival at Mokamoka (The Bluff). A few of the place names date from this period. Taumata o te rakipokia is the hill behind the Nuggets Point Lighthouse. Campbell's Point and the creek there is called Owaea; Taumata kotare is the hill nearby; the spring at Hay's Gap is named Puna a wai toriki, and Jenkinson's Creek bears the name of Wairawaru. Willsher Bay, named after the early pakeha settler, is known to the Maoris as Te Karoro. Taukohu is the spur running from the Karoro Creek to Omaru Hill near Romahapa. The cave on the north side of the Lighthouse Point is Te Ana o Ngatiwairua, being the name of a hapu of the Ngati Mamoe Tribe. The hills behind Port Molyneux are called Tamahika. Parauriki is Kaka Point; Fisherman's Hill near Willsher Bay bears the name of Taita.

        


        
During the early fighting which occurred about 1680A.D., the peaceful Waitaha were hopelessly at a disadvantage. Yet bravery was shown by two of their chiefs Mokihi and Makutu, who went to their doom acting as rear-guards to allow their people to scatter, and some fortunately reached safety. Makutu was cooked and eaten on the site now occupied by the present school. Some of the Waitaha were caught and slain at Whawhapo Creek. Tuapohia Point is named after an unfortunate Waitaha chief. Peace appears to have reigned at Port Molyneux until about 1800, just about the time European sealing ships appeared off the coast. Warfare started when a section of the Ngai Tahu Tribe under Waitai II, Pokohiwi, Tamahiku and Taikawa, apparently as sport, killed off a few of the Ngati Mamoe. When the object was accomplished, Taikawa stopped proceedings.

        
The Maoris had a track from Port Molyneux to Clinton, going via Glenomaru, Romahapa, over a saddle to the Puerua Valley, over the Waiwera saddle to the destination. Roaring bay on the south side of the Nuggets Point Lighthouse bears the name of Whangaparaoa. Away on the coast further south is the Catlins River district which the author remembers as a photographer's paradise. To the old-time Maori this locality was the abode of the wild men of the forests, the "maerorero". The McLennan Range is named Puke maeroero, and the McLennan River is the Wai maeroero. The other river there, the Tahakopa, enters Taukupu Bay. The late 
Hon. Thomas Mackenzie in the eighties in this district found many evidences of former habitation, with ovens overgrown with trees. Within recent years collectors for the Otago Museum have made extensive finds at the north side of the Tahakopa River and opposite Papatowai township.

        
The estuary of the Catlins River is called Kuramea and Catlins Lake is Pounawea. The junction of the Catlins and Owaka Rivers at Manuka Point bears the name Makomako. There are elusive traditions of fighting having taken place thereabouts. Now-a-days curio hunters are generally found busy not only there, but also at False Islet and Tuhawaiki's Cave (Blow hole). False Islet has the Maori name of Otara, Jack's Island is Pihautakoia, Cosgrove Island is Pukemauku uku and Cannibal Bay is named Oraki utuhia. Chasland's Mistake is known to the Maoris as Maka ti. Clinton the well-known halfway stop by rail between 
Dunedin to Invercargill, was known formerly as Poupoutunoa. Travelling south there is the Waipahi, which can be interpreted "flowing water", "leaking water", and also as "slave water". Pukerau simply means "many hills". Kuriwao, the farming district near Clinton is translated "bush dog". At Gore we contact the Mataura River (glowing face) and pass into Southland (or Murihiku).
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Te Waipounamu

Westland, the land of the greenstone.

        
The Maoris of the South Island in their poetic references to their country invariably refer to it as Te Waipounamu, the island of the greenstone. However the term in a strict sense refers only to Westland where the precious stone is found. The Maoris have several legends connected with the origin and discovery of greenstone. Several stories have appeared in print, but the publications concerned have long since disappeared from general sale. To Ngahue, an explorer of long ago, one legend is attached. It appears that Ngahue, in the distant 
Hawaiki, had a disagreement with his wife, and went forth to seek a new home. The wife, however, caused a green fish named Poutini, a son of the sea god Tangaroa, to pursue her fleeting spouse. Ngahue reached the 
West Coast of the South Island in line with Aorangi (Mount Cook) with Poutini hot on his tail. Ngahue in his canoe journeyed up the coast, but when off the mouth of the Arahura River, darkness fell. The snow on Mount Tara o Tama mountain at the head of the Arahura River alone furnished brightness. Up the Arahura River sped Ngahue; Poutini followed after, failed to ascend the cascade, was injured, and fell into the deep pool, where the great fish was turned into a greenstone canoe.

        
According to another story the wives of the famous explorer Tamatea Pokai Whenua, deserted him. The canoe they journeyed in capsized at the Arahura. The drowned women were transformed into green jade. Tama ki te Rangi of the Tairea Canoe has also been associated with legends of the greenstone. It appears a canoe containing his wives came to grief high up the Arahura River. The Tairea Canoe remains to this day as a ledge of greenstone across the bed of the river. The rocky knobs are either the wives or the time givers for the paddles. The mountain Tumuaki represents the slave of Tamatea Pokai Whenua of the second mentioned legend who was turned into a hill for breaking the rules of tapu when cooking food.

        
Tumuaki according to another version about 1540A.D., took a party of the Nga Rauru Tribe up the Arahura River to obtain greenstone. He commenced breaking stone, and not being accustomed to such work, hit his hand, putting his fingers into his mouth to allay the pain he inadvertently broke the tapu attached to the sacred greenstone. For his misdeed he
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was turned into a mountain. It is quite within possibility that a man Tumuaki lived and died in the Arahura district. That Greenstone or Pounamu was discovered in Westland by Ngahue can be taken for granted. Pounamu is a fish deity, and is a son of Tangaroa, who was the offspring of Rangi and Papa. Tangaroa was the husband of Te Ano Matao. The brothers of Pounamu were Poutini, Te Whatu kura-a-Tangaroa and Te Whataikura. Pounamu was generated in the liver of sharks. It remained soft until it was exposed to the open air.

        
Kaikanohi is the usual name applied by the Maoris to the ledge of greenstone lying across the bed of the Upper Arahura River. According to a statement made by Mr Heaphy in 1846, the finest greenstone was obtained at Pahutani, and a very select "tapu" greenstone was found at Kotorepi, about a dozen miles north of 
Greymouth (Mawhera). It is quite evident the Ngati Wairangi Tribe traded greenstone from Westland to the North Island long before the Ngai Tahu Tribe journeyed south. The Ngati Wairangi Tribe came from 
Poverty Bay to Blind Bay in 
Nelson. Finding the Waitaha Tribe already there they moved over to West Whanganui, eventually occupying the whole of the 
West Coast. Until recent years a very high percentage of the greenstone curios given by the Maoris to visitors was produced by a firm of lapidaries in 
Dunedin. In August 1874, this particular firm was purchasing the greenstone from Greenstone Gully near 
Greymouth, at £8 per cwt. As at March 14th, 1904, a Wellington Jeweller had two tons of Westland greenstone awaiting shipment to lapidaries in Amsterdam, Holland, such to be made into Maori curios. He paid for the greenstone 1/- to 5/- per lb. according to the quality of the ground.

        
In 1912, the amount of greenstone calculated as being able to be quarried at Tara Tame, Westland, amounted to 270,000 tons. Greenstone suitable for working was valued at from 1/-to 6/- per lb., or in bulk £56 to £672 per ton. Our Museum authorities with the trained eye can readily detect the work of the pakeha from that of the old time Maori. The Maoris of Napier and Poverty Bay as early as 1510A.D. had a chief named Mairetu gathering up greenstone in Westland, and according to tradition nine canoes conveyed the material north. The canoes were in charge of a chief named Rakai. When Raureka, a Ngati Wairangi chieftainess journeyed over Browning Pass and showed samples of green-stone to the Ngai Tahu at Arowhenua, she brought trouble on her people. She was taken to wife by Puhou of the 
Ngai Tahu Tribe. The Ngai Tahu men each carried 60 to 70 lbs a piece over Brownings Pass from Westland.

        
Puhou was probably the first Ngai Tahu chief to cross Browning Pass. The section from 
Taumutu, under a chief Whakariki, were drowned crossing the 
Rakaia near the Gorge 

Bridge at the place called Kaitangata. Te Rangitamau and his sons Weka and Marama however made several successful journeys over to Westland from 
Taumutu for greenstone via Browning Pass. Disaster overtook a party led by Takawa during a snow storm, and the pass become less favoured.

        
Peaceful trading between the Ngai Tahu and Ngati Wairangi Tribes did not last many years. The club-footed, head chief of the Ngai Tahu Tribe, Turakautahi, prevailed on Te Rangi tamau to lead a war party over Browning Pass and attack the Ngati Wairangi. The fight took place at Lake Kaneire and the Ngati Wairangi chief Te Uekanuku was slain and his warriors defeated. A few years later a Ngai Tahu expedition was badly defeated by the Ngati Wairangi at Lake Mahinapua. The karakia (invocations) said by the tohunga Tuararo-o-te-rangi of the Ngati Wairangi were strong and powerful. Tanetiki, who was a son of Tuahuriri, together with Tute pirirangi and Tutaemeora met death by drowning. Their kinsman Hikatutae cut off their heads, and brought his precious burden straight back to Canterbury. The fight at Lake Mahinapua is called Tawiri o te mango (heaping of sharks).

        
Hokitika interpreted means "
returned in a straight line," and refers to Hikatutae's direct return from Hokitika to the East Coast. The third war expedition was led by Moki and Maka and the Ngaiti Wairangi were defeated at Otuku whakaoki. The Ngati Wairangi during the following fifty years made a few raids on the east coast, particularly around Port Cooper (Lyttelton Harbour). Five of the leading hapus of the Ngai Tahu of Canterbury, united with the members of their tribe domiciled on the 
West Coast and decimated the Ngati Wairangi at the Paparoa Range. The leaders were: Tuhuru, Te Para, Puka and Te Ao whakamaru. The Ngai Tahu Tribe of Westland had several skirmishes with the Ngati-tumata-kokiri Tribe of the Buller district over lands, but the story of these fights belongs to the 
Nelson chapter.

        
There is no doubt whatsoever that the old time Maori gateway to the greenstone country was the North Rakaia or Browning Pass. John Hall, secretary of Public Works of Provincial Canterbury, approached the 
Rev. J. W. Stack, Maori Mission Kaiapoi, to seek information as to Maori tracks over the Alps. On March 31st, 1865, the 
Rev. J. W. Stack replied:—"I am sorry to say the only Maori who has gone to the 
West Coast by the old route is now too infirm to leave his whare. There are no Maoris now living, except this old man, who know anything about the route beyond what they have heard in the past from others." This old Maori furnished a sketch (reproduced) and gave detailed information thus:—Having reached the headwaters of the 
Rakaia, the traveller must go up the Waitawhira (Wilberforce) branch until he 

reaches the mountain called Kaniere; there he will find a cave where the Maoris used to camp (still used by pakehas). From the cave the path leads up one of the spurs of the mountain to the saddle. About 200 feet below the saddle, the track is very steep, but could be easily improved, the ascent took the Maoris three hours to accomplish. There is a small lake over the pass (Lake Browning) about three or four hundred yards in diameter, the source of a stream (tributary of the Arahura). A gentle slope leads down to the riverbed on the western side covered with Spaniards and stunted brushwood. Maoris heavily laden with provisions starting from the cave on the eastern slope of Kaniere reached the coast on the following day at noon.

        
About two-thirds of the way to the coast, there is an open valley through which a path leads to the Hokitika River. The place where the path starts may be known by a great landslide on the south bank of the stream. The distance between Kaniere Pass to the mouth of the Hokitika is not greater than the distance between Kaniere and the Arahura mouth." Browning and Griffiths, the surveyors, found the description accurate as disclosed in their report of September 7th, 1865. In later years a track was formed and was extensively used by both stock and humans. A track down the Arahura from the Pass as an alternative route has long since been overgrown and out of repair; the Maori one still remains. The Wilberforce River takes it source on the snow field at Pope's Pass.

        
Before the days of Te Rauparaha's raids the Maoris of Kaikoura were often at war with their kin at Kaiapoi. On one occasion the Tuahuriri hapu of Kaiapoi sent a large party over to Westland for greenstone, and the northerners then essayed an attack. Warning reached Kaiapoi and a messenger named Ngatorangi was sent to bring the warriors back to defend their homes. Ngatororangi made a non-stop run towards Browning Pass. He swam the Waimakariri, made across the dreary plains towards Mount Hutt and the Rakaia River, over the Acheron River, past Whakamatau (Lake Coleridge), up the Waitawhiri (Wilberforce) and climbed up the 45 degree incline to the summit of Browning Pass. From there he loudly called on the Tuahuriri folk to return. His message heard, Ngatororangi collapsed. Tuahuriri folk sped back to Kaiapoi and won the fight. Two warriors had been detailed to nurse back their messenger to health at the cave (now well known). When Ngatororangi was back at Kaiapoi his tribesmen feted him for days.

        
The Maoris used to have seasonal camps at the Upper 
Rakaia, one was opposite the junction of the Mathias near the lagoon at Double Hill, its name being Tokinui; another near the junction of the Harper and Wilberforce Rivers was 

called Otumapuhi. The posts of the pas were removed by the European station owners about 1896. 
Dr. H. D. Skinner of the 
Otago University in one of his magazine articles quotes a Maori of old as denying that the Maoris used Whitcombe Pass. The early explorers could not learn of any having knowledge of Whitcombe, Mathias or Mungo Passes. R. A. Sherrin (a man whose value as an explorer has not been recognised) early in the sixties put it in writing that the Maoris of Kokotahi Pa denied any knowledge of passes in that particular direction, though he personally thought a pass at the head waters of the Whataroa (Wataroa) possibly existed. Sealey Pass has been crossed by many persons and without the aid of Government-made tracks. Whitcombe, the discoverer of that pass, experienced great hardship, and surveyor Griffiths, who followed two years later (1865) had a similar experience, and his report dated August 20th, 1865, describes his dangerous journey and his concluding words are quoted thus: "I consider this route perfectly useless for any purpose, not excepting foot travellers who cannot use it without risking broken limbs."

        
For the next thirty years Europeans and Maoris alike shunned Whitcombe Pass.

        
In 1896, the explorer Douglas formed a track which avoided the impassable gorges. In 1906, this track was cleared by the Lands Department, but it was not used and became overgrown. Mr B. Cropp of Hokotahi re-discovered the track in 1934. In 1935 the track was reformed by deer cullers, and in May 1937, the Whitcombe Pass was crossed by four women.

        
The Whitcombe is strictly the main river, (the Hokitika being only a tributary), and is always a monstrous stream passing through large deep rock-encumbered gorges such as the Collier below Frew's Creek, which is quite impassable. The descent of the river in some places amounts to 200 feet per mile. The tracks over the Mathias arid Mungo Passes are now out of repair. Douglas the explorer was greatly assisted by Captain Bascand of the S.S. Waipara in his work, (who landed stores at most of the South Westland river mouths). The Douglas Glacier is named after the intrepid explorer, and the Waipara River of South Westland commemorates Captain Bascand's steamer which eventually met its doom on the Okarito (Akarita) Bar. Why writers have given so much prominence to Whitcombe Pass (in books) as a Maori Pass is not understandable.

        
The Haast River is similarly not the larger stream and should give place to the Landsborough which is classed as the tributary. The Landsborough region is even yet only partially explored. In the gold prospecting days, Maoris are reported by the Gold Fields Wardens in official reports, as working at the various head waters of the Whataroa right up to the snow line. Sealey Pass at the head of the Scone tributary of the 

Whataroa was crossed by Europeans in 1869, in 1888, in 1890, and three times by parties in 1892, on two occasions by women. In 1908, Sealey Pass (5,800 feet) was crossed, and there have been many crossings since which have become too common to be reported by the press.

        
Lake Kaniere, in the basin of the Hokitika, near Mount Tuhua, is five miles long by one and three quarters wide and is 422 feet above sea level. The name Kaniere can be interpreted as "sound of a dance" and "act of saving greenstone". Lake Brunner (Moana) is five miles long by four broad and is 280 feet above sea level. Lakes Ianthe and Mapourika have an area each of two square miles. Lake Mahinapua is noted for its reflections.

        
The Hokitika River was explored by 
Sir Julius Von Haast and on May 12th, 1865, he ascended the river by a Maori canoe to Lake Kaniere. On the 22nd May, 1865, he took a canoe journey twenty-two miles up the Hokitika. At that point passage was barred by rapids. It took three days to make the up voyage and three hours to return. Arahura Pa was visited by Brunner the explorer, on October 12th, 1847, and his Maori companions were Te kau hauke, Tipiha and Paeture and the latter's daughter. Gerhard Mueller surveyed the native reserves of South Westland during May 1866, and his assistant was a Maori named Keoii. The Arahura Reserve was set down as containing at least 2,000 acres. On account of its being greenstone country the Maoris were offered first chance of purchasing the land between the Arahura Reserve and Mount Tuhua at 10/- per acre, it having been discovered that the mountain was five miles further inland than was supposed. The offer was made in July 1866.

        
The late 
Sir Arthur Dudley Dobson when surveying the Arahura Reserve was ordered off by the Maoris on January 12th, 1864. James Mackay Jr., Native Commissioner, on February 15th, 1864, assured Tarapuhi, Wereta Tainui, Hakiaba, Makarini, Arapata Horau, Purua, Papara, Inia and Ihia Tainui that it was in the interests of the natives that the lands should be correctly surveyed.

        
On December 13th, 1866, Ihaia Tainui applied to purchase 100 acres at the Kokotahi A native school was established in 1878, and was further enlarged at Arahura in 1891. With the advent of the consolidation of schools movement a few years ago, the pupils were removed to a European school a few miles north by railway. The site for a native settlement on the Arahura Reserve was set aside on September 1st, 1896. The original Arahura Hall was completed by the Maoris during April 1873, and the walls were decorated with Maori art, the floor matting was also Maori. In the centre of the hall stood a carved figure, tattooed, with paua shell eyes and a protruding tongue. In July 1870, Te Koro Maitai, an aged Maori friend 

of the 
Rev. J. W. Stack of Tuahiwi, journeyed over Harper Pass to Arahura and held a six weeks mission, and as a result Maori converts were later confirmed.

        
The following year 1871, St. Paul's Anglican Maori Church was opened and dedicated by Bishop Harper, and fairly regular services were afterwards held there by Archdeacon Harper. At the Anglican Synod held during August 1871, the Rev. Cooper spoke of the sincerity of the Arahura congregation. Mrs Tainui informed the author that the church was removed further from the sea a few years later.

        
A section of the Rapuwai Tribe dwelt long ago near Arahura, but a fight with the Ngati Wairangi Tribe resulted in the Rapuwai chief Hauaki's being killed. The spot is now called Otauaki. Jackson's Bay, at the extreme south end of Westland, bears the name Okahu, after a chief Kahu slain there in the intertribal fighting days. However the Maoris at the beginning of last century suffered almost as much from such frays by conflicts with the ruthless European sealers. At one time three hundred Maoris dwelt at Jackson's Bay and a slightly smaller number at Paringa. The latter place bears the name of a chief. Sealers slew many Maoris, including the chiefs Te Wera and Taniwha. The primitive weapons were not a match against pakeha guns, and the natives returned to 
Otago via the Haast and Okura Passes.

        
At Jackson's Bay dwelt the chief Te Uira who long defied the conquering Ngai Tahu Tribe. Starting from Hokitika whose chief in early European times was Hakiaha, a trip down the coast can be made. In 1846, notable Maoris there were Te Kauhauke, Tipiha and Paeture. Paire (a bundle) is the stream south of the Hokitika. The Totara River and Totara Lagoon are north of Ross. The Mikonui is an ice-fed stream. Paramata is the cliff face near Bold Head. The Maori name of the latter is Kanui mata. The Waitaha River named after an early tribe enters the sea fifteen miles south of Ross. On the coast in this locality are the Pakutuaro and Opuku Cliffs. Nearby is the Te Raha Taiepa stream and just south again is the Waikoikoi Creek. Lake Ianthe to the Maoris is Matahi.

        
The Whanganui (Wanganui) River is a very turbulent stream. It was apparent to the early Europeans that at some time many Maoris must have dwelt on its south bank. In 1863, the totara posts of many whares were visible. Two large totara whatas for strong eels were then standing. Saltwater Lagoon bears the name Wairoa (long water). South of the latter is the Poerua (Poherua) Stream at which there is a sunken pa of unknown origin. The Whataroa (Wataroa) is the large river which rises in the glaciers. By its tributaries, the Perth and Scone, access is obtained to Sealey Pass. At Whataroa in the early sixties dwelt Taetae with his wife and two children. 

When Taetae died, his brother Hamiora married the widow Maomahi. Hamiora, to make sure of the ceremony, in 1863 came over to Tuahiwi to have it performed by the 
Rev. J. W. Stack. Hamiora died at Whataroa and is buried at the head of the Okarita Lakes. His last resting place was marked by a paddle and spear.

        
Rohutu is the modern settlement of the district. The Okatua, Otaroki and Otakoe streams flow into the Okarita Lagoon. This lagoon is seven miles long and tidal. The Wahapo Lake is connected with the Okarita Lagoon. It was at Okarita that the Ngati Tama under Niho captured Tuhuru of the Ngai Tahu, who was an expert worker with greenstone. In 1846, the Maori population of Okarita was six and in 1860 ten. All of these Maoris had become Christians through the efforts of the Wesleyan ministers 
Rev. C. L. Reay and J. Aldred. The Maoris from Mahitahi (Maitahi) used to frequent Okarita on account of the superb eels obtainable at the Lagoon, while wild pigs were plentiful there during the sixties.

        
Brunner visited Okarita (Okarito) on October 31st, 1847. Mackay in 1860, made the arrangements for the purchase of Westland at the Pohorua Lagoon. Long Point is called in short Koamaru, but in full Kohuamarua. This place, nine miles south of Abut Head, was the site of a pa of the Ngati Wairangi Tribe. Mount Forbes is in Maori Tururehekau, Totara kai torea stream drains into the Three Mile Lagoon, the Totara or Five Mile Creek drains Lake Alpine (Ata Puai), and South thereof is the Pereka.

        
Pokorua is the Maori name of james Creek, once the haunt of pakeha gold seekers. The Waiho, which is only 14 miles long issues from the celebrated Franz Joseph Glacier. Waiau is the correct Maori name. There are hot springs in the district. The Waikukupa Stream enters the sea between Moonlight and Sandy Bays, the Omoeroa River enters the sea on the south side of the Omoeroa Bluff, while the Hauraki, Waitapi, and Waikao streams are south of the Bluff. Gillispies Point is Kaohaihai. The Yellow Cliff is Otorokua and the nearby stream is Waihohai, Cook's Bluff is Weheka and Cook River is Waiweka, Para para are the yellow cliffs near the Waikapuka Stream. Going south are the Utumoa Head-land and the streams Matukituki and O Hine-tamatea. Following on is the Karangarua with its tributary the Taorua, then the Mana kai aua. The Makawhio Point and Makawhio River are at the north end of Bruce Bay where the beautiful greenstone known as aotea is found.

        
Makawhio is 150 miles south of Hokitika. Jacob's River is the old pakeha name of the district. Over thirty Maoris dwell there belonging to the Ngati Mahaki hapu of the Ngai Tahu Tribe. Hakopa Kapo was a chief. At Bruce Bay dwelt Te Koeti 
Tauranga the last tattooed Maori in 

Westland. On a terrace six miles south of Bruce Bay in March 1866, Albert Hunt and three companions staged a bogus gold rush as recorded by Keogh, Gold Fields Warden. Te Wharaki or Here taniwha is a bluff at Bruce Bay. The hill above the Makawhio Ford is Te Puku o te Wairapa, as a warrior Wairapa was killed there. Bannock Brae is Kohukohu (scudding mist), Tiki tiki o Rehua, two miles south, is a hill where another warrior met his doom. The Matai Stream enters Bruce Bay, the Mahitahi (Maitahi) and Waitangi Streams flow into Bruce Bay towards the south. At Porangirangi on November 14th, 1846, Brunner found Maoris possessing extensive cultivations. The name Porangirangi means "annoy at night". The Waitemati Stream is five miles south of Heretaniwha Point.

        
Brunner crossed the Oinemaka and Hanua kura streams on his way to Paringa on November 16th, 1846. The chiefs Tuapore and Te Rapa dwelt there with six other natives, and possessed large gardens. Te Rapa is credited with having hidden a valuable greenstone heirloom in Lake Hall (Paringa) when Niho moved south. The Otoko is the main tributary of the Paringa. The Hainua kura River is near Paringa. Titi tira or Titihaia Point is fifteen miles north of Arnott Point. The next headland south is Piakatu. Lake Moeraki is drained by the 
Moeraki Stream, three miles north of Arnott Point. Next follows the Wakapohai Creek.

        
At Taupirihaka about three hundred yards from the beach gold prospectors of the early days found the hull of the ship "Schomberg" wrecked and drifted from the Australian coast. The Waita is the stream nearby; the Haast River is the Awaru, and what is erroneously termed the tributary, the Landsborough, is the Toatataihi. The hills behind the Haast are the Okura-matakitaki; Pa korari is the old kainga. The Hapuka, Akura and Turnbull Rivers enter the sea at Okura on Open Bay. At Black Creek, near Okura, is an old Maori burial place. Ten good adzes were found in 1926 in the bed of Black Creek, The largest adze was 11½ inches long with a 4 inch cutting edge. The adzes were displayed in a Christchurch jeweller's window during December 1926. South of Okura is the Waitoto River. The Arawhata enters Jackson's Bay. Cascade Point is Tahu tahi (one husband), Awarua Point is Te Ara pokipoki (path of eddying wind). The stream entering Big Bay now known as Awarua should be named Waione. The 
Otago boundary has been reached. A considerable amount of the history given was gleaned in 1924 from the late Mrs Rahira Muriwai Morrison, a descendant of Wereta Tainui, who passed away in 1930.
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The Westland Land Purchase
        

        
The late 
James Cowan unearthed from old forgotten documents an offer made on March 15th, 1857, by the Maoris of Westland to sell their lands to the Crown for the sum of £2,500. The boundaries of the area were given as follows; from West Whanganui to Milford Sound (Pipiotahi), being from Pipiotahi inland to the mountains, Tioripatea (Haast Pass), Tara o Tama, Kaimata, Mariua, Matakitaki, Te Ikahapuku, Te Rotoroa, Whangapeka, Aoraki (Mount Arthur), Onetoki, Rangiora (Snowy Range between Takaka and Aoere), Whakamarama Range, Te Hapua (six miles south of West Whanganui). The Maoris making the offer were Tarapuhi, Wi Pita Paturi, Makarini Toni, Inia Pikiwara, Po Arama Hota and Hakiaha. In 1860, James Mackay Jr., assistant Native Secretary, was deputed to make the purchase. He was given £400 in golden sovereigns to make the deal, but with his Scottish care of "silver returned with £100 in his pocket. Nevertheless he allowed the Maoris a generous allowance in the way of Native Reserves, and this has been of greater benefit to the natives than the extra £100 would have been.

        
The Native Reserve in the borough of 
Greymouth being a good monetary proposition, James Mackay Jr., dealt with 110 sellers, the area acquired for the £300 being 7½ million acres. When Mackay went overland from 
Nelson, his Maori companions were Tamati Pirimona Marino, Hori Rorama and Puaha Te Rangi. In Westland he was assisted in making the traverse surveys by Kerei and Kinehe Te Kao of Mahitahi. Puaha Te Rangi, who belonged to the Ngatihapa Tribe, prevailed on Mackay to make a reserve for his folk at Kawatiri (Buller). The chiefs Hakiaha and Hoeti evinced considerable jealousy towards Tarapuhi, Taetae and Wereta Tainui. Taetae belonged to Poherua. The Poutini Ngai Tahu insisted on the old canoe landing and burial ground at the mouth of the Mawhera (Grey) being made a Native Reserve.

        
Official copies of the purchase can be seen at the library of the Lands and Survey Department, Christchurch. The Maoris who attached their names to the Deed were: Kinihi, Kerei, Kawiri, Mohuruhuru, Pako, Weremu, Parata, Puaha Te Rangi, Tarapuhi te kaukihi, Mere te Aowangi, Wereta Tainui, Hakiaha, Taona, Purua, Makarinui Tohi, Arapata 

Horau and Rewai Kaihi. Witness were J. Mackay, J. Burnett, S. M. Mackley, Tamati Pirimona and Hori Te Kirama. The Deed was signed on May 21st, 1860.

        
Witness to the distribution of the £300 purchase money were: J. Mackay, S. M. Mackley, J. Burnett, Tamati Pirimona, Hori Te Kerama, Tarapuhi, Wereta Tainui, Hakiaha Taona, Makarina Tohi, Arapata Horau, Kiwai, Kaihi, Kinihi te kau, Kerei, Kawiri, Moko huruhuru, and Puaha Te Rangi.

        
The total area of the 47 reserves, Class A (General Reserves) amounted to 6,724 acres. Class B (Social Reserves) 3,500 acres. Class C (Revenue) 2,000 acres. The reserves are located at the following places:—Arawhata, Waitoto, Paringa, Heretaniwha, Mahitahi, Makawhio, Manakaiau, Ohinetamatea, Wehanga, Omoreoha, Waikohai, Koamaru, Okarita, Waitangi, Whataroa, Poherua, Hokitika, Kaniere, Taramakau, Waimea, Pakihi, Aarahura, Mawhera. Kaiata, Kotuku whaka oho, Kararohi, Kawatiri, Watarakau, Oweka, North Kawatiri, Orowaiti, Karamea, Waimangaroha, Mokirinui and Kakapoai and Totara.
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